

MIDAMERICA IX

the yearbook of the Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature

1982

Edited By DAVID D. ANDERSON

The Midwestern Press

The Center for the Study of Midwestern Literature and Culture

> Michigan State University East Lansing, Michigan

.

·

. . .

· · · ·

Copyright 1982

by the Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature

All rights reserved

.

Printed in the United States of America

·

In Honor of Marc Van Wormer

•

Ś

ŝ

PREFACE

With the publication of *MidAmerica IX* the Society for the Study of Midwestern Literature marks another year of progress, highlighted by the most successful twelfth annual conference, the Symposium on the Cultural Heritage of the Midwest and concurrent Midwest Poetry Festival held at Michigan State University on May 6-8. Awards presented at the conference were the MidAmerica Award to Clarence Andrews and the Mark Twain Award to Wright Morris. The symposium and festival to be held in May 1983 are expected to be equally successful.

The wide variety of essays, many of which had their inception at past symposia, and the impressive bibliography that make up *MidAmerica IX* are further evidence of the continued growth of Midwestern literature and Midwestern literary study. Especially commendable are the efforts of Donald Pady and Robert Beasecker, the Society's bibliographers, in making available the record of Midwestern literature and literary study in this yearbook and in their computerized records. Commendable, too, are the 'continued efforts of Marc Van Wormer, Conference Coordinator at Michigan State University, in making the symposia and poetry festivals successful. We dedicate this volume to him as an expression of the Society's appreciation.

October, 1982

DAVID D. ANDERSON

Contents

Preface	5
John Russell and the Piasa Legend John E. Hallwas	9
Hamlin Garland: Realist of Old Age Leland Krauth	23
Twenty Acres of Independence: The Letters of Omar Morse, 1890-1900 James Marshall	38
Another Angle of Willa Cather's Artistic Prism: Impressionistic Character Portraiture in My Antonia Edward J. Piacentino	53
Belgian Sources of Brand Whitlock's "French" Expatriate Novels Paul W. Miller	65
Michigan Proletarian Writers and the Great Depression David D. Anderson	76
Mark Schorer's Wisconsin Writings John Stark	98
Ohio Boyhoods: A Study of Adolescence in Novels by Robert McCloskey, Virginia Hamilton, and Don Moser Linda R. Silver	114
Sinclair Lewis vs. Zane Grey: Mantrap as Satirical Western Robert E. Fleming	124
The Chicago Literary Times: A Description and a Book Review Index Ray Lewis White	139
Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980	

Editors: Robert Beasecker and Donald Pady 148

JOHN RUSSELL AND THE PIASA LEGEND

JOHN E. HALLWAS

John Russell (1793-1863), who spent much of his life at Bluffdale, Illinois, near Carrollton, was the most well-known fiction writer in that state after James Hall left in 1833. Unfortunately, he was not as talented as Hall, and so today there is little reason to read any of his moralistic and sentimental short stories and novelettes. However, Russell's works were admired in his own day, not only by Hall, who printed "The Emigrant" and "The Spectre Hunter" in his Western Monthly Magazine, but by John Mason Peck and John Reynolds, who were also widely known contemporaneous men of letters.

Three decades ago Russell's career was the subject of an article by John Flanagan, but he failed to discuss, or even mention, the most successful story in the author's canon, "The Piasa: An Indian Tradition of Illinois."¹ However, seven years later Russell's authorship of that narrative was discussed by Wayne C. Temple in "The Piasa Bird: Fact or Fiction?" As his title indicates, he was concerned only with determining whether there was any historical basis for the tale — and his research led him to conclude that there was none:

Russell's story is full of the supernatural and its composition shows the flair of a novelist. He certainly never intended for this fanciful tale to be accepted as a historical article, but the reading public did just that. When questioned by William McAdams about the Piasa legend, Russell admitted that his story was "somewhat illustrated." And years later, his son, Spencer G. Russell, related to John F. Snyder that his father at one time confessed to him that the legend of the Piasa Bird was the product of his imagination coupled with Marquette's account.²

Temple's conclusion is not very surprising, for a story about a huge man-eating bird was not likely to be factual. However, it is evident from what he uncovered that the Piasa legend should clearly be regarded as Russell's literary creation and not an Indian tale that the latter ran across and simply transcribed for publication.

Although Temple mentions other authors who retold Russell's story, he does not discuss the literary quality of the various versions. Yet this is an interesting consideration because there are significant differences between Russell's tale and later versions that were based on it. These differences allow us to determine how various tellers of the legend tried to interpret it, and they also provide insights into the transmission history of this famous tale.

Russell's account first appeared in an eastern magazine during 1836, and it is brief enough to present here in its entirety:

No part of the United States, not even the highlands of the Hudson, can vie, in wild and romantik scenery, with the bluffs of the Illinois. On one side of the river, often at the water's edge, a perpendicular wall of rock rises to the height of some hundred feet. Generally on the opposite shore is a level bottom or prairie, of several miles in width, extending to a similar bluff that runs parallel with the river.

One of these ranges commences at Alton, and extends with few intervals for many miles along the left bank of the Illinois. In descending the river to Alton, the traveller will observe between that town and the mouth of the Illinois, a narrow ravine through which a small stream discharges its waters into the Mississippi. The stream is the Piasa. Its name is Indian, and signifies in the language of the Illini, "THE BIRD THAT DEVOURS MEN." Near the mouth of that stream, on the smooth and perpendicular face of the bluff, at an elevation which no human art can reach, is cut the figure of an enormous bird, with its wings extended. The bird which this figure represents was called by the Indians, the Piasa, and from this is derived the name of the stream.

The tradition of the Piasa is still current among all the tribes of the Upper Mississippi, and those who have inhabited the valley of the Illinois, and is briefly this: "Many thousand moons before the arrival of the pale faces, when

the great magalony and mastodon, whose bones are now dug up, were still living in this land of the green prairies, there existed a bird of such dimensions that he could easily carry off, in his talons, a full grown deer. Having obtained a taste of human flesh, from that time he would prey upon nothing else. He was artful as he was powerful; would dart suddenly and unexpectedly upon an Indian, bear him off into one of the caves in the bluff, and devour him. Hundreds of Warriours attempted for years to destroy him, but without success. Whole villages were nearly depopulated, and consternation spread through all the tribes of the Illini. At length, Ouatoga, a chief, whose fame as a warriour extended beyond the great lakes, separating himself from the rest of his tribe, fasted in solitude for the space of a whole moon, and prayed to the Great Spirit, the Master of life, that he would protect his children from the Piasa. On the last night of the fast, the Great Spirit appeared to Ouatoga in a dream, and directed him to select twenty of his warriours, each armed with a bow and a poisoned arrow, and conceal them in a designated spot. Near the place of their concealment, another warriour was to stand in open view, as a victim for the Piasa, which they must shoot the instant that he pounced upon his prey. When the chief awoke in the morning, he thanked the Great Spirit, and returning to his tribe, told them his dream. The warriours were quickly selected and placed in ambush as directed. Ouatoga offered himself as the victim. He was willing to die for his tribe. Placing himself in open view of the bluff, he soon saw the Piasa perched on the cliff eyeing his prey. Ouatoga drew up his manly form to its utmost height, and planting his feet firmly upon the earth, began to chant the death-song of a warriour. A moment after, the Piasa rose into the air, and swift as the thunderbolt, darted down upon the chief. Scarcely had he reached his victim when every bow was sprung, and every arrow sent, to the feather, into his body. The Piasa uttered a wild, fearful scream, that resounded far over the opposite side of the river, and expired. Ouatoga was safe. Not an arrow, not even the talons of the bird, had touched him. The Master of life, in admiration of the generous deed of Ouatoga, had held over him an invisible shield. In memory of this event, the image of the Piasa was engraved on the face of the bluff." Such is the Indian tradition. Of course I do not youch for its truth. This much,

however, is certain; the figure of a large bird cut into the solid rock is still there, and at a height that is perfectly inaccessible. How and for what purpose it was made, I leave for others to determine; even at this day, an Indian never passes that spot in his canoe without firing his gun at the figure of the bird. The marks of balls on the rock are almost innumerable.

Near the close of March of the present year, I was induced to visit the bluffs below the mouth of the Illinois and above that of the Piasa. My curiosity was principally directed to the examination of a cave connected with the above traditions, as one of those to which the bird had carried its human victims. Preceded by an intelligent guide who carried a spade, I set out on my excursion. The cave was extremely difficult of access, and at one point of our progress I stood at an elevation of more than one hundred and fifty feet on the face of the bluff, with barely room to sustain one foot. The unbroken wall towered above me, while below was the river. After a long and perilous clambering we reached the cave, which was about fifty feet above the surface of the river. By the aid of a long pole, placed on the projecting rock and the upper end touching the mouth of the cave, we succeeded in entering it. Nothing could be more impressive than the view from the entrance of this cavern. The Mississippi was rolling in silent grandeur beneath us; high over our heads a single cedar hung its branches over the cliff, on the blasted top of which was seated a bald eagle. No other sound or sign of life was near us. A sabbath stillness rested upon the scene. Not a cloud was in the heavens; not a breath of air was stirring. The broad Mississippi lay before us, calm and smooth, as a lake. The landscape presented the same wild aspect as it did before it had yet met the eye of the white man.

The roof of the cavern was vaulted, the top of which was hardly less than twenty-five feet in height. The shape of the cave was irregular, but so far as I could judge, the bottom would average twenty by thirty feet. The floor of this cave throughout its whole extent was a mass of human bones. Sculls and other bones were mingled together in the utmost confusion. To what depth they extended I am unable to decide, but we dug to the depth of three or four feet in every quarter of the cavern and still we found only bones. The remains of thousands must have been deposited here. How, and by whom, and for what purpose, it is impossible even to conjecture. J. \mathbb{R}^3

Temple's comment that Russell "certainly never intended for this fanciful tale to be accepted as a historical article" is not supported by the text. The very title labels the narrative as an "Indian tradition" rather than a fiction, and the purpose of the author's closing account about his visit to a cave filled with bones is clearly to suggest that the tradition may have been factual.

Moreover, Russell commonly asserted a historical basis, or an authentic source, for his stories. For example, in a longer work published the very next year, "Cahokia: A Legend of the Olden Time in Illinois," he makes this statement about his sources:

To one who thoroughly understands their language, and is fond of "legendary lore,' a richer banquet can hardly be devised than sitting at the winter evening hearth of one of these venerable fathers of Cahokia, and listening to "*a tale* of the times of old." Partly from this source, and partly from an old manuscript still in my possession, belonging to one of the principal families of that village, I have obtained the following narrative.⁴

Likewise, he opens the article with historical information about the founding of Cahokia. And yet the narrative — about how the French settlement tried to save itself from destruction by offering a beautiful bride to an Indian leader, and how the two fell in love and subsequently died in each other's arms — is just as obviously fictitious as the Piasa story. (It was common for authors of this period to attempt to create an air of authenticity for their stories.)

There are several reasons why Russell was successful in passing off his tale as an authentic Indian tradition. His preface to the narrative — which offers a description of the Piasa River locale, gives an English meaning for the word *Piasa*, and refers to the painting of an enormous bird on a Mississippi River bluff seems like accurate factual information. While it does not demonstrate that such a man-eating bird existed, it does appear to prove that the story which follows was an Indian tradition. Furthermore, the narrative itself is simple enough to have been an oral tale, and it carries a theme which is essential to Indian culture: self-sacrifice for the tribe. Also, the details about Ouatoga

fasting and praying to the Great Spirit and, later, singing his death song are consistent with what is known of Indian behavior. Finally, the explicit connection of the narrative to the supposed Piasa painting on the bluff (at the end of the tale) appears to verify the existence of the Indian tradition.

It is not surprising that the story also expresses God's (the Great Spirit's) response to Ouatoga's prayers and his protection of the brave warrior, for Russell was a Baptist minister who frequently made a religious point in his narratives. In "Cahokia," for example, the entire town prays to God for help, and the leader of the attacking Indians is converted to the Christian perspective.

The first author to retell the story was Edmund Flagg, who included the narrative about Ouatoga almost verbatim in *The Far West* (1838).⁵ It is interesting to note that he does not give credit to Russell for the story, in spite of the fact that he mentions (and quotes from) dozens of other authors in his travel book. He accepted the notion that the Piasa legend was an Indian tradition, and consequently, he must have felt that the text was not Russell's literary property but the transcription of an oral tale. In short, Russell succeeded in convincing Flagg of the story's authenticity.

In the same year A. D. Jones published *Illinois and the West*, which also included a version of the story, and again no credit was given to Russell. However, the narrative is expanded considerably. Jones introduces the tale of Owatoga (as he spells the name) by first describing the extent and power of the Illinois Indians, and then he gives a lengthy description of the Piasa bird:

they were terrified with a fearful visitation from the Great Spirit. There appeared upon the inaccessible bluffs, where it made its home, an immense and hideous animal, half bird, half beast, which, from the circumstance of its having wings, they called the Piasau Bird. This name, like all Indian names, is significant of the character of the monster which it designates — it means "the man-destroying Bird." This bird is described as being of gigantic size, capable of bearing off with ease in its talons, a horse or buffalo. Its head and back were like those of a vulture, with eyes of the most dazzling brilliancy; its wings black as the raven and clothed with thunder, making a most fearful noise in heavy flight; its legs, four in number, and talons like those of a mighty eagle; its body similar to that of a dragon, ending with a tail of huge dimensions, like a scorpion. Its body was gorgeously colored with every hue, and in its flight it made a most imposing spectacle, inspiring terror, awe and wonder.⁶

It is apparent from this description that Jones attempted to sensationalize the tale. And there are other significant variations from Russell's version: Owaoga does not fast alone but with his priests, and his role as sacrificial victim is kept secret until the last minute — although the secrecy serves no useful purpose. Moreover, he delivers a speech to the tribe just prior to the sacrifice, which includes an explanation for the bird's appearance: "The Great Spirit is angry with his children. He hath sent us this scourge to punish us for our sins. He hath demanded this sacrifice. Who is so fit as your chief?"⁷⁷ As this indicates, Jones's version makes the Great Spirit the adversary rather than the protector of the tribe.

That Russell's story is the ultimate source for this longer narrative there is no question, but it is apparent that Jones knew only an oral version of the legend. That is to say, Russell's simple tale must have been orally transmitted among residents of the Alton area after it appeared in *The Alton Telegraph* of 1836, for Jones visited that area on June 10, 1838, and heard the story as he indicates in his book. Specifically, he mentions that he visited the Piasa bluff, which "seemed to corroborate the tradition related to me in the neighborhood."⁸ This then explains the extensive variations in Jones's version of the story and the complete lack of verbal correspondence between his narrative and Russell's.

Another version of the tale appeared three years later, in *The* Valley of the Mississippi (1841) by Lewis F. Thomas. He too visited the bluff on which the monster was painted, and he gives a very precise description of what he saw. Either he viewed the original figures (there were actually two of them) described by Marquette, or he viewed someone's restoration of them. In any case, he introduces his version of the tale by saying, "The legend, as we have heard it, is as follows. . . [my emphasis]."⁹ Hence, his story is also based on an oral version of the Piasa legend,

which he undoubtedly heard while inspecting the bluff north of Alton. Since he mentions that the painting was "marked over with the names of ambitious visitors," it is likely that the fame of the legend had made the bluff a popular place to visit.

Thomas provides numerous details that differ from the versions of Russell and Jones. He asserts that the monster "was covered with scales of every possible color, and had a huge tail, with a blow of which it could shake the earth . . . and its four feet were armed with powerful claws, in each of which it could carry a buffaloe." (Hence, it could carry off four times as many buffaloes as the monster described by Jones.) The "Bird of the Piasau" (as he spells it) is declared to mean "bird of the evil spirit," and the young Indian is called Wassatogo. After the Great Spirit told him that he must "offer himself as a sacrifice" in order to "rid his people of their destroyer," he made elaborate preparations to confront the monster:

He then assembled the tribe, and made a speech, recounting his deeds of valor, acquainting them of his dream, and exhorting them, like him, to be ever ready to die for their people. Wassatogo then dressed himself in his chieftan's garb, put on his war paint, as if going to battle, and taking his bow, arrows and tomahawk, he placed himself on a prominent point of the rock, to await the coming of the monster-bird.

And when the bird approached, it actually "seized the chieftan in its talons," and Wassatogo then "dealt it a blow on the head with his tomahawk." Hence, the climactic moment in Lewis's version is much more of a battle between man and bird than in the two earlier versions. Consequently, the role of the Great Spirit, who protected Ouatoga in Russell's version, is diminished. However, Thomas's tale is effective, for it reads like a brief item of heroic literature.

During the same decade, two other Piasa stories that differed entirely from Russell's narrative appeared in Illinois newspapers. Both were attempts to displace Russell's legend with other tales that were presented as the genuine tradition behind the painting on the bluff. The earliest is called "The Manitou of the Piasa: An Indian Tradition," and it was written by "L." for *The Alton Telegraph and Democratic Review* in 1844. This story, about Pottawatomie twins named Peasayah and Onecaw who defeat a monster living along the Mississippi River, is not relevant to the discussion of the Russell legend. However, the author at least recognizes that Russell wrote the other Piasa bird narrative, even though he refers to it as a "gross fable" which simply displays the writer's "ingenuity."¹⁰ It is possible that "L." may have known for sure that Russell's tale was fiction, but more than likely he was simply attacking the notion that it was an Indian tradition in order to replace the tale with his own legendary account.

Another anonymous author took a very different approach to the same goal: he published an article called "The Piasa Bird ----An Illinois Legend" in Springfield's Illinois Journal in 1847 under the name of John Russell.¹¹ Temple assumes that this story about an Indian named Alpeora who defeats a man-eating condor — was written by Russell, but it undoubtedly was not. In the first place, Russell was not living in Illinois at the time and, hence, was not publishing in the state's newspapers. Second, as Temple indicates, Russell reprinted the Ouatoga narrative in the Evangelical Magazine and Gospel Advocate of Utica, New York in 1848.¹² Thus, he had no intention of replacing his tale with another Piasa legend. Third, the 1847 story is unlike any other literary work by Russell. It has no Christian or moral overtones at all, and it is clearly not written in Russell's style. (For instance, , he would never have said, "the Illinois were at their wits end what to do," which is far too idiomatic for his formal mode of expression.) In any case, this story, like the 1844 tale, failed to replace Russell's narrative as the legend of the Piasa bluff. There is no evidence that it was ever reprinted or retold.

In 1873 Martin Beem published a Piasa story in Springfield's *Illinois State Register* that is obviously related to Russell's legend, but at the same time, it is considerably different from the earlier versions. The central figure is Lincahtello, an Indian chieftain who was leader of the Ottowwah and Illinois tribes. He is described as "saddened at the mysterious loss of his only daughter, and the death of her lover, who flung himself over the cliffs, in a moment of despair" — a circumstance which is not further explained in the tale.¹³ The Piasa bird is depicted as "Possessing an eagle's head and wings, — the former crested with steel, — it had the tongue of an adder, and the tail of a dragon, tipped with the

sting of a scorpion. It had four legs, human to the knees, and eagle the rest, pointed by the longest and sharpest talons. . . ." And the author explicitly indicates that the meaning of the word *Piasa* is a mystery: "how it received its name, or what that name meant, is unknown."

Moreover, in this tale, the Indian medicine men attempt to get rid of the monster before Lincahtello steps in. They first invoke Meesakkamnego, the grandmother of mankind, then Klapocheesek, the north wind, and finally Ahminmeeogeechee, the spirit of Thunder. When all of their incantations fail, they appeal to Lincahtello, who is described as a heroic figure: "Lincahtello was a great chief, wise in council, strong in arm, brave in battle. He had often dallied with death, and laughed it to scorn. He had gone fifty days without food; had cut the tongue from a bear, torn the fangs from an adder; and had made the greatest chief of his foes swallow an arrow. . . ." He proposes (without the help of the Great Spirit) that someone be sacrificed in order to allow the bird to be ambushed. The identity of the victim is kept a secret until the last minute, as in the version by Jones. After Lincahtello offers himself and the monster is killed, the Indians rejoice.

The article concludes with a variety of additional information. Lincahtello's later death and burial is briefly described. Then the coming of white men — "another scourge, deadlier and more fearful" — given as the reason why the Ottawwah and Illinois Indians died and the memory of Lincahtello was forgotten (Beem thus forgets to indicate how he could have acquired the story.) He also mentions the "lover's leap" where Lincahtello's daughter's lover supposedly hurled himself into the river. Finally, he asserts that time has now destroyed the painting of the bird on the bluff.

Beem's story is not as different from Russell's as it first appears. Evidently he combined an oral version of the Russell legend with a vague tale about a lover's leap and added information of his own about the activities of Indian medicine men. (The name Lincahtello was apparently associated with the lover's leap story, for he is first introduced as the father of the missing daughter whose lover subsequently leaped to his death.) In any case, the narrative is now so involved and so sentimentalized that it could no longer be easily mistaken for an authentic Indian tradition.

Fourteen years after Beem's story appeared two scholars published their investigations of the Piasa legend. William McAdams included his findings in Records of Ancient Races in the Mississippi Valley (1887), and Perry Armstrong privately printed a slim volume called The Piasa, or the Devil Among the Indians (1887). They recognize that Russell wrote the first published version of the legend, and they both reprint his text. As mentioned earlier, McAdams offers evidence that Russell's tale was exaggerated, if not entirely fictitious: "A few years after the publication of the tradition of the Piasa, we wrote a letter to Russell at Bluffdale. He answered that there was a somewhat similar tradition among the Indians, but he admitted, to use his own words, that the story was 'somewhat illustrated'."14 On the other hand, Armstrong, who was a much less capable scholar, simply accepts Russell's article as fact. Moreover, he offers, as a complement to it, "The Miami Tradition of the Piasa," which he claims was "related to us nearly sixty years ago by a chief."15 It is unrelated to the Russell story and features two warring Indian tribes, two Piasa monsters, and a version of the Starved Rock legend. Unlike Russell's tale, Armstrong's could never be misunderstood as anything but his own concoction.

Nine years later one more version of Russell's Piasa legend was published. Mary Hartwell Catherwood, author of many romantic novels and short stories about the Midwest, wrote a series of articles about the Lower Illinois River Valley for the Chicago *Daily Tribune* in January of 1896, and the third of these is entitled "Legend of the Piasa."

The article is part historical investigation and part narrative. She begins by mentioning that Marquette first saw the picture on the bluff, and she discusses William McAdams's description of the Piasa in his recent book. More importantly, she asserts that she has visited "Squire Russell of Bluffdale, who has been nearer the Piasa than any person now living," to get his recollections of the painting on the bluff.¹⁶ She must have been referring to John Russell's son, Spencer, for the author had died in 1863, but in any case, she quotes three paragraphs about the paintings that are presented as "Squire Russell's" recollections.

Then she offers a version of the Piasa story which is very close to Russell's 1836 legend. However, there are no verbal correspondences, and so she was probably retelling the story approximately as Spencer Russell related it to her. Unfortunately, her style has several colloquial expressions that detract from the effectiveness of the tale: "down the hopper," "by hook or crook," "no more free lunches," and so on. Her most distinctive addition to the narrative is an attempt to heighten the emotional impact of the story with a sensational description of the monster in action: "He hangs an instant over the wretched village, his bat wings quivering, his fiery eyes selecting; he drops and is away! One more . . . warrior is gone. His doomed legs may be seen kicking and struggling as that ugly beast trails away in its low and oozing flight with him."¹⁷

She concludes the article by presenting the hypothesis — based on Chapter IV of McAdam's' book — that the Piasa bird may have been the last of the prehistoric flying reptiles. Her final line asks, "do we positively know there never was a Piasa, a Destroyer, a Thunder-bird — a true lumbering saurian, hanging with clawfingers to the cliffs of the Illinois?"¹⁸

As the foregoing discussion has shown, the main reason why Russell's tale inspired so many later versions of the Piasa legend is that it became an orally transmitted story in the Alton area. This is surely why Russell is not referred to by writers like Jones, Lewis, and Beem — all of whom had at least visited the Piasa bluff region — and it is also the reason why later printed versions had so many differences from the narrative published in 1836.

It is also worth emphasizing that Russell's tale is the most well-written version of the Piasa legend. The spare narrative very effectively conveys his two themes: Ouatoga's devotion to the welfare of his tribe and the Great Spirit's interest in helping the warrior and his people. In contrast, both Jones and Beem indicate that the monster was sent by the Great Spirit, and thus, they confuse or eliminate the second theme. Likewise, they both add the melodramatic but essentially pointless matter of Ouatoga's (Lincahtello's) secrecy about who will be sacrificed in the ambush attempt. Furthermore, their descriptions of the monster add sensationalism but diminish the sense of mystery about the Piasa bird that is found in Russell's story. To some extent, this is also true of the version by Thomas, although it is the most wellconstructed narrative aside from Russell's. The emotionalism of Catherwood's story, as well as the frequent colloquialisms in her style, make it perhaps the least satisfactory of the Piasa versions. Finally, it should be stressed that no one succeeded in creating a frame for the narrative that was as effective as Russell's. In short, "The Piasa: An Indian Tradition of Illinois" is not only the source of a famous Illinois legend, it is the one literary work by John Russell that deserves a continuing readership.

Western Illinois University

NOTES

- 1. See "John Russell of Bluffdale," Journal of the Illinois State Historical Society, 42 (1949), 272-91.
- "The Piasa Bird: Fact or Fiction?" Journal of the Illinois State Historical Society, 49 (1956), 316. The mention of "Marquette's account" refers not to a story about a man-eating bird but to the famous explorer's journal description of "2 monsters" painted on a Mississippi River bluff. See The Jesuit Relations and Allied Documents, ed. Reuben Gold Thwaites (Cleveland: Burrows Bros., 1900), LIX, 139-41.
- 3. [John Russell], "The Piasa: An Indian Tradition of Illinois," The Family Magazine, August 1836, 101-02. The article was soon reprinted in The Alton Telegraph, 28 Sept. 1836, The Sangamo Journal, 10 Oct. 1836, and probably other Illinois newspapers as well. The newspapers identified Russell as the author.
- 4. "Cahokia: A Legend of the Olden Time in Illinois," The Alton Telegraph, 18 Oct. 1837, p. 1.
- 5. The Far West, in Early Western Travels 1748-1846, ed. Reuben G. Thwaites (Cleveland, Ohio: The Arthur H. Clark Co., 1906), XXVI, 123-25.
- 6. Illinois and the West (Boston: Jordan and Co., 1838), pp. 54-55.
- 7. Ibid., p. 57.
- 8. Ibid., p. 59.
- 9. "Piasau Rock," The Valley of the Mississippi (St. Louis: J. C. Wild, 1841), p. 71. Since the brief story is contained on pages 71 and 72, subsequent quotations from it will not be footnoted.
- 10. "The Manitou of the Piasa: An Indian Tradition," *The Alton Telegraph and Democratic Review*, 20 April, 1844, p. 1. The story itself is concluded in the April 27 issue.
- 11. "The Piasa Bird-An Illinois Legend," Illinois Journal (Springfield), 28 Oct. 1847, p. 1.
- 12. "The Piasa Bird: Fact or Fiction?", p. 321.
- 13. "The Piasa-Bird: A Legend of the Illinois," *Illinois State Register* (Springfield), 14 June 1873, p. 2. Since the entire article appears on page two of the newspaper, subsequent quotations from it will not be footnoted.

- 14. Records of Ancient Races in the Mississippi Valley (St. Louis: C. R. Barns, 1887), p. 5.
- 15. The Piasa, or the Devil Among the Indians (Morris, Illinois: E. B. Flectcher, 1887), p. 84.
- "Legend of the Piasa," in Lower Illinois Valley Local Sketches of Long Ago, ed. Eileen Smith Cunningham (Kane, Illinois: Umphress Printing Co., 1975), p. 22.
- 17. Ibid., p. 23.
- 18. Ibid., p. 25.

HAMLIN GARLAND: REALIST OF OLD AGE Leland Krauth

When he is remembered at all, Hamlin Garland is recalled in literary history as a writer who took the right trail in the beginning, as the realist of *Main-Travelled Roads*, only to wander astray into the thin atmosphere of rocky mountain romance in the end. Garland has been praised for opening the Midwest to fiction more authentically than his regional predecessors, writers like Edward Eggleston, E. W. Howe, and Joseph Kirkland; for fulfilling Howells' dictum that the commonplace is the proper subject for the realist; and for instilling into the main-stream of American writing a capacious yet gritty humanitarian sympathy. But he has, I believe, also done one other notable thing: he has given serious, extended, and successful treatment to a subject that is more often than not skirted in American literature — old age.

Garland's consideration of old people is especially notable because it runs counter to the prevailing myths embodied in the classic literature of our culture. Whitman gave voice to the image that has stirred the American literary imagination most deeply:

As Adam early in the morning, Walking forth from the bower refresh'd with sleep Behold me where I pass \ldots^{1}

Our literature has been predisposed to see America in Edenic terms, as the New World garden, and to see the archetypal Americans as the New Adam and the New Eve, wandering hand-in-hand their solitary way, perpetually beginning anew.² With their emphasis upon youthful innocence and change, our Edenic myths exclude *a priori* the elderly whose characters tend to be fixed and whose knowledge has come from a gradual accumulation of experience. In this context, Garland's depiction of the aged is both a needed counterbalance and a daring experiment.

While old age is a motif running throughout Garland's many prose works (he wrote over fifty separate volumes), it appears most definitely, I believe, in two categories of his writing: first in the fiction centered on the Middle Border, of which *Main-Travelled Roads* is clearly the most significant; and second, in Garland's journal, which is a neglected masterwork of American letters. By looking briefly at these, I hope to show not only Garland's realistic view of old age but also the significance he assigns the aged.

Garland himself outlived his generation of realists, "The Class of the '70s" as Warner Berthoff has called them,³ that included Stephen Crane and Frank Norris. But long before he was old himself, Garland was haunted by visions of the elderly, by images of people who had, as he put it in one of the prosey, sentimental verses he sometimes mistook for poetry, grown old together:

F'r forty years next Easter day, Him and me in wind and weather Have been a-gittin' bent 'n' gray, Moggin' along together.⁴

The "bent 'n' gray" loom large in Garland's fiction from the first, partly because they were pivotal in his life. As Garland repeatedly made clear, the immediate impetus behind Main-Travelled Roads was his return from the East, first in 1887 and then again in 1888, to the prairie home of his aged parents in Ordway, South Dakota, where he discovered both regional poverty and familial distress. With a lacerating mixture of pity and guilt, he witnessed "the ugliness, the endless drudgery, and the loneliness of the farmer's lot," and he found his parents, especially his mother, hopelessly "imprisoned" in that dreary life.⁵ Most critics have emphasized the general awareness of hard times instilled in Garland by his returns, but it seems clear that what stirred his creativity, as it cut closest to the bone of his compassion, was the plight of his aging parents. Garland got the idea for the first of the Main-Travelled Roads stories, "Mrs. Ripley's Trip," from his mother, and he wrote most of it in between grinding work with his fiftynine year old father as a stacker in the wheat harvest. In a real sense, Garland's aged and struggling parents --- to whom he dedicated his book - provided the models as well as the inspiration for Main-Travelled Roads.

Old people are central to the book. They appear in one role or another in all six of the original stories, and they are prominent in four of them. Garland creates his old people in the spirit of the realist — or more exactly, in the spirit of what he would come to call "veritism," which was for him a combination of truth to things as they are and to individual perception. In *Crumbling Idols* he summarized the essence of his version of realism in this injunction: "Write of those things of which you know most, and for which you care most. By so doing you will be true to yourself, true to your locality, and true to your time."⁶ Garland's old people are perfect examples of this theory. While they are patterned after his family members, about whom Garland cared deeply, they represent quite convincingly the Middle Border region in its time of agrarian struggle. They appear as the debilitated survivors of the hardships of Midwestern life.

On the face of it, the most commonplace feature of Garland's elderly characters is their attachment to the land. Of course the heroes of our literature are often found absorbed in the natural world, whether that world is a receding frontier, a whale-haunted ocean, a Mississippi flowing insistently South, or a rocky mountain peak rising starkly from the plains. Garland's aged characters, however, inhabit a more down-to-earth landscape; they are simply living on farms. Garland frames the opening and closing of the book with realistic scenes of old people at work on the land. In the first story, "A Branch-Road," old man Kinney, who is, Garland says, a "Hard-featured, wiry old man," "entering his second childhood," is pictured beginning "to limp painfully" as he goes through the daily chore of "driving the cows" out to pasture, and in the last story of the original six, "Mrs. Ripley's Trip," old Ethan Ripley is seen "husking all alone in the field, his spare form rigged out in two or three ragged coats, his hands inserted in a pair of gloves minus nearly all the fingers, his thumbs done up in 'Stalls', and his feet thrust into huge coarse boots."7 Both men are bent and stiff, weary from work, poverty, and age. Like Kinney and Ripley, all the elderly of Main-Travelled Roads are locked into a farm life that yields only a marginal existence at best. They are enslaved on the land, and while its natural beauty provides intermitent satisfaction, there is no retirement from their grinding work short of death.

Garland's old people of the Middle Border do not live in consonance with the deeper rhythms of the natural world. Max Westbrook has pointed out that the seminal Western hero has an intimate relationship with nature in its most profound dimension; he is, Westbrook says, one who has experienced at some moment the sacred "original creation" and thereafter knows the essential "unity" of all things.⁸ For all of their direct contact with the land, Garland's old people have no such knowledge. They do not take from the land ultimate truth, but only labor to eke out a living. They are not extraordinary Western heroes but ordinary Midwestern people, a part of the land in its nonmythic actuality.

The young people of Main-Travelled Roads often try to sever themselves from the land. Will Hannan, Agnes Kinney, Howard McLane, Rob Rodemaker, and Julia Peterson all leave their Middle Border farms for such places East and West as New York, South Dakota, and Arizona. In their desire to escape, to flee from home, as well as in their mobility, they are typical of the figures who populate most American fiction, characters who are, more often than not, on the run, lighting out for the territories---or if they start there, for the cities-to get away from or to catch up with the rest. Further, in their urgent exodus Garland's younger people trace a pattern that will become distinctive in Midwestern literature - a path of departure followed by such later figures as Anderson's George Willard, Lewis's Carol Kennicott, and Fitzgerald's Nick Carraway, to mention only a few.º Garland's old people, on the other hand, are sedentary. And this makes them unique. They are confined to their regional homes by economic necessity, by the exhaustion of old age, and, most importantly, by choice. Of all the elderly people in Main-Travelled Roads only one, Mrs. Ripley, leaves the region, and she does so simply to visit her family in the state of New York. Significantly, having begun Main-Travelled Roads with the flight of young Will Hannan, Garland ends the volume with the return of old Mrs. Ripley, who comes back to her husband, her grandson, and her work to stay.

At the emotional and normative center of *Main-Travelled Roads* is the home. With the single exception of old widow Gray in "The Return of a Private," all of Garland's old people are married couples — home-folk "Moggin' along together," as he put it in his poem. In all six of the stories Garland depicts families which include more than one generation. While he is attentive to the hardships of farming and the snares of capitalism, issues which make *Main-Travelled Roads* protest fiction, Garland envisions the ultimate threat arising from these conditions as the loss of the family home. Fully two-thirds of the stories turn upon either the fact or the possibility of dispossession. Such loss looms as the ultimate horror, for home is the core of life in Garland's Middle Border. Lapsing at one point into Victorian sentimentality, Garland observes,

There is no despair as deep as the despair of a homeless man or woman. To roam the roads of the country or the streets of the city, to feel there is no rood of ground on which the feet can rest, to halt weary and hungry outside lighted windows and hear laughter and song within—these are the hungers and rebellions that drive men to crime and women to shame. (p. 166)

The homes Garland cherishes are uniformly dilapidated, realistic emblems of Midwestern poverty and deprivation. Yet they are enlivened by the spirit of their aged inhabitants, especially the old women.

For all of his interest in realism, Garland was, as Jay Martin has observed, "a maker and follower of myth and romance."10 His imagination, even at its most factual, strained to lift its creations into larger configurations of meaning. In Main-Travelled Roads this inclination results in a glorification of the Aged Mother. While the Mother figure obviously derives from Garland's own mother, to find in the type, as some critics have, only an embarrassingly unconscious Oedipal love is to miss Garland's indication of universality. Old Widow Gray, old Mother Council, old Mrs. Ripley are virtually mythologized as avators of love; they are Garland's equivalents of the archetypal Great Earth Mother who is the source and sustainer of life.¹¹ Garland describes Old Widow Gray, the quintessence of the type, in quasisacramental language as the "visible incarnation of hospitality" (p. 141), and he compares the aged Mother Council to the sun and endows her with the power to instill vitality into those lifeless in body and spirit (p. 163). Garland is too realistic to bestow full mythic stature

upon the Mothers of the Middle Border, but he sees them all as elemental forces, universal nourishers, timeless figures of unconditional, enduring charity.

These almost mythic women live in a world that is not only real but even shabby. The widow Gray's parlor, a best-room carpeted with "a faded and patched rag" rug, is decorated, Garland says, by a "horrible white-and-green-striped wall-paper" and "a few ghastly effigies of dead members of the family hung in variously-sized oval walnut frames" (p. 142). Whatever the failures of taste here (the room is Garland's counterpart to the Grangerford parlor in Huckleberry Finn), the family portraits attest to a sense of the past. Unlike the typical heroes of our literature who are so bereft of history as to exist primarily in space, not time, Garland's old people are linked to the past. They have family as well as personal histories. Both resentments, like the Hannans' dislike of the Kinneys in "A Branch-Road," and loyalties, like the McTurgs' ties to the MacLanes in "Up the Coulé," linger through generations. The young are identified as the son or daughter of their parents, and the old are defined by the time they - or their parents - first settled in the region. Garland's old people naturally conceive of themselves in time as well as place, as Jane Ripley does when she explains her desire for a trip, "I ain't been away't stay overnight for thirteen years in this house, 'n' it was just so in Davis Country for ten more" (p. 173). Having lived out their histories, the aged retell them to newcomers with dignified restraint — in "Western fashion," Garland says, slowly, equitably, trading one long lifestory for another (p. 157).

Embodying the past, Garland's old people represent not only continuity but also an ethic of communal cooperation, the code of "help" that obtained of necessity when the land was first settled. The sense of mutuality that informed such pioneer tasks as house-roofing, barn-raising, and harvesting lives on in the elderly people of *Main-Travelled Roads*. It leads the old Councils first to take-in the Haskins family and then to back their effort to farm with advice, seed, stock, and labor. And it prompts old widow Gray to help feed Private Smith's family while he is at war. In the later additions to *Main-Travelled Roads* this ethic of cooperation degenerates into what one critic has called Garland's "ersatz glorification of small-town togetherness,"¹² but in the original stories the code convincingly animates the old people. For while Garland is, as Donald Pizer has pointed out, a romantic individualist,¹³ he deviates from romantics like Emerson and Thoreau in his outright celebration of communal living, both in the extended families headed by the elderly and in the larger rural society knit together by a common past.

Perhaps most importantly Garland's old people — like Faulkner's after him — endure. Despite their deprivations and sufferings, despite their drudgery and poverty, they survive, and their survival is in itself a kind of triumph. For Garland their spirit is unconquerable. Intertwining the ideas of a harsh land, of home and family, of mutual concern, and of a binding past, Garland conveys the spirit of his old people in the image of old Mrs. Ripley returning from her once-in-a-lifetime trip:

And off up the road the indomitable little figure trudged, head held down to the cutting blast. Little snow-fly, a speck on a measureless expanse, crawling along with painful breathing, and slipping, sliding steps—"Gittin' home to Ripley an' the boy." (p. 184)

In Main-Travelled Roads Garland envisions the Midwest as a coherent culture: built upon a series of family farms, centered in the values of the home, animated by an ethic of communal cooperation, and bound together by the past living on into the present in the old people. Garland creates a dramatic and symbolic representation of the cohesion of the Middle Border ethos in "Up the Coulé," when William McTurg plays, for the young and the old, for the permanent community members and the temporarily estranged native sons, the old fiddle tunes of frontier settlement.¹⁴ As McTurg plays the old songs of Westward dreaming, the people of the Middle Border sense their common past and so draw together in their present. Personal resentments, intellectual differences, economic disparities, and separate generations are all bridged as the region's music sounds the past. The moment of transfiguring music is, however, heavy with melancholy, for McTurg's music reminds the community of unrealized hopes as well as heroic achievements.

Ignored in criticism, the aged William McTurg is one of the most significant figures in *Main-Travelled Roads*. Garland depicts him as an embodiment of the past: he is a patriachal figure —

a grizzled old man with white "hair and beard" and "great lionlike head," a "soft-voiced giant" who, despite his years, holds himself as "erect as an Indian" (pp. 52-53). McTurg's enormous strength, instinctive kindness, and aesthetic appreciation of the land's austere beauty represent the noble qualities of the early pioneers. Most importantly, old McTurg is the native artist who expresses in his music the heritage of the region. Unlike the elderly mothers who suffer the ills of advancing age but who in their maternal aspect seem to rise beyond time, out of history to the realm of myth, Garland's regional artist is timebound, linked to a specific moment of heroic settlement. His traditional materials express again and again the emotions, aspirations, and endeavors of a bygone era. In *Main-Travelled Roads* both the character of this artist and his art are honored.

But in Prairie Folks, one of the sequels to Main-Travelled Roads, the native artist becomes a displaced person, as change overtakes Garland's Middle Border. In "Daddy Deering," for instance, Garland conveys with considerable power both the coming of old age and the passing of an heroic era. Deering, described as a "gaunt old man of sixty years" or "older," as a "giant" with a body as "bony and tough as hickery," is a varient of the aged William McTurg, and like McTurg, Deering is both prodigious worker of the land and its native artist (PF, pp. 157-58). As a former logger, farmer, horse trader, cattle herder, hog butcher, and grain harvester, he is the epitome of the passing Middle Border life, and "above all else," Garland tells us, he loves to "play the fiddle for dances" (PF, p. 165). With more grim honesty than pathos, Garland shows Deering's gradual but steady loss of physical prowess, a decline that finally leaves him crippled in his hands and lame in his legs. His diminished state terrifies him; it makes him, Garland observes, begin "to think and to tremble," for it brings "age and decay close to him" (PF, pp. 171-72). Deering's demise strips him of his heroic stature as an invincible pioneer. At the same time, the changing culture of the region denies him his place as its artist, and for Deering and no doubt for Garland - this is more tragic than physical decay.

In his early old age Deering is able to fiddle for the local dances, sitting in a chair on the kitchen table "as if it were a

throne," bearing himself with a "rude sort of grace and a certain dignity," playing the songs filled with "old-time memories" (PF, pp. 166, 168). Although the young people delight more in his "antics" than his "tunes," they are nevertheless "immensely pleased" with him (PF, p. 166). But as an even newer generation comes of age, as the old neighbors die, as the young migrate West or to the cities, as, Garland says, "the wholesome simplicity of pioneer days is lost, Daddy Deering becomes not only unwanted as a musician but even unwelcome as a "visitor" (PF, p. 170). He says flatly of himself, "I'm left out" (PF, p. 170), and ironically his plain, laconic statement marks him indelibly as a Middle Border man, even as it expresses his exclusion from the region's present life. The utterance is Garland's epitaph for all his timebound heroes, who become obsolete when the prairie lands are broken, when their own Herculean bodies decay, and when their traditional music falls upon indifferent young ears.

After Main-Travelled Roads, to which Prairie Folks is a kind of coda, Garland soon shifted his fiction from the Middle Border to the Rocky Mountain West. From 1898 to 1916 he created a series of romances notable for their flimsiness. With the occasional exception of an ancient Indian meant to suggest the passing of the oldest West, Garland's dozen or so romances do not attend to the aged in any significant way. Perhaps his most interesting use of old people in the romances is in fact a single brief scene in Cavanagh: Forest Ranger (1910) in which he describes an old government scout, an old miner, and an old remittance man-all figures of an earlier era-living out their later years in a dreary poverty, relieved only by half-illusory memories of the "good old days." All three of these early Western men are displaced by change, much as Daddy Deering is. Largely ignoring the aged, Garland's romances center upon the young, for compared to his Middle Border fictions, Garland's tales of the far West are a crescendo of youth and decrescendo of reality. Aging himself, Garland recaptured his youth vicariously in his romances, evading the reality of his condition as well as the actuality of Western life.

Garland's most important work after Main-Travelled Roads is his autobiographical tetralogy of Midwestern life: A Son of the Middle Border (1917), A Daughter of the Middle Border (1921), Trail-Makers of the Middle Border (1926), and Back-Trailers from

the Midle Border (1928). Paradoxically Garland, who escaped his own farm life to become a writer in the East, did so only to discover, as Donald Pizer has said, that the "world of his mother and father, of the farm and of westering," was the "one great emotional reality of his life and . . . in a sense his only literary material."15 The four Middle Border volumes confirm Henry James's judgment that in Garland "saturation" amounts almost to "genius," and on the basis of these works Warner Berthoff rightly insists that Garland has made a "genuine contribution to the documentary record of American life."16 But what the tetralogy also documents is Garland's early realistic fiction, his Main-Travelled Roads. His fictional old people in particular are revealed as authentically modeled upon his family-his father and mother, to be sure, but also his grandparents and his uncles. William Mc-Turg and Daddy Deering are based on Garland's maternal uncles. the McClintocks, as well as the local farm-worker, Daddy Fairburn, while the Widow Gray and Mother Council reflect his grandmother McClintock as well as his own mother. The Middle Border chronicles thus define in their different way the same old people, with the same strengths and vulnerabilities, that appear in the fiction.

Garland did, however, hit upon one new thing in his tetralogy —his "final literary voice."¹⁷ That voice is of course the personal one, a harmonious blending of realistic statement with nostalgic reminiscence. Nowhere is this voice more honest or more moving than in his diaries. Beginning in 1898, Garland kept a journal of his daily life until his death in March of 1940. These diaries, excerpts of which have been published, are a rich record of the man and of the several eras he lived through. Of particular interest are the entries from Garland's later years, for in them he faced his own aging. His life, in a sense, caught up at last with his imagination, and he became more than ever the realist of old age.

Coming somewhat late to literature, not publishing his first book until he was thirty-one, Garland was extremely conscious of his age. At forty he mused in his diary that he had reached "the youth of old age," and from then on no year passed without attention to his advancing age.¹⁸ The frequency and the candor with which Garland recorded his days are the more notable because he often felt there was little meaning and satisfaction in existence. "Life," he observed, "will not bear close investigation. It yields depressing results at its best" (p. 50). Garland's account of his older age centers about three interrelated conditions, all, as he said, "depressing," yet all fully and realistically recorded: his physical and mental decline, his increasing isolation, and his sense of obsolescence.

Perhaps the most startling motif in the diaries is the detailed account of physical and mental decay. Garland felt that his vitality had begun to ebb at fifty, and each succeeding year seemed only to quicken the loss. By the time he was in his early sixties this man who would live to be seventy-nine noted, "I am not only lame but my brain is not of much use" (p. 56). At sixty-five he recorded:

This winter is to be a fight for me, a contest against fat, inertia, and the megrims. To exercise is a task. To set out for a walk is a bore and I find all kinds of excuses for not doing it. Lossening teeth, thinning hair and stiffening joints warn me that I *must* keep moving. (p. 57)

The will to resist the depletions of old age persisted in Garland, no doubt contributing to his longevity, and his effort to endure recalls the spirit of the aged men and women of his Middle Border fiction. In his late seventies, however, Garland not only acknowledged the physical enfeeblement he had by then been tracing for decades but also sounded a plaintif note:

Signs of decay multiply. One eye is now useless. My teeth are growing thinner and hearing is impaired, and my feet are so tender that walking is a painful "process of falling," as Dr. Homes called it. But can a man of seventy-eight expect but growing disability? The worst of it is I have no one to help me, no one to share the daily burden of maintaining this house and garden. (p. 71)

Garland also records his loss of mental alertness. "The feeling, the *realization* of age," he noted in his seventy-eighth year, "was in my mind as well as my body today. My joints cracked and my brain was 'fuzzy'" (p. 70). The lucid diary entries themselves belie Garland's sense of deteriorating intelligence. But while he maintained his clarity of mind, he was unable to effect any satisfactory corresponding soundness of body. So in his last year the

84

diaries reveal a startling—and poignant—dissociation of Garland's consciousness from his corporeal self:

As I was dressing this morning, I had a disheartening concept of what my aging body requires. It is not only a poor, fumbling, tremulous machine; it is a decaying mass of flesh and bone. It needs constant care to prevent its being a nuisance to others. It stinks. It sheds its hair. It itches, aches and burns. It constantly sloughs its skin. It sweats, wrinkles and cracks. It was a poor contrivance at the beginning—it is now a burden. I must continue to wash it, dress it, endure its out-thrusting hair and fingernails and keep its internal cogworks from clogging. The best I can do for it is to cover it up with cloth of pleasing texture and color, for it is certain to become more unsightly as the months march on. (pp. 72-73)

As his years increased Garland found himself, as he put it. "more and more solitary" (p. 60). With the honesty that is so characteristic of his journal-keeping, however, he questioned the desirability of being close to friends in mutual old age, for in their "gray and sluggish" condition he felt "the chill of the twilight zone" into which he too had "entered" (p. 62). "I am not sure," he said, "that I want to live where I can see them decay" (pp. 62-63). He experienced much the same distress as he watched his wife grow old, though like the aged couples of his fiction, Garland and Zulime remained affectionate and tenderly helpful to each other. He understood their position as the inevitable trial of love in old age: "Every faithful married couple must go through what we are now going through-seeing our partners growing old and gray and inert from day to day while we look helplessly on" (p. 66). While Garland had the cherished companionship of his wife, he suffered from his growing social isolation. "I am," he recorded, "like a man on some lovely alien island with no one of his old companions and colaborers about him, but at times, I am fully aware that this is about all that remains for me" (p. 65).

Garland's later years were by no means a time of unrelieved gloom. It would misrepresent his account of old age not to take note of the consolations he found. His wife, his family, his home in California, his beautiful garden, his modest financial security, and his various literary honors were all sources of comfort, even causes of joy. Surprisingly, the most powerful and traditional consolation of all, a belief in immortality, eluded Garland. Although he was fascinated by spiritual phenomena throughout his life, he concluded his book, *Forty Years of Psychic Research* (published just four years before his death), with this avowal: "I confess to a state of doubt."¹⁹

Garland's journal account of aging is as remarkable for its scant selfpity as it is for its honesty. As he lived on and on into deeper old age, Garland could even twit himself about his longevity. "Is anything gained by long life?" he asked himself. "Is it anything to boast about? Is it not a progressively bad habit?" (p. 69). Perhaps the most difficult thing for Garland to contend with as he pursued his "bad habit" of living long was his sense of irrelevance as a writer. Like the elderly pioneer artists of his Middle Border fiction, like Daddy Deering, Garland came to feel that he was "left out." The sense of displacement came over him early. a symptom of his insecurity, so that at fifty-two with the triumph of the Middle Border chronicles still before him, Garland could record that he felt "helpless and unproductive" and that this was "the beginning" of his "supersedence by the younger men" (pp. 52-53). Even when he was honored he felt obsolete. Invited in 1926 to speak at Dartmouth, Garland felt antiquated and unappreciated:

As the day wore on I wondered how I happened to be called to speak here. No one knew of me or cared to hear me. Why do I continue to go where I am in a false position? I have nothing in common with these young people. I am an old man celebrating the past—talking of men for whom they care nothing. Why should they? They have their own heroes and prophets! I am merely chanting songs in praise of the slain. (p. 58)

Even more disheatening to Garland than the indifference of the young was the defection of his own generation. "Even my friends," he noted, "are no longer interested in my books or in me" (p. 63).

While Garland noted down the depressing facts of his physical decay, his social isolation, and his artistic superannuation, he continued, as he put it at seventy-four, to "feel the necessity of pushing ahead" (p. 66). And in a real sense Garland managed, I believe, to turn the defeat of old age into a victory—one that was both personal and literary. His final triumph as a man and writer is simply his journal record of aging. It is a major, though neglected, document which certifies the power of the realism that Garland at his best practiced. There are more than a few suggestions in the diaries that Garland conceived of his record of aging as a *literary* work. With something of the rebellious spirit of his own iconoclastic youth, Garland, at seventy-eight, pointed out what he took to be the originality for American letters of his bleak account of his own senescence:

We seldom find in journals of famous authors any mention of their deterioration. In Thoreau, in Emerson, in Hawthorne, so far as their printed records go, no mention of disability or death appears. Mark Twain looked ahead, saw certain decay coming and said so, but for the most part men and women even after seventy shut their eyes to the dark future. . . (pp. 71-72)

Garland refused to shut his eyes to the realities of old age. In his youth he looked about him, saw the elderly folk of the Middle Border, and recorded them in his fiction; in his own old age he looked at himself, saw the changes wrought by time, and recorded them in his diaries. He did not shirk the grimness in either accounting. In the last year of his life he declared:

I am fully aware that these later volumes of my dairy bear witness to my growing loneliness and decay, but these admissions by their repetition are a part of my mental and bodily history. Whoever reads these books will not find in them any striving to be younger and gayer than a man of my years naturally is... As I have repeatedly recorded in this chronicle, "It is my business to be old." (p. 73)

Garland's final "business," his honest record of aging, is one of the great legacies of our realistic literature.

University of Colorado

NOTES

- 1. Walt Whitman, "As Adam Early in the Morning," Leaves of Grass (1891-92; rpt. New York: W. W. Norton, 1973), p. 111.
- 2. For extended discussions of the Edenic myths, see R. W. B. Lewis, The American Adam (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1955); Judith Fryer, The Faces of Eve (New York: Oxford University Press, 1976); and David

Hamlin Garland: Realist of Old Age

W. Noble, The Eternal Adam and the New World Garden (New York: Braziller, 1968).

- 3. Warner Berthoff, The Ferment of Realism: American Literature, 1884-1919 (New York: The Free Press, 1965), p. 219.
- Hamlin Garland, "Growing Old," Prairie Folks (New York: Macmillan and Co., 1899), p. 254. Hereafter this edition will be cited parenthetically as PF.
- 5. Hamlin Garland, "Preface," Main-Travelled Roads (1922 edition; rpt. New York: New American Library, 1926), p. ix.
- Hamlin Garland, Crumbling Idols: Twelve Essays on Art and Literature (1894; rpt. Gainsville, Florida: Scholars' Facsimiles & Reprints, 1952), p. 35.
- 7. Hamlin Garland, Main-Travelled Roads: Six Mississippi Valley Stories (1891; rpt. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1954), pp. 29, 176-77. All parenthetical references in my text are to this reprinting of the first edition.
- Max Westbrook, "Mountain Home: The Hero in the American West," in The Westering Experience in American Literature, ed. Merrill Lewis and L. L. Lee (Bellingham: Western Washington University Press, 1977), pp. 12-14.
- 9. For provocative remarks on the evasions of the typical American hero, see Leslie A. Fiedler, Love and Death in the American Novel (New York: Criterion, 1960), passim; for comments on the "nomadism" of Midwestern writers, see John T. Flanagan, "The Reality of Midwestern Literature," The Midwest: Myth or Reality? (Notre Dame, Ind.: University of Notre Dame Press, 1961), pp. 89-90.
- 10. Jay Martin, Harvests of Change: American Literature 1865-1914 (Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1967), p. 129.
- 11. The classic study of this mythic figure is Erich Neumann, The Great Mother: An Analysis of the Archetype, Bollingen Series XLVII (New York: Pantheon Books, 1955).
- 12. Anthony Channell Hilfer, The Revolt from the Village 1915-1930 (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1969), p. 43.
- 13. Donald Pizer, Realism and Naturalism in Nineteenth-Century American Fiction (Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press, 1960), pp. 88-94.
- 14. For illuminating discussions of the importance of songs for Garland's writings, see Ray B. Browne, "'Popular' and Folk Songs: Unifying Forces in Garland's Autobiographical Works," Southern Folklore Quarterly, 25 (Sept. 1961), 153-66; and James Marshall, "A Homestead Countermyth and Prairie Realists," forthcoming in MidAmerica X.
- 15. Donald Pizer, "Hamlin Garland's A Son of the Middle Border: Autobiography as Art," in Essays in American and English Literature "Presented to" Bruce Robert McElderry, Jr., ed. Max F. Schulz (Athens, Ohio: Ohio University Press, 1967), p. 97.
- Henry James, letter to Literature, 9 April 1898, pp. 422-23, as quoted in B. R. McElderry, Jr., "Hamlin Garland and Henry James," American Literature, 23 (Jan. 1952), p. 435; Berthoff, The Ferment of Realism, p. 135.
- 17. Pizer, "Autobiography as Art," p. 84.
- 18. Hamlin Garland's Diaries; ed. Donald Pizer (San Marino, California: The Huntington Library, 1968), p. 50. All parenthetical references to the diaries in my text are to this edition.
- 19. Hamlin Garlin, Forty Years of Psychic Research (New York: The Macmillan Co., 1936), p. 385. For additional expressions of his interest and skepticism, see Diaries, pp. 93-96.

Twenty Acres of Independence

TWENTY ACRES OF INDEPENDENCE THE LETTERS OF OMAR MORSE, 1890-1900

JAMES MARSHALL

"The whole country has improved in everything but morals," Omar Morse wrote to his son, Manly, a skilled blacksmith for the railroad in Burlington, Iowa.¹ He also voiced his distrust of the age in four others of the thirty-two letters he wrote to his son in the last decade of his life (1824-1901). In the quoted letter, he writes of a visit to Pine Island, Minnesota, near his twentyacre homestead farm in Roscoe Township, where a creamery and "water works" recently had been constructed. While he admired such technological progress, he was uncertain of the values they represented. A homestead farmer, he had been several times dispossessed from his farms in Wisconsin and Minnesota (from 1847 through 1878) due to the "everlasting mortgage" (his term), thus distrustful of a society which he felt was manipulated by "money sharks and speculators" (or usurers) in the past and industry, the source of progress, in the present. A letter warns Manly that he is in the employ of an "aristocratic corporation" which held less regard for its employees than he held for his barnyard animals. A small "spot of God's green earth," such as he owned, would provide an insurance against the hazards of the railroad "smokehouse" (the repair shop where Manly worked) as well as the economic circumstances of retirement (LOM, 1892-3?). Two worlds, an agrarian past and an industrial future, stand in opposition in this father-to-son correspondence. They serve to illuminate a gray area of the nineteenth-century midwestern and national cultural landscape, a legacy of an agrarian language created by changes of the national economy. (The Populists' campaigns brought the troubled farmer to national attention in the 1890's.³) To illustrate this unexplored aspect of nineteenth-century culture, the essay will analyze Mr. Morse's uses of language in the repossession of his identity as an American on twenty acres of independence, so to speak, — through his adjustment of a homestead myth which had retained its Jeffersonian idealism.

Numerous studies have made pioneer homestead farmers as familiar as neighbors, if more paradoxical: they are violent, wasteful, isolated in their rugged individualism, racist, shiftless and Indian killers, yet religious, industrious, cooperative in mutual aid, curious, disciplined, democratic, suffering and independent. The list is not exhaustive. The purpose of the essay is not to resolve scholarly contradictions but to illuminate a human dimension evident in the language of Morse's letters, among the several abstractions. Mr. Morse was not an educated person, but he reveals a depth of character which by any definition suggests his human qualities. To this end, then, the essay first describes his background and source of cultural attitudes, his repossession of independence through renewal of identity and, in conclusion, an analysis of the tragic wisdom Morse acquired in the recovery of his identity and its relation to Hamlin Garland's perceptive A Spoil of Office (1892).⁴

Born in the backwoods of Hastings Township in Oswego County, New York, the son of a pioneer homesteader in that county and grandson of a chaplain in the American Revolution, he first migrated to Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin, and later to Dodge and Goodhue Counties in Minnesota. Yet, economically, his life was comparable to that of the field hand he had been in New York. Dispossession by mortgage seemed to follow his plough, a not uncommon predicament on the frontier. In 1882, his wife, Delia, died and he faced the care of five children as well as his farming. For a time he also worked as a builder, a field hand, a wood cutter, any work that came to his hand. With the help of his oldest son, Manly, he was able to repossess twenty of a former seventy acres in Roscoe Township, Goodhue County, but much of it was woodland yet to be cleared. From the vantage point of this pocket-sized homestead farm, he saw himself living beyond cultural earshot of the "toots of the Master's whistle" (his phrase) which he felt controlled Manly's life. If the century had stranded him at sixty-eight in poverty on mar-

Twenty Acres of Independence

ginal land, his displaced values were renewed by the creation of a symbolic place, "The Old House at Home." This was his name for his repossessed farm, a name that implies an old self that found itself, if you will, because he at last owned a farm free and clear of mortgage debt, and a bachelor son, Omar, Jr., helped him to work the land. For them it seemed independence (it was not life as dispossessed farmers) although necessity required that Omar write to Anna, Manly's wife, to send them old clothes.⁵

Curiously, his letters contrast significantly with his unpublished autobiography. In his letters the persona, a bristling fatheradvisor, vigorously attacks the outrages of the railroad company for whom Manly was working in the manner of the Populist party, historically the origin of American liberalism. In the latter he tells of his loss of homesteads to mortgage and other debts as if unaware of the "cold, universal Laissez-faire" (Thomas Carlyle's phrase) that had caused his dispossession. Since he wrote the later part of his autobiography while writing letters of advice to his son, and thus illustrates an understanding of "gilded age" political morality, he apparently chose not to intrude social comment in a personal narrative. However, both in the letters and autobiography the character of the persona at first seems familiar; he is the American of the frontier scholars' fable, an idealist seeking independence on the homestead and a realist pragmatically aware of his situation, a humorist capable of satirizing land speculators (with amused irony in the autobiography) and a stoic grappling with the fates who had led him into the mythic garden of the west only to desert him when the mortgage was due. Moreover, as scholars have suggested, Morse is typical in his deep attachment to his family, indeed, a self-confessed sentimentalist in this respect. If the American heritage of a family-centered society is anti-social, as some scholars think,⁶ leading to dynasty and financial empire, clearly Morse and other homesteaders sought family companionship as their buffer against log-cabin isolation. But a less familiar settler also appears in Morse's letters. He is the once dispossessed homesteader whose loss of farms had frustrated and isolated him. He seldom reveals the pain and frustration of loss directly; however, one letter states that the purpose of the autobiography was to prove his identity as a citizen, that is, he intended to show that he had always been a good

American, a person who had no vices and held a philanthropic concern for the common good. While he makes no reference to his virtues or vices and writes few incidents to realize this purpose, his need to assure his family, for whom his autobiography was written, of his personal character implies the unnecessary guilt of failure and, it seems, an uncertain identity in a society in which poverty became shameful. Thus the rhetoric of Populist campaign language must have furnished him with a model of the liberal with whom he could identify. His letters give dramatic examples of his pleasure in the use of Populist metaphors of protest and became a verbal means, the following pages suggest, of repossessing an identity as an independent homestead farmer, however reduced his acreage.

But Morse was not a Populist. He mentions his relief when a Populist speaker failed to appear at a rally and picnic supper. Perhaps he distrusted politicians in general. An excerpt from a letter to his son in Burlington, Iowa, illustrates his enjoyment of language useful to his intent, to attack the employer responsible for Manly's loss of homestead freedom.

You are nearly 40—about One half of your life has been spent in the hardest kind of servitude for an Aristocratic corporation that cares less for your interest or well-being than we do for our Stock—while your Labor and sweat holds out to build them up and enrich them you are all right—if you vote right.

But you understand this state of things can't last always —The Strongest Constitution fail[s] up in time and Old Age comes on—a little Spot of God's green earth to fall back on will help Materially to tide you over the pinch if it be. When the knees get weak and the eyes grow dim and many other Sumptoms of debility I might enumerate having experienced all this in my short life [he was sixty-eight] you need a few acres with a comfortable Shanty to shield the wife and little ones from the blasts of winter and scorching rays of the Summer Sun—

I believe you advised us [himself and son Omar] in days gone by to get rid of this little Homestead—It is true that it is not as desirable a place as we would like but we have it free and clear—It makes us a home and by being saving and Equinomical [pun?] we live and are independent—in this sense—if we want a holiday—Or if we feel inclined we can sleep in the Morning regardless of the toots of the Masters whistle [factory whistles?] and the grass grows just the same—the corn beans Cabbage and other products thrive and the Chickens tend to their business just the Same—We are our Own masters as well as servants. This I call *Independence what would you call it*. [underlining Morse's] (LOM, 1892-3?).

Morse's attack of the "Aristocratic corporation" and defiance of "Corporations *trusts* or Combines" is demonstrable Populist rhetoric.

While nineteenth-century audiences and orators enjoyed a "spreadeagle" oratory. Populists with homestead backgrounds seem to have chosen a transposed biblical idiom familiar to the homestead community where such circuit riders as Peter Cartwright had once evangelized. Edwin H. Atwood, when president of the Minnesota Farmers' Alliance (1886-89), illustrates this style in the draft of a letter to Congress which had recently passed a bill to raise import duty on agricultural products. "The master thief of the continent is monopoly. Where we lose one dollar by the tariff [import duty], we lose ten by watered railroad stock, high rates of transportation, land grabbers, speculators and coal and oil trusts. The poor workman of the country may gain some benefit from protection [import duty] but only the rich profit from monopoly." Atwood's letter is comparable to such Populist speeches as Ignatius Donnelly's antimonopoly speech at the state meeting in Rochester.⁷ In such speeches, a homestead satan, "land grabbers" who were the monopolistic railroad corporations, had presumably ruined an edenic garden of the west, leaving farmers and laborers to travel unaided through this world of woe. The innocent victim should therefore have been helped by the government through stronger legislation of farmers' transportation costs. Since railroads had caused near and actual starvation by manipulating prices in some areas, the Populists' anger was justified. They felt an indifferent government had failed to assure rural and urban labor its "natural" or Jeffersonian liberty, its right to a fair share of their farm profits. Like other midwest farmers, Morse obviously enjoyed this homespun dialectic, even if he distrusted politices.

He may have heard or read Donnelly's speeches or those of another state Populist leader. His farm was a day's ride by horse and wagon from Nininger, Donnelly's farm; moreover, Donnelly was campaigning for governer at the time of Morse's quoted letter. Whatever source he found congenial to his purposes, his aim in part is that of the Populists --- to protest the gilded-age corporation. As a mordant satirist, he seems to find the Populists' melodrama of virtue and villainy useful because it loaned its tone of idealism and attack, freeing him to express the bitterness he had felt, when a dispossessed homesteader, against usurious "land grabbers." This liberal stance bristling with political assurance, suggests his personal renewal of independence. He returns to the myth of the west, not as the Jeffersonian yeoman he believed he had been on his first homestead in 1849, harvesting abstract freedom and virtue, but as an idealist in righteous battle with specific materialistic "land grabbers." The railroads for him were simply the land speculators who had dispossessed him grown richer and more powerful. As Atwood's defiant satire illustrates, Morse's verbal landscape reflects the Populists' vision of cultural decay: he had adjusted their fallen landscape of righteous innocents to his own limited freedom, perhaps aware that his was a rear guard action to cover an old man's strategic retreat from an industrial progress he distrusted but perceived as his son's future. Such a democratic vista was on the high river bluffs of an alluvial deposit which time and the river (i.e., technology) could destroy, as it were, but Theodore and Franklin Roosevelt borrowed freely from the political ideology stated in the Populists' Omaha Platform (July, 1892), making further adjustments to enhance and legislate social progress.

Note that Morse's letter also combines humor with angry invective. The humorist seems to focus on the theme of independence as the angry satirist seems to focus on the theme of independence as the angry satirist does; irony turns on an imaginary garden-homestead with real fowl and livestock. It is a frontier humorist's ironic adjustment of the popular romance of the homestead.⁸ He will sleep late while factory slaves labor: the grass will grow to feed his cow, the chickens lay, the garden ripen without his effort. A naive contrast shapes the simple form of his letter; his intent is to warn his son against the new factory

Twenty Acres of Independence

system by persuasion. The independence of the lazy farmer is frontier burlesque to illustrate an implied identity as a citizen who determines his own schedule. Seasonal time, not railroad time, is the clock he watches. His humorist's garden of pastoral bliss is psychological, suggesting inward independence. However, the Atwood letter reflects the Populists' belief that individual liberty required just economic reward.⁹ Jefferson's agrarian philosophy visualized a western yeoman farmer who was self-sufficient, harvesting land with which he had mixed his sweat and purchased with that sweat, in short, land granted without cost by the government. Thus Populists, aware of this promise, felt railroads had deprived them of liberty by virtual theft of their income through transportation costs, that is, liberty defined as the fruits of labor.¹⁰ Morse could not have escaped at least some understanding of this principle, but his income denied its political application. His frontier exaggeration of independence implies an ironist's consciousness that his liberty was confined to his farm because he lived on a survival income. It is a poor man's adjustment of expectations to reality with laughter; he had identity as a person rich in leisure provided by nature's bounty. The technique restores an identity which parodies "land grabbers" and conceals the shame of poverty in the comfort and ease of the "lazy" farmer. His is a defensive posture, of course, using materials supplied by political idealism and the method of the early humorist, comic irony.

MIDAMERICA IX

Yet Morse's stance remains difficult to define. He is neither Emerson's or Jefferson's abstract self-reliant citizen; his independence is that of an angry individualist. Nor is he the strawchewing yokel whom we conventionally associate with the politically stoic midwestern and plains farmer. Perhaps his counterpart in modern life is the independent backwoods farmer in the Ozarks or the dusty flatlands of Kansas. Nor is he the eponymous farmer armed with virtue, a plough and a rifle who subdued the untamed wilderness and implemented national progress by killing Indians, a nineteenth-century popular notion. Nor is he the ideal of Frederick Jackson Turner and Theodore Roosevelt who, like Cooper, were at once nostalgic, evoking the myth of the west, and progressives who believe new leadership would come from the tough democratic frontier.¹¹ Nor is Morse the innocent tenderfoot of Mark Twain's *Roughing It*, nor de Tocqueville's hopeful critic or Dickens' disillusioned idealist. He poses as the farmer in the homestead garden where, humourously of course, nature's bounty feeds the poor in pocket and free in spirit. This also seems his adjustment of the Populists' myth of the farmer who would now feed the nation and himself if his transportation costs were regulated by the government, long indifferent to his plight. Such common definitions of the neglected homestead farmer do not seem applicable, however.

Morse's need to restore his identity, after his dispossessions, is indicated by a brief mention of the autobiography and statement of its purpose in a letter of 1892. He writes: "My object was merely to show to my family when on Earth I had a personality - did really exist and that I tried to live a sober and industrious life such as becomes a true American citizen and that in all the transactions of life I had for my object the betterment of mankind." Somewhat like Huckleberry Finn, it seems, he longs to be part of Tom Sawyer's respectable "gang." This appears, in part, the intent of his desire to portray himself as the "true American." But he may also reveal an early homestead folk culture in which such humanitarian values as the betterment of mankind were patriotic ideals. However, we can be certain only that his need to restore such a grand identity for his family reflected his needless sense of disgrace as a poor farmer who had several times been dispossessed. His independence is, in effect, a disguise, an attempt to relieve the isolation of the dispossessed person he had been.

The tropes of Populists' defiance in his letter illustrate that he had recovered his identity. As earlier pages have indicated, his mixture of humor and invective imply a new identity in his freedom as defiant owner, free and clear of mortgage debt. Brief analysis, however, uncovers a more complex and human identity. First, let us examine a culture change. Morse's metophors of renewed identity as an American independent, it appears, reflect Atwood's rural Populism, an indication of their common source: the homestead garden replanted, so to speak, which had been, as we know, a nineteenth-century heritage of Jefferson's agrarian vision of the west. Such metaphors of Morse's adjusted identity as the independent who owns but twenty acres of land free and 46

clear of mortgage debt, the humourous master who is his own servant and whose table is supplied by nature's "magic" bounty seem as native to a homestead and Populist cultural landscape as his language of protest against monopoly, the industrial landscape of the "aristocratic corporation" where devoted servants live by the "toots of the Master's whistle" and silently endure hazardous working conditions, factory politics and retirement poverty. Thus, as the Morse letter suggests and as Richard Hofstader believes, a rural Populism had adjusted the patriotism and humanism of the early Jeffersonian garden myth to renew and support their aspirations for western independence. The Morse letter, in addition, illustrates a rural society in which ordinary people were liberating themselves from the morality of the evangelists' jeremiad. They were free to attack political indifference in the government which they saw as the instrument of wealth. His letter, like that of Atwood's, suggests a new form of the jeremiad --- western, political and indigenous --- that enabled Populists and the "grass-roots" liberalism they reflected to perceive a self-definition (or identity) through protest more flexible and adaptable than the traditional jeremiad which, as Sacvan Bercowitz has pointed out, was an American form of self-definition through protest.

Thus Morse's renewal of identity as a humourously independent farmer mirrors a cultural change through protest and an identity as an angry, vocal liberal, impotent to change the direction of "gilded-age" society through local Alliance (or Populists') meetings although he was not a Populist. The farmers were able to relieve rural isolation and renew their hopes of a long promised aid from a government they believed dedicated to all of the people; however, their identity as an independent people saved little but their human dignity. They met the fate of all American third parties in the national election of 1892. It was an adjustment to the realities of economic and social change.

From this perspective, secure in an identity as an independent man (hence an American citizen), Morse delights in taking caustic aim at the political world. Irritated at first by the delay in progress of the Spanish-American War, for example, he writes, "McKinley is no warrior and his advisor are money sharks and speculators." (Both terms are Populists' verbal brickbats for usur-

Twenty Acres of Independence

ers.) He continues with provincial, perhaps midwestern insularity, not without its perceptive edge: "Starving Cubans - O my look at the starving miners here at home — helpless women and children without a crust of bread --- whole families right in St. Paul Starving to death" (LOM, 1893-6?). Morse refers to a coal miners' strike. The humanism of the world in which he lived appears to have encouraged his change of opinion toward the Spanish-American as well as the recent invasion of the Philippine Islands. A later letter illustrates his change. Once a Republican (when Lincoln's party), Morse comments, "Our Republican Government had so much sympathy for the poor Cubans. They knock out the Spanish Fleet and have assumed the responsibility of Seducing the Philippines - Big job they have got on their hands --- more Canned Mule Meat --- More Ships, More Murder" (LOM, 1899?). Although he mentions that he subscribed to the New York World, and likely read local papers as well, his perspective reveals his compassion. With humor and invective, he shows that strength which we associate with a firm sense of identity. While "money sharks and speculators" peopled the national and regional landscape, he also found an heritage of common humanity. In this respect, his world was not anti-social. Populist rhetoric had relieved his isolation and strengthened his identity as an independent person. He and his son continued their survival existence; letters record floods, droughts, the back-wrenching chore of clearing land and — invariably — a short supply of crops and cash. He drew a plan of his large vegetable and fruit garden which he believed would prosper, advising Manly to follow his example. But the climate had other plans - a flood ruined it before it became profitable. To acquire the tough humanity of compassion for others with equanimity in personal misfortune, however, also suggests his tragic wisdom.¹² It is the wisdom which led to his adjusted identity, the human dimension which modern historians overlook.

Edward Eggleston, Joseph Kirkland and Hamlin Garland, "prairie realists" if you will, perceived the tragic limits of human character in their grasp of the engulfing space, topographically and socially, of the western frontier. It is the isolation of the self that centers their common theme of a dispossessed society, embryonic yet decadent in its violence, corrupt politics and unethical businesses. Eggleston and Kirkland, like Twain, found a strategic retreat into history a writer's necessity. Only Garland was openly contemporary and political; his realism was short lived. Kirkland did not share Garland's conversion to and deconversion from Populism, thus his sympathies were masked in a strategic withdrawal to historian of the prairie frontier in his novel, *Zury*; *The Meanest Man In Spring County*. My "A Homestead Protest and the Prairie Realists" has dealt with this literary perspective at length.¹³ Although the major stage of Garland's political novel, *A Spoil of Office* (1892) is Washington and its corrupt manuevers, the most powerful writing occurs when his hero, Bradley Talcott, returns to his heroine, Ida Wilbur, in the Iowa-Nebraska midwest.¹⁴ Analysis of these chapters illuminates Garland's source of insight into the pioneer folk culture that Morse reflects.

Bradley, an idealistic Senator, and Ida, his companion and a gifted orator, address a Kansas Alliance meeting in a district schoolhouse, to point out a central thematic chapter. Talcott, now thoroughly disillusioned by his tenure in Congress, has been unable to campaign enthusiastically and seriously for re-election. The driver who takes them to the meeting seems an historian of dispossession, so to speak, and thus Garland's spokesman. Once a hopeful farmer in the next county, the driver remarks that he had "sunk nine hundred and fifty dollars" in land, home and tools before losing it to mortgage debt; he explains that "they're all mortgaged out there." Talcott sees this as the common fate of homesteaders - their "pitiful tragic life - a life of incessant toil." His implied theme of dispossession, actual and political, in these chapters is suggested through such background characters as the driver. The setting too contributes; the district schoolhouse lies on an "illimitable prairie," a Garland metaphor of his "vitalist" nature, here as indifferent to human suffering as the frontier land speculation that originally caused it. The assembled farmers seem at first an unpromising audience for Ida to inspire to heights of political action; they are unkempt, drab, the men, with hands like "bludgeons," wearing wool "Kansas" hats. Talcott finds himself seated next to a young farmer whose hands seem in raw contrast to sensitive eyes and "low, soft voice." He is Garland's natural gentleman, uneducated but aware. Brother Williams, the older generation exemplified, is similar in appearance. When he

rises to speak, however, he demonstrates the eloquence of a natural gentleman. "His words were well chosen and his gestures almost majestic. He spoke in a conversational way, but with great power and sincerity" (SO, p. 370). For Garland, it is the innate courtesy of the natural gentleman taking form in the restrained eloquence that stamps his oration with the authority of an art. However, Morse's borrowed invectives suggest that Garland's Kansans would have used Populist "purple" invective with its sermon-style hellfire transposed to political ends. Accuracy is not invaribly art, however, neither for Garland nor other literary realists.

Both Omar and his family understood the fact of homestead suffering in remembered fields of wheat and corn sold to pay mortgages. That is, they recognized in their usurious mortgagers the limitations of man and his terrifying isolation; it seems an unstated tragic perception common to homestead life. Garland's eloquent farmers, to suggest example, imply his consciousness of their education by a tragic experience, the numbing experience of human avarice, that expresses itself in the sincerity of restraint. This seems the reality, the art, that supercedes the surfaces of accurate observation. Perhaps like Morse and other dispossessed homesteaders, Garland's source of consciousness was not the hard farm labor of his youth, but the frontier greed that isolated and undermined human character (and dissolved with its acid the hope of frontier ideals); perhaps such a western consciousness led to his finest art.

Garland's portrayal of Kansas homesteaders in their hunger, actual and spiritual, would seem to recognize this tragic fact of human nature. It is a perception, moreover, which he shares with Morse, several times dispossessed. Its source, we may assume, is the experience of being dispossessed of an identity by greed which became a midwestern and national homestead culture's history and awarness. A comparable incident seems to illustrate this aspect of the early homestead culture, as yet insufficiently explored by scholars. A previous meeting of the Farmers' Alliance (or Populists) which Bradley and Ida witnessed ends in a hunger march, or so it may be described. With mute despair these hardened farmers protest their neglect by the government in a march through town; they are "old or middle-aged men and women with

Twenty Acres of Independence

MIDAMERICA IX

stooping shoulders, and eyes dim with toil and suffering. There was nothing of lovely girlhood or elastic smiling boyhood; not a touch of color or grace in the whole line of march. It was somber, silent, ominous, and resolute" (SO, p. 340). (While Garland is a minor novelist, such moments in his fiction have the memorability of greatness.) A bystander comments that if the marchers had cannon and guns, then and only then would politicians respond. Morse may have known but did not wish to describe his impotence as a person who felt without voice in government. Garland gives it a tragic figure. It is from this somber moral vision that both were able to perceive the human helplessness of the frontier, an aspect of its reality. Through wit, and ownership, Morse was able to harvest the seeds of acceptance in later life, thus regaining "twenty acres of independence" and with it his human dignity. To use Garland's figure of the hunger marchers, he could define his limits and in irony accept himself as he was without feeling the shame of poverty.

Morse's unpublished autobiography illustrates the lives of Garland's homesteaders, in Garland's phrase, "their pitiful tragic life — a life of incessant toil." With ownership of the land, however, he could better confront "cold, universal Laissez-faire" (Carlye's phrase) in letters of advice to his son. It was his act of repossession, a gain of confidence in the reality of the self — a confidence lost when he had been tragic victim of avarice — hungering to march in the uniform of newfound independence. With this identity, he could protest the age, "improved in everything but morals," with courage and laughter.¹⁵

In sum, the essay has suggested that Morse illuminates the courage of adjustment demanded by the realities of homestead independence, in effect, a practical individual's adjustment of the myth of America's manifest destiny — the homestead garden, once the symbol of Jefferson's vision, inflated by frontier opportunism. Although scholars have indicated the significance of independence and equality in the early west (now the midwest), they do not recognize the human element of suffering, wit, the sense of loss, necessary for the consciousness that leads to adjustment, of aspiration to reality. Secondly, in Morse's repossession, the essay suggests the suffering that preceeds such an adjustment. Behind a masking humour and the passion of his outrage is his need for a wall of independence against the encroachment of human greed. In Garland's farmers we also find an implied tragic consciousness of frontier isolation and limitation. Grant Woods' "American Gothic" implies the heritage of cultural failure in the desperate respectability of his middle-age couple; they can not march in protest or declare their independence. The support offered by Populist idealism, apparently understood by Morse and clearly by Garland, had submerged and with it the tragic perception that had originally inspired an American liberal spirit. These aspects of homestead folk culture have been neglected or insufficiently understood by scholars.

University of Rhode Island

NOTES

- 1. "The Letters of Omar Morse, 1890-900." Collection loaned for scholarly publication by Evelyn Morse Peterson; hereafter referred to in the text as LOM with approximate date. As Morse neglected dating letters used and post office cancelation marks were blurred dates given are educated guesswork.
- 2. "The Autobiography of Omar Morse." Loaned for scholarly publication by Mrs. Peterson. Biographical information taken from this manuscript has not been footnoted as it seems unnecessary. The entire of this seventy-six page manuscript has been edited and included as central to *Land Fever*, my unpublished book, due to its unique exposure of a homestead family's dispossession.
- 3. Such collections of Populist speeches and writings as A Populist Reader, ed. George B. Tindall (New York: Harper and Row, 1966), The Issues of the Populist and Progressive Eras, 1892-1912, ed. Richard Abrams (Harper and Row, 1969), American Populism, ed. George McKenna (New York: G. P. Putnam and Sons, 1974) and Richard Hofstader's history of the era, The Age of Reform (New York: Alfred Knopf, 1961), remain useful and germane to the article. For a recent history that centers American liberal politics of the gilded age see David D. Anderson's study of the complex weathervane of midwestern and national politics, Ignatius Donnelly (Boston: Twayne Publishing Company, 1980).
- 4. Research in published and unpublished homestead writings-narratives, diaries, letters, memorabilia-in the New York State Historical Society Library, Wisconsin and Minnesota State Historical Library, the Newberry Library and Beinecke Library has failed to locate another document that so clearly illustrates the effect of land speculation on homesteaders. See Paul Gates' Landlords and Tenants On The Prairie Frontier (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1973) for a well-documented study of midwestern land speculation.
- 5. Family memories of Omar living in Roscoe suggest that he and his second son needed financial help as well as old clothes. This may have been due to Omar, Sr.'s increasing age and thus inability to work the long hours necessary to clear land, plough, cultivate and harvest. He writes of a small garden and planting raspberry and other fruit bushes.

MIDAMERICA IX

- 6. Here I have taken a stance on a moot issue, contending that the isolation of Midwest frontier homesteaders turned individuals toward their families in the absence of society. Women, burdened by large families, obviously were more isolated than men but the absence of churches, stores, often schools and social centers, and endless labor, led to insanity and desperation for both sexes. See Seth Humphrey, *Following the Prairie Frontier* (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota, 1931), especially pp. 169-170 where Humphrey notes the courage of women in the isolation of the prairie frontier and John Mack Farager, "History From The Inside Out: Writing The History of Women in Rural America," American Quarterly 33 (1981) 5, 536, 567, for the woman's role in the
- 7. Undated letter draft in the Edwin Atwood Papers. My thanks to the Minnesota Historical Society for permission to quote and for the courtesy of Dallas Cheslock and her staff during research. The date given in the text is educated guesswork. See also Martin Ridge, *Ignatius Donnelly: Portrait of a Politician* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1962), pp. 152-164. For discussion of Donnelly's role in the Anti-Monopoly Party in Minnesota; see also pp. 257-261 on Donnelly's role in state union politics.
- 8. See John Hicks, The Populist Revolt: A History of the Farmers' Alliance and the People's Party (Minneapolis: Univ. of Minnesota Press, 1931) for a useful, if partisan, history of populism in the United States.
- 9. Henry Nash Smith, Virgin Land: The American West As Symbol and Myth (Cambridge: Harvard Univ. Press, 1950, 1970) remains the seminal study of the growth and decay of the garden of the west myth. It was a national symbol originally conveying Jefferson and other 18th century social theorists' humanistic plan for democracy in western territories.
- 10. James Baird Weaver, A Call To Action: An Interpretation of the Great Uprising, Its Source and Causes (Des Moines: Iowa Printing Co., 1892) excerpted in A Populist Reader, op. cit., pp. 60-73. This conservative statement of the Populists' presidential candidate in 1892-3 illustrates a highly enlight-ened principle of the relation of civil liberty to individual income.
- 11. Richard Slotkin, "Nostalgia and Progress: Theodore Roosevelt's Myth of the Frontier," American Quarterly, 33 (1981) 4, 608-37. Slotkin compares Frederick Turner's logical perception of the west as the historian and idealist with Roosevelt's mythological view as the "initiate" and politician.
- James Marshall, "An Unheard Voice; The Autobiography of a Dispossessed Homesteader and a Nineteenth-Century Cultural Theme of Dispossession," The Old Northwest; A Journal of History and Culture, 6 (1980-81) 4, 303-329.
- 13. See also, "A Homestead Protest and the Prairie Realists," MidAmerica X. Publication pending at this writing.
- 14. A Spoil of Office (New York and London: Johnson Reprint Corporation, 1969): hereafter referred to as SO and included in the text.
- 15. Land Fever; The Autobiography of a Dispossessed Homesteader and The 'Unweeded Garden' of the West, my unpublished book, has a complete selection of excerpts from Morse's letters. Typescript available to scholars and publishers on request.

ANOTHER ANGLE OF WILLA CATHER'S ARTISTIC PRISM: IMPRESSIONISTIC CHARACTER PORTRAITURE IN MY ANTONIA

EDWARD J. PIACENTINO

My Antonia, although not a work within the elitist domain of avant garde fiction of the early twentieth century, is generally acknowledged to be Willa Cather's masterpiece. Regarded as a classic of modern American fiction, a novel with an irresistibly enduring appeal, My Antonia has been widely and sometimes ingeniously discussed, and, as one might expect, there are almost as many divergent views of the novel and its merits, artistic and otherwise, as there are critics who have explored it. H. L. Mencken, in a contemporary review that appeared in Smart Set, lauded it enthusiastically, saying that My Antonia "shows an earnest striving toward . . . free and dignified self-expression, high artistic conscience, . . . [and] civilized point of view"¹; and his generous appraisal helped to establish a positive tone that much of the subsequent criticism of the novel would later echo.

My Antonia is respected highly because it demonstrates the impressive imaginative sensibility of Willa Cather functioning as a serious and conscientious craftsman of distinguished magnitude. Miss Cather herself, at different points in her career, made pronouncements clearly suggesting that she perceived the novel genre to be an art form. In one of her more famous pronouncements, found in her oft-quoted essay, "The Novel Démeublé," Cather remarked, "Out of the teeming, gleaming stream of the present it [the novel] must select the eternal material of art."² She then went on to say that she hoped some of the younger writers of her time would "attempt to break away from mere verisimilitude, and following the development of modern painting, to interpret imaginatively the material and social investiture of their characters;

52

frontier family.

Another Angle of Willa Cather's Artistic Prism

to present their scene by suggestion rather than enumeration."³ Thus since Cather was an advocate of the suggestive, or as it is sometimes called, the impressionistic method, an important dimension of her artistry, Dorothy Tuck McFarland has accurately recognized, "lies primarily in her power to create with words vivid pictorial images that are imbued with an ineffable quality of felt reality. . . ."⁴

If as she viewed it, the purpose of the novel was to be selective and hence suggestive for the intention of evoking feeling — the "quality of felt reality" — then this may in part explain the reaction of Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes, who, when reading *My Antonia* in 1930, twelve years after the initial publication, wrote that the book had "unfailing charm..., a beautiful tenderness.... It is a poem made from nature"⁵ or that of Cather's official biographer, E. K. Brown, who noted that "everything in the book is there to convey a feeling, not to tell a story, not to establish a social philosophy, not even to animate a group of characters. The feeling attaches to persons, places, moments."⁶

Because to Willa Cather the transference of feeling was of the utmost importance in a novel, she seems to have consciously adopted a stylistic strategy in My Antonia that closely approximates the general method of the lyric poet; the evocation of feeling through concrete images and image patterns; however, in carrying out her intention, she turned over the narrative responsibility to Jim Burden, who, in becoming the first-person retrospective narrator of My Antonia — the controlling character through whom the events are filtered - also serves as Cather's authorsurrogate. From the information revealed in the introduction of My Antonia, we recognize that Jim is not a writer by profession; rather he is a lawyer employed by one of the great western railways and a writer by avocation only. As many of the novel's commentators have observed, Jim is a romantic, an idealist, a middleaged malcontent who, although dissatified with the state of his present life, is a character with an astute poetic sensibility.

As Cather's surrogate-author, an imaginative idealist, then, Jim often describes Antonia and some of the other foreign immigrants who settle the Nebraska Divide impressionistically, frequently almost poetically, rather than resorting to the techniques of photographic, representational realism.⁷ In his portrait of Antonia, particularly, as well as his portraits of some of the other foreign-born settlers, but to a lesser degree, Jim presents a series of vivid details, chiefly apt impressionistic natural images to accentuate some of their dominant attributes and personality traits and to convey his personal impressions of and attitudes toward these characters — a practice which importantly influences the way the reader, too, ultimately perceives them.

Of all the characters Antonia — Jim's beloved embodiment of the agrarian ideal — is mainly depicted in terms of natural, land-related images.⁸ In Jim's description of her, Antonia's eyes are delineated figuratively, within an idyllic frame of reference, as "big and warm and full of light, like the sun shining on brown pools in the wood."⁹ "Her skin," Jim continues, "was brown, too, and in her cheeks she had a glow of rich, dark colour. Her brown hair was curly and wildlooking" (p. 23). The qualities of warmth and light importantly connote the very vitality, the vigor that is so frequently associated with Antonia's character throughout the novel, and anticipate the ingredients essential to the earth-goddess image Antonia projects in the last section of the book. The color brown that dominates this passage clearly has affinities with the land itself, bringing to mind the rich hue of the soil and thus serving to reinforce Antonia's relationship to the land.

In addition, there are several recurring imagistic references to Antonia's brown skin that seem to re-emphasize her close kinship to the land. In one such reference accenting Antonia's vitality, Frances Harling, using a figure of speech drawn from a product of the land itself, tells Grandmother Burden, "'She had such fine brown legs and arms, and splendid colour in her cheeks like those big dark red plums'" (p. 153) And in the first of several reunion scenes between Jim and Antonia, when she is twentyfour years old and back on the family farm with a child born out of wedlock, Jim avidly recalls, "I took her hands and held them against my breast, feeling once more how strong and warm and good they were, those brown hands, and remembering how many kind things they had done for me" (p. 322). And finally when Jim returns to the Divide and confronts Antonia after a twenty-year absence, Antonia, though a middle-aged veteran of an arduous life and the matron of a large family and a fertile and productive farm, is viewed by him impressionistically: "Antonia came in and stood before me; a stalwart, brown woman, flatchested, her curly brown hair a little grizzled" (p. 331). Even though physical change is evident to Jim as he views her at this time, still to him ". . . Antonia had not lost the fire of life. Her skin, so brown and hardened, had not that look of flabbiness as if the sap beneath it had been secretly drawn away" (p. 336). In every instance cited, the vital dark brown hue of Antonia's skin remains dominant and constant, an emblem of the qualities of endurance and fecundity reflected in the land itself, the same land to which she has cast her destiny. In short, such recurring color imagery implicitly establishes the strong link between Antonia and the land and thus highlights the endearing naturalness and durability of her character — qualities which Jim (as well as Cather) seems to admire.

Antonia's "curly," "wild-looking" hair can by association also be shown to correspond to the land, particularly its qualities of spontaneity and freedom — seemingly unwieldly, natural attributes — that Jim often assigns to the land in his descriptions of it.¹⁰ Such attributes are usually viewed positively, almost idealistically, by Jim; and in Book II, the Black Hawk section, he emphasizes this attitude by pointing out the strong harmony that exists between Antonia and Mrs. Harling, the cultured Norwegian lady for whose family Antonia temporarily works and with whom she shares so many similarities: "They had strong, independent natures, both of them. They knew what they liked, and were not always trying to imitate other people. They loved children and music, and rough play and digging in the earth. . . . Deep down in each of them there was a kind of hearty joviality, a relish of life, not over-delicate, but very invigorating" (p. 180).

This invigorating quality of Antonia's personality — in part suggested by her eyes, described in terms of fire imagery as "fairly blazing with things she could not say" (p. 25) — is described in the first section of the novel when Jim relates her manner of temporarily arousing her father from one of his frequent states of depression: "Tony ran up to him, caught his hand and pressed it against her cheek. She was the only one of his family who could rouse the old man from the torpor in which he seemed to live" (p. 41). Another facet of Antonia's personality — her stability and fortitude — suggestive more of a man than of a woman — personality traits that become pragmatic for her to adopt in the spring following her father's suicide, is also presented impressionistically through the use of apt natural images. "Her neck," Jim remarks, "came up strongly out of her shoulders, like a bole of a tree out of the turf" (p. 122).

Book V, the final section of My Antonia, represents the culmination of Jim Burden's impressionistic rendering of the heroine, the quintessence of Antonia's idealization within a mythic perspective as an "earth goddess, mother earth, the madonna of the comfields," to use James Woodress's designation.¹¹ The image of Antonia as earth goddess fittingly reveals, John H. Randall III observes, "the final fruition of both woman and land, which comes about because Antonia is able to combine the vitality of nature with the order of civilization, both in her own life and in the life of the land."¹² In Book V, to be sure, Antonia is portrayed in her greatest glory. She is the mother of a large and happy family and the matron of a fertile and prosperous farm, the very epitome of her vitalty and triumph which serves as a counterpoint to Jim's own failure and unhappiness. In this section, moreover, Antonia's maternal care and control of her children are viewed figuratively by Jim in terms of animal imagery which suggests that Antonia, in her role as mother, acts naturally, almost instinctively: "She pulled them [her children] out of corners and came bringing them like a mother cat bringing in her kittens" (p. 332). In addition, Jim sees several of her children as displaying some of the same exurberant vitality which he has always associated with Antonia herself. For example, one of her sons, whom Jim meets when he nears the Cuzak farm, is described as "fair-skinned and freckled, with red cheeks and a ruddy pelt as thick as a lamb's wool, growing down his neck in little tufts" (p. 330). Another of her sons, Leo, as he runs up to his mother, is impressionistically seen by Jim as "like a little ram" as he "butted her playfully with his curly head" (p. 333). And finally when Antonia's children emerge from the fully stocked fruit cave, as Jim and Antonia patiently wait outside, Jim's impression of them --- an impression in accord with the fertility myth - is that they are "a veritable explosion of life out of the dark cave into the sunlight" (p. 339).

Another Angle of Willa Cather's Artistic Prism

Such strikingly impressionistic descriptions of Antonia's children and her relationship with them are just several of many indicators in the novel that serve to shape the reader's attitude toward the Cuzaks so that what he sees of them is, in fact, strongly affected by Jim's own impressionable sensibility.

As Jim concludes his visit at the Cuzak farm, though he fully realizes that Antonia is now "a battered woman, not a lovely girl" (p. 353), he at the same time recognizes that "she still had that something which fires the imagination, could stop one's breath for a moment by a look or gesture" (p. 353). This climactic portrait of Antonia is significant, for in lucidly reinforcing the image of Antonia as a symbol of fertility, Jim perceives and comprehends the harmonic relationship she has with the land, an association, James Woodress acknowledges, that relates Antonia "to the old story of man and the earth."13 As Jim nostalgically discloses, "She had only to stand in the orchard, to put her hand on a little crab apple tree and look up at the apples, to make you feel the goodness of planting and tending and harvesting at last. All the strong things came out of her body, that had been so tireless in serving generous emotions. . . . She was a rich mine of life. . ." (p. 353). In referring to Antonia as a "mine of life," Jim chooses an appropriate metaphor which interestingly relates back to Antonia's association with the land at the novel's outset when she and her family lived in a dugout cave hewn from the very earth itself.

Though Jim Burden also portrays some of the other foreign immigrants through sometimes provocative impressionistic images which serve to establish certain distinguishing characteristics in aiding the reader to gain insight into their personalities, none is idealized to the extent that Antonia has been. And in fact as many critics of My Antonia have noted, many of these characters, especially Lena Lingard, though they exhibit some of the heroine's vitality — since they too spend their first years on the Divide on family farms — they, unlike Antonia, eventually permanently withdraw from the land, the very source of their vitality.

Of the two Norwegian girls that Jim portrays most fully, Lena Lingard and Tiny Soderball, Lena is, through the imagery used to describe her, shown to be the very antithesis of Antonia.¹⁴ Lena, one of the hired girls whom Jim affectionately admires and

to whom he is enamored for a brief period during his college years at the University of Nebraska, is consistently described in very light color tones that contrast to the brown tones so often associated with Antonia. Lena, whose first name derives from the Greek appelation, Helena, meaning torch or light one, is aptly named and thus is described as a "plump, fair-skinned girl. . . , demure and pretty" (p. 159). "Her vellow hair," Jim observes, "was burned to a ruddy thatch on her head; but her legs and arms, curiously enough, in spite of constant exposure to the sun, kept a miraculous whiteness. .." (p. 165). Another physical feature that Jim stresses about Lena is her eyes, "candid eyes, that always looked a little sleepy under their long lashes. .." (p. 163). Lena, we learn, is repeatedly depicted in relation to soft, gentle, delicate things - silks, satins, fine clothes - and when Jim meets her at the Harlings, he makes note of her being attracted to the "cheerful rooms with naive admiration" (p. 163).

Yet Jim's relationship with Lena is far from Platonic; he is charmed, in a romantic sense, by her beauty, by her radiance, and by her delicate nature. And while still living in Black Hawk, Jim has a recurring dream about Lena, a dream that reflects his erotic view of her. When he describes this dream, he does so using natural, light-related imagery: "I was in a harvest-field full of shocks, and I was lying against one of them. Lena Lingard came across the stubble barefoot, in a short skirt, with a curved reaping-hook in her hand, and she was flushed like the dawn, with a kind of luminous rosiness all about her. She sat beside me, turned to me with a soft sigh and said, 'Now they are all gone, and I can kiss you as much as I like'" (pp. 225-226). If the soft, romantic imagery is not enough to create the impression Jim seeks to convey and to establish a contrast with Antonia, his afterthoughts about this dream make the contrast intended blatantly clear: "I used to wish I could have this flattering dream about Antonia, but I never did" (p. 226).

Later, when Jim carries on a brief romantic affair with Lena in Lincoln, where she has set up her own dress-making shop, he again describes her, using predominantly gently soft, natural, light imagery. For instance, when Jim used to meet Lena in downtown Lincoln after his morning classes, she seemed to him "as fresh as the spring morning" (p. 280), and frequently her delicate vitality would be enhanced by the jonquils or the hyacinth plants she carried with her. The tone of her voice he views as "soft," "with her caressing intonation and arch naiveté" (p. 281). To hear Lena's voice, moreover, becomes a pleasant diversion for Jim, for she "was almost as candid as Nature" (p. 281). "Lena," Jim further muses, "was never so pretty as in the morning; she wakened fresh with the world every day, and her eyes had a deeper colour then, like the blue flowers that are never so blue as when they first open" (pp. 281-282).

Lena, the converse of Antonia, like Jim, leaves the land, becoming, James Woodress points out, "a Benjamin Franklin type who works hard, builds a business, prospers, and remains devoutly attached to the work ethic."¹⁵

Some of the other characters whose physical traits, particularly the color tone of their skin, are enhanced in part through natural imagery, are not given extended portraits; albeit a strong resemblance exists between the images used to describe them and their dominant personality traits. In several of the descriptions of Mr. Shimerda, Antonia's father, for example, some fine suggestive touches can be recognized in the images Jim selects to delineate him. In the first scene in which Jim describes Mr. Schimerda's physical features, he observes that "he was tall and slender, and his thin shoulders stooped" (p. 24). While his hands are "white and well-shaped" (p. 24), "his eyes were melancholy, and were set back deep under his brow. His face [Jim continues] was ruggedly formed, but it looked like ashes --- like something from which all the warmth and light had died out" (p. 24). Mr. Shimerda's listlessness, his broken spirit, is suitably complemented by the image of ashes, the waste product of a consumed fire. The vital elements of warmth, light, activity — some of the very qualities of life embodied in his daughter Antonia --- are noticeably absent in him. In fact, Mr. Shimerda seems to have lost all purpose for living; he is sick and very despondent. When Antonia and Jim confront him late one afternoon as he is hunting rabbits on the prairie, Jim observes that he "looked at Antonia with a wintry flicker of a smile" (p. 41), a well chosen metaphor to capture the old man's depressed spirit as well as the overbearing inertia characterizing his present life.

Another character whose personality is partially disclosed through natural imagery is Otto Fuchs, an Austrian immigrant who is the Burdens' hired man. When first seen by Jim on the night of his arrival at the train station in Black Hawk, Otto is viewed as resembling a desperado, someone who "might have stepped out of the pages of 'Jesse James'" (p. 6). A former cowboy, stage driver, bartender, and miner, who "had wandered all over the great Western country and done hard work everywhere" (p. 67) and who "had drifted back to live in a milder country for a while" (p. 12), Otto is an adventurer, a lover of the outdoors. "one of those drifting case-hardened labourers who never marry or have any children of his own" (p. 84). Furthermore, Otto seems a man of firm constitution, ready and apparently completely able to use his fists, his brute strength, when necessary. Interestingly, one of his favorite pastimes is to tell tales of titillating escapades about his experiences in the Black Tiger Mine and "about violent deaths and casual buryings, and the queer fancies of dving men" (p. 111). Otto's physical features fittingly give the impression of just such a man. As Jim readily perceives at the time of his first encounter with Otto, "the ends of his moustache were twisted up stiffly, like little horns. He looked lively and ferocious. . . . A long scar ran across one cheek and drew the corner of his mouth up in a sinister curl. The top of his left ear was gone, and his skin was brown as an Indian's" (p. 6). Several natural images stand out in this passage: his moustache shaped like animal's horns, presumably a bull's, and his brown skin tone; both of these references serve to suggest Otto's ruggedness and durability, his assertive nature, and his untamed vitality, a vitality that may be representative of the prairie land of the Divide itself. Though his fierceness and aggressiveness have for the most part been subdued while in the employ of the Burdens, these traits, so important to his sense of being, may, Jim implies, assert themselves again-this time in the wilds of the Colorado mountains. When the Burdens decide to leave the land (a harmonious agricultural existence), rent their farm, and move to Black Hawk, the necessary stimulus is provided; and Otto and Jake Marpole depart for the "the Wild West" (p. 144), seeking further adventure as silver prospectors.

And lastly, Mr. Cuzak, Antonia's husband, a Bohemian immigrant with a similar background to Mr. Shimerda, Antonia's father, is, like the other characters examined thus far, a person whose physical constitution and lively personality are in part accentuated by natural imagery. When Jim first sees Mr. Cuzak, he states that "he moved very quickly, and there was an air of jaunty liveliness about him. He had a strong, ruddy colour, thick black hair, a little grizzled, a curly moustache, and red lips" (p. 356). Furthermore, he has "strong teeth" and a "hard hand, burned red on the back and heavily coated with hair" pp. 356-357). Such details as his liveliness, ruddy skin color, grizzled hair, and generally weathered demeanor-either when considered individually or as a collective unit-can be associated with the primitive naturalness of the land itself, a quality, it should be recalled, previously illuminated in Antonia's character through markedly similar image clusters.¹⁶ Of some slight interest as well is Mr. Cuzak's habit of glancing sidewise at people to whom he speaks, an idiosyncracy that Jim implies is sincere, innocent, and almost habitually instinctive as the behavior of an animal. As Jim remarks, Mr. Cuzak "always looked at people sidewise, as a workhorse does at its yokemate. . . . This trick did not suggest duplicity or secretiveness, but merely long habit, as with a horse" (p. 358).

Though farm life is not the kind of existence the city-bred Cuzak necessarily preferred, still he has managed to adapt, having learned to live in a relatively happy harmony with his wife and children. As Jim reflects, "Cuzak had been made the instrument of Antonia's special mission" (p. 367), a mission of a woman, her husband simply acknowledges, with "'such a warm heart'" (p. 367).

Edith Lewis, a life-long friend of Willa Cather, noted in her commemorative biography on the author that Cather felt My*Antonia* "was the best thing she had done—that she has succeeded, more nearly than ever before, in writing the way she wanted to write."¹⁷ In adopting as one facet of her artistic strategy, her philosophy of composition, the imagistic method in order to delineate personality traits of some of the characters impressionistically—characters who make up the *dramatic personae* of My *Antonia*, Cather ably demonstrated that she could give solid substance to her precept: "that in writing novels as in poetry, the

Another Angle of Willa Cather's Artistic Prism

facts are nothing, the feeling is everything,"¹⁸ feeling, we have seen, that can be most effectively evoked and artfully transmitted through carefully selected and skillfully wrought imagery. True to her own high standards of artistic integrity, true to her conception that the novel is an art form, Willa Cather, in the discerning judgment of Dorothy Tuck McFarland, created in *My Antonia* a novel with a "seemingly artless surface [but which actually] is ... the result of the most careful artistry."¹⁹

High Point College

NOTES

- H. L. Mencken, rev. of My Antonia, by Willa Cather, Smart Set, Feb. 1919. Quoted in Willa Cather and Her Critics, ed. James Schroeter (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1967), p. 8.
- Willa Cather, "The Novel Démeublé," in Willa Cather on Writing: Critical Studies of Writing as an Art (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1949), p. 40.
- 3. Ibid.
- 4. Dorothy Tuck McFarland, Willa Cather (New York: Frederick Ungar Publishing Co., 1972), p. 3.
- 5. Quoted in James Woodress, Willa Cather: Her Life and Art (New York: Pegasus, 1970), pp. 182-183.
- 6. E. K. Brown, Willa Cather: A Critical Biography (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1953), p. 206.
- 7. Significantly, Willa Cather, like many outstanding twentieth-century practitioners of the novel form, including such notables as James Joyce and William Faulkner whose major novels exhibit postic qualities, began her literary career as a poet, her first published book being April Twilights (1903), a collection of thirty-seven lyric poems. James Woodress in Willa Cather: Her Life and Art, p. 104, notes that Cather had been writing and publishing poems since she was a student at the University of Nebraska. And some of her poems appeared in magazines such as Home Monthly, the Courier, the Library, the Critic, Lippincott's, Harper's Weekly, and Youth's Companion.
- 8. John J. Murphy, "Willa Cather: The Widening Gyre," in *Five Essays on Willa Cather: The Merrimack Symposium*, a volume which he also edited (North Andover, Mass., Merrimack College, 1974), p. 55, only generally points out that Antonia is described in "earthy imagery."
- 9. Willa Cather, My Antonia (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, Co., 1954), p. 23. Subsequent references to My Antonia will be to this edition, and page numbers will appear parenthetically in the text of the essay.
- 10. David Stouck, Willa Cather's Imagination (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1975), p. 48, notes that Antonia's "wild, impulsive, and generous nature is so much a part of the untamed landscape." Stouck, moreover, sees freedom as a key element in Jim's landscape descriptions in Book I. Note especially the description on pp. 19, 29, and 48. Also observe Jim's description of Antonia and her sister Yulka while they are with him on a winter

sleigh ride: "The great fresh open, after the stupefying warmth indoors, made them behave like wild things" (p. 64).

- 11. James Woodress, "Willa Cather: American Experience and the European Tradition," in *The Art of Willa Cather*, eds., Bernice Slote and Virginia Faulkner (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1974), p. 51.
- 12. John H. Randall III, The Landscape and the Looking Glass: Willa Cather's Search for Value (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, Co., 1960), p. 145. Randall's analysis of Antonia as a fertility goddess is the most thorough and persuasive interpretation of this facet, particularly his treatment of the vegetation myth in relation to the seasonal cycle that structures the novel. Also, see Evelyn Helmick, "The Mysteries of Antonia," Midwest Quarterly, 17 (1976), 173-185.
- Woodress, "Willa Cather: American Experience and European Tradition," p. 51.
- 14. What Philip L. Gerber in Willa Cather (Boston: Twayne Publishers, 1975), p. 104, says about Tiny Soderball is also suitably applicable to Lena Lingard: "... her story is one of a series of separate panels whose effect is to illuminate Antonia's triumph."
- 15. Woodress, "Willa Cather: American Experience and European Tradition," p. 49.
- 16. See My Antonia, especially p. 23.
- Edith Lewis, Willa Cather: A Pictorial Record (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1953), p. 107.
- 18. Cather, Willa Cather on Writing, p. 84.

19. McFarland, p. 40.

BELGIAN SOURCES OF BRAND WHITLOCK'S "FRENCH" EXPATRIATE NOVELS

PAUL W. MILLER

Following his retirement from public life in 1922, Brand Whitlock, American author and diplomat (1869-1934), wrote two novels reflecting his considerable experience as an American expatriate in Belgium and France.¹ These novels, *Uprooted* (1926) and *Transplanted* (1927), are linked by the character of American expatriate Leslie Waldron, a talented, refined, world-weary artist reflecting the post-World War I outlook of Whitlock himself in retirement on the French Riviera.²

In both novels, Waldron is involved in love triangles reminding him of his lost opportunities to marry and providing him with what may well be his "last chance" to change the solitary pattern of his life. In the first novel, Uprooted, he is simultaneously attracted to Betty Marsh, a small-town, Midwestern siren on holiday in France, and to the American expatriate heiress Dorothy de Granvallon, widow of the French Count de Granvallon killed in World War I. In the second novel, Transplanted, set in France before the war, Waldron has a commission to paint the lovely but unhappily married Countess de Granvallon, the former Dorothy Manning he had once had a chance to marry. Then she had met and married the Count, whose title and aristocratic charm proved irresistible. Eventually she learned that her marriage to the Count was no more than a marriage of convenience designed to restore the family's ravaged fortunes; meanwhile the Count, with the tacit approval of his family, was continuing his long love affair with his cousin Helene. Into this emotionally charged atmosphere stepped Waldron, privileged by his artist's commission to spend long hours alone with the desperately unhappy Countess, and perhaps to renew his long-abandoned court-

.65

Belgian Sources of Brand Whitlock's "French" Expatriate Novels 67

ship. Both novels deal with the philosophic question to which Robert Frost gave a memorable answer in his poem "The Road Not Taken." Does the course of our lives depend on a choice made at one critical juncture along the way? Or alternately, are our lives very much of a piece regardless of particular choices we make, and regardless of how many chances we have to take one direction rather than another? Whitlock suggests in these novels that the latter answer comes closer to the truth than the former (Frost's).

Along with reflecting the expatriate attitudes of an important American diplomat, these novels are interesting as they recall actual places and people Whitlock knew during his eight years as U.S. Minister and Ambassador to Belgium (1914-22) and as they illuminate the process by which Whitlock transformed the raw materials of his Belgium experience into absorbing novels with French settings.

One first learns of his intention to write a novel with a Belgian setting in a letter to his editor Rutger B. Jewett dated May 19, 1922: "Then I have broken ground on two more novels-European scenes, one Belgium, the other France. . . . "³ By August of the following year, he had made no progress with either novelsor with the third of the linked novels, of whose projected existence we first learn in an unpublished letter to Jewett of March 12, 1925* Unsure which to begin, he thought he would start "this Belgium story ... as in my own mind I call it: I planned it years ago when we were living here" [in Brussels].⁵ Later he decided it would not do to write the Belgian novel because of the restrictions imposed by his relations with the Belgians. "I should not be free, artistically, for I should not dare be realistic so far as Belgian characters are concerned."6 Still later, after several false starts on both novels, he decided to write the so-called French novel. which was published as Uprooted in 1926.

On January 30, 1925, a few weeks after finishing the manuscript of *Uprooted*, he indicated he would at last begin, or recommence his "Belgian novel" about Dorothy Manning. Although he had been thinking of writing this novel for six years, he had been kept from writing it by "a silly fear of offending the Belgians. But I have hit upon a plan of making Georges de Granvallon a Frenchman, and not a Belgian, and so *éviter* that objection, and feel free, and, too, the novel must not be one about Belgium, but one about life."⁷ Not until July of the following year do we learn that Jewett has received a draft of it.⁸ On November 21, 1926 he reports to Jewett in the course of his revisions that he has decided to change the novel's setting from Belgium to France:

I am going to change the scene of the story, moving the chateau across the border into France, and the old house to Paris. I find that it will be comparatively simple to do this, and it will relieve me of that uneasy feeling I have always had about the Belgians. While in Brussels I showed the MS. to two or three persons, and they thought that the society was so well done—that sounds conceited perhaps that it might possibly offend some of the old French [speaking] families in Brussels.⁹

Completing his change of scene and his other revisions by December 14, he again reports to Jewett: "It has been a terrific task to change the whole scene, and transfer it from Belgium to France. . . . However, tant pis, I shan't offend my Belgians, anyhow."¹⁰

Whitlock's use of what he called his "Belgian materials" in these novels, especially in *Transplanted*, may be conveniently divided into 1) his fictional treatment of actual Belgian persons, 2) his conscious departures from Belgian customs intended to accommodate *Transplanted* to its French setting, and 3) his errors reflecting an understandably imperfect knowledge of Belgian and French customs, or of the differences between them.¹¹

Whitlock's adaptation of fictional characters from Belgian originals constitutes his chief debt to Belgium in these novels. His character development of Dorothy Manning and Count de Granvallon in *Transplanted* is particularly interesting, shedding light as it does on his fear of offending the Belgians, since his portrayal of these characters is not altogether complimentary to them or their recognizable Belgian prototypes.¹²

My first clue as to the probable originals of these characters came in an interview with the Baroness Albert Houtart of Brussels, who as a young lady knew the Whitlocks and their circle of aristocratic friends quite well. She pointed out that as chief American diplomat in Brussels, in a period when its international set was still small and comparatively intimate, Whitlock was in

Belgian Sources of Brand Whitlock's "French" Expatriate Novels 69

a singularly good position to meet and observe any American heiresses who had married into the Belgian nobility in the first decades of the twentieth century, the chronological setting of *Transplanted*. And indeed, the Baroness recalls at least five titled Belgians, all but one of them ambassadors or engaged in some other form of diplomatic service, who were married to American heiresses while Whitlock was U.S. Minister to Belgium.¹³ The one not involved in diplomacy was Count Paul Cornet de Ways-Ruart (1866-1951). He is the one who, according to the Baroness, most closely resembles the fictional Count de Granvallon of Whitlock's novel.

Like the fictional Count of Granvallon, but unlike the four other titled Belgians married to American heiresses, Count Cornet "did nothing" but pursue his pleasures and avocations. A "beau" of the late nineteenth and early twentieth century. Count Paul loved horses, shooting parties, horse races, card playing and pretty girls. The fast pace he kept afforded him no time or money for restoring his big, terribly run-down castle. It was even bruited about that he had more debts than money, though his nephew and heir, Count Arthur, denies the truth of this rumor. Sometime prior to 1914, in his late forties, Count Paul met the young, immensely wealthy Gladys McMillan of Detroit (1890-1967), who had come to Belgium to complete her education at Sacré-Coeur finishing school in Ostend.¹⁴ Early in 1914, just about the time of Whitlock's arrival in Belgium, Count Paul married Gladys; they soon had their only child, Pauline, and settled down to an agreeable life of riding, attending the races and entertaining. They were both very generous and hospitable. Gladys was "très mondaine et très élégante."15 According to Count Arthur, who inherited the castle and who still occupies it, this aging bachelor type and his wife were very much in love, the liaisons of his early vears all having been abandoned. Though the Count kept his keen eye for a pretty girl to his dying day, he reserved his serious attentions for his wife, a habit that evidently got easier as he got older. So deep was his wife's love for him that from the date of his death in 1951 till her own death some sixteen years later. she insisted that his room in their castle be left undisturbed.¹⁶

In exchange for her title, Gladys used a considerable portion of her wealth to restore the castle; in addition, over a period of years, she and her husband donated several charming, painted glass windows to the village church at Ways. One of them, in the florid style of Rossetti and Burne-Jones, shows the Count at prayer before an altar. A second window portrays the countess and her young daughter Pauline kneeling and giving thinks to God. At one side stands Saint Rose of Lima, holding in her hand a lily. As the first female saint to be cannonized in the New World, she could be aptly associated, no doubt, with Gladys McMillan of Detroit. In this window the Countess herself appears, holding what appears to be a purse or money bag.¹⁷

Although there are striking differences as well as similarities between the characters of Count Paul and the fictional Count Georges, their similar marriages, the restoration of their ravaged castles and fortunes, their lack of any serious purpose in life, their love of pleasure and riding and shooting, all suggest that Whitlock had Cornet in mind as he sketched Granvallon.

There are other details linking the Cornet family with the fictional Granvallons. For example ,when Whitlock was writing the twelfth chapter of Transplanted, he explained to Jewett that it concerned "Dorothy's early experiences as the wife of the Count of Granvallon and in the Chateau of Chenois, and in Brussels, and later, in Paris, society."18 When the book finally appeared, the name of the castle had been changed to the meaningless "Chaunois," probably to disguise Whitlock's earlier allusion to the Cornet d'Elzius du Chenoy family, of which Cornet de Ways-Ruart was the first branch. Another detail linking the Cornet castle with the fictional castle of Chaunois was brought out in my second interview with Count Arthur, who said that the long avenue of beech trees remarked upon by Dorothy in the opening pages of Transplanted¹⁹ is a rare feature among Belgian castles, absolutely distinctive of the Cornet castle as well as the fictional castle.

Most of the fictional elements that Whitlock introduces into the marriage of Dorothy and Georges, as contrasted with Gladys and Paul, initially take the direction of idealizing and romanticizing their union. For example, Dorothy is represented as coming from a distinguished family in New York, whereas Gladys' family came from Detroit. And Georges himself is represented in Whitlock's fiction not as an aging bachelor like Count Paul,

Belgian Sources of Brand Whitlock's "French" Expatriate Novels 71

but as a near contemporary of young Dorothy. Later revelations about Georges probably invented by Whitlock, have the effect of intensifying the clash of European and American values in the novel, and heightening our sympathy for Dorothy. One such revelation is that Georges has a lover with whom he is determined to continue the liaison he began before marrying Dorothy for her money. To add a whiff of incest to his adultery, the fictional count turns out to be in love with his cousin, a relationship that the rest of the family knows about and tacitly countenances, so long as it is not made public. In contrast, so far as we learn from Count Paul's nephew, his uncle dropped all his early liaisons when he married Gladys.

Like the Cornets, the fictional couple have only one child, but theirs is a boy, to carry on the Granvallon name after Georges is killed in the war. For the historical Cornets, on the other hand, the war seems to have been no more than a disagreeable hiatus in their otherwise pleasurable early married lives.

Turning now from Whitlock's fictional adaptation of Belgian prototypes, one comes to his deliberate "Frenchifying" of Belgian attitudes in the course of changing his novel's setting from Belgium to France. Among such changes, one must surely include his portrayal of the Granvallons as a xenophobic family especially where the English and Americans are concerned. Although such an attitude may be characteristic of the French nobility, it scarcely applies to the Belgians. For the Belgian people, victims of repeated conquest, have long had to cultivate a tolerance for foreigners, often extending to genuine appreciation of their differences. Another departure from Belgian custom in order to accommodate Transplanted to its French setting is Whitlock's portrayal of the "grande maison," the "hotel particulier," of the Granvallon family in Paris, where all or most members of the noble family live under one roof, even after the children are married. One can mention one or two old Belgian families, such as Merode or D'Ursel, who lived that way, but they were exceptions to the rule. In portraying this style of life, Whitlock was probably dependent on his reading in Balzac, or in Proust, who was his great enthusiasm at the time he was composing his Belgian novels. Another noteworthy departure from Belgian custom has to do with his portrayal of the concierge as a trusted confidant of the entire household, almost like a member of the family, with keys to every room. While this role for the *concierge* of a noble family still prevailed in France at the time Whitlock was writing, it was not at all typical of Belgian usage, where the typical *concierge* had a key to the apartment building but not to the apartments in it. (An alternative approach in Brussels was for the *concierge* to be given apartment keys in a sealed envelope, to be opened and used only in case of fire.) In addition to the literary sources cited above, Whitlock may have drawn his notions of the French *concierge* from a turn of the century American novel, Lilian Bell's *The Expatriates*, which assigns an extremely privileged role to this household functionary.²⁰

Along with these deliberate changes intended to make credible the change from a Belgian to a French setting in *Transplanted*, Whitlock falls into some errors reflecting his incomplete knowledge of European culture, or his confusion of French and Belgian customs. Going unrecognized by the typical American reader, these errors would doubtless be irritating to a European reader, so it is perhaps merciful to Whitlock's literary reputation abroad that *Uprooted* and *Transplanted* have not been translated.

Along with a few minor errors, he makes two more serious mistakes, the first reflecting his confusion of Belgian and French customs, the second reflecting a surprising ignorance, in view of Whitlock's legal training, of Napoleonic inheritance laws. His first error of assigning the title of baron or baroness to each of Mardanne's children in *Transplanted* probably reflects Whitlock's confusion of French and Belgian customs. For while in certain ancient Belgian families titles are passed on to all the children, such is not the case in France. Finally, in assuming Dorothy's absolute control of the disposition of the Granvallon castle which she purchases, Whitlock follows the American rather than the Napoleonic inheritance laws requiring even foreign wives of French nationals to pass on half of their real estate to their husbands, and the remainder to their children.²¹

Summing up, one sees that Whitlock, though drawn to the European nobility like a moth to the flame, could not write about them with sufficient knowledge and conviction; as a Midwestern realist with a limited imagination, he lacked the birth and breeding to know what it felt like to be one of the nobility. As the
Baroness Houtart said guite precisely, Whitlock did well with things, and types of people, he knew first-hand — femmes de chambres and the other servants of his own and others' houses;²² he was a good observer, "tres observateur." But he did not do equally well writing about the nobility, which he had to observe at a distance or on state occasions. As a result, his novels contain a number of "petites fautes" from a Belgian, aristocratic, point of view. Insignificant in themselves, they are important as they reveal his lack of sufficiently profound knowledge of and feeling for Belgian life, particularly of the nobility. What particularly flaws his treatment of the Belgian nobility is his one-sided judgmental, one could almost say puritanical, excoriation of the nobility for laziness, for lack of serious purpose in life, for endless pursuit of pleasure, lack of social conscience, and a patriarchal value system tending to deny the rights of women. (Ironically, this judgmental, puritanical approach to life is exactly what Whitlock had castigated in a previous novel, J. Hardin & Son.) Whether or not Count de Granvallon is intended to be representative of the Belgian nobility, his very existence in a novel constitutes a harsh indictment of some significant portion of that society. No wonder Whitlock was afraid of offending his Belgians, and especially his noble Belgians, with whom he had ostensibly maintained most amicable relations.

He is much more convincing in his portrayal of American characters than with aristocratic European types. He is best of all, and superior to Hemingway, in conveying the deep nostalgia, the inevitable alienation of the expatriate who, like Whitlock himself, had cast his lot permanently with foreigners in a foreign land. Compared to Leslie Waldron and Dorothy in *Transplanted*, Hemingway as spokesman for the "lost generation" was almost a tourist, confident of returning one day to America, there to be comforted by the soothing presence of other Americans with similar values. With Waldron and Dorothy — and with Whitlock himself as he grew older — it was quite otherwise, as the following unvarnished but poignant passages make plain:

Waldron, like all his countrymen residing abroad, still played with the idea of returning, of going home, as they like to say, for the comfort it gives in those inevitable hours when they come to realize their alien state in a foreign land, and a certain nostalgia floods in upon them. He was going back in the spring, he said, and after a visit to Virginia, he thought of opening a studio in New York.²³

She [Dorothy] had that feeling of frustration which came over her every so often in her relations with these foreigners, that want of reciprocity and understanding, which, on all vital topics, made intimate conversation impossible. Notwithstanding her facility in French—"But you speak it just like a Parisienne!" the Marquise had assured her that very morning—there was always that veil between them, which could not be penetrated and was never withdrawn.²⁴

Wittenberg University

NOTES

- 1. Although Uprooted was the first to be published of the three linked novels using Belgian materials that Whitlock projected (Transplanted, The Storm, Uprooted), its distinctively Belgian content is largely derivative from the second novel published, Transplanted, and is relatively slight, involving the post-World War I life of the American-Belgian Countess Dorothy Manning de Granvallon, the protagonist of Transplanted, a novel set in the period before the war. The third novel projected, The Storm, which was to deal with Dorothy's life during the war, was never completed.
- 2. Uprooted (New York: D. Appleton and Company, 1926) and Transplanted (New York: D. Appleton and Company, 1927). Though Whitlock's protagonists Dorothy Manning in Transplanted and Betty Marsh in Uprooted are both American expatriates in Europe, their economic and social backgrounds are different. Whereas Dorothy comes from a sophisticated, well established East Coast family with almost unlimited wealth, Betty is a naive Midwestern girl whose newly rich father indulges her every whim. A tourist to the core, she is determined to have a once-in-a-lifetime fling in post-World War I France before returning to the dullness of Macochee, Ohio, her American values virtually untouched by her European experience. Dorothy, however, living in pre-World War I France, has used her money, her social position and her good looks to secure the title of countess by her marriage to Count Georges de Granvallon. She has been "transplanted," so to speak, but the soil around her is foreign; she feels deeply alienated from the family into which she has married, especially when she learns that Georges has a mistress - an open secret that his family has known all along - and that he has married her, Dorothy, not for love but to restore the family fortunes.
- The Letters and Journal of Brand Whitlock/The Letters, ed. Allan Nevins (New York: D. Appleton Century Company, 1936), I, 337.
- 4. Setting forth his outline of *Transplanted* he writes: "It concerns Dorothy's early experiences as the wife of the Count of Granvallon . . . I hope to follow it with a story of her experiences during the war. . ." (Brand Whitlock Papers, Library of Congress, Washington, D.C., Container 44). We learn of the eventual abandonment of this last project in a letter to his old friend Octavia Roberts on Jan. 15, 1929: "I intended to write a novel to complete the

MIDAMERICA IX

trilogy that I had in mind when I planned *Transplanted*. It was to be the first, and *Uprooted* the third; the second was to be called *Storm*, and take the same characters, or some of them, through the war, but the publishers say that America doesn't wish to hear of the war any more" (Letters, p. 431).

- 5. Journal, 19 August 1923, Library of Congress, Container 5.
- 6. Journal, 28 August 1923, Container 5.
- 7. Journal, 30 Jan. 1925, Container 5.
- 8. "To Rutger Jewett," 2 July 1926, Container 44.
- 9. "To Rutger Jewett," 21 Nov. 1926, TS in Container 44.
- 10. "To Rutger Jewett," 14 Dec. 1926, Container 44.
- 11. I am here and everywhere in this article indebted to the Baroness Albert Houtart of Brussels, Belgium for the knowledge, the sound judgment, and unfailing courtesy with which she responded to my many questions about Whitlock's use of Belgian materials in Uprooted and Transplanted. She is the daughter of the late Count Henry Carton de Wiart (1869-1951) and Countess Juliette Verhaegen Carton de Wiart (1872-1955), both of whom were friends of the Whitlocks, as were the Baroness and her late husband. Indeed she took pride in showing me on her mantel two exquisite Chinese porcelains presented to her and her husband by the Whitlocks in 1922, as an engagement present. Count Henry was a distinguished Belgian jurist, statesman and author; his wife, besides having initiated successful legislation to end child labor in Belgium, translated Whitlock's Forty Years of It in 1915 while imprisoned by the Germans in Berlin, a work published in 1917 as Un Américain d'aujourd'hui.

I am also grateful for the opportunity afforded me by a grant from the Commission for Educational Exchange Between the United States of America, Belgium and Luxembourg (Fulbright Commission) to study Whitlock at the Bibliothèque Royale Albert l^{er} in Brussels during the summer and fall of 1979, and a grant from Wittenberg University for brief study at the Library of Congress in June, 1980.

12. Other possible prototypes include the American Irone-Goldy Hare, wife of Viscount Ferdinand de Beughem de Houtem, who resembles the English Lady Agnes in *Uprooted*, and Marcel de Vigneron, a well known Belgian hunter and man of the world, resembling Baron Heusden in *Transplanted*. (The figure of the successful American expatriate artist Leslie Waldron in both novels is a barely disguised *persona* of Whitlock himself.)

The Baroness Houtart, my chief source of information on these correspondences, emphatically made the point, however, that neither of these novels is a *roman* d *clef*; Whitlock's characters are in general a *mélange* of the characteristics of people the novelist had observed in his years in Belgium and France.

13. The Baroness listed the following, married to titled Belgians engaged to diplomatic service: Washington Irone-Coldy Hare, married in 1909 to Viscount Ferdinand de Beughem de Houten (1861-1926); Mary-Daisy Holman, born in Baltimore, married in 1887 and Charlotte Clayton, born in Lakewood [Ohio?], married in 1902 to Baron Ludovic Moncheur (1857-1940); and Alice Draper-Colburn, married in 1907 and Marie Dow, born in New York, married in 1919 to Baron Emile de Cartier de Marchienne (1871-1946). (The above details may be found in *Etat Présent de la Noblesse Belge* for the years 1971, 1966 and 1961.)

Belgian Sources of Brand Whitlock's "French" Expatriate Novels 75

- 14. A letter I received from Mrs. Alice C. Dalligan, Chief, Burton Historical Collection of the Detroit Public Library, where the McMillan family papers are stored, contains the following information concerning Gladys and her family: "Gladys was the granddaughter of James McMillan, the wealthy United States Senator from Michigan whose fortunes, entrusted to his family after his death in 1902, were made in the railroad, forging, banking, and manufacturing industries. Gladys came into the bulk of her inheritance upon the death of her father in 1902, twelve years before she married Count Cornet de Ways-Ruart in 1914." She was eleven years old at the time of her father's death.
- 15. Quoted from the Baroness Houtart.
- 16. Count Arthur Cornet de Ways-Ruart graciously granted me two interviews devoted to the lives and characters of his Uncle Paul and Aunt Gladys and to the changes made in the Château of Ways-Ruart over the years. For such information from him as I have included above, I am most grateful.
- 17. G. Lambert and Raoul de Hault, Autour d'un Vieux Clocher (Malines, 1930), pp. 173-75. Pictures of the painted windows are shown facing pp. 128, 144.
- 18. "To Rutger Jewett," 12 March, 1925, Container 44.
- 19. Transplanted, p. 3.
- 20. Lilian Bell, The Expatriates (New York and London: Harper and Brothers, 1900). There is a good chance that Whitlock knew and was influenced by this bitterly anti-French novel, of which Countess Carton de Wiart had a copy now in my possession, a gift of the Baroness. In her letter of October 20, 1928 to Whitlock among the Whitlock papers at the Library of Congress, the Countess thanked him for a copy of Uprooted, then compared it with The Expatriates, to the disadvantage of the latter.
- 21. Information from the Baroness and from Attorney Marcel Slusny of Brussels, with appreciation and thanks. (See *Transplanted*, p. 311, where Dorothy says that her marriage contract calls for a separate estate.)
- 22. The Baroness cited an example in *Transplanted*, pp. 112-13, where Whitlock briefly but vividly describes the concierge's bustling wife in her lodge at the entrance to the great Granvallon house in Paris.
- 23. Transplanted, p. 159.
- 24. Transplanted, p. 69.

74

MICHIGAN PROLETARIAN WRITERS* AND THE GREAT DEPRESSION

DAVID D. ANDERSON

In his preface to *The American Earthquake*, a documentary of the twenties and thirties published in 1958, Edmund Wilson commented that it is difficult "for persons who were born too late to have memories of the depression to believe that it really occurred, that between 1929 and 1933 the whole structure of American society seemed actually to be going to pieces."¹ It was the shock of this recognition, of this American Earthquake, as Wilson termed it, that gave rise to the equally sudden emergence of a literary movement that pridefully called itself proletarian, that flourished briefly, reaching its apex in the mid-1930's, and that then, confused or refuted by Stalinism, by the rise of Fascism, and the signing of a mutual non-agression pact by Germany and Russia, faded into an oblivion that permits it to emerge only as a social, historical, or literary curiosity.

Nevertheless, during its brief history, proletarian writing captured the leadership as well as the imagination of much of the intellectual establishment in the United States, and its effects, largely through the influence of the Federal Writers Project and the lively intellectual press of the period, were felt in every state of the forty-eight. In each — and Michigan, caught between agricultural decline and industrial chaos, was admirable suited to be prominent among them — writers, young and not so young, proclaimed themselves proletarian and proceeded to write books essays, poems, novels, plays — that they were convinced were truly proletarian.

Michigan Proletarian Writers and the Great Depression

Nevertheless, at the time and since, there has been a good deal of debate about the meaning of the term in a literary context. Although its origins are in ancient Rome and its use in English as a term for the lowest social and economic classes in the modern sense dates to the mid-nineteenth century, its literary meaning began in this century, and in use it has taken on connotations of social action and commitment rather than description. Almost invariably it has become read as Marxist, revolutionary, or communist.

What appears to have been its first literary use in America was, however, descriptive rather than ideological. In *The New Republic* for September 20, 1917, in his review of *Marching Men*, Sherwood Anderson's novel of a purposeful revolutionary, Francis Hackett comments,

The chief fact about *Marching Men* is not, however, its rhetoric, its grandiloquence. It is its apprehension of the great fictional theme of our generation, industrial America. Because the subject is barbarous, anarchic and brutal it is not easy for its story to be told....

... it seems to me, the proletarian has had small place in American fiction. Under the ban of negligible ugliness, as the eminent novelists see it, comes the majority of the people. They, the eminent ones have principally been the children of circumspect parents.... Outside their view lies the life of the proletarian except as it impinges on the middle class.... The proletarians are in a different universe of discourse....

Where *Marching Men* succeeds is in thrusting the greater American realities before us, seen as by a workingman himself. It is . . . a narrative that suggests the presence in our fiction of a man who knows our largest theme.²

When Hackett's definition of proletarian literature as based on subject matter is applied to other novels of essentially the same generation — Stephen Crane's *Maggie*, Brand Whitlock's *The Turn of the Balance*, Frank Norris's *The Octopus*, or Upton Sinclair's *The Jungle*, for example — it is evident that Anderson's novel was by no means the first American proletarian work of fiction, but it was apparently the first to be perceived as such. Not only was *Marching Men* apparently the first to be defined

77

^{*}An earlier version of this essay was presented at "A Half Century Ago: Michigan in the Great Depression," a symposium held at Michigan State University on January 19, 1980, and published in the Symposium Proceedings.

in the context of a proletarian subject matter, but it was to remain so until the call for a proletarian literature by Michael Gold and V. F. Calverton nearly a decade later.

By the mid-1920's, the concept of a proletarian literature had been taken up by leftist writers and critics, among whom the most prominent were Gold, writing in *The New Masses* and Calverton in the *Modern Quarterly*. Both were Marxists, although both were often at war with doctrine Communists, and both sought to fuse, in the literature, a new subject matter and an activist philosophy without surrendering to politics and becoming propagandistic rather than artistic.

As early as 1926, in an essay in New Masses, Gold challenged Lenin's statement in Literature and Revolution that a true proletarian literature was impossible, that the proletarian dictatorship would disappear in the classless society before such a literature could evolve. He asserted that "It is not a matter of theory; it is a fact that a proletarian style is emerging in art,"³ a style he was later to define in the term "proletarian realism." This style, he declared, "deals with the *real conflicts* of men and women . . .;" it "must have a social theme or it is mere confection . . .;" it rejects "drabness, the bourgeois notion that the Worker's life is sordid . . .;" it must reject "all lies about human nature . . .;" it must recognize that "life itself is the supreme melodrama. . . ."⁴

V. F. Calverton's concept of proletarian literature was, however, less doctrinary than evolutionary as a natural, organic development in literature and a movement toward freedom in American culture. In *The Liberation of American Literature*, published in 1932, he wrote:

What is needed in America today is a renewed faith in the masses. American literature has to find something of that faith in the potentialities of the proletariat which Emerson and Whitman possessed in the nineteenth century. It was Emerson . . . who was so enthusiastic about the civilization which was being created in the West by men in shirt sleeves, men of unexalted station and plebian origin, and who looked to that civilization with its democratic spirit to transform the country. It was Whitman who was ecstatic about the fact that it was democratic America which had elevated the poor man into the lord of creation, and had made the world recognize "the dignity of the common people..." But the faith in the common man which Emerson and Whitman entertained was faith in him as an individual and not as a mass.... What we need today is a return to that faith in the common man, in the mass, but a faith founded upon a collective instead of an individualistic premise.... In that belief lies the ultimate liberation of American literature — and American life.⁵

Important to both Gold and Calverton was an insistence that the new literature be optimistic, that it celebrate the common man in the mass rather than as an individual, that it reject the prevailing naturalistic pessimism of American realism and return American literature to the note of affirmation that had characterized it in the past.

However, neither Gold's nor Calverton's pronouncements defined a clear path for proletarian literature to take. Not only did critical and political battles over its nature, substance, and emphasis continue throughout the decade of the 1930's, but echoes of them are with us yet, as became clear to me in a discussion with James T. Farrell not long before his death. More important, however, writers who are artists rather than propagandists refuse to be bound by doctrinaire pronouncements and orthodoxies, but seek to present their own private visions of truth, and the proletarian literature of the decade was as varied in that vision as the writers themselves. But the spirit of the age and the atmosphere that permeated it bind that literature together in a recognizable proletarian movement.

By the time Gold had published his essay in the *New Masses*, a proletarian literary tradition had already begun among Michigan writers in the works of two men, Lawrence H. Conrad, who drew his subject matter from the burgeoning automobile industry, and G. D. Eaton, who wrote of conflict and exploitation on the farm. Both of them, however, anticipated Gold's assertion that a true proletarian literature must deal with the real conflicts of men and women in a socially conscious context.

Conrad's *Temper*, published in 1924, is set in Detroit in a factory, the function and product of which are wisely not revealed in the novel, so that work itself rather than manufacturing a prod-

MIDAMERICA IX

uct becomes the function of the men who — if they are lucky spend most of their waking hours there, engaged in heavy, dangerous, repetitive work that has no meaning to them other than the job itself. In its mindless, dehumanizing effects, the novel has much in common with the world of work portrayed by Sherwood Anderson in *Marching Men*. In the novel, the overtones of brutality and an equally mindless but covert rebellion that infrequently becomes overt violence dominate the atmosphere of the plant.

The central character, Paul Rinelli, resembles two of Anderson's protagonists, Sam McPherson of Windy McPherson's Son and Beaut McGregor of Marching Men. Although Rinelli is an Italian immigrant, the son of an Italian father and an American school teacher mother, he brings with him to America and to the factory an excellent command of English and, like Sam McPherson, a firm faith in the opportunity open to him to rise. Like Beaut McGregor, he learns early that he can persuade men to act, and he dreams of great power, in the factory or out of it. He determines to rise by whatever means he can find. Completely self-centered, he is determined to use others — fellow workers, foremen, merchants, others whom he meets — in the process of advancement.

Very quickly, however, the struggle becomes one between himself and a system beyond his comprehension, of which the factory is only a part, but his determination to win carries him through brutal fights with fellow workers as well as foremen. It also sustains him through an aborted relationship with members of a society group who are determined to improve the lot of immigrant families by making them "good Americans," and for whom he becomes an organizer although he knows nothing about immigrant groups, even Italians, for whom he is presumably the spokesman. His willingness to use others leads him to seduce a poor, ignorant girl at his boarding house and when she becomes pregnant, he abandons her and she commits suicide. Through it all he takes refuge in dreams of what was to be.

He remains convinced that his life in the factory is temporary as he works in a variety of departments, each job heavier and more brutal than the others. Then, convinced that, as his fellow workers say, "a man needs a woman," he marries the daughter of a co-worker, telling her in his confidence, that

"... this isn't my battle any more; its *ours*. We are going to be something in this big country. We are going to be something up near the top somewhere. There are just millions of places on the way up, and we are going to take them steadily, we are going to keep going upward as long as we live. You don't know what a force I've got in me.... I have got the force, all right. Only I am not smart enough. Now you are smart, and we are going to go upward together."

"I am not smart," she said.... "All I want is for you to get out of the factory before you are old like father is, because an old man has too hard a time there."⁶

He is transferred to the drop forge department as a furnace tender, where he spends two and a half years, "feeding and feeding the fire-fury within him, doing easily his hardest tasks, throwing off great power in the trifling things he did" (p. 217). There, too, he found a source and a sense of power in the furnaces he tended:

Sometimes at night, when he would catch the glint of the fire in some worker's eyes, he would think that the men and the fires were playing some kind of game together, as children do, trying to stare each other out of countenance, trying to see which one could stare so intensely as to force the other one to turn away....

Then there was the way that the furnaces and the men breathed against each other. They stood hissing all night long, and there was deadly hate in the hot breath that each one breathed out. And there was a feeling, too, that some day this would have to end, that some day one of these breaths would fail, and every man knew that it would not be the breath of the furnace... (pp. 196-197)

Transferred to the blacksmith shop as a helper after an altercation he is furious:

He knew how to hate, now; the fire had taught him that. He hated, now . . . and some day he was going to get somebody good and proper. In the meantime, he took it out on the steel. What a blow he could strike! He could sink the

nose of his sledge deep into an ingot, and he did, too, when the blacksmiths didn't get their tools there in time. They would look at him angrily, but they never said anything. That's what they had him there for—to swing the sledge and wasn't he swinging it? They were blacksmiths; if they didn't get their cutters under his hammer in time, that was their lookout.... (pp. 222-224)

From this point, Paul's defiance and anger are challenged. His foreman, a Scot, determines to teach him a lesson by showing him who the better man is:

In a moment they had squared off on a part of the floor that was clearer, and they began to pound each other. It was not a swift fight but a slow one. Each man had been trained to deliver sledge-hammer blows, and so they merely went to work, grimly. It was half an hour that they fought in this way, meeting each other with the terrible impact of their hard fists, staggering back for a new footing, only to come forward again. Sometimes one, sometimes the other and often both of them were thrown to the floor with the force of their blows....

At last Paul thought he would rather be whipped and have every man know it, than to suffer any more, so he stopped. He could stand the shame of defeat for a while rather than take any more punishment. . . . (pp. 226-227)

But his humiliation is more than temporary, and he determines to shut the machines, the factory, the foreman, and the men out of his mind. The foreman moves him to a small rolling mill; in a moment's inattention, a hot steel rod comes toward him; he grasps it, and faints with pain. When he awakens in the hospital, his hand is a misshapen mass.

Released from the hospital, he looks for a job outside the factory, but not only is he rejected by those whom he approached the millionaire department-store owner who had financed the attempt to aid the poor, a young acquaintance who had invented a paper container for liquids, the young lawyer who had successfully used the attempt to aid the poor as a political base — but he learns that they are more frightened of the world than he. He returns to the mill, relegated, with his useless hand, to a lonely job as night watchman, knowing that whatever fulfillment he may find can only be at home, with the wife he had ignored and the young son whom he determines will never go into the factory.

Although the end suggests that Rinelli has finally found a measure of peace - a suggestion that his character throughout the novel denies — the novel does not deal with a search for fulfillment, but it deals with conflict: a battle very nearly to the death between the factory and the man, each determined to dominate the other, and with the conflict that lies beyond: that between the exploiters and the exploited who would himself become an exploiter. Rather than dealing, in Michael Gold's terms, with the real conflicts of men and women, with a solid social theme, or, in V. F. Calverton's terms, affirming a faith in the potentialities of the proletariat, Conrad deals instead with competition — the competition for power — that characterizes the capitalistic-industrial system as defined by John D. Rockefeller and other proclaimers of the Gospel of Wealth. But Conrad rejects Darwin's insistence that the fit survive in the world-jungle. and in the novel the victory does not go to the fit or the strong except on the lowest levels; instead it goes to those singled out by circumstances and chance, and Rinelli, in the final analysis. knows that he cannot win; he can only endure and find whatever peace is available to him.

The final sections of Conrad's *Temper* are as jarring and as unsatisfactory in the context of the novel as those at the end of Anderson's *Windy McPherson's Son*. In that novel the protagonist, after having risen to power and wealth, rejects that life, and seeks fulfillment by adopting the children of a woman who abandons them and taking them home to his wife. Here the protagonist goes home to find a similar fulfillment with his family. In both cases the conclusion is neither resolution nor denouement; it is simply an attempt by the author to promise peace and fulfillment in a context that has amply demonstrated that there is none.

Nevertheless, in spite of the weakness of its conclusion, the novel's subject matter is clearly proletarian, and, in the context of proletarian literature, it points the way toward the conflict that was to characterize proletarian writing in the future: the workman, glorying in his strength and his humanity, matching his strength against that of the exploiter. But Conrad saw the

4.1

conflict in terms other than the class struggle of the Marxist; he saw it as a battle in which there was neither glory for the fighters nor meaningful success for the winner. His vision was not doctrinaire but cosmic.

Whereas *Temper* is set in the factories of Detroit in the early 1920's, G. D. Eaton's *Backfurrow*, published in 1925, is set in the rolling farmland of Central Michigan at the time of World War I. But the novels have a great deal in common although *Backfurrow* is a better novel. The protagonist of *Backfurrow* is Ralph Dutton, a young farm boy, who, like Rinelli, is determined to rise in the greater world of Detroit. But Dutton's dream of the city is that of a world of ideas, of culture, of books, and at sixteen, after his grandfather's death, he escapes to the city to find his world of books and a young love with a prostitute scarcely older than himself. But he finds, too, little work, and that low-paying, and finally, no work at all. Broke but not discouraged, he returns to the country to work as a farmhand and save money for another assault on the city.

But the return to the farm was to be permanent and the city to remain no more than an interlude that faded to a dream. Like Rinelli, a hard worker who had the same physical desires as other young men, by twenty-one he is married and farming his disabled father-in-law's farm; by twenty-two he is a father and the owner of the farm at a time when, with war on the horizon, farm prosperity hovered there, too. But the work, ambition, and the vagaries of illness and weather keep prosperity on the horizon, and a brief, unrequited, but consummated affair with a neighbor's daughter, home from the city, drives him to melancholy, a nervous breakdown, and a curious detachment from reality. The novel ends with Dutton, childlike, explaining the wonders of the world to his uncomprehending children, while his wife is working the farm.

The novel is harsh in its depiction of the brutality and the evil that dominate life on the farm as well as in the city, so much so that the novel's pre-publication history is similar to that of Theodore Dreiser's *Sister Carrie* a generation earlier. *Sister Carrie* had been accepted in 1900 by Walter Hines Page, then an editor at Doubleday, Page & Company, only to have it denounced by Frank Doubleday after his return from Europe and his wife had read it and called it a celebration of evil. Doubleday nevertheless published it, and, although it was widely reviewed, it was characterized as evil, it was poorly promoted, and it sold only a few hundred copies.

Backfurrow, similarly, was accepted by G. P. Putnam's Sons while George Putnam was in Europe. On his return he was shocked by the graphic detail of Eaton's portrayal of rural society and demanded changes. Eaton toned down some of the more graphic passages, but Putnam still detested the novel, and, although he permitted its publication, he forbade publicity or sale in any of his retail stores, and it vanished quickly, to remain virtually unknown today.

Eaton's portrayal of rural Michigan and, by implication, rural America makes clear the reasons for Putnam's dislike although it certainly does not justify it. The novel focuses on a society tormented by its nature and by human nature; a society in which Ralph Dutton's dying grandfather can cry out, "God damn you, God!"; a society in which Ralph, on guard at the farmhouse to watch for an armed escaped convict, can, on seeing him, react as a good citizen should not:

He had an impulse to shoot at him, but it was fleeting, and he was torn with extreme pity for the man. He thought of the reward, "dead or alive," but he knew he wouldn't shoot at the man, even if the reward were a million dollars. He knew that even if the man didn't have a gun he would never try to stop him. A man fighting desperately, blindly, for his freedom with all odds against him. Why! if the man *didn't* have the gun, Ralph would step before him and offer to hide him. He had an impulse to do it anyway, but he was afraid the man would shoot him.⁷

Ralph's relief when the man returns to the woods is tempered by the barrage of shots that he knows ends the man's freedom and his life.

Vignettes of the bitterness of farm life abound : Ralph and the hired man, Tim, go down to look at a new colt:

. . . The mare bared her teeth and laid back her ears but Ralph laughed and tickled her nose. He noted that part of the umbilical cord was still attached to the colt, and he cut it off gently.

"He'll have to be gelded," Ralph announced to Tim as he straightened up. "Not for a while yet though," he added. Tim's eyes flamed.

"Gelded. God damn it, yes! Why in hell don't they geld men too! Old hired men like me." Then with extreme violence and bitterness, he said again, "God damn!"

"Why, Tim! You're not old," answered Ralph. "Only thirty or thirty-five."

"I might as well be a hundert," said Tim, and he walked rapidly away muttering. (p. 96)

But there are moments of tenderness:

Then the two stepped outside and sat together a long while without speaking, gazing at the misty moon, sometimes casting shy glances at each other \dots (p. 161)

And frustration:

In a stretch of woods he put his arm about her, kissed her again and again, and tried to put his hands on her breasts, under her frock. Again the indignation, and Ralph became impatient, sensing that she did not stop him because, as she pretended, she thought it was wrong.

"Why is it any worse than a kiss?" he asked.

"Because it is," she answered him. "At least till a person is married."

Something within him brindled, and they drove home in silence. (p. 166)

Social change makes itself felt in the countryside:

... they started to talk the news of the town. Prohibition, now in force, had brought about a number of changes. The old sheriff... had been impeached for not arresting a bootlegger and several young men who had bought from the fellow. The sheriff had merely warned the bootlegger out of town and sent the drunken young purchasers home. Led by the Methodist and Baptist church ministers, who for once got together, a band of citizens had caused the sheriff's dismissal... Since then scarcely a week had passed but what someone went to jail....

"And now," said Doc, "they are preaching in the churches against bailing such fellows out. A fine neighborhood of jailbirds we are getting! ... After they've been in jail they go around sullen as hell and defiant as the devil. ... There are more young men gettin' drunk than before, and we're havin' too much trouble. ... (pp. 377-378)

But the reality of the life cycle on the farm goes on:

The proceeds from Ralph's harvest barely yielded him four hundred dollars. He took this and paid all but fifty dollars of his note, then borrowed two hundred more to keep him through the winter. He doubted that it would be enough. There were clothes to be bought all around, and another child was coming. Still, Ellen had again saved up about thirty dollars and she expected about fifty more before the cows ran low on milk and before the hens stopped laying. Perhaps things would be all right. (p. 288)

The novel's conclusion, like that of *Temper*, is an ending rather than a resolution, but the implications are clear: one does not escape, nor does he rise; he simply endures until the point where he must accept defeat or withdraw from life. Like Anderson's *Windy McPherson's Son* and Conrad's *Temper*, Eaton's *Backfurrow* concludes with the suggestion that whatever fulfillment is possible is that which one finds in a close association with his children. But both Anderson's and Eaton's protagonists have once been children, and children become adults. Yet neither author suggests that the fulfillment their people find is fleeting at best, and the cycle of life and defeat will go on.

Neither *Temper* nor *Backfurrow* was proletarian in the sense that Marxist and other leftist critics a few years later were to demand that a novel must be. Nevertheless, in the finality with which each protagonist is directed and eventually destroyed by his environment the novels are reminiscent of the first of the Studs Lonigan trilogy, *Young Lonigan*, which was already germinating in James T. Farrell's mind, and which, upon publication in 1932, was hailed as the prototype of what such a novel should be.

When *Temper* and *Backfurrow* were published, however, the word *proletarian* had not yet become part of American critical vocabulary, but by 1932 it had become commonplace, particularly by those on the left. In 1928 the Russian Association of Proletarian Writers declared, in conjunction with the first Soviet Five-Year Plan beginning in that year, that it was mobilizing prole-

tarian writers to support the cause. But although the Association's use of the term was vague, it quickly became a part of the vocabulary of American leftist writers and critics and by 1932, Michael Gold, Calverton, and others attempted to make their own definitions. No single definition other than that of subject matter was, however, to be agreed upon by American critics or writers, leftists or otherwise.

Nevertheless, two important, clearly proletarian novels were published by Michigan writers during the years of the depression. Both are set in the automobile plants of Detroit, a setting invariably approved by critics on the left. The two novels are *The Conveyor* by James Steele (Robert Cruden), published in 1935, and *F. O. B. Detroit* by Wessel Smitter, published in 1938.

The Conveyor is the story of the making of a proletarian hero in a novel that recreates the violence prone, totalitarian situation in the Ford River Rouge plant. A novel that comes close to the proletarian ideal as defined by both Gold and Calverton, it deals with the theme of social conflict and it celebrates the innate wisdom and courage of the American worker. At the same time, it carries on in the American tradition of social protest fiction by defining abuses as pointedly as Melville's White-Jacket and Sinclair's The Jungle, and as such, like them, it is more powerful as a social document than as a work of fiction.

The novel opens on the assembly line in the Pascal Motor Car Company on the eve of the Presidential election of 1928. The industry and the company are at the peak of Coolidge prosperity, but the workers feel only the effects of the speedup to meet production quotas:

To work! The wet sanders swayed from side to side, rubbing their fingers bloody with the fine sandpaper. There must not be a spot, a scratch, on Pascal bodies! On the backs of the bodies, the sanders reached and stooped, up and down, up and down endlessly, rubbing the metal, with water on their legs, water on their chests, water all over them. Between their legs their scrotums tossed their leaden weights. In spite of their brave words there was not a sander who was not sore there at the end of the day.

So with the polishers. Back and forth, up and down, they forced into the cloth and paste their blood and muscle until the dull steel glowed like a jewel. The vent assemblers had the best job, unquestionably. They took the ventilators, slipped them into pans in the cowl provided for them, tightened the screw with a ratchet and pushed the vent down. If it was straight so that it could not be distinguished from the cowl, then it was correct. If not, it was taken out, ground down, tried again...⁸

Jim Brogan, the protagonist of the novel, is a vent man, and he is in a bad mood:,

... A lot of bad jobs had gone through and they were raising hell about it—as though he had dripped the paint and dinged the cowl!... And this had to happen just when he was getting his vents in so nicely and was looking forward to a big bonus on the next pay day. It would knock the bonus all to hell, having all them bodies sent back for repair! (p. 12)

The speedup continues, the straw boss shouts at a sander, "Jesus Christ, man, don't go to sleep! Get the rag out, damn it, faster!" and then, a few minutes later, the foreman shouts "Overtime tonight! Overtime tonight!" and three sanders lay down their sandpaper and quit. There are plenty of jobs. The foreman turns to Brogan, shouting "go on sandin' over there." (p. 18)

Jim turned and looked at him. Then he very deliberately put a plug of tobacco in his mouth and squirted a brown pool near Stover's feet.

"What d' yuh say?" he asked arrogantly.

"Go on sandin' over there," Stover replied, with an attempt at a smile. "You'll get fifty-four cents."

"Oh no I won't. I'm quittin'." Jim got down off the truck, took up his tool-box and walked past Stover. The foreman stared at him balefully and swore under his breath. Jim turned back — "Did yuh say somethin'?" Again he

almost spattered Stover's shoes with tobacco juice.

"Yeah, go an' get your time, 'ats what I said." Jim smiled insolently and departed.

Every conveyor in the department was tied up! (p. 19)

There were plenty of jobs, as Jim well knew. In the years before his marriage he had worked in almost every auto shop in Detroit, and had left each one for a different reason — quit because of the danger of losing fingers at Bridges Body and a fight with the boss at Crystal, fired at Rodgers for talking to the women on company time, laid-off for model changeover at Crystal again, quit, fired, and laid off at each of the three plants of Lawrence Body. But then he had married, and the former farm boy had been at Pascal ever since, and had a fine wife, a baby, a bank account, and a nice house full of furniture, neither yet paid for. But jobs were plentiful. He bated Reds and agitators in the plants, he had faith in the system, he planned to vote for Hoover in a few days.

But jobs are not plentiful; he quits as a retrenchment is beginning, and the rest of the novel is the story of Brogan's degeneration and conversion. The savings are spent, the house is lost, Jim begins to drink, and the marriage deteriorates. In desperation, Marie Brogan writes pleadingly for advice to "Miss Fairbanks," conductor of the Your Problems column in the Herald. The reply in the paper is no more and no less meaningful than they had received at the bank, the finance company, and elsewhere:

"Cheer up, little mother.... Hubby will find work after a while and after a hard struggle you'll get the bills paid, too. It seems as if life is made up of stretches of catching up. That's what makes us strong in will and good citizens. Keep on being happy." (p. 50)

The irony of the reply infuriates Marie — at Miss Fairbanks, at Jim, at the world — and she determines to find a job in spite of Jim's protest that her place is at home with the child. Bridge's is hiring women instead of men because they're cheaper and more tractable, and she goes there and is hired at once:

She was put on a fast stamping job, which curved metal in three planes. The safety guard on this was also tied up, she noticed, but she made no comment.

"D' yuh know how to run one o' them?" the boss asked. She nodded.

"Awright. Go to it." The boss walked off.

... She inserted the metal, saw it was in place, pulled over the lever and the die came speeding down. Crash, cling, clang—crash, cling, clang! The shiny, greasy press block flew as she got into the rhythm of the work.... Her arms darted from the levers to the tongs to the dies, up, down, across....

She was nervous with [the boss] back of her, watching every move. She fumbled the pieces as she tried to set them on the die. When she tried to right them with the tongs the latter slid over the greasy little pieces. . . .

"Good God, throw them tongs away."

Before she heard him he wrenched them from her and tossed them on a pile of stock. "Use yuhr hands. What yuh got them for?"

Marie was nervous and distraught. If she were caught without the tongs, with the safety guard up, she'd be fired. But if she didn't obey the boss she'd be fired tool She looked at him, appealing. "I can't —"

"I say, use yuhr hands!" He stuck his face in hers. "Go on now, get goin'!"

His foul breath moved her to defiance.

"I won't."

"Yuh won't, eh?" His lips curled in contempt. Marie saw he was used to beating down women by sheer brutishness.

"No, I won't," Her chin set. "An' I'm goin' right over to tell the safety man about it, too."

He spat out a wad of tobacco. "Get to work, yuh goddam whore."

Marie's cheeks flamed. Her fists landed between the boss's eyes. Dirty tobacco juice slavered over his chin. For a moment he staggered and stepped back. Then he strode up to her, bellowing. . . . (pp. 92-93)

That night, when Jim, having returned from a futile search for work at Bridges, is reading an old detective magazine, Marie comes in, laughing hysterically.

... "I'm fired, I'm fired." She threw a crumpled check on the table. "We can eat now, anyway. I made 'at boss take to his heels." She took off her coat. "Ain't that high wages, though!"

Jim smoothed out the check.

A dollar ninety-eight for ten hours' work! (p. 96)

Then Jim learns that River Motors is hiring at their River Rohte plant; he joins thousands of men at the gate in the snow. When their fires are scattered by cops, the men storm the gate

MIDAMERICA IX

and are driven off. Later, after cleaning himself up, he slips back through the line of cops, and is hired.

There he learns to endure the speedup and the "service men," plant spies who kept order in the plant and speeded up production:

... "Keep yuh mind on your work! This ain't no picnic! Step on it now, goddam yuh, faster, faster."

Jim was dizzy from the pace — fifteen pans of stock a day, 850 push rods an hour, 15 a minute, one every four seconds! Fifteen push rods spinning hot and gleaming from the speeding wheels every minute — pull, release; pull, release — 15 times a minute . . . (p. 165)

Finally, spontanously, as a layoff is announced, the men rebel:

A gang of service men arrive, smiling contemptuously. One of them casually walked up to a worker and struck a cigarette from his mouth. In an instant, before Jim knew what was happening, there was fighting. Workers were running to the rescue of their mate; the service men went down under sheer force of numbers.

Jim later remembered the fight that morning. "Take their gats!" he bellowed, and plunged into the milling crowd. A service man got behind him, tripped him. Jim rose, twisted, and jumped on his assailant. . . . felt a thud behind his ear. . . . stumbled, saw a blackjack drive at his mouth and then suddenly there was a roar at the back of his head, and black silence. . . (p. 219)

Later, battered and fired, Jim goes to the union hall, determined to fight, to find solidarity with his fellow workers, and to win.

The Conveyor was, in Marxist terms, the most clearly proletarian novel to come out of the automobile industry and Michigan in the Depression. The ingredients — exploitation, overwork, brutality, and rebellion — define, graphically and in detail, the proletarian as he is driven by capitalistic greed and inhumanity to join the revolution of the proletariat, the capture of the tools of production, and the establishment of a socialist order as the first major step toward a classless democratic society. In the novel Steele makes his point clear; with only the thinnest of disguises — Universal Motors (General Motors), River Motor Company (Ford Motor Company), Pascal Motor Car Company (Packard Motor Car Company), Lawrence Body (Fisher Body) he indicts an entire industry whose God is profits and whose church is the assembly line. Rather than depicting a study of degeneration and defeat, however, as do *Temper* and *Backfurrow*, Steele's novel concludes with the note that most clearly marks the proletarian novel of the Great Depression: the identification of the oppressor and the determination to destroy him.

When F. O. B. Detroit was published three years after The Conveyor, the depression had eased although it was not over, and working conditions in the plants, dominated by the speedup and the layoff, were much the same as they had been before the nation plunged into depression. Although 1937 had been the year of the great sitdown strikes in General Motors plants, culminating in the recognition of the United Automobile Workers by the corporation as the bargaining agent for its workers, the union had not yet made inroads into Ford Motor Company, portrayed in this novel as Holt Motor Company. In the novel, "Mr. Holt," the provider of maxims and the supervision of morality for the company's workers, was as strongly opposed to unionization as his prototype.

The novel is the story of two young men employed on the same day in the Holt Motor Company: Russ, a newcomer from Northern Michigan, who hopes to earn enough to outfit himself as a clammer at home, and Bennie, who had worked in the shop before and considered himself an auto worker. Unlike *The Conveyor*, the novel is not a study of degeneration and redemption, but, like *Backfurrow* and *Temper*, it is a story of survival. The novel is narrated by Bennie, who is thoroughly familiar with the techniques necessary for survival and advancement under the maxims of Mr. Holt and the eyes of the H.P.'s — Holt Police, or, in the terminology of *The Conveyor*, the "service men." The novel opens as the two men stand in the employment line:

I went up to the guard.

"They hiring anybody?" I said.

"Yesterday we put on a few. Got a paper?" "No."

"Had a paper I might let you in. All these fellows ain't got no papers either."

I knew what he meant. It was a paper showing that you had bought a new car. It had to be a Holt car, of course... You buy the car and Mr. Holt gives you a job. It's like Mr. Holt says — "What is good for the manufacturer is good for the worker." But if you can't make the down payment, the system don't work.⁹

But in the momentary diversion of an altercation in the line, Russ and Bennie get inside the office and are employed, and the difference between the two men becomes immediately evident. Russ is determined to use the system in order to escape it — "Clamming, he said, was the most independent life that any man could get into" (p. 5) but Bennie is determined to use it to survive within the system itself. They converse:

"Listen, partner," [Russ] said, "you don't have to worry about me. I want a job that'll give me a chance to show what I'm worth. In the woods — I've always been able to hold up my end along with the rest of 'em."

"That's me, too,' I said. "I'm trying to work my way up. Some day I'm gonna be a straw boss in motor assembly. But right now, I'd take any job they got for me." (pp. 7-8)

Russ is hardworking, innovative, demanding, sometimes abrasive, as they work in various departments of the plant, whereas Bennie, equally hardworking, is unobtrusive as he attempts to work by the maxims of Mr. Holt. In an altercation at the gate, Bennie is suddenly afraid:

... in a flash, my whole life came up before me; things that Mr. Holt is against, that he writes about in his book: fooling around with women — labor unions — gambling with wages — drinking and smoking cigarettes in toilets. I thought of his book and the golden text popped into my head: "Work hard and behave yourself." And here I was in a fight — and getting the worst of it — might even get killed. "Oh, Mr. Holt —" I dug the words out of myself — "Please get me out of this mess. Amen." (p. 47)

Neither Bennie nor the author is being ironic; adherance to the maxims are the path to survival and advancement, and, although Mr. Holt, like God, is never seen, he — or his agents and his maxims are everywhere. While Russ is courting a girl, Bennie pursues his own vision of happiness:

Michigan Proletarian Writers and the Great Depression

Sometimes when the weather was too dirty to go out I stayed up in the room and read Mr. Holt's book. For the first time I began making a real study of it — going through it systematic — learning whole paragraphs by heart. I made neat copies of some of the verses and stuck them up on the walls on my side of the room. One of Mr. Holt's favorite mottoes I pasted onto the edge of the mirror. It read: Machinery — the new Messiah (p. 74)

Russ marries, fathers a child, buys an outboard motor as part of his plan to escape, and in the factory he works hard, quarrels with those who resist innovation, demands raises as rewards, remains an individualist throughout speedups, slowdowns, and layoffs. He proclaims that machines should serve men rather than the reverse, while Bennie is willing to serve Mr. Holt and his machines. Transferred to a new department, the rolling mill, Bennie stands back, while Russ steps forward to master the job on his own terms:

The whole business of the plant was to change short, heavy pieces of steel into light ones; short, fat snakes into long, thin ones. They came with incredible speed — slowed up a little as they came up to Russ standing on a steel platform beside the big rollers.

... Russ seized the heads with his tongs — got the snakes started into the right grooves....

Water sprayed over the hot rollers and for a minute or two Russ would be lost to sight in the steam. . . .

I could see it was not exactly the kind of job that he would have liked. "I like machines," he had said, "that I run — not those that run me." Well, he wasn't exactly running this one....

Learning a job like that a man has to keep his wits about him. A sudden turn — or jerk — and he might easily slip off the shiny steel platform. Those big motors could stop and reverse — but not quick enough. . . .

I went down the long stairs and walked home, thinking that Russ was all straightened out and that he was going to get along swell. (pp. 325-326)

Later that night, Bennie is awakened by an H.P. There has been an accident; Russ is in the hospital; his legs have been amputated. There will be no clamming for Russ, Bennie reflects as he takes Russ's wife to the hospital, but it won't be so bad:

There are lots of good jobs in a place like the Holt factory for a man without legs. . . .

Russ would be a Holt worker again. The company would find a place for him. I'd help.

That was one of the advantages of working for a big outfit like the Holt Motor Company — they took care of their men. They didn't have to kick out their cripples like the smaller outfits...

I thought of the salvage department on the top floor of a high building where the factory visitors never came — a whole department where every man lacked a leg or an arm or a nose or an eye; where the floor sweepings were dumped on a long belt, and the men sorted out bits of brass, cotter pins, bolts, lock washers, small pieces of copper. . . . (pp. 333-334)

With Russ's accident, the proletarian novel in Michigan had come full circle, returning to the predicament of Paul Rinelli in *Temper* and Ralph Dutton in *Backfurrow*. Like them, Russ was a proletarian victim, but he was less a victim of economics and the capitalist system — in fact, like them he had planned to use the system to escape it — than he was the victim of circumstances and his own nature. Unlike Jim Brogan in *The Conveyor*, there is for Rinelli, Dutton, and Russ no cause in which to be swept up, no conversion to experience, no solidarity with fellow workers to enjoy, no victory to anticipate.

With the end of the depression, the outbreak of World War II, the nonaggression pact between Hitler and Stalin, the return of prosperity, and the emergence of a national cause, proletarianism and the proletarian novel faded into literary and intellectual history. To many scholars, its only remaining significance is primarily documentary, and its artistic flaws are more evident now than in the past of which they are a part.

Nevertheless, proletarian novels in the decades of the 1920's and 1930's are more than documentary; they are vivid portrayals of a time, a place, and a people in a period of crisis, torment, and self-searching greater than any other in American history, with the single exception of the Civil War. They recreate a folkdrama difficult, as Edmund Wilson commented, for those who did not experience it, to believe in as human experience. In this sense, in their power to recreate that time, not only in moments of violence, turmoil, and torment, but in vivid vignettes of human beings coping with a world they could not understand, the proletarian novels of America — and Michigan — deserve, at times like this, to be resurrected from the obscurity into which they have unfortunately passed.

Michigan State University

NOTES

1. Edmund Wilson, The American Earthquake (New York, 1958), n.p.

2. Francis Hackett, To American Workmen, The New Republic XII (September 29, 1917), pp. 249-250.

3. Michael Gold, "America Needs a Critic," New Masses I (October, 1926), p. 8.

4. Michael Gold, "Notes of the Month," New Masses VI (September, 1930) p. 5.

5. V. F. Calverton, The Liberation of American Literature (New York, 1932), pp. 479-480.

6. Lawrence H. Conrad, *Temper* (New York, 1924), p. 182. Other page numbers in reference to this work follow quotations.

7. G. D. Eaton, *Backfurrow* (New York, 1925), p. 78. Other pages numbers in reference to this work follow quotations.

8. James Steele (Robert Cruden), *Conveyor* (New York, 1935), p. 11. Other page numbers in reference to this work follow quotations.

9. Wessel Smitter, F.O.B. Detroit (New York, 1938), p. 2. Other page numbers in reference to this work follow quotations.

97

MARK SCHORER'S WISCONSIN WRITINGS John Stark

Ascertaining the essence of Mark Schorer's Wisconsin writing is no effortless task. First, Schorer, who was born in Sauk City in 1908, is only partly a Wisconsin writer and is known mainly for books that have little or nothing to do with this state. Second, a cursory analysis reveals much more diversity than unity in his Wisconsin writing: an early novel, six early short stories and several autobiographical sketches that are interspersed with short stories to comprise a book that he wrote late in his life and that was published posthumously. Thus, those works are in three genres and were written over a timespan more than forty years long. Luckily, however, Schorer himself provides a clue about a way to elucidate the details of his Wisconsin writing.

Schorer was struck by the aptness of a quotation that was written in a book presented to him when he graduated from high school by his eighth grade teacher, Josephine Merk, who was also the sister of both the Sauk City librarian and the noted American historian Frederick Merk. Schorer uses part of that quotation as an epigraph for *Pieces of Life*. The full quotation, from Emerson's "To J.W.," is:

> Life is too short to waste In critic peep or cynic bark, Quarrel or reprimand: 'Twill soon be dark; Up! Mind thine own aim, and God speed the mark!

The last line must have been particularly meaningful to the young Schorer. The wish for success in it is appropriate for someone who is commencing from high school and Sauk City to the University of Wisconsin and then beyond into the larger world. The pun on his first name made the wish for success more personal and is significant also because Josephine Merk made it possible. Schorer's given name was Marcus; he was named for Dr. Marcus Bossard, an uncle he mentions in *Pieces of Life* who was Frank Lloyd Wright's physician and a leading citizen of Spring Green: the library in that village is named for him. Josephine Merk was the first person to call him Mark, a change he considered to be emblematic of an identity change, perhaps because the renaming signified to him attention by a respected teacher and separation from his family. That is, a teacher thought that he, at a critical age, had a slightly different identity than his family thought he had.

The desire for his success that he and his teacher harbored was realized. After obtaining a B.A. at the University of Wisconsin in 1929, an M.A. at Harvard in 1930 and a Ph.D. at the University of Wisconsin in 1939, he set forth on a distinguished career as a professor of English and writer. He taught first at Dartmouth and Harvard, and in 1945 he joined the English Department at the University of California-Berkeley, which was his academic base for the rest of his teaching career and of which for a while he was chairman. He taught at other universities, both in this country and abroad, and held fellowships from the Guggenheim Foundation, the Bollingen Foundation and the Center for Advanced Study in the Behavioral Sciences at Stanford University. His non-Wisconsin works include two novels: The Hermit Place (1941) and The Wars of Love (1954). In each he creates a group of cosmopolitans inextricably linked to one another by psychological ties, some of them neurotic. The Wars of Love is the stronger book because its characters are more vivid and more meticulously differentiated and because in it the theme of psychological bonds is more thoughtfully developed. His William Blake: The Politics of Vision (1946) is one of the first incisive, book-length studies of that writer, and it helped focus attention on Blake's work. Schorer's other major scholarly work is Sinclair Lewis: An American Life (1961), a definitive biography. He also published briefer books, many short stories and dozens of critical essays, some of which are collected in The World We Imagine: Selected Essays (1968).

98

3.0

Schorer wrote one purely Wisconsin book and two hybrids. One summer as a relief from his graduate studies he wrote A House Too Old (1935), a purely Wisconsin book. One hybrid book is The State of Mind (1947), a collection of stories, the first six set in Wisconsin, the other twenty-six set elsewhere. Pieces of Life (1977), the last book he finished during his lifetime, is a hybrid in a different way. In it autobiographical sketches, mainly about his experiences in Wisconsin, alternate with non-Wisconsin short stories. This form is similar to that of A House Too Old, in which the main plot line is interrupted by historical accounts of that novel's physical setting. Of those two ingredients Schorer wrote, correctly I think, "thematic relationships are, as far as I can see, almost non-existent." Some of those stories, for example "What We Don't Know Hurts Us" and "A Lamp," are impressive.

The penultimate line of the quotation from Emerson - Up! Mind thine own aim. . ." — raises the issue of Schorer's relation to Sauk City, the aim of which he could have adopted as his own. He realized the importance of the place where one matures, the extent to which a person, especially a sensitive writer, is imbued with the values and the atmosphere of the first place that he or she comprehends. For example, Schorer devotes the first chapter of his biography of Sinclair Lewis to an account of Sauk Centre. One of Schorer's theses in that book is that Lewis never succeeded in his fervid pursuit of sophistication, that he took himself out of Sauk Centre but he never took Sauk Centre out of himself. The same cannot accurately be said of Schorer, whose sophistication is clear, but he was shaped, and knew he was shaped, by his early environment. His interest in that environment is evident in his writing about it. A House Too Old and the first six stories of State of Mind are set there despite his decision not to use the town's name and despite his disclaimer in that novel: "the scenes and characters in this fiction are wholly imaginary, and the historical passages are intended to refer to no specific community." The physical details of his fictional town are the same as Sauk City's: the river, the marshes to the south, Ferry Bluff. His fictional town's size, its high proportion of persons of Cerman descent and its history also recall Sauk City. Thus, early in his career he used the material that lay at hand. becoming an expert in Sauk City by getting it down on paper.

Mark Schorer's Wisconsin Writings

Later, to achieve his "own aim" Schorer left Sauk City, both physically and spiritually. In these ways he is unlike his friend Derleth, who, after a brief interlude in the Twin Cities, returned to his home town to stay, using it as a source of much of his work and settling into a role as the town gadfly and leader of the loval opposition: a role symbolized by his house's location at such a distance from the main cluster of the town's buildings that it was clearly separate but also clearly connected. For some time, except for a brief foray to Harvard for a master's degree, Schorer lived either in Sauk City or in Madison. As soon as he had his Ph.D., however, he was gone. As his residence changed so did his fiction's setting. By the time he began teaching at Dartmouth in the autumn of 1936 all but one of his seven works of fiction set in Wisconsin had been published and the other, "Long in Populous City Pent," appeared the next year. Although he published "To the Wind" in 1934 rather than a few years later when he was leaving Wisconsin behind, that story serves in two ways as a bridge from his Wisconsin fiction to his non-Wisconsin fiction. It is the last of the Wisconsin stories in The State of Mind. and it is other than a Wisconsin story. In it Schorer narrates the story of a young college instructor remembering the home town he left and some of the events of his youth.

Schorer's memories of his home town, however, did not take fictional form again. He reveals a major reason for his change in subject matter in "The World We Imagine: Notes on the Creative Act and Its Function": "the world we create . . . depends in large part on the world that we inhabit." This statement can be interpreted as an equivalent to the truism that the only possible basis for a work of fiction is its author's experiences. However, because of Schorer's comment in a letter to me that a writer is motivated by his or her *present* environment I think that his statement ought to be taken to mean that the world one presently inhabits is the source of one's fiction. Thus, Schorer did not abandon Sauk City as an unpromising source of material. Following Derleth's writing convinced him of the folly of that position. This is not to say that he maintained a uniformly high opinion of his native state. To the contrary, in a letter he mentions, that, after he left, both the natural setting and the politics of Wisconsin deteriorated. However, he did not absent himself

totally from Sauk City. He made occasional trips there even after both of his parents were dead, and as late as 1966 in a letter to Derleth he mentions reading the local newspaper. *Pieces of Life* is the last best proof that he did not sever himself from his home town.

The fourth line of the quotation from Emerson - "Twill soon be dark;" - indicates the most salient theme in Schorer's Wisconsin fiction. That statement suggests that his work is unrelievedly bleak; at the outset it should be pointed out that that is not so. Schorer was not an inveterate pessimist or obsessed with gloom. One effective way to discern his sensibility is to use the method he himself uses in some of his best literary criticism. In several classic essays on nineteenth century novelists he analyzes recurring images and clarifies their relation to other elements of fiction, thereby revealing the inner workings of a novel and the characteristic attitude of its author. That kind of examination of Schorer's Wisconsin fiction reveals a less insistent and less dramatic cluster of light imagery that contrasts to and thereby ameliorates the more characteristic, sombre dark or nighttime images. Some of those light images are descriptions of manufactured light, such as street lights swaying in the breeze. The most important are of nature's light: fire, That image is particularly crucial in A House Too Old, an important event of which is a fire that destroys the store of a competitor of the main character, Selma, Unlike her sister Lisa, who is sympathetic to the victim, Selma is delighted and uses the interval before the rival store is rebuilt to capture a larger share of the market. That fire thus reveals the depths of her greed. Schorer also uses fire as a backdrop to devastating scenes for Selma and Lisa. In one Selma throws mementos of her husband into the fire when she discovers his unfaithfulness, and in the other there is a fire in the room when Lisa is the victim of a half-hearted sexual assault. Thus, in that novel fire may literally be a contrast to darkness but it also accompanies disasters.

The less literal but more effective contrasts to the nighttime world in Schorer's Wisconsin works are nature and certain other persons. In "Long in Populous City Pent" the name Schorer gives to his fictional Sauk City, Green Glade, and the title suggest that

Mark Schorer's Wisconsin Writings

the story is a contrast between, on the one hand, nature and the small town that has accommodated itself to it and, on the other hand, cities, which kill nature's spirit. One of the characters takes this view when she says, "'in the country the personality has a chance to survive, to achieve its form. In the city it is only confused"." In A House Too Old nature is frequently described in the historical interludes. A scene in which Karanszcy, the founder of the town, tosses a rock into the river soon after he views for the first time the site where he wishes to build a town is repeated several times. Schorer counterpoises this scene, in which nature and idealism are prominent, with other historical sections and with the main narrative, in both of which pragmatism, often of a barbaric sort, reigns and nature is one of the many things that the townspeople and the characters forget. Nature finally triumphs, however. As the town's favorite son, a plutocrat who is the descendant of one of the settlers, begins to speak at a celebration of the town's centennial, rain begins. Later, as the rain terminates the festivities, Schorer makes his point a bit too blatantly: "it almost seemed at last as if some old gods of the place had suddenly risen in wrath and tried to wash back into the earth the effort of a hundred years."

Some of Schorer's characters avoid becoming denizens of the nighttime world. He paints a vary flattering portrait of Karanszcy, who is a fictional representation of Agostin Haranszcy: liberal Hungárian nobleman, founder of Sauk City, early sheriff of San Diego County and father of the California wine industry. In A House Too Old he is a selfless humanitarian offering help to others in order to build not only a town but also a just society. The main characters in the Wisconsin short stories are admirable for the most part, although they do not provide very good evidence of a less pessimistic side to Schorer because most of them are fictional versions of Schorer himself. In Pieces of Life he sympathetically portrays many real persons. He was closely attached to his long-suffering, sensitive mother, who is the model for the mother in "In the Night." Another relative whom Schorer liked is his uncle Dr. Bossard. He also favorably mentions a boyhood friend who became a high school teacher: "if I lived in Wisconsin today, he would still be that, the most amusing, the most tolerant, the best of men."

Despite these glimmers of light, the world of Schorer's Wisconsin writing is dark, as, he claims, are the worlds created by most writers. He considers recognition of darkness to be a trait characteristic of writers. In "The World We Imagine: Notes on the Creative Act and Its Function," for example, he discusses the primitive or nighttime world that is invisible to most persons but is manifested in the works of writers. Schorer began to delineate that world as early as his first works. The epigraph of *The State* of *Mind* is a suitable quotation from Wallace Stevens: "It was evening all afternoon." Stevens' allusion to the power of blackness that has gripped many writers introduces the night theme that is prevalent in the stories collected in that volume.

The first story in The State of Mind, "In the Night," as its title indicates, describes the nighttime world; it also portrays that world's primary feeling: fear. Many details are appropriate to such a frightening trip. The main character, at thirteen years of age, is on the brink of adolescence, and it is autumn, one season away from a Wisconsin winter. Moreover, the story opens at the approach of night, which is hastened by a heavy mist. More frightening than portents of those future times is the trip backward into the past that the boy takes through his memory. Trying again and again to remember one event that happened during each year of his life, he mentally composes a reverse chronicle beginning with the year when the story takes place. He remembers only negative experiences: a death, a sicknss and, most disturbing of all, his mother's temporary, albeit short, flight from the family. That event occurred when the boy was eight and he can remember back to his fifth year, but then "he always came finally to the place where was nothing but darkness in the room under the eaves and the wind blowing and the train's whistle in the night, a sound that made him afraid in the lonely dark, as if he were all alone in the house and as if there were no people in the world, and sometimes he called his mother." These themes - fear, train, mother, dark, loneliness - recur in the story, but he never can quite understand their interrelations or find their cause.

Later the boy walks to the station to observe the evening train come in. Its "monster engine" frightens him and, although he does not realize it, that reveals the cause of his fright earlier in the story. Now the boy has traveled all the way into the night world: when he returns home "the night [is] black." Again he tries to remember an event that happens before he was five years old, and he does recall his father's meanness and his mother's threat to leave, which he thinks happened not at a definite time but "once." Because of this memory he fearfully runs home to make sure that his mother is there. It thus becomes clear — and he recognizes it at least unconsciously — that his mother's threat to leave for good is the memory that he has repressed. He had associated it with the train, the means of escape from the village. Although he is not fully conscious of his discovery, he has established the etiology of his fear, has found the entrance to the nighttime world.

"Obituary" is a quiet little story that makes the point that nighttime often is other people. In it a widow helps her clergyman prepare an obituary about the man to whom she had been married for fifty-nine years. The central problem for the widow in this story is not his death, however, but the evaluation of her life with him that occurs as she helps prepare the obituary. The traditional form of the obituary, its list of dates and conventional events, precludes a statement of the truly worthwhile events in their lives. As the clergyman elicits those dates and events she admits, "'I guess nothing much ever did happen to us'." Schorer could have ended there, making a banal point about the emptiness of many lives, but he uses a surprising reversal to make a more interesting point. The widow resists the clergyman's trivializing efforts and stands up for the meaningfulness of her married life, declaring about herself and her husband "'there never [were] two people who had a better life, and now you want to read that scrap with nothing on it but four or five dates'." She begins to recall happy moments that were important to her but do not fit into the form of the obituary. At this point she takes a stand that will repel the world of the night, but then Schorer makes one more reversal, at the end of the story describing her staring "out coldly at the accumulated vanities of her lifetimes." Thus, despite her earlier resistance, at the end she accepts the clergyman's denigration of her married life. She falls victim to the non-understanding observer, the clergyman, who is similar to the character who comes on the scene at the end of Heming-

way's novels. In so doing she falls victim to the world of the night, not because her husband has died but because she allows herself to be convinced that her life with him was in vain.

In "Long in Populous City Pent," where Schorer plays a variation on the theme of intrusion that he sounds in "Obituary," a marriage is still intact. Indeed, it is thriving in the natural setting of Green Glade, and the writer-husband and painter-wife are flourishing. This situation is observed by the young narrator, to whom the married couple is an attractive contrast to the more mundane townspeople. The intruder is their friend Nickie, whose letter announcing his iminent arrival disconcerts the couple. The narrator thinks that Nickie is only a little unusual, and he is baffled by the chilling effect Nickie has on the husband. His confusion is exacerbated by the wife's departure. When Schorer clarifies the threat that Nickie poses and the reason for the breakup of the marriage, the reason why he uses a naive narrator also becomes clear. The narrator reports on a scene in which the husband caresses Nickie but he does not dwell on its significance, his reticence being a logical concomitant of his youthfulness. Schorer's narrative strategy allows him to describe a homosexual incident at a time, 1937, when that was not common. That theme is important much less in itself than as an example of the nighttime world intruding into and destroying two apparently sunny lives.

Although it was published four years earlier than "Long in Populous City Pent," "For Winter Nights" is more weighty. That is so to a large extent because Schorer uses a more sophisticated narrator: a twenty-two-year-old writer who has returned to Green Glade for a visit with his aunt after an absence of ten years. In the first four stories in *The State of Mind* Schorer, except for very minor characters, uses only four character types: a married couple (in "For Winter Nights" they are almost married), an intruder and an observor-narrator. In "For Winter Nights" there appear only the fiancée and the narrator, who takes a more active role than do the narrators in the other three stories. This story differs from the other three in that, because of the events that occur, the narrator changes. This story's main external event is the narrator's meeting with Anna Bretly, whose mind is addled because her anticipated wedding did not take place. She continually searches for a ring on a hill near town, reenacting the traumatic scene during which she lost her fiancé. The main internal event is the narrator's generalization from Anna's plight to his own relation to a woman with whom he vows to try a reconciliation. However, Schorer ends as he does in "Obituary": with a second, pessimistic reversal. The narrator explains that "searching the ground for a mad woman's ring that was not there, I was anticipating the certain failure of a letter which I had not yet written but would surely write." Again, Schorer describes the nighttime world, where relations between men and women fail. The title, although it may seem inappropriate to readers unfamiliar with his work, signals Schorer's main theme, and the "winter" in it connotes a longer, more debilitating night, which is suitable for this story, in which the observer confronts the night more directly.

"Where Nothing Ever Happens" is a companion to "For Winter Nights." Again a young man who is visiting his aunt in a fictionalized Sauk City narrates. Rather than losing her man before marriage, the woman whom the narrator meets has lost him after marriage, and she is left alone with many children. When one of them drowns, the townspeople do not know how to respond. Most of them think that the mother's stoic resignation is callousness, and they are ill at ease because of her poverty. When she begins to wail at the funeral some women, finally receiving a cue about the way they should act, rush to comfort her. This story, however, is not just a re-telling of Katherine Mansfield's "The Garden Party." It is not only in the guise of death that the nighttime world enters this story. That is, the narrator detects in that wail more than a mother's grief. When he and his aunt visit the woman, he notices a photograph of her as a young woman, at a happier, more hopeful time. Seeing this photograph, he realizes that she "had not wept for her son." The clue to her reason for weeping is the subject that the minister is discussing when she begins: the supposedly comforting theory that an early death diminishes unhappiness. That is, it is the mother's contemplation of her own life, not of her son's death, that breaks down her reserve. The epiphany of the story occurs, therefore, when the narator sympathizes not with the discrete, fortuitous drowning but with the woman's persistent suffering. He sees that for her it is evening all afternoon.

"To the Wind," the transition between his Wisconsin stories and his non-Wisconsin stories, is about a college instructor who refuses to give a "B" to a student despite the student's desperation and who feels guilty when the student commits suicide. In reaction to that event he remembers his childhood, which at first he considers his idyll, perhaps because his present is grim. Later, however, he remembers a time when he was six or seven years old and had been thought lost, even though he was only in a rarely-used room in his own house. Not realizing that he was sought, he was not worried, but later he was terrified by the experience. This memory impels the teacher to talk to the student's mother and to confess to her his guilt and to himself his selfrighteousness and naiveté. In this story, too, a disaster befalling someone else causes the narrator to recognize the night, but this time night is within himself.

In A House Too Old the night has two main causes: historical developments and the motivations of individuals. These causes are intertwined, as Schorer indicates by means of the structure of this novel, which alternates historical recapitulations and narrative accounts of the characters' lives. As to its historical dimension, this novel is part of the flight-from-the-village movement that was important in American literature of the 1920's and 1930's. In his afterword to a major document of that movement, Sinclair Lewis' Main Street, Schorer states a tenet of those writers: by 1915 "the village in the United States had become an economic and hence a cultural cipher, set in the rigidities of its own past." Sauk City, as Schorer portrays it in this novel, is somewhat different in that its citizens are controlled not by their real past but by their distorted version of it, which excludes the humanitarian and optimistic vision of Kararanszcy, its founder. Even at the beginning of the story it is clear that "already the town has forgotten much," a point that is reiterated throughout. The epigraph, from a poem by Stephen Spender, indicates the reason for this selective forgetting and the dominant motive of this novel's main character and of other characters as well:

it is too late now to stay in those houses your fathers built where they built you to build to breed money on money That is, greed eradicates the memory of Karanszcy, which, honored, may have saved the town. However, other manifestations of human behavior survive: "despair had not died, nor drunkenness, nor madness." In this respect Schorer's portrait of Sauk City is very much like Derleth's portrait of it in Walden West and other works. Two other important motifs in A House Too Old are also reminiscent of Derleth. One is the repeated failure of men and women to establish satisfying relations with each other. The other is loneliness, which is poignantly expressed in Schorer's account of the contents of the life of the main character as she reaches old age: "and now nothing — only the thin staccato days of her age, with nothing in them but a sharp emptiness."

In the autobiographical portions of Pieces of Life Schorer not only maintains his interest in the theme of the nighttime world but also divulges the cause of that interest. The most revealing comment along these lines occurs as he explains the relation between those autobiographical portions and the short stories: "I wanted the characters in the stories to act out their problems before a darker backdrop than the stories themselves provide, nothing lugubrious, nothing narcissistic certainly, nothing selfpitying, I trust, but yet something more shadowy, bleaker, than what goes on downstage." He creates that shadowy, bleaker backdrop by describing his boyhood and youth, particularly his interactions with his family. His grandparents had obvious flaws, the same ones as the couple in A House Too Old, which suggests that they are the models for those characters. Schorer's maternal grandmother, Selina Jaeger, owned a variety store and had the first divorce in Sauk City, later marrying a man who owned a cattle brokerage business. They were "quite miserly and were thought to have a fortune." Although he is detached about his grandparents, Schorer understandably could not achieve that kind of relation to his parents. Rather, decades after he escaped it he writes about the "horrid tension that at most times positively vibrated in our house." For this Schorer blames his father, a "rigid innocent" who believed that he had been "betrayed into marriage" and that his wife had been promiscuous before their marriage. To retaliate the father continually taunts his wife. Schorer describes one incident in which she cannot endure it longer and rushes from the house, pursued by young Mark, just

as does the mother in "In the Night." That tension appears to have made Schorer for the first time acquainted with the night.

Pieces of Life is also the book in which for the first time Schorer exhibits the attitude stated in the first two lines of the quotation from Emerson:

> Life is too short to waste In critic peep or cynic bark,

One of Schorer's main projects in that book, the work of his final years, is to balance his accounts by demonstrating his magnanimity toward anyone who may have been the target of his critic peeps or cynic barks. To one such person, his father, he had made a similar gesture on a much smaller scale in the dedication of *A House Too Old* "For parents from a prodigal." His final gesture toward his father comes after he recounts a disastrous attempt by them and his brother to raise rabbits. Schorer writes, "how, remembering that folly, I do forgive him, if I had not years ago." This forgiveness is undercut by the revelations about his father in this same book and by its own terms: Schorer offers forgiveness, not understanding, self-blame or an acknowledgement of positive traits.

Schorer makes a more gracious gesture toward August Derleth. After a summary of their relationship before Schorer left Sauk City, he complains about Derleth's fictionalized portrait of him, as Robin, in Evening in Spring, calls that novel "a curious sentimentalization of that town as I remember it" and writes that in it Derleth is "quite good on the nature business . . . but wildly false about his own family background." His summing up of Derleth is also undercut: "He died too early and his death left a real hole in my life, even though, in his later years, I no longer saw very much of him. It was a strange friendship, to be sure part affection, part jealous rivalry on both sides." Their earlier relation in print had included the stories on which they worked together during the summer after Schorer's first year at the University of Wisconsin. Derleth mentions Schorer in "The Canning Factory" episode in Walden West: "one of my closest friends was Mark Schorer, the son of the factory manager." Will Schorer, Mark's father, however, is the center of attention in that episode. Derleth pictures him as a fuss-budget whose harassment of his

workers and "erratic decisions" precipate a comic war against management led by Derleth. Derleth includes Schorer's "Blockbuster" and some generous comments on it in his *Writing Fiction*, and each reviewed the other's work.

The most intimate view of the relation between these two writers is evident in Derleth's papers in the archives of the State Historical Society of Wisconsin. Those papers contain two letters from Derleth to Schorer and ninety-seven from Schorer to Derleth. The first dated letter was written in 1937, the last dated letter in November 1969, twenty months before Derleth's death. Schorer's comments are both professional and personal. In many of the early letters Schorer comments ambivalently on Derleth's writing. For example, on April 8, 1938, he writes that some of Derleth's poems are "very pleasant" but that Any Day Now is "less good than your prose usually is." Later his evaluations are more positive. In 1952 he refers to a collection of Derleth's poems as "a very distinguished volume," and his comments in 1963 on The Only Way We Live are all positive. After the early, professional letters, Schorer occasionally becomes more personal. From Italy during 1952, for example, he tells about his wife's losing a watch on Isola Maggiore, which was found by a boatman named Fausto; here is the germ of one of the stories in Pieces of Life.

One can trace in these letters the ebbs and flows of the relation between the two men. In addition to the negative professional comments, a letter written in 1954 indicates difficulties in their personal relationship. Schorer writes that he wishes to talk to Derleth about a poem in Pysche, implying that the poem appeared to Schorer to be about himself. In the mid-1950's there is a gap of three and a half years between letters, and in the letter that resumes the correspondence Schorer writes, "you were very kind to write me, out of the blue." The sudden changes in the relation are seen in two letters written during 1961. On November 12 Schorer, commenting on Derleth's note in Colonel Markesan and Less Pleasant People about their collaboration, says that "I don't remember things going as smoothly as you suggest." However, eight days later he expresses delight about the portrait of his father in Walden West. The letters from the mid and late 1960's are mellower, containing mainly positive remarks on Derleth's books, a fond memory, occasioned by Helen White's death,

of a course the two of them took from her, friendly comments about expecting to see Derleth or about having just seen him and a sympathetic letter after Derleth suffered a seizure in 1967.

112

Of the two letters from Derleth to Schorer included in the historical society's collection one, dated September 16, 1961, is full of praise for Schorer's biography of Sinclair Lewis. The other is very revealing in its explanation of a cryptic comment in an earlier letter. He writes that he knew Margery Latimer, to whom he introduced Schorer. She and Schorer corresponded and visited each other. In 1932 Schorer went to the funeral home after her death but advised Derleth not to come along because he might not know how to act, a comment that Derleth remembered bitterly for thirty-seven years. Having broached the subject of pain inflicted by Schorer, Derleth goes on to recount a day spent in Madison with Schorer on December 30, 1925: he even cites the exact day almost forty-five years after it occurred. He graciously mentions that Schorer shared money with him and describes Schorer falling asleep in his arms on the way back. Derleth's point is that Schorer did not reciprocate Derleth's affection. This incident is the basis of the reference to Robin and Steve near the end of Evening of Spring and is one source of Steve's nostalgic reverie about Robin in that book. These letters do indicate an imbalance of affection. Derleth was the more faithful correspondent and sent Schorer a copy of most of his published books. and in a letter Schorer asks him to keep his eye out for certain kinds of books to send him. In 1952 Schorer writes from Perugia, Italy, requesting Derleth to send him lighter fluid, ball point pen fillers, kleenex and toilet paper. Less than a month later he writes to the solicitous Derleth thanking him for his prompt attention to that request. In general, Derleth seems to have wanted a close professional and personal relation, and Schorer seems to have wanted to keep Derleth at arm's-length.

The strangest document about the two writers in the historical society is an article, 110 pages long, by Edward Klein called "A Plagiarism of Mind," which was written in 1936. It contains references to letters and manuscripts that Derleth must have supplied to Klein. On occasion Klein makes a convincing case that Derleth suggested ideas for plots to Schorer, and he points out that the source for the historical portion of *A House Too Old* is Derleth's The Heritage of Sauk City. At other times he is less convincing. For example, some of the imagery he finds in both writers probably results from things both observed in the same small town rather than from plagiarism. Klein's argument that Selma's final loneliness in A House Too Old is borrowed from Steve's loneliness at the end of Evening in Spring is less likely to be true than is the theory that Schorer began with memories of his own grandmother. Plagiarism is too harsh a term to apply to the literary relation between those two writers, but Klein's article would be a useful guide for a much-needed study of that relation.

The final account that Schorer balanced is the one with his wife. This is not to suggest that he mistreated or underestimated her; on the contrary, he mentions that friends often admired the strength of their marriage. Rather, he wants to make sure that he acknowledges her in print while there is still time to do so. Ruth Page Schorer is the daughter of William Herbert Page, a University of Wisconsin law professor, prolific writer and eccentric about whom stories are still told at the law school. In Pieces of Life Schorer describes being swept off his feet by the first sight he had of her on the steps of the Memorial Union in 1935, when he said, "that is the girl I want to marry." The next year he did marry her, and Pieces of Life ends poignantly on their fortieth anniversary as Schorer proclaims, "I don't think that she has ever recognized my devotion to purest grace of body and of mind, any more than she has ever been aware that she is the total mistress of that double blessing. I feel like crying." That account balanced, four days before their forty-first anniversary would have occurred, the final nighttime descended on Mark Schorer.

Madison, Wisconsin

Ohio Boyhoods: A Study of Adolescence in Novels

OHIO BOYHOODS: A STUDY OF ADOLESCENCE IN NOVELS BY ROBERT McCLOSKEY, VIRGINIA HAMILTON, AND DON MOSER LINDA R. SILVER to of fun

Through the literature a society creates for its children can be discovered in a particularly lucid form many of that society's attitudes about both its children and itself. As writers respond to changes in social conditions and values, their books become to some extent mirrors, reflecting shifting images of what it means to be a child, an adolescent, an adult. The purpose of this paper will be to discuss how three fictional portraits of adolescent boys show differing views of adolescence and of the relationship between young people and the midwestern societies in which they live.

The critic Sheila Egoff describes the children's books written during the first half of the twentieth century as characteristically "set in a world of delight and innocence . . . The world of childhood is separate from that of adults: the children are busy and happy about their own affairs while the adults hover on the periphery . . . ready to step in at times of danger and need. But the children are generally equal to most situations. There is little introspection and less ugliness or downright hardship . . . Childhood, it seems, was the best of all possible states."¹

HOMER PRICE by Robert McCloskey was published in 1943 and the setting Egoff describes is certainly true for McCloskey's novel. HOMER PRICE is a series of comic adventures set in and around the town of Centerburg. No exact reference to Centerburg's geographic location is given but it is generally assumed to be set in the southwestern part of Ohio that McCloskey, a native Ohioan, remembered from his own boyhood. The lack of specifi-

city as to location or time frame is obviously intended. Centerburg is archetypical rather than typical, illustrating what was once a common vision of the Midwest: a place of farms and small towns populated by resourceful provincials who worked and played in a spirit of cornball earnestness. Centerburg is the quintessential Midwestern small town, where the sheriff plays pinochle over at the barber shop, where the Ladies Club holds box socials. and where the populace turns out for the sesquicentennial pageant to celebrate with equal sincerity the "forty two pounds of edible fungus" that saved the original settlers from starvation and a newly constructed housing project. The creation of a suburb for Centerburg is regarded by its residents, child and adult alike, as a sure sign of "up and comingness," with absolutely no traces of regret for the trees and fields that have been destroyed to make way for row after row of pre-fabricated, identical houses. The Centerburg newspaper calls the housing development "a modern miracle" and one of the residents exclaims, "Simply marvelous . . . Just think. Last week there were only grass and trees and squirrels on this spot."

The building of the housing project is the culminating episode of HOMER PRICE, a climax to chapters of rising action that indicate the novel's comic nature and its author's attitude toward the rural Midwest as a land of beneficence and unbounded opportunity. Success is measured in material terms — the winning of a reward for capturing robbers or the winning of a wife who can cook — and if not inevitable, is usually assured to anyone with good sense and ingenuity. The spirit of Centerburg is above all practical and when the town's children are in danger of being lured away by a latter-day Pied Piper, the mayor justifies paying their ransom on the grounds that "we can't lose all these children with election time coming up next month."

In Don Moser's A HEART TO THE HAWKS, land development causes the central conflict between the fourteen year old protagonist and the society in which he lives, marking the destruction of the wildlife that Mike loves and in a symbolic sense, the end of his innocence. Set in approximately the same time period as HOMER PRICE, that is, in the middle 1940's, Moser's novel was published in 1975 and shows decided changes in attitude toward progress, the nature of adolescence, and the relationship between society and environment. In contrast to the vagueness of HOMER PRICE's setting, it is stated very clearly in A HEART TO THE HAWKS. "For someone who intended to be a polar explorer, falconer, first conqueror of Everest, oceanographer, Eagle Scout, field herpetologist, big-game hunter (for scientific purposes only), and frequent contributor of articles to the National Geographic Magazine, as well as the world's greatest living authority on freshwater biology, it wasn't a bad place to grow up. (Mike's) home, in a suburb east of Cleveland, Ohio, was surrounded on three sides by defense plants, just converted back from the manufacture of tanks and airplane engines to the making of automobiles and refrigerators and the other truck of civilian life; and by streets of orderly, close-set houses with small yards in front and back. But on the fourth side were woodlands and old farms, many of them abandoned and gone back to secondgrowth timber, and a net of dirt and gravel roads that stretched away into the rural counties beyond. It was a wedge of country driven into the heart of a city, or to say it better, a city hammered down over a last remaining spike of country, its development halted by years of war and the shortage of construction materials. On a summer night, if he looked north from the house, Mike saw the lamps of progress; if he looked south, he saw racoons."

Mike prefers the southern view. This "last remaining spike of country" has been his field laboratory and he knows it intimately, with a far greater awareness and appreciation than is ever given to Homer Price to feel for his more bucolic surroundings. And whereas, in the latter book, the leveling bulldozers are welcomed as one further sign of modern achievement, in A HEART TO THE HAWKS, their first menacing presence is indicated by "a kind of guttural roar, but so softened by distance that it seemed no more than a hoarse whisper, with an overlay of sharper sound, like the clanking of armor of a far-off battalion."

The tone of HOMER PRICE, on the other hand, is consistently up-beat and if McCloskey views life in Centerburg with touches of irony, his characters never do. Homer's Uncle Ulysses, a man of "advanced ideas," takes pride in his "up and coming" lunchroom, filled with modern labor-saving devices, while the judge expounds on "women's rights" after Miss Terwilliger is allowed to enter a string winding contest at the County Fair. Although

Ohio Boyhoods: A Study of Adolescence in Novels

in each chapter a problem occurs, it is usually caused by a stranger or some outside force and it is always solved by Homer acting in concert with his elders, who are sensible enough to recognize and defer to his intelligence. These problems, while necessary for dramatic effect and the showcasting of character, are definitely not considered to be part of Centerburg's normal life, during which "the children concentrate on arithmetic and baseball and the grown-ups tend to business and running the town in a peaceful, democratic way." Implicit in McCloskey's good humored portrayal of a small Ohio town is the idea of a society at one with itself, sharing a common purpose, common values, and a firm faith in the future. It is a society shown to offer its children opportunities to develop self-reliance, industriousness, and generosity while allowing them the benevolent separteness that Egoff described as characteristic of books written in the first half of this century. Alienation or isolation, conditions that occur frequently in books written for older children since the 1960's, are inconceivable in Homer Price's world.

In Moser's A HEART TO THE HAWKS, the setting is the 1940's but the perspective is of the 70's, and the theme is one of disillusionment, as epitomized by the title, taken from Robinson Jeffers', "Give your heart to the hawks for a snack of meat, but not to men." As his struggle to stop the destruction of his childhood paradise grows progressively more desperate, Mike Harrington is forced from innocence into experience. Contemplating his passage, one is reminded of Gerald Manley Hopkins' elegiac poem "Spring and Fall," which begins:

"Margaret, are you grieving Over Goldengrove unleaving?" "It is the blight man was born for. It is Margaret you mourn for."

Mike's friend, an aging scientist, tells him to forget his pond and woods, that there will still be some places to go, "somewhere, where the heathen have been spared our civilization and our technology," but his words, meant to comfort, acknowledge that Mike no longer has a place in the concrete and asphalt landscape growing up around him.

Isolation from society is viewed more favorable in Virginia Hamilton's novel M. C. HIGGINS THE GREAT, which takes place in the hills of southeastern Ohio. The time of the story is contemporaneous with the 1974 publication date and for the thirteen year old protagonist, a carefree childhood has ceased to exist.

Again, the "deep cough and hum" of bulldozers strikes an ominous note. Like HOMER PRICE, this novel also has a rural setting but by now, the fields and woods have been levelled, the hills are gashed by strip mines, and the streams, which for Homer provided fishing, run polluted. Virginia Hamilton lives in southeastern Ohio and about it she has said: "Appalachian hills are flattened; the Belmont counties of Ohio are decimated by the GEMs (Giant Earth Movers) of Hanna Mining Company. Acids released by mining destroy wells, crops, livestock, and land. Because of them people starve and people die."²

M.C. and his family live on an outcropping of Sarah's Mountain, named for their ancestor, a runaway slave. To the south are the smoking chimneys of a steel town and beyond it, the Ohio River. To the north, hidden by the mountain but present in M.C.'s mind's eye, is a scarred and desolate landscape, ravaged by strip mining. When the family leaves the mountain, it is by necessity, not choice. At the least, the outside world is disappointing; more often, it is degrading. M.C.'s proud parents have menial jobs in town and school is described thus: "Boys M.C.'s age endured school . . . Awkward, with twitching hands and no pine needles to touch or branches to hand from. In class, tongue-tied, they thought themselves stupid. Their teachers thought them slow. They endured it all. Until time to go home, to live again ingenious in the woods." Ingenuity was valued in Centerburg as a social good. Here it has become a means of preserving personal integrity from the demeaning effects of an alien culture.

But because of the incursions of that culture, even the woods and hills have become corrupted. Looming above the house on Sarah's Mountain is a spoil heap created by strip mining. M.C. is obsessed by fear that the heap will slide down the mountain and crush them. He takes upon himself the burden of removing his family from the danger, and in so doing becomes pitted against his father, whose ties to the mountain are deep and mystical. "These old mountains,' Jones said . . . 'They are really something . . . It's a feeling . . . Like, to think a solid piece of something big belongs to you. To your father, and his, too.' Jones rubbed and twisted his hands, as if they ached him. 'And you do it, for a long kind of time.'" As well as he knows the footpaths and gullies of his home, M.C. tries to deny the kind of feeling that his father expresses. "'You can believe it or you can disbelieve it. But I know and your mama knows. Times, in the heat of day. When you not thinking much on nothing. When you are resting quiet. Trees, dusty-still. You can hear Sarah a-laboring up the mountain, the baby, whimpering. She say "Shhh! Shhh;" like a breeze. But no breeze, no movement. It's just only Sarah, as of old.'" When M.C. admits that he has also sensed Sarah's presence and been frightened, his father says, "'Don't you be afraid. . . . For she not show you a vision of her. No ghost. She climbs eternal. Just to remind us that she hold claim to me and to you and each one of us on her mountain.'"

M.C.'s plan to escape the spoil heap are doubly doomed: they depend on the help of the Dude from outside and more significantly, they deny the power of the hills. Nature, in Hamilton's novel, is neither the useful adjunct to human affairs that it is in HOMER PRICE, nor does it symbolize youthful ardor and innocence, as it does in A HEART TO THE HAWKS. Rather, it is a pervasive presence that liberates, challenges, and threatens. M.C. calls himself "the Great" jokingly but he assumes a hero's role by grappling with nature on its terms, through courage, cunning, and endurance, rather than by escape. The setting of the novel illuminates its larger-than-life characters and in Eudora Welty's words, by confining them, defines them.

When she accepted the Newbery Award, presented to her in 1975 for M.C. HIGGINS THE GREAT, (which also won a National Book Award), Hamilton described the character relationships she developed. "I began with M.C. atop a 40-foot pole, lofty, serene. Too serene, perhaps ... and so I conceived Ben Killburn, created out of darkness at the foot of the pole. Earthbound, Ben is dependable in a way M.C. is not. Ben, in turn, is constructed by Jones Higgins, M.C.'s father, a man of strength and integrity yet superstitious and unyielding. So, too, is Jones illuminated by the Dude from out of nowhere, who clarifies for M.C. his father's inability to face the reality of the endangered mountain. . . . The Dude in his turn is made less imposing by the presence of M.C.'s mother, Banina. . . . Finally, how easily random

Ohio Boyhoods: A Study of Adolescence in Novels

MIDAMERICA IX

chance in the slim shape of a whimsical teenage girl might have brought tragedy to Banina's beloved family."³

The pole that M.C. sits on is a prize given to him by his father for swimming across the Ohio River. On it, he watches over his younger brothers and sister at play, catches sight of the two strangers who come into the hills, and surveys the land as though it were his to command. In M.C.'s opinion, he is at his greatest 40 feet from the ground but he learns that the pole is more than a personal trophy. To Jones, who has planted it in the midst of the family burial ground, it is a monument to the Higgins past. Above it all, M.C. still cannot evade his heritage. When he accepts his responsibility as a part of Sarah's Mountain, he uses the soil and rocks of the mountain itself to begin building a wall to hold back the spoil heap. Heroism is found not in swimming, climbing, or impressing one's peers, but in joining the fight to survive.

M.C. is thirteen during the course of the summer when the story takes place. As a realistic character, he hovers between childishness and maturity. He cares for and helps to feed his family; he also sulks, shows off, and is jealous of relationships in which he is not at the center. Both M.C. and Mike, the fourteen year old protagonist of A HEART TO THE HAWKS, have strong sexual impulses; they share, too, an affinity for the macho ritual of hunting, gutting, and eating wild meat. Hamilton draws explicit parallels between hunting and sex: when M.C. sights the girl who has come camping in the hills, his response is to stalk her. Their first blood-letting encounter is compared with his hunting of a possum.

As an idealized character, M.C. is "grasped by a mystic sense of significance and purpose"⁴ that casts him in a hero's role. Hamilton sees him as a symbol of hope and in the speech quoted earlier, she went on to say: "... young people reading M.C., particularly the poor and the blacks, have got to realize that his effort with his bare hands to stay alive and save his way of life must be their effort as well. For too long, too many have suffered and died without cause."⁵ Written thirty-one years after HOMER PRICE, this contrasts sharply with McCloskey's vision of boyhood in rural Ohio. The physical differences between Centerburg and Sarah's Mountain are readily apprehendable but the change in attitude from youth as a state of grace to youth as a state of siege bears pondering.

Hamilton places her characters in a highly charged emotional atmosphere and imbues the hero with the extraordinary powers he needs to deal with external odds and inner, personal turmoil. In comparison with the unrelieved seriousness of M.C. HIGGINS THE GREAT, McCloskey's characters are ordinary, unpretentious folks and his style is one of comic understatement. We see Homer Price from the outside, through what he does and seldom through what he thinks or feels. His life is eventful but orderly and his psyche-what little of it is revealed-is untroubled. Homer appears to be eleven or twelve years old, an age at which the protagonists of more recent books for children are beginning to feel the dual stress of sex and society. But whereas many contemporary writers for children take as a prototype for character Holden Caulfield, McCloskey clearly models Homer Price out of an older tradition, that of Tom Sawyer. Lacking Tom's wild imagination and deviousness, Homer is a somewhat sanitized version, to be sure. But in essential ways, among them cheerfulness, ingenuity, and a boyish innocence devoid of all sexual impulses, Homer corresponds to what Leslie Fiedler has called "America's vision of itself . . . the Good Bad Boy"6 embodied in the image of Tom Sawyer.

Rebelliousness, isolation, resentment of authority, sexual confusion-all typical of adolescence-are not merely missing from Homer Price, they are impossible to even imagine in a character who attends school, does odd jobs, plays with other boys, works on his hobby of radio building, and has milk and cookies in the kitchen every night before going to bed. Homer may at times circumvent authority, he may at times be skeptical of conventional wisdom, he may bemusedly observe his elders' romantic rivalries, but he is impervious to self-doubt or psychic conflict. His relationships with his peers, all male-there are no girls in Centerburg, it seems-and with adults is comfortable and unstrained. Many of the characters of the book are stock comic types, the flustered sheriff and the pompous judge, for example, who serve as foils against which Homer's unusual abilities are illuminated. His virtues sound like the Boy Scout Manual but McCloskey renders his characters lightly and deftly avoids all suggestions of

Ohio Boyhoods: A Study of Adolescence in Novels

MIDAMERICA IX

priggishness. The novel is a closed statement about boyhood and small town life, filled with hope and the promise of renewal. It offers an image of what Fiedler calls "immaculate childhood," the shattering of which is the main theme of A HEART TO THE HAWKS.

Mike Harrington, the 14 year old protagonist, is a more sharply individualized character than either Home Price or M.C. Higgins. His thoughts, emotions, and intellectual interests are delineated so as to place him very clearly in the world of experience. As the author sees it, youth's progress from innocence into a consciousness of this world is painful but inevitable.

"Immaculate childhood" is symbolized by the acres of unspoiled woodland around Mike's suburban Cleveland home and by Mike's guileless faith in human reason. The woodland is his field laboratory and if he spends time there camping, smoking grapevines, and dreaming of manly adventures, he also identifies, captures, labels, and collects its abundant wildlife with genuine scientific curiousity and skill. Capable of long periods of intense concentration, as when he gentles and trains an injured hawk to hunt, Mike is also distracted by thoughts of Angeline Karman, whose "conical breasts" and "long silky legs" compensate for her failure to distinguish between Franklin Roosevelt and Mike's rugged hero, Theodore Roosevelt.

The twin pulls of sex and science on Mike's mind are treated with rueful humor, as when he leaves Angeline stranded in the scummy pond after his attention turns from her to a rare aquatic insect. Although not as preoccupied with sex as his friend Corcoran, who describes himself as a "knockers fiend," Mike is aroused by his own biology while being unsure of what to do about it.

As Mike's passion for Angeline begins to contend with his passion for science, so civilization begins to encroach on his woodland. His efforts to stop the building of a housing development and shopping center are based upon a concern for the environment and a naive belief that reasonable persuasion will cause profit-minded adults to change their values. Confronted throughout the story by evidence of his own limitations, Mike exalts in the fierce power of his hawk and receives the ultimate blow to hope when the hawk hits a newly strung utility line and is killed. After one last, desparate but futile attempt to stop the destruction of the woodland, he resigns himself to his loss. As the book ends, Mike thinks, "Well, winter's coming anyway, so I guess it's time to let things go."

In showing the contrast between ideals and reality, Moser creates characters who fall short of their aspirations. Mike's father is an amateur inventor whose gadgets never quite work; his friend Dr. Oberman works in a shabby museum office and dreams of expeditions filled with "fer-de-lances . . . bushmasters . . . tropical nights and dark rum and beautiful women." Shaded by nostalgia for a lost and better past, A HEART TO THE HAWKS sees its adolescent protagonist as a victim of life who must learn " to let things go."

HOMER PRICE, M.C. HIGGINS THE GREAT, and A HEART TO THE HAWKS all have as main characters boys of approximately the same age and by their structures the novels suggest their authors' vision of the nature of adolescence. HOMER PRICE is a comedy, M.C. HIGGINS THE GREAT is a romance, and A HEART TO THE HAWKS is an irony. Although the first two end with hope, they show very different views of childhood, adolescence, and of the relationship between young people and society. In the thirty-two years that have elapsed between the publication of McCloskey's novel and Moser's, profound changes have occurred in the real world and in the fictional worlds found in books for children. As America's faith in human progress has faltered, so has our belief in a carefree youth.

Cuyahoga County Public Library

NOTES

- Egoff, Sheila, ONLY CONNECT, 2nd Edition. Oxford University Press, 1980, p. 417.
- Kingman, Lee, NEWBERY AND CALDECOTT MEDAL BOOKS, 1966-1975. Horn Book, 1975, p. 135.
- 3. ibid, p. 134.

 $\langle \cdot \rangle$

4. Langton, Jane, "Virginia Hamilton the Great." HORN BOOK MAGAZINE, December 1974, p. 673.

5. op cit, p. 135.

6. Fiedler, Leslie, LOVE AND DEATH IN THE AMERICAN NOVEL. World Publishing Company, 1969, pp. 268-9.

SINCLAIR LEWIS VS. ZANE GREY: MANTRAP AS SATIRICAL WESTERN

ROBERT E. FLEMING

When Sinclair Lewis published Mantrap in 1926, many reviewers felt that the novelist was either reaping the financial rewards of the reputation he had already established or merely relaxing from his serious labors to write a piece of frothy adventure fiction reminiscent of his earlier novels, The Innocents (1917) and Free Air (1919). Most critics agreed with Lewis's former professor at Yale, William Lyon Phelps, that Mantrap was a distinct disappointment after Lewis's successes.¹ Reviewer Dorothea Laurance Mann, however, read the latest Lewis offering not in the context of his own canon, but in that of popular western fiction; Mann suggested that Lewis failed in this apparent attempt to compete with Zane Grey because his satirical bent made him a very bad writer of westerns.² Mann's identification of Mantrap as a popular western is a provocative point, but she seems to have misread Lewis's intentions in writing such a novel. It seems doubtful that Lewis would have merely imitated Grey when one recalls that Mantrap was written during the decade in which Lewis produced not only his greatest achievements as a novelist but also his most pointed satires. Lewis had already assured himself of a prominent place in American literature with Main Street (1920), Babbitt (1922) and Arrowsmith (1925), and Mantrap would be followed by Elmer Gantry (1927) and Dodsworth (1929). These five major novels were all carefully planned, and, with the possible exception of Dodsworth, each satirized some aspect of American life. Thus, it seems logical that in writing Mantrap Lewis intended, not to compete with Zane Grey as Dorothea Mann suggests, but to contradict and satirize some of the basic assumptions of Grey's western novels.

Sinclair Lewis vs. Zane Grey: Mantrap as Satirical Western 125

In one sense, Lewis had in fact been competing with Zane Grey for some years, for a Grey western was almost assured of a place on the year's best-seller list. In 1918 Grey's The U.P. Trail was the number one best seller for the year, and in 1919 when Lewis's well-promoted Free Air failed to make the list at all. Grev's Desert of Wheat placed third. Main Street was published too late to achieve best seller of the year in 1920, when Grey was again at the top of the list with The Man of the Forest. Lewis surpassed Grey the next year, when Main Street climbed to the number one spot, but even then Grey's The Mysterious Rider was not far behind in third place. The success of Babbitt, which tied for tenth place in 1922, was somewhat diminished by the reception of To the Last Man, in ninth place. Though Babbitt moved up to fourth place, by that time Grey had yet another best seller, The Wanderer of the Wasteland, which placed eighth. In 1924 Grey was again on the list with The Call of the Canyon in sixth place; Lewis had to wait until 1925 to see another of his novels, Arrowsmith, on the best-seller list, and it was merely in seventh place.³ These facts about recorded sales would not have been ignored by Lewis, to whom commercial success meant a great deal; thus it is not surprising that in his letters the novelist frequently made derogatory remarks about Grey, whom he considered a "lowbrow," a writer that he easily surpassed on the artistic level.⁴ Nor is it surprising that the novelist who viewed himself as competing against Theodore Dreiser for the critical audience and the Nobel Prize would also see himself as competing against Grey for the popular audience.

Still another probable reason for Lewis to be annoyed by the western writer's success is the fact that Grey's fiction, like that of James Fenimore Cooper, owed much of its popularity to its presentation and support of certain American myths. By their very nature, such myths were anathema to Lewis, who had already satirized a Cooperesque Maine woodsman in Babbitt: Joe Paradise, whom George Babbitt envisions as the ideal woodsman, shatters Babbitt's illusions by displaying insensitivity to the joys of the wilderness, by proving to be in worse physical condition than the pampered Babbitt, and finally, by admitting that, if he were able to do anything in the world, he would move to town and open a "swell shoe store."⁵ If Lewis's sniping at the mythic

Sinclair Lewis vs. Zane Grey: Mantrap as Satirical Western 127

American hero had no effect on the book-buying public, it had even less on Grey, who had achieved success by transforming Cooper's American dream of rugged male existence in the wilderness into a slick formula and was selling his books faster than Babbitt could sell property in Zenith's Floral Heights.

The formula that Grey used so effectively has been summed up by Ann Ronald in her pamphlet Zane Grey:

An Easterner — that is, an innocent — arrives in the West. He, or she, has been a failure in the past and seems unprepared to meet the challenges ahead. The land at first seems harsh and unforgiving — the sun is too hot, the canyons too deep, the peaks too rugged, the rivers too swift. Problems are compounded by the appearance of evil, of men who live by their guns and who care nothing for the rights of others. Gradually, however, the neophyte becomes a man. Rather than be beaten by the environment, he learns to conquer the elements, and in doing so he acquires a deep appreciation for the land. Rather than see innocent people tormented by evil, he learns to fight and to protect those he has come to love. The West, seeming almost a Garden of Eden, becomes a proving ground for man. Here he loses his innocence and gains knowledge.⁶

Ronald points to John Hare of *The Heritage of the Desert* as an exemplification of the easterner who comes west, adding that Hare is not really a failure but suffers from respiratory problems. Needless to say, in the course of the novel Hare's lungs are transformed along with his character. Grey readers may also think of Glenn Kilbourne (*The Call of the Canyon*), who moves to Oak Creek Canyon, Arizona, where he recovers from the effects of gas and shell-shock suffered in World War I, or of Richard Gale (*Desert Gold*, 1913) who is physically healthy but needs the maturity that he gains while working on the Arizona range, where his abilities and character are more important than his wealth or social position.

Grey's heroines most often require the same sort of maturity and awareness of relative values that Gale finds in *Desert Gold*. Glen Kilbourne's fiancée, Carley Burke, illustrates much of what is wrong with "society girls" in Grey's fiction. Her life in the East has been a round of parties and ephemeral amusements, but it is only after her first trip west, in search of Glenn, that she realizes the emptiness and waste of her city existence. Sisters Bo and Helen Rayner of *The Man of the Forest* present a more fairminded composite view of the eastern woman. Bo is daring because she is still childish enough to be unaware of the possible dangers of the West, but she shows signs of the same spoiled attitude Carley Burke exhibits. He older sister Helen is characterized at somewhat greater depth: mature and refined, she is shocked by the dangers and rawness of the West, yet she comes to see the beauty of the country and finally to acknowledge that violence is sometimes unavoidable. All three of these heroines are changed for the better by their initiation into western values.

Like Ann Ronald, Carlton Jackson emphasizes the importance of Darwin's theory of survival of the fittest in Grey's westerns. No scientist, Grey viewed the process as operating within the life span of individuals, who faced the tests of survival in the wilderness:

He used the desert to show men away from civilization pitted against nature in much the same way as Joseph Conrad used the sea. It was to the barren wastelands that a man must go to transcend mere existence, to find his soul, and to grasp the idea of what Charles Darwin called "natural selection." After the desert, the mountains intrigued Grey; they complemented the desert by showing that nature was larger than human life, causing the pensive man to ponder his origins and his fate.⁷

In addition to being lonely and barren, western settings are frequently squalid from the point of view of uninitiated dudes, whose character development in the course of the novels is paralleled by their growing appreciation of the rugged charm of those settings. When Carley Burke first arrives in Flagstaff, she is dismayed at the lack of courtesy accorded her by the hotel staff, the absence of hot water in her room, and even the lack of heat in the cool mountain climate. Yet later, after she has been toughened by hardships, she regards even less comfortable surroundings as ample.

Finally, Grey's formula also includes the western characters who serve as tutors for the easterners. Sometimes, as in Owen Wister's *The Virginian* (1902), these figures become major charMIDAMERICA IX

acters in the novel, while elsewhere they remain secondary to the newly arrived easterner who is undergoing transformation in the west. In *The Man of the Forest*, for example, Milt Dale not only serves as a teacher to the Rayner girls but has a major romantic role. On the other hand, the mysterious Yaqui of *Desert Gold* has no function apart from being a tutor to Richard Gale. These characters—cowboys, hunters, and frequently Native Americans —are usually somewhat crude and uncouth in personal appearance or manner, yet the easterner comes to appreciate their less obvious qualities—their natural morality as well as their specialized knowledge of woods, desert, or mountains.

None of the factors in these formula westerns is new with Zane Grey. The paradox of the wilderness as both Eden and harsh proving grounds appears in James Fenimore Cooper's Leatherstocking tales and passes through the works of Owen Wister before Grey inherits the tradition. The same tradition includes the character types, particularly the heroic frontiersman and the noble savage, but also the flawed or naive eastern hero and the over-civilized heroine, both of whom are initiated into the deeper meaning of life when they must confront it directly. Thus, Grey was merely one of the more recent contributors to the western myth; but the fact that he was a contemporary of Lewis's and was competing for the same popular audience as Lewis made him a particularly attractive target for the satirist.

Like Zane Grey, Lewis took a research trip to collect local color for his "western." In 1923, during a stay in England, he had met an officer of the Canadian Pacific Railroad and a relative of the Governor General of Canada.⁸ Through these acquaintances Lewis was able to arrange for himself and his brother Claude to accompany an annual treaty party of the Indian Affairs branch of the Canadian government on a trip into the wilds of Saskatchewan during the summer of 1924. It is not certain that Lewis knew when he set out that he would be writing a novel; in fact, he suggested that he might do a series of factual articles on the trip.⁹ However, the trip may have suggested a satirical treatment by giving Lewis more local color than he desired, for Lewis cut the trip short after almost a month of outdoor hardship — beginning with a filthy hotel in Big River, Saskatchewan, and featuring much rain, little conversation with the non-English speaking Cree canoe-men, a forest fire, plain food, hard beds on the ground, and no alcohol — all of which he was eventually to incorporate into $Mantrap.^{10}$

In outline, Lewis's wilderness novel is remarkably similar to Grey's westerns. Both an eastern weakling and a heroine who has been affected by some of the worst features of civilization appear, as well as Indians and modern versions of the frontiersman. The wilderness itself is present throughout and, as in the novels of Zane Grey, it exerts a major influence on the easterners. Finally, the plot, though undercut by Lewis's satirical treatment, bears a resemblance to those melodramatic plots favored by Grey.

The main character of Mantrap, Ralph Prescott, is very much the sort of character one would expect to encounter in a Grey novel. A New York attorney who enjoys an undistinguished popularity among habitues of the Yale Club, Ralph is a bachelor whose principal physical exercise is an occasional game of golf. However, Ralph, in a modern parallel to the lung trouble which afflicts the Zane Grey hero, gradually realizes that he may be on the verge of a nervous breakdown: clients have begun to irritate him; he finds that the slightest excitement, such as a narrowly avoided traffic accident, leaves him with his heart pounding; life is no longer fun, and he is vaguely annoved when acquaintances in the country club locker room laugh and brag. At this point in Ralph's life fellow golfer E. Wesson Woodbury invites Ralph on a fishing trip to a remote area in northwestern Canada. Woodbury, a virile stocking magnate reminiscent of George Babbitt, adds a challenge to the invitation when he suggests that Ralph's ignorance about the wilderness reveals a certain effete quality in his character: "Ralph was both nettled and conscience-ridden. It was true. He knew nothing, nothing whatever, of the trappers and prospectors who still guard the frontier. He had never slept on the ground. He was soft. He was soft and timorous - he with his pretty little vacations in Brittany and Devon and the Bavarian Oberland! But also he was irritated by Woodbury's superior manner. . . . "11

Ralph attempts to envision himself in the rugged circumstances of the popular "yarns" of his day, but what finally convinces him to join Woodbury is a ridiculous incident in which he is frightened to the threshold of heart-failure by his own image in a full-length mirror. Like Grey's pampered but sickly easterners, Ralph needs a Teddy Roosevelt exercise cure — sleeping on the ground, breathing fresh air, and associating with rugged outdoorsmen.

En route to the wilderness Ralph and Woodbury stop at a small frontier town where Ralph displays many of the reactions of the Zane Grey heroine on her first trip west. Instead of finding Whitewater picturesque, he finds it squalid and dull. The Bunger House, sole hotel and restaurant in town, proves to be even worse than the hotel Carley Burke encounters in Flagstaff. It is unpainted on the outside, dirty and stuffy on the inside; its rooms are chiefly decorated with dust, dead insects, and brokendown furniture, and its lobby with the only usable bathtub in the house. After a dispute over having missed dinner, Ralph and Woodbury leave the hotel and its moldy odors to sleep in the relative luxury of a tent in the camp pitched for the adventurers by their Indian guides. These experiences are as disappointing as those in the frontier town. After a meal of indigestible bannock ----"a variety of bread. . . . well thought of as ballast, as a missile or an anchor" (p. 47) - Ralph settles down to sample the curative powers of sleeping on the ground, which proves to be "curiously hard. In ratio as he grew more drowsy, it thrust up the more viciously against him. It fought him. It heaved up and hit him" (p. 54). While the spartan Woodbury grumbles about the same problem, Ralph begins to resent his benefactor and reflects that he has been taken in by the "most blatant of all our American myths: roughing it in the wilds!" (p. 56).

The concept of deliberately seeking out hardships to build the character comes in for further satire later in the novel. A piece of camping equipment pressed on Ralph by his New York outfitter is a down-filled pillow, but Woodbury insists that a he-man merely kicks off his shoes, rolls up his coat for a pillow, and sleeps without the comfort of such reminders of civilization as down pillows. Ralph, to whom the rolled coat feels "like a pine board to his ear" (p. 54), tries to comply. Yet when the adventurers meet Joe Easter, a real denizen of the wilderness, and Woodbury ridicules Ralph's desire to wear pajamas and use a real pillow, Easter replies: "When I come first. . . . I certainly did want to be a real, hard-boiled, dyed-in-the-wool roughneck. So I used to sleep in my pants, even on hot nights. But — well — tell you here's how it is: getting old and rich. . . . summer nights I wear pajamas, especial' when I'm out on the hike. And they're silk pajamas, friend, and I'd rather give up my bowman. . . . than give up the nice pillow I've lugged around these five years." (p. 90)

After a series of hardships — some planned but most encountered against his will — Ralph tries to convince himself that he has developed the "powerful shoulders," "mighty hands," and even "hawk eyes" (p. 204) that adventurous dudes soon achieve in popular fiction:

In fiction, all proper tenderfeet, particularly if they wear eyeglasses and weigh not over one hundred and thirty-seven pounds, after three weeks on a ranch, in a lumber-camp, or on a whaler become hardened and wise. Usually they beat the two-hundred-and-sixteen-pound bully and marry the boss's daughter. But Ralph was tonight rather more of a tenderfoot, and a bored tenderfoot, than when he had left Whitewater on the steamer. (p. 214)

Thus Lewis deliberately and overtly undercuts one of the myths which is a keystone in the conventional western plot.

Another direct reference to the influence of popular fiction concerns the preconceptions Ralph has about the Indians. The myths about the "noble savage" perpetuated by Cooper and modified by Zane Grey are deliberately contradicted by Lewis in the Cree guides Woodbury has hired for the trip :

Ralph Prescott had been brought up on the Fenimore Cooper tradition of Indians. He expected all of them to look like the chieftain on the buffalo nickel, like the statue which in all proper parks stands between Goethe in marble and General Sherman in bronze — a sachem eagle-nosed, tall, magnificently grave. His heart was pinched as he saw shambling toward them four swart and runty loafers, introduced as Jesse, Louey, Charley, and Nick. (pp. 36-37)

Not only do Lewis's Indians not look like noble savages, but their very names contrast with the romantic names of Cooper's Chingachgook and Uncas or Grey's generic Yaqui. Lewis also attacks the myth of solemn Indian comportment. Far from being silent and inscrutable, Ralph's guides

exhibited a silence almost equal to their hatred of whiskey. They kept quiet enough during the labor of paddling, and the motor drowned their clack when it was blessedly working, but in the stillness of sailing, . . . then his bow-man and stern-man babbled like washerwomen, giggled like little girls, shouted witticisms across to the Indians in the other canoe.

Some of their exasperatingly unending jabber was smutty stories, he concluded from their neighing; some of it, from their glances, certainly was poignant comment on Woodbury and himself. As his own Indians spoke only Cree, he could neither understand them nor tell them to shut up. (p. 66)

Lewis's depiction of the Indian contrasts sharply with Grey's characterization of the heroic Yaqui in Desert Gold: "In Gale's sight the Indian's stoicism, his inscrutability, the lavalike hardness of his face, although they did not change, seemed to give forth light, gentleness, loyalty."12 The Yaqui teaches Gale a great deal, but Gale despairs of ever becoming the Yaqui's equal in knowledge of the outdoors or of the very fundamentals of life with which this primitive man is constantly in touch. Lewis maintains his satire of this fictional stereotype when Ralph meets Indians more removed from civilization than the guides. He learns that there is Indian trouble at Mantrap Landing, but the conflict is more reminiscent of Bret Harte's "Muck-a-Muck" than of anything Cooper wrote. A dispute about the Indians' credit at the local trading post causes a good deal of grumbling; rumors of a massacre circulate, but the action taken by the "hostiles" mainly consists of petty acts of vandalism such as blocking a footpath or stealing a canoe, and the eventual burning of Joe Easter's store is treated more as a prank that got out of hand than as an act of terrorism. Even the most noble of the Indians, their chiefs, are disappointing to one whose contact with Indians has been limited to the pages of popular fiction:

The title of Chief, Ralph had discovered, was considerably less royal in real life than in fiction. It was about as important as the title of President of the Village Council in a hamlet of three hundred. The Chief could call meetings, and he served as intermediary between his wandering band and the Government, but he was elected by his people and he could be removed without trial by the Indian agent. His principal ducal prerogatives were receiving twenty-five dollars a year instead of five, when the Government paid the annual Treaty money to its wards, and wearing a vast gold band around his hat, a blue coat with brass buttons and a gold armband, and a medal so huge that it recalled a comic policeman in a burlesque show. (p. 197)

As Ralph contrasts the reality of these exotic primitives with their depiction in popular fiction of his day, he becomes convinced that the popular novelists have lied to their readers.

The heroic frontiersmen of the formula western are also conspicuous by their absence. The closest thing to a bona fide mountain man at Mantrap Landing is Pop Buck, "the toughest old scoundrel north of Dauphin - been in the woods for sixty years ...," (p. 122). But the impression given by Pop's broad shoulders is undercut by his "huge paunch," and any heroic exploits in his past have given way to long, windy speeches alternating with Babbit-like jocosity. The two younger versions of Pop, Pete Renchoux and George Eagan, are currently trappers, but the only sign of heroism they display is in the deadly amounts of moonshine whiskey they consume before lapsing into a stupor. Another potentially heroic figure, according to western myth, might have been the Canadian equivalent of the western sheriff, Curly Evans; while Joe Easter calls Curly a competent policeman, Ralph and the reader must form their opinion on the basis of the lawman's rather flamboyant uniform, drunken antics, and banal small talk.

Joe Easter comes closest to Ralph's preconceived notion of the ideal outdoorsman. Although Joe is now merely a trader and fur-buyer, he has put in an apprenticeship as a trapper and is thoroughly competent in all the manly tasks of the trail: shooting, fishing, pitching camp, and boating. Moreover, like his ancestor Natty Bumppo, Joe is able to verbalize much of what he feels about the wilderness: "Through Joe's halting stories, Ralph saw that great white unknown land. The crackle and shimmer of the Northern Lights in a vast darkness over dark vast forests. The savage stars of the winter night. The joy of a cabin's yellow lights seen far down a frozen and snowy river when a fur-buyer was numb with hunger. High noon, and the frozen tundras a field of diamonds under the roaring sun" (p. 169). But Lewis seems to have permitted Joe to approach the ideal only so that he might bring him down to earth by depicting him in the most ordinary and unheroic situations. Unlike Cooper's Natty Bumppo, Joe has married; he allows his wife to browbeat him and to embarrass him in puble. When Joe is forced to go into the city, he carries none of the dignity that he has in the wilderness and degenerates into an awkward bumbler. Like Joe Paradise of *Babbitt*, Joe Easter has the basic personality of a small shopkeeper rather than that of a heroic frontiersman.

Joe's wife Alverna illustrates yet another contrast with the characters of popular westerns. Zane Grey's women, frequently spoiled and selfish when they encounter the wilderness, are strengthened and matured by their experiences in desert, mountains, or woods. Alverna bears little resemblance to these heroines. As a manicure girl in Minneapolis, Alverna was so impressed by Joe's stories of his "dandy little house . . . at Mantrap Landing" (p. 107) that she married him the next day. However, the girl Ralph meets at the trading post one year later has not been gentled by the proximity of nature. After a dull social evening, Alverna, who is as uncomfortable at Mantrap Landing as Carol Kennicott in Gopher Prairie, expresses her dissatisfaction more forthrightly than Carol:

"But honest, Ralph," she begged, "you got no idea how hard it is for me here, with nothing but these poker parties. I'd rather have nice dances — like we used to have in Minneapolis, at Lake Harriet — with a live bunch — but you know: respectable. Maybe I wasn't anything but a manicure girl in a barber-shop . . . but I was brought up real nice . . . And believe me, a manicure girl meets more swell birds and interesting people and everything than an old turkey-buzzard like Ma McGavity ever heard about." (pp. 152-53)

Although Alverna's constant use of city slang grates on Ralph's nerves, he finds her flashy good looks attractive; however, he is disturbed when he realizes that Alverna is an unrelenting flirt and has quite probably had an affair with Curly Evans. Alverna welcomes a diversion from the monotony of her life and sets out to captivate Ralph, giving a second and ironic dimension to the term "mantrap."

Thus, Lewis shows that the moral influences of the wilderness, so salubrious in the pages of popular fiction, may have deleterious effects on the city-bred. While she was not immoral in Minneapolis, Alverna has been transformed by boredom as well as by the emptiness of life in the woods into a flirt and an adulteress, while her frustration and anger turn her into a raging harpy when Joe reproaches her for her behavior.

The fact that Ralph is attracted to Alverna in spite of her flaws sets into motion the melodramatic plot of the final third of the novel. Hoping to leave Alverna and the temptation she represents behind him, Ralph sets out for civilization with an Indian guide in a canoe borrowed from Joe. Alverna intercepts him and persuades him to take her along to the city. A chase ensues. But once again Lewis inverts the moral implications of a staple of adventure fiction: whereas Grey would have the villains pursuing the virtuous, this chase has the justly irate husband attempting to overtake his runaway wife and her apparent lover.

The chase through the wilderness, over a route which includes many portages and dangerous rapids, provides Lewis with opportunities for satiric reversals of other traditional elements of such plots. Since they have only one Indian guide, both Alverna and Ralph have to share the labor of carrying canoe, food, and camping equipment on the portages - hard manual labor that should be quite improving, according to popular fiction. Instead, although Ralph finds the first day or two of the trip to be romantic, the dirt, sweat, and exhaustion soon begin to outweigh the sexual excitement of Alverna's presence. The food supply begins to run out. But Lewis is not content with the conventional hardships in his testing of the couple; their Indian guide, who seems suspiciously unconcerned about a distant forest fire which is heading their way, deserts during the night, leaving the couple with no food and no canoe. Lewis has given Ralph and Alverna the ultimate opportunity to benefit from the rigors of survival in the wilderness.

Both behave well during the worst of this test, but on the second day after the guide's desertion, when rescue appears to

Sinclair Lewis vs. Zane Grey: Mantrap as Satirical Western 137

be at hand as an airplane lands on the lake, Alverna's character flaw asserts itself; she teases and flirts with the pilot and the two forest rangers in the plane before she and Ralph realize that the plane cannot take them away. They are left with a supply of food, an inadequate folding boat, and a generous supply of bad feeling brought on by Alverna's flirting. Shortly after this false climax, Lewis sets the stage for the classic showdown scene between the two men vying for the romantic heroine. When Joe's canoe is seen in the distance, Ralph must consider his course of action. He soon comes to the unmelodramatic conclusion that he will not fight for Alverna by trying to shoot Joe; his time in the wild has not been sufficient to overturn the habits of civilization. He also thinks too much of Joe to wish to injure him further — and besides that, Ralph would be almost certain to miss loe with a gun.

Ironically undercutting the conventional confrontation to which he has been building. Lewis substitutes conversation for shooting. Joe explains to Ralph, "'I didn't come to save her. I was aiming to save you! . . . I guessed she'd coaxed you to lug her along with you. I know you're strong on duty. I figured that once you were Outside, in New York, you'd feel you had to stick by her. And then there'd be hell to pay. That's what I been planning to save you from. You'd come to hate her. . . . She's sweet, but she's rotten'" (p. 269). The novel concludes with each of the three characters basically unchanged: Joe settles down in Winnipeg, probably as bookkeeper for a large trading company; Alverna sets out for Minneapolis and her old job as manicurist; and Ralph, only slightly sadder and wiser after his adventures, boards a Pullman for home.

Lewis was rewarded for his parody of popular western fiction, but not by the plaudits of the literary critics. He sold the story to Collier's for \$42,500,¹³ and saw it serialized in that magazine from February through May, 1926. The work came out between hard covers in June, and in July a movie version starring Clara Bow and Ernest Torrence was released. Readers and most reviewers accepted the novel as a romantic, even sentimental, adventure story in the popular mode; though some reviews noted that there were occasional satiric touches in the work, none suspected Lewis of parody or even extensive satire. While reviewers did not rank it with Lewis's best work, they did not treat Mantrap harshly; however, later literary critics showed no such restraint. Perhaps Mark Schorer sums up the critical reaction best when he says, after allotting only two pages to a critical discussion, that Mantrap is "a thin cut above The Innocents, the most deplorable of all of his books."14

However, the fact that Lewis, as artist and satirist, had made such undeniable progress since The Innocents makes it difficult to accept Mantrap as a dismal failure which Lewis unaccountably produced while at the peak of his ability. It seems unlikely that, so soon after writing Arrowsmith, Lewis could have lost his eye for false values in American life and his satirist's skill in exposing them, especially since he was to follow Mantrap with Elmer Gantry, which was published less than ten months after the hardcover edition of Mantrap. It is much more likely that Lewis, irked by the popular success of a lesser novelist mining an outworn mode, sought to ridicule by means of satire and parody the formulaic characters, melodramatic situations, simplistic values, and false assumptions inherent in the western romances so often found on the best-seller lists. Read as parody, Mantrap makes perfect sense and provides one more example of Sinclair Lewis's versatility as a humorist and a novelist.

University of New Mexico

NOTES

- 1. William Lyon Phelps, "Sinclair Lewis Takes a Holiday in Canada," Literary Digest International Book Review, 4 (1926), 485, 487.
- 2. Dorothea Laurance Mann, "Sinclair Lewis Pays Tribute to the He-Man," New York Herald Tribune Books, 4 July 1926, p. 11.
- 3. Alice Payne Hackett, Fifty Years of Best Sellers: 1895-1945 (New York: R. R. Bowker, 1945), pp. 36, 39, 41, 43, 45, 47, 49, 51-52.
- 4. See From Main Street to Stockholm: Letters of Sinclair Lewis 1919-1930, ed. Harrison Smith (New York: Harcourt, Brace, 1952). Grey is referred to as "lowbrow" (p. 277), and in writing to Alfred Harcourt about the advertising for Free Air (1919), Lewis specifies, "Please-PLEASE-think very carefully about giving the keynote of the book in future ads and descriptions, so that it may stand out from the typical Zane Grey ads" (p. 15). See also pp. 273, 274, and 301 for derogatory references to Grey.
- 5. Sinclair Lewis, Babbit (New York: Brace and Company, 1922), p. 800.
- 6. Ann Ronald, Zane Grey (Boise, Idaho: Boise State University, 1975), p. 13.
- 7. Carlton Jackson, Zane Grey (New York: Twayne Publishers, 1973), p. 50.

- 8. Mark Schorer, Sinclair Lewis: An American Life (New York, Toronto, London: McGraw-Hill, 1961), p. 388. For a summary of the Lewis trip, see pp. 400-405.
- 9. D. J. Greene, With Sinclair Lewis in Darkest Saskatchewan: The Genesis of Mantrap," Saskatchewan History, 6, no. 2 (Spring 1953), 48.
- 10. For the most complete account of the Lewis expedition, see Donald Greene and George Knox, eds., Treaty Trip: An Abridgement of Dr. Claude Lewis's Journal of an Expedition Made by Himself and His Brother, Sinclair Lewis, to Northwestern Saskatchewan and Manitoba in 1924 (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1959).
- 11. Sinclair Lewis, Mantrap (New York: Harcourt, Brace and Company, 1926), p. 15. All future references are to this edition and will be inserted in parentheses within the text.
- 12. Zane Grey, Desert Gold (New York: Black's Readers Service, 1941), p. 266.
- 13. Schorer, p. 399.
- 14. Schorer, p. 422.

THE CHICAGO LITERARY TIMES: A DESCRIPTION AND A BOOK REVIEW INDEX

RAY LEWIS WHITE

The Chicago Renaissance produced and nurtured several periodicals that entered the mainstream of American literary history, among them Poetry, The Little Review, and The Dial. As the Renaissance faded in the early 1920's. The Dial and The Little Review left Chicago, along with their editors and their best Midwestern contributors. Yet toward the end of the Chicago Renaissance period there appeared a full-fledged literary newspaper of which Bernard Duffey says, ". . . the terminus ad quem of the whole course of the Chicago renaissance can most clearly be marked by the short lived Chicago Literary Times, published and edited by Ben Hecht between March 1, 1923 and May 15, 1924."1 Decades after 1924, Hecht recalled the Chicago Literary Times as his personal creation: "I printed and published the newspaper called The Chicago Literary Times by myself for a year and a half. I also sold and wrote the advertising copy and helped distribute the paper. The policy of my paper was to attack everything. I enjoyed myself perhaps more than my readers."2

Issue number one set the pace for Hecht's paper. In a column called "Salutation On the Saxophone" (pace Carl Sandburg), Hecht greeted his readership: "Chicago, the jazz baby-the reeking, cinder ridden, joyous Baptist strong-hold; Chicago, the chewing gum center of the world, the bleating, slant-headed rendezvous of half-witted newspapers, sociopaths and pants makers-in the name of the Seven Holy and Imperishable Arts, Chicago salutes you." The Times would be "a gazette dedicated to the Sacred Ballyhoo," a medium asserting that "Art is the watchword and Beauty the bride of the soul."

138

1.100

The Chicago Literary Times

MIDAMERICA IX

The first issues of *The Chicago Literary Times*, edited by Hecht and backed and managed by Pascal Covici, shared with Covici McGee Publishers an address at 158 West Washington Street, Chicago. By issue number seven Hecht had relocated his paper at 322 South State Street, Chicago, working probably by now without the active help of Covici. By issue number 20, the paper was located at 644 South Clark Street, Chicago, where it remained until its demise.

Always in tabloid-size format and garish layout, *The Chicago Literary Times* appeared in two volumes. In volume one (from 1 March 1923 through 15 February 1924), issues one through three were of four pages; issues four through eight were eight pages; issues nine through ten were twelve pages; and issues eleven through twenty-four were eight pages. In volume two (from 1 March 1924 through 1 June 1924), issues one through five were of eight pages; issues six through seven were sixteen pages. Of the thirty-one issues of this twice-monthly newspaper, five were on pink paper, and fourteen were on green paper.

The personnel of *The Chicago Literary Times*, besides Hecht and Covici, included at various times Maxwell Bodenheim, S. P. Rudens, Isadore Edelson, Louis A. Samuels, and James L. Renshaw. Contributors inclued Hecht, Bodenheim, Ring Lardner, Samuel Putnam, Rose Caylor, Lloyd Lewis, Vincent Starrett, Wallace Smith, and George Grosz. Free-lance contributors were warned: *"The Chicago Literary Times* Solicits No Manuscripts and Will Return None."

Given the appearance and content of *The Chicago Literary Times*, Hecht's readers must have derived enjoyment at least equal to that of the writer-publisher's. Where else could readers have found a Picasso drawing parodying the *trompe l'oeil* "What's Wrong With This Picture?" Or a list of 'Impossible People including Karl Marx ("the beer-garden Jesus"), W. M. Thackeray (the "green grocer's Dostoevsky"), John Milton ("inventor of the wall-paper heaven"), and Thomas Carlyle (the "Leroico moral interpretation of dyspeptic moods")? Or a list of "The World's 25 Worst Books" that ranged from *Pilgrim's Progress* to *Pride and Prejudice* to *The Rise of Silas Lapham* to Women in Love? Irreverent and blatant, Hecht in general columns assailed books that the did not like. Women in Love was "an amateur blue print of sexual impulses poorly remembered by the author"; The Sacred Wood was "a book of critical essays in which the pillars of yesteryear are coaxed into a few new postures"; Many Marriages was "The wistful idealization of the masculine menopause"; and Cornhuskers was "the climax of the vers libre vendetta in the U.S."

Yet the chief interest of *The Chicago Literary Times* is its more formal book reviews. Hecht chose for review books that interested him or — as likely — outraged him. Of the sixty-six reviews in the thirty-one issues of the paper, Hecht wrote fortythree under the names of Remy D'Or or Rene D'Or. Of the other reviews, Maxwell Bodenheim wrote six; Rose Caylor (the future Mrs. Ben Hecht) wrote six; Jerome Shoenfeld wrote one; "L.F." wrote one; and nine reviews are unsigned.

Hecht published reviews of several classic authors whom he especially liked, among them Petronius, Dostoevsky, Huysmans, Gourmont, and the de Goncourts; but he showed judgment in choosing for review promising contemporary authors: Djuna Barnes, E. E. Cummings, T. S. Eliot, F. Scott Fitzgerald, Luigi Pirandello, Upton Sinclair, Gertrude Stein, Wallace Stevens, William Carlos Williams, Virginia Woolf, and Eleanor Wylie received full review; and Zona Gale, John Galsworthy, T. E. Hulme, Edna St. Vincent Millay, George Moore, and George Santayana were not ignored. Jacob's Room was "the fifteenth uncertain imitation of Dorothy Richardson." The Waste Land was "Intellect engaging in a drunken commotion, and Erudition prattling with the husky candor of a vagrant in the back-room of a saloon." Tulips and Chimneys was "embraced by certain critics whose minds form a cross section between violent vaudeville and an advertising sign-board version of intellect." Harmonium was "mere classification of suavely worded visual appearances and the mischievous sound-wrigglings of an intellect chiding its insomnia."

Fitful and brash or perceptive and firm, *The Chicago Literary Times* deserves attention for its commentary on the books that made the Midwestern literary landscape in the early 1920's. The following index to the book reviews in the *Times* is the first atten-

The Chicago Literary Times

MIDAMERICA IX

11

142

Book Review Index

- Adams, Franklin P. So Therel Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday, Page & Co., 1923.
 No. 8 (15 June 1923), 3. Rene D'Or.
- Barnes, Djuna. A Book. New York: Boni & Liveright, 1923.
 1, No. 22 (15 January 1924), 3. M.B.
- Baroja y Nessi, Pio. Weeds, tr. Isaac Goldberg. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1923.
 No. 5 (1 May 1924), 6. L.F.
- 4. Bell, Clive. On British Freedom. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1923.
 - 1, No. 20 (15 December 1923), 5. R.C.
- 5. _____. Since Cézanne. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1922.
 - 1, No. 21 (1 January 1924), 4. R.C.
- Bell, Violet Colquhoun. Blindness of Heart. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1924.
 No. 1 (1 March 1924), 3, 4. Remy D'Or.
- Bodenheim, Maxwell. Crazy Man. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1924.
 No. 4 (15 April 1924), 1, 2. Remy D'Or.
- Boyd, Thomas A. Through the Wheat. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.
 No. 8 (15 June 1923), 5. Rene D'Or.
- Casey, Robert J. The Lost Kingdom of Burgundy. New York: Century Co., 1923.
 No. 17 (1 November 1923), 2. Remy D'Or.
- 10. Clews, Henry, Jr. Mumbo Jumbo. New York: Boni & Liveright, 1923.
 - 1, No. 9 (1 July 1923), 2, 10. Rene D'Or.
- 11. Couperus, Louis. *Majesty*, tr. Alexander Teireira de Mattos, pref. by Stephen McKenna. New York: Dodd, Mead & Co., 1921.
 - 2, No. 1 (1 March 1924), 4, 6.

- 12. Craven, Thomas. Paint. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1923.
 - 1, No. 5 (1 May 1923), 7. Rene D'Or.
- Crowley, Aleister. Diary of a Drug Fiend. New York: E. P. Dutton & Co., 1923.
 No. 10 (15 July 1923), 1, 2. Remy D'Or.
- Cummings, E. E. Tulips and Chimneys. New York: Thomas Seltzer, 1923.
 No. 20 (15 December 1923), 3. M.B.
- 15. Davis, Phil Richard. Purple Plectron. Chicago: Covici- Mc-Gee, 1923.
 - 1, No. 9 (1 July 1923), 10. Rene D'Or.
- 16. Dostoievskii, Fedor. The Friend of the Family and An Honest Thief, tr. Constance Garnett. New York: Macmillan Co., 1923.

1, No. 12 (15 August 1923), 2, 3. Remy D'Or.

- 17. East, Edward M. Mankind at the Crossroads. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.
 1, No. 18 (15 November 1923), 1, 5. R.C.
- 18. Eliot, T. S. The Waste Land. New York: Boni & Liveright, 1922.

1, No. 5 (1 May 1923), 7. Rene D'Or.

- Ellis, Havelock. The Dance of Life. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1923.
 No. 10 (15 July 1923), 3. Remy D'Or.
- 20. Fishman, Joseph. Crucibles of Crime. New York: Cosmopolis Press, 1922.

1, No. 7 (1 June 1923), 1. Rene D'Or.

- 21. Fitzgerald, F. Scott. The Vegetable. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.
 1, No. 7 (1 June 1923), 7. Rene D'Or.
- 22. Gale, Zona. Faint Perfume. New York: D. Appleton & Co., 1923.

1, No. 8 (15 June 1923), 3. Rene D'Or.

 Galsworthy, John. The Burning Spear. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.
 No. 6 (15 May 1923), 1. Rene D'Or.
24. _____. Captures. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.

1, No. 18 (15 November 1923), 7. R.C.

- 25. Gerhardi, William. *Futility*, pref. by Edith Wharton. New York: Duffield & Co., 1922.
 1, No. 5 (1 May 1923), 7. Rene D'Or.
- 26. Gerould, Katherine Fullerton. Conquistador. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.
 1, No. 6 (15 May 1923), 7. Rene D'Or.
- 27. Goncourt, Rémy de. The Horses of Diomedes, tr. C. Sartoris. Boston: John W. Luce & Co., 1922.
 1, No. 7 (1 June 1923), 1. Rene D'Or.
- Gourmont, Rémy de. Decadence, tr. William Aspenwall Bradley. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1921.
 1, No. 10 (15 July 1923), 2, 3. Remy D'Or.
- 29. _____. Very Woman, tr. J. L. Barrets. New York: Nicholas L. Brown, 1922; and The Virgin Heart, tr. Aldous L. Huxley. New York: Nicholas L. Brown, 1921.
 1, No. 10 (15 July 1923), 3, 10. Remy D'Or.
- Grudin, Louis. Charlatan. New York: Lieber & Louis, 1923.
 No. 18 (15 November 1923), 3. M.B.
- 31. Hansen, Harry. Midwest Portraits. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1923.
 1, No. 17 (1 November 1923), 1, 2. Remy D'Or.
- 32. Hauptmann, Gerart. *Phantom*, tr. Bayard Quincy Morgan. New York: B. W. Heubsch, 1922.
 1, No. 8 (15 June 1923), 3. Rene D'Or.
- 33. Hughes, Rupert. Within These Walls. New York: Harper & Brothers, 1923.
 1, No. 7 (1 June 1923), 1, 7. Rene D'Or.
- Hulme, T. E. Speculations, ed. Herbert Read, foreword by Jacob Epstein. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1924.
 No. 7 (1 June 1924), 10. Jerome Shoenfeld.
- 35. Huysmans, J. K. Down There, tr. Keene Wallis. New York: Albert & Charles Boni, 1924.
 2, No. 3 (1 April 1924), 1, 2.

36. Jenison, Madge. The Sunwise Turn. New York: E. P. Dutton & Co., 1923.
1, No. 13 (1 September 1923), 5. Remy D'Or.

The Chicago Literary Times

- 37. Josey, Charles Conant. Race and National Solidarity. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.
 1, No. 16 (15 October 1923), 1, 3.
- 38. Kelley, Edith Summers. Weeds. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1923.
 1, No. 19 (1 December 1923), 3. M.B.
- 39. Mayer, Edwin Justus. A Preface to Life. New York: Boni & Liveright, 1923.
 1, No. 18 (15 November 1923), 3. M.B.
- 40. Millay, Edna St. Vincent. The Harp Weaver. New York: Harper & Brothers, 1923.
 1, No. 22 (15 January 1924), 1, 3. Remy D'Or.
- 41. Moore, George. In Single Strictness. New York: Boni & Liveright, 1922.
 1, No. 14 (15 September 1923), 8. Remy D'Or.
- 42. Newton, H. Chance. *The Old Vic.* London: Fleetway Press, 1923.
 - . 1, No. 12 (15 August 1923), 3. Remy D'Or.
- 43. O'Brien, Howard Vincent. Trodden Gold. Boston: Little, Brown & Co., 1923.
 1, No. 6 (15 May 1923), 1. Rene D'Or.
- 44. Oppenheim, James. Golden Bird: Poems. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1923.
 1, No. 6 (15 May 1923), 1. Rene D'Or.
- 45. Paul, Eliott H. Impromptu. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1923.

1, No. 9 (1 July 1923), 2. Rene D'Or.

- 46. Petronius Arbiter. The Satyricon, tr. J. M. Mitchell. New York: E. P. Dutton & Co., 1923.
 1, No. 18 (15 November 1923), 3. R.C.
- 47. Phelps, William Lyon. As I Like It. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.
 1, No. 18 (15 November 1923), 4. R.C.

- 48. Pirandello, Luigi. Each in His Own Way, tr. Arthur Livingston. New York: E. P. Dutton & Co., 1923.
 1, No. 22 (15 January 1924), 3.
- 49. Santayana, George. Skepticism and Animal Faith. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.
 1, No. 8 (15 June 1923), 1, 3. Rene D'Or.
- 50. Schnitzler, Arthur. Dr. Graesler, tr. E. C. Slade. New York: Thomas Seltzer, 1923.
 2, No. 1 (1 March 1924), 4.
- Sergel, Roger L. Arlie Gelston. New York: B. W. Huebsch, 1923.
 1, No. 14 (15 September 1923), 3, 8. Remy D'Or.
- 52. Sherman, Stuart P. The Genius of America. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1923.
 1, No. 6 (15 May 1923), 1, 7. Rene D'Or.
- 53. Sinclair, Upton. The Goose-Step. Pasadena, Ca.: Upton Sinclair, 1922.
 1, No. 8 (15 June 1923), 3. Rene D'Or.
- 54. _____. The Goslings. Pasadena, Ca.: Upton Sinclair, 1924.
 2, No. 1 (1 March 1924), 1, 2.
- 55. Smith, Wallace. The Little Tigress. New York: G. P. Putnam's Sons, 1923.
 1, No. 16 (15 October 1923), 1.
- 56. Starrett, Vincent. Buried Caesars. Chicago: Covici-McGee, 1923.
 1, No. 18 (15 November 1923), 2.
- 57. Stein, Gertrude. Geography and Plays, pref. by Sherwood Anderson. Boston: Four Seas Co., 1922.
 1, No. 9 (1 July 1923), 2. Rene D'Or.
- Stevens, Ashton. Actorviews. Chicago: Covici-McGee, 1923.
 1, No. 18 (15 November 1923), 1, 2.
- 59. Stevens, Wallace. Harmonium. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1923.
 - 1, No. 21 (1 January 1924), 7. M.B.

60. Towne, Charles Hanson. The Rise and Fall of Prohibition. New York: Macmillan Co., 1923.
1, No. 13 (1 September 1923), 5. Remy D'Or.

The Chicago Literary Times

- 61. Webb, Sidney and Beatrice. The Decay of Capitalistic Civilization. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1923.
 1, No. 14 (15 September 1923), 8. Remy D'Or.
- 62. Werner, M. R. Barnum. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1923.
 1, No. 8 (15 June 1923), 1. Rene D'Or.
- 63. Williams, William Carlos. GO GO. New York: Monroe Wheeler, 1923.
 1, No. 8 (15 June 1923), 3, 5. Rene D'Or.
- 64. Wood, Clement. The Tide Comes In. New York: E. P. Dutton & Co., 1923.
 1, No. 10 (15 July 1923), 3. Remy D'Or.
- 65. Woolf, Virginia. Jacob's Room. New York: Harcourt, Brace & Co., 1923.
 1, No. 5 (1 May 1923), 7. Rene D'Or.
- 66. Wylie, Elinor. Jennifer Lorn. New York: George H. Doran Co., 1923.
 2, No. 4 (15 April 1924), 2. Rene D'Or.
 - Illinois State University

NOTES

- 1. Bernard Duffey, The Chicago Renaissance in American Letters: A Critical History, 2nd ed. (East Lansing: Michigan State University Press, 1956), p. 254. The last issue of The Chicago Literary Times is actually dated 1 June 1924.
- 2. Ben Hecht, A Child of the Century (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1954), p. 327.
- 3. The reviews as published usually carried only names of books and authors and retail prices. I have supplied data to complete these entries in standard bibliographical format.

ANNUAL BIBLIOGRAPHY OF MIDWESTERN LITERATURE: 1980

Editors: ROBERT BEASECKER AND DONALD PADY

Bibliographers: Clarence A. Andrews, University of Iowa; Robert Beasecker, Grand Valley State College; Michael D. Butler, University of Kansas; Mary Ellen Caldwell, University of North Dakota; B. Donald Grose, University of Missouri; Rosalie Hewitt, Northern Illinois University; George C. Longest, Virginia Commonwealth University; Donald S. Pady, Iowa State University; Paul P. Somers, Jr., Michigan State University; Lynne Waldeland, Northern Illinois University.

This bibliography includes primary and secondary sources of Midwestern literary genres published, for the most part, in 1980. Criteria for inclusion of authors are birth or residence in the Midwest; fiction with Midwesten locales are included irrespective of their author's ties with this region. Citations which begin with an author's name in parentheses are writing *about* that particular author.

Citations for poetry, novels, short stories, etc. — as well as critical articles about them — should be sent to this bibliography's editors: Robert Beasecker, Grand Valley State College Library, Allendale, Michigan 49401, and for computerized literature searches, Donald Pady, Iowa State University Library, Ames, Iowa 50011. The editors and the bibliographic committee continually seek names and addresses of living Midwestern writers and poets, and readers are encouraged to submit names of individuals whose works could appear in future editions of this bibliography. Persons interested in becoming members of the bibliographic committee should address queries to the editors.

* * *

New periodicals are listed here which first appeared usually in 1980 and in some way relate to Midwestern literature, either by content or locale. Descriptive notes follow each entry. Those entries marked with an asterisk have not been examined by the editor.

- *Helicon Nine. Vol. 1-(Spring/Summer 1979-), 3 issues per year, \$14 per year. editor? Six Petticoat Lane, Kansas City, Missouri 64106.
 "A journal of women's arts and letters."
- Little Balkans Review. Vol. 1-(Fall 1980-), 4 issues per year, \$10 per year. Gene DeGruson, Shelby Horn, Stephen Robbins and Ted Watts, editors; 601 Grandview Heights Terrace, Pittsburg, Kansas 66762.
 - This little magazine has the subtitle, "a Southeast Kansas Literary and Graphics Quarterly;" publishes fiction, non-fiction, poetry and art.
- •Midwest Poetry Review. Vol. 1-(July 1980-), frequency? price? Carl Stach, editor; P.O. Box 359, Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53081.

Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980

- Milkweek Chronicle. Vol. 1-(Winter 1980-), 3 issues per year, \$6 per year. Emilie Buchwald, editor; P.O. Box 24303, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55424. Subtitled "a Journal of Poetry and Graphics," this tabloid also publishes essays and commentaries in all forms of the arts.
- North Country Folk. Vol. 1-(December 1980-), 4 issues per year, \$10 per year. Philip Kucera, editor, P.O. Box 189, Ironwood, Michigan 49938. The Publication of a volunteer organization dedicated to the preservation and expression of the folk arts in the Upper Great Lakes Region."
- Theaterwork. Vol. 1-(November-December 1980-), 6 issues per year, \$5 per year. Dave Hage, Karen McCall, David Olson and Frank Sherman, editors; 406 South Third Street, St. Peter, Minnesota 56082.

Publishes articles and interviews on the Minnesota and national scene in theater; also some local poetry.

Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980

ADARS, PAULINE SEE THORNION, EMMA S. (ADE, george.), Shall town chicagd: The Conic perspective OF Finley Peter Dunne, george Ade, AND RING LARDNER, BY DE MUTH, JAMES, (BIDGRAPHY), (CRITICISH) PORT WASHINGTON, NY KENNIKAT PRESS. 1980. ADKINS, CARL A. THE SILENCE OF RECOGNITION. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (SUMMERER 1980), 91.

ADORJAN, CARDL MADDEN. DO-NDTHING DAY. (SHORT FICTION) ST ANTHONY'S MESSENGER, 87 (APRIL 1980), 40-44. ALBERTS, FRANCES JACOBS. SOME TALES OF THE NEBRASKA SOD HOUSE COMMUNITY, 1870-1920.

(HEBRASKA) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (SPRING 1980), 99-106. Albrecht, W. P. RDAD Signs, (PDETRY) Living Church, 181 (28 December 1980), 13.

ALBRECHT, W. P. THE BEACH. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 166, (Algren, Nelson.). First Person America. By Banks, Ann (Editor). (Short Fiction) New York: KNOPE, 1980.

(ALGREN, NELSON.). HOW "NOWHERE, USA" (IOHA CITY) BECAME THE "PARNASSUS OF AMERICAN WRITING". By Decman, Janes P. (Biography) des Molnes Sunday Register, September 28, 1980, 3C. (Algren, Melson). Maglel's Bioliography of Literary Criticism. By Maglil. Frank.

(ALGREN, NELSON.). MAGILL'S BIBLIOGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBLIOGRAPHY).(GRITICISH) ENGLEWODD CLIFFS, NJ: SALEN PRESS, 1970. (ALGREN, NELSON.). THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKOVITZ, JERDWE. (CRITICISM) AMES IAI IONA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. ALLADI. UMA K SEE HEMINGWAY, ERNEST. ALLEN, NICHAEL. TOMATOES; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--PDENS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES 3(4), 1980. 9. ANDERSON. DAVID D SEE BROKTELD, LOUIS. ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE BROKTELD, LOUIS.

ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE ANDERSON, SAHUEL LANGANGHORNE. ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE CLEMENS, SAHUEL LANGANGHORNE. ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE BELLOW, SAUL. ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE BOLL, FLOYD. ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE BODFFIELD, LOUIS. ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE BADFFIELD, LOUIS.

ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE ANDERSON, SHERWOOD.

ANDERSON, DAVIO D SEE ANDERSON, SHERVOOD Anderson, David D See Stone, Melville e.

ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE DRAKE, DANIEL, HD. ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE DONNELLY, IGNATIUS.

ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE ANDERSON, SHERVOOD, Anderson, David D. Ny grandfather's friend; pictures of life; contrail, (poetry) in other SCHOLARLY WAYS.#EAST LANSING, MI: YEARS PRESS, 1980, 4-5. ANDERSON, DAVID D. MICHIGAN PROLETARIAN WRITERS AND THE GREAT DEPRESSION.(MICHIGAN).

(CRITICISM), A HALF CENTURY AGO: MICHIGAN IN THE GREAT DEPRESSION; SYMPOSIUM PROCEEDINGS, EAST LANSING, MI: MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY, 1980, 118-141.

ANDERSON. DAVID D. THE MIDWESTERN TOWN IN MIDWESTERN FICTION. (CRITICISM) MIDAMERICA VI. (1979), 27-43.

(1979), 27-93. (ANDERSON, SHERWOOD), SHERWOOD ANDERSON AND THE SEVEN ARTS. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D. (CRITICISH) SSHL NEWSLETTER, 10(1), SPRING 1980, 18-30. (ANDERSON, SHERWOOD), THE PROSE STYLE OF SELECTED WORKS BY ERNEST HEMINGWAY, SHERWOOD ANDERSON, AND GERIRUDE STEIN, BY ARDAT, AMMAD K. (CRITICISM) STYLE, 14 (WINTER 1980).

1-21 -(ANDERSON, SHERWOOD.). SHERWOOD ANDERSON AND JAMES JOYCE. BY CURRY, MARTHA. (CRITICISM)

AMERICAN LITERATURE, 52 (WAY 1980), 236-49. (Anderson, Sherwood.). Of time and Winesburg, Chio: an experiment in Chronology. By White. RAY LEWIS, (CRITICISH) MODERN FICTION STUDIES, 25 (WINTER 1979-80), 658-66. (Anderson, Sherwood.), t s eliot. Wynoham Lewis and Sherwood Anderson. By Tomlin, e w F.

(CRITICISM) NOTES AND QUERIES, 27 (JUNE 1980), 237-38. (ANDERSON, SHERMQOD.). GENDER RECONSIDERATIONS IN THREE SHERMODD ANDERSON NOVELS. BY LADENSON. JOYCE R. (CRITICISM) MASSACHUSETIS STUDIES IN ENGLISH. 6 (SPRING 1970), 90-103. (ANDERSON, SHERWDOD.). MAGILL'S BIBLIDGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL. FRANK.

(BIBLIOGRAPHY), (CRITICISM) ENGLEWODD CLIFFS, NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1979. (ANDERSON, SHERWODD.). "FROM EAST-SIDE TO SOUTH-SIDE WITH LOVE:" THE FRIENDSHIP OF SHERWOOD

NIDWESTERN MISCELLANY VII, 1979, 41-55. (ANDERSON, SHERWOOD.). MYTH AND THE HIDWESTERN LANDSCAPE: SHERWOOD ANDERSON'S MID-AMERICAN

(ANDERSON, SHERWOOD.). FOLK ETHICS AND THE VILLAGE TALE: WINESBURG. OHIO AND BERDICHEVSKY JEWISH UKRAINE, BY WALDINGER, ALBERT, (CRITICISM) SSML NEWSLETTER, 10(1), SPRING

(ANDERSON, SHERWOOD.). SHERWOOD ANDERSON'S MANY MARRIAGES: A MODEL OF THE MOST PERILOUS

JOURNEY. BY KLEIN, MIA. (CRITICISM) MIDAMERICA VII. (1980), 96-107.

(ANDERSON, SHERWODD.). HIDWESTERN WRITERS AND THE MYTH OF THE SEARCH. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D. (CRITICISH) GEORGIA REVIEW, 34 (SPRING 1980), 131-43. (ANDERSON, SHERWODD.). THE LITLE REVIEW AND SHERWODD ANDERSON. BY ANDERSON. DAVID D.

(PUBLISHING), (CRITICISM) MIDWESTERN MISCELLANY VIII, (1980), 28-38, (FLOYD DELL), (CHICAGO) . (ILLINGIS).

(ANDERSON, SHERWOOD.). SHERWOOD ANDERSON'S "ADVENTURE": AN APPRECIATION. BY CARABINE, KEITH-(CTIICISNI SSML NEWSLETTER, JOLI), SPRING 1980, 1-12, ANDERSON, VAN. HORIZON NOTE. (POETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW, 2(3), 1980, 386, ANDERSON, DAVID D SEE FIELD, EUGENE, ANDREWS, CLARENCE A SEE GARLAND, HAMLIN.

(ANDREWS, CLARENCE A.). IOWA'S LITERARY CURATOR. BY ANDREWS, TERRY, (CRITICISM).(BIOGRAPHY) IOWAN, 29 (WINTER 1980), 44-45.

ANDREWS, LARRY R SEE BROOKS, GWENDOLYN. ANDREWS, TERRY SEE ANDREWS, CLARENCE A. ANDREWS, WILLIAM L SEE CHESNUTT, CHARLES WADDELL.

ANTLER. (NO GIVEN NAME). FACTORY. (PDETRY) SAN FRANCISCO. CA: CITY LIGHTS PRESS, 1980. ANTLER: (NO GIVEN NAME). REBECCA FALLS NESCALINE EPIPHANY. (POETRY) BLAKE TIMES, 1 (APRIL 1980). 100.

ANTLER. (NO GIVEN NAME). FOR THOSE WHO NO LONGER GO ANNH. (PDETRY) JUMP RIVER REVIEW. 1 (MARCH 1980). 60.

APPLEMAN, PHILIP. EAST HAMPTON: THE STRUCTURE OF SAMUEL. (POETRY) NEW YORK: POEMS, EDITED BY

APPLEMANN PHILIP, EAST MARFION, THE STRUCTURE OF SAMUELA (FUGINT) NEW TORK, FOUND (DATA H NOSS, NEW YORK: AVON, 1980, Appleman, Philip, Memo to the 21st century; in the Land Locked Heart--Poems From Indiana. (Poetry) centering 5--Indiana Writes 3(4), 1980, 12. Appleman, Philip, Sexual Selection: State of Nature. (Pdetry) Kentucky Review, 16 (1980).

18-21. ARDAY, AHMAD K SEE ANDERSON, SHERWOOD.

ANDERSON AND PAUL ROSENFELD. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D. (CRITICISM), (BIOGRAPHY) CHANTS. BY GREASLEY, PHILIP. (CRITICISM) NIDAMERICA VI. (1979), 79-87. (ANDERSON, SHERWODD,). SHERWODD ANDERSON'S DEATH IN THE WODDS: TOWARD A NEW REALISM, BY FERGUSON. MARY ANNE, (CRITICISM) NIDAMERICA VII. (1980), 73-95.

1980. 35-43.

152

- ARNETT, CARROLL. IN THE SUPERMARKET; ULINAWI, (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 28-29.
- (ARNOV, HARRIETTE.), HARRIETTE ARNOW: ANN ARBOR'S MOST ACCLAIMED NOVELIST, AUTHOR OF THE DOLLMAKER. SHUNS THE LITERARY SCENE. BY SILBERMAN, EYE. (CRITICISH). (BIDGRAPHY) ANN ARBOR OBSERVER, (MARCH 1980), 37-41.

ATLAS. NARILYN J SEE LEWIS. SINCLAIR.

ATLAS, MARILYN JUDITH SEE THDMAS, F RICHARD. Atlas, Marilyn Judith See Norrison, Toni. Atlas, Marilyn Judith See Head, Cloyd.

ATLAS, MARILYN JUDITH SEE CLEYRE, VOLTAIRINE DE.

- AUGUST. JO SEE HEMINGWAY. ERNEST.
- AUTHOR. ANONYMOUS SEE HARING. CYNTHIA.
- BAILEY, CHARLES, THE OLO ONES; INDIAN ARMS. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 3-4. Baker, Larry, 28 Hours in an open boat. By Stephen Crame. (Short fiction) georgia Review, 34 (Fall 1980), 559-588.
- BANDY, FRANKLIN, THE BLACKSTOCK AFFAIR. (NOVEL) INDINAPOLIS, IN: CHARTER, 1980+ (DHIG), (MYSTERY-DETECTION).
- BANKS, ANN (EDITOR) SEE BELLOW, SAUL. BANKS, ANN (EDITOR) SEE ALGREN, NELSON.

BANKS: ANN (EDITOR) SEE CONRDY, JACK. BARBARA; JACK Y SEE BERRYPAN, JOHN.

- BARGEN, DORIS G SEE ELKIN, STANLEY. Bargen, Doris G see Elkin, Stanley. Barnés, Jin. The Fish on Poteau Mountain. (Poetry) Champaign: University of Illindis Press, 1980.
- BARNES, JIN. THIS CRAZY LAND. (PDETRY) TEMPE, ARIZONA: INLAND BOAT--PORCH PUBLICATIONS, 1980. BARNETS SINE INTO CHAIT LANGE (POETRY) TERPE ANTIONE INLAND DUALT-PORCH POLICATIONS, 196 BARNSTONE, WILLIS. THE STANKER; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES 3(4), 1980, 13. BARDNE, PATRICIA. RETRIEVAL. (PDETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW, 2(3), 1980, 351-52. BARRETT, CAROL. TOUCHSTONE; ESCAPE FROM KANSAS. (PDETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLYAL2 (SPRING 1980).
- 23-24.
- BARTON, DEL. A GOOD DAY TO DIE. (NOVEL) GARDEN CITY, NY: DOUBLEDAY, 1980, (DAKOTA TERRITORY). BASCON, GEORGE, AUGUST DAWN FOR M.R. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 45. Bates, Betty. Picking up the pieces. (Juvenile Fiction) New York: Holiday House, 1980.
- BAUER, MARION DANE, TANGLED BUTTERFLY, (NOVEL) NEW YORK: HOUGHTON NIFFLIN--CLARION BOOKS 1980, (APOSTLE ISLANDS, MINNESDTA), (MINNESDTA).

BEASECKER, ROBERT AND PADY, DONALD S. ANNUAL BIGLIDGRAPHY OF MIDWESTERN LITERATURE: 1978. (BIBLIDGRAPHY) MIDAMERICA VII. (1980), 193-218.

BELL, ELEANOR, REQUIEM FOR MICHAEL-STILLBORN; SPRING HAIKU, (POETRY) INSCAPE 7(2), 1980. Bell, Eleandra, Flights Through Inner Space. (Pdetry) topeka, KS: Bob Woddley Henorial Press,

- BELL, REBECCA AND SEVERIN, C SHERMAN, FEELINGS. (POETRY) CEDAR FALLS, IA: CSS PUBLICATIONS,
- BELL, REBECCA AND SEVERIN. C SHERMAN. MOMENTS IN TIME. (POETRY) CEDAR FALLS. IA: CSS PUBLICATIONS, 1980.
- (BELLOW, SAUL.). FIRST PERSON AMERICA. BY BANKS, ANN (EDITOR). (SHORT FICTION) NEW YORK: KNODE, 1980.
- (BELLOW, SAUL.). MIDWESTERN WRITERS AND THE MYTH OF THE SEARCH. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D. (CRITICISM) GEORGIA REVIEW, 34 (SPRING 1980), 131-43. (Bellow, Saul.). Saul Bellow, Drumlin Woudchuck. By Harris, Mark. (Criticism),(Biography)
- ATHENS: UNIVERSITY DF GEORGIA PRESS, 1980. (BELLOW, SAUL.). SAUL BELLOW, SOREN KIERKEGAARD AND THE QUESTION OF BOREDOM. BY PINSKER.
- SANFORD. (CRITICISM) CENTENNIAL REVIEW. 24 (WINTER 1980), 118-25. (Bellow, Saul.). Social Stratification in Mr Sammler's Planet, by Kumar, P Shiv. (Criticism)
- LITERARY MALF-YEARLY, 21 (JULY 1980), 53-67. (BELLOW, SAUL.). THE FLIGHT FROM WOMEN IN THE FICTION OF SAUL BELLOW, BY MCCADDEN, JOSEPH F.
- (RITICISM) LANHAM, NDI UNIVERSITY PRESS OF AMERICA, 1980. (Bellow, SAUL.), THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKOWITZ, JEROME. (CRITICISM) AMES, IA: IDWA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS. 1980.
- (BELLOW, SAUL.). WITH BELLOW IN CHICAGO. BY MIYGANG, HERBERT, (INTERVIEW) NEW YORK TIMES BOOK
- REVIEW, 85 (6 JULY 1980), 23. BENNEIT, JOHN F. FIRE IN THE DUST. (POETRY) HOUGHTON, NY: HOUGHTON COLLEGE PRESS, 1980.
- BENNETT, JOHN F. ON THE ENERGY'S HATRED OF THOUGHT AND BEING; MIDNIGHT IN SINISTER STREET; ON The UNION OF THE SOUL WITH GOD; ON VOYAGES. (POETRY) ANGLICAN THEOLOLOGICAL REVIEW,
- 62 (APRIL 1980), 121-23.
- BENNETT, JOHN M AND MEHRL, C. PUMPED GRAVEL. (PDETRY) COLUMBUS, OH: LUNA BISONTE PRODUCTIONS. 1980. BENNETT, JOHN H. BLANK WALL. (POETRY) WOODINVILLE, WA: LAUGHING BEAR PRESS, 1980.

- BENNETT, JOHN M. JERKS. (POETRY) VODDINVILLE, MA: LAUGHING BEAR PRESS, 1980. BENNETT, JOHN M. JERKS. (POETRY) VODDINVILLE, MA: LAUGHING BEAR PRESS, 1980. BENNETT, JOHN M. MAIN ROADS. (POETRY) COLUMBUS, OH: LUNA BISONTE PRODUCTIONS, 1980. BENNETT, JOHN M. MOTEL MODOS. (POETRY) COLUMBUS, OH: LUNA BISONTE PRODUCTIONS, 1980.

- BENNETT, JOHN M. NIPS POEMS. (POETRY) COLUMBUS, OH: LUNA BISONTE PRODUCTIONS, 1980. BENNETT, JOHN N. PUKING HORSE. (PDETRY) COLUMBUS, OH: LUNA BISONTE PRODUCTIONS, 1980.
- BENSON, PETER SEE BRIGHAW, JOHNSON. BENSON, PETER SEE BRIGHAW, JOHNSON. BENYENUTD, JOYCE, THE MDREL HUNTERS, (PDETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 5.
- BERRSON, LEE, ANAY FROM HOMEL HOWTENS, (DUEINT) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, & (SUMMER 1080). BERRSON, LEE, ANAY FROM HOMEL (POETRY) PEORIA. IL: SPOID RIVER PRESS, 1980. (BERDICHEVSKY, MIKHA YOSEF.). FOLK ETHICS AND THE VILLAGE TALE: WINESBURD, OHIO AND BERDICHEVSKY JEWISH UKRAINE. BY WALDINGER, ALBERT. (CRITICISM) SSML NEWSLETTER. 10(1). SPRING 1980, 35-43.
- BERES, MICHAEL. DEATH OF A COMMUTER. (SHORT FICTION) NICHIGAN QUARTERLY REVIEW, 19-20 (FALL 1980--WINTER 1981), 717-22.
- 1980-*WINTER 19813, 717-22. BERROVE, LAURENCE I SEE CLEWENS, SANUEL. BERRY, ELEANOR. THE FEEL OF YOUR LIFE. (PDETRY) SACKBUT REVIEW, NG. 7 (SPRING 1980), 10, (BERRYKAN, JDINS). A PROFILE OF JOHN BERRYMAN, BY KOSTELANETZ, RICHARD, (BIOGRAPHY), (CRITICISM) AMERICAN PDETRY REVIEW, 9(6), (NGVEMBER-DECEMBER 1980), 39-43.
- (BERRYMAN, JOHN.). BERRYMAN'S "DREAM SONG 110". BY BARBARA, JACK V. (CRITICISH) EXPLICATOR: 38 (SPRING 1980). 29-31.
- 38 (SPRING 1980), 29-31. (BERRYMAN, JONN.), JONN BERRYMAN, A CRITICAL COMMENTARY. BY MAFFENDEN, JOHN., (CRITICISM) NEW YORK: NEW YORK UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. (BERRYMAN, JOHN.), MAGILL'S BIBLIOGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBLIOGRAPHY), (CRITICISM) ENGLEWOOD CLIFFS, NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1979. BEUM, ROBERT. STACK TONES. (POETRY) SOUTHERN REVIEW. 16 (SPRING 1980), 424. BIFP. JESSE SFF CLEMENS. SAMURI L.

BIER, JESSE SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. BIER, JESSE SEE HEMINGWAY, ERNEST.

(BIERCE, ANBROSE.). BEHIND THE BITTERNESS: AMBROSE BIERCE IN TEXT AND CONTEXT. BY BRAZIL, John R. (Criticismi American Literary Realism, 1870-1910, 13 (Autumn 1980), 225-37. Bily-Hurd, Michael, Linguistic Backwash. (Poetryi Kansas Quarterly, 12 (Winter 1980), 134. Bijerregaard, Kevin. The Sealed Box. (Poetry) Kansas Quarterly, 12 (Winter 1980), 134. BLACKWELL, RONNIE. ON READING OF THE DEATH OF AN OLD FRIEND. (PDETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980), 6-7. BLAKE, SUSAN & SEE MORRISON. TONI. BLARE, SUSAN & SEE NUMHISUM, IUMI. BLOSSON, LAVINA, MEDICAL REPORT: ROOFING. (PGETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, & (SUMMER 1980), 8-10. BLY, ROBERT, TALKING ALL MORNING. (PGETRY) ANN ARBOR, MI: UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN PRESS, 1980. BLY, ROBERT, THE ROUGH-BARKED COTTONWOOD. (PGETRY) GEORGIA REVIEW. 34 (WINTER 1980), 751. 8LY, ROBERT. THE ROUGH-BARKED COITONWOOD. FDUEINY GEURGIA REFIGNES OF MAERICA LYGUN, 1914 (BLY, ROBERT.). AND "NONHERE, USA" (IOWA CITY) BECAME THE "PARNASSUS OF AMERICAN WRITING". BY DEGNAN, JAMES P. (BIUGRAPHY) DES MOINES SUNDAY REGISTER. SEPTEMBER 28. 1980, 3C. (BLY, ROBERT.). MAGILL'S BIBLIOGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL. FRANK. (BIBLIOGRAPHY). (CRITICISM) ENGLEWODD CLIFFS. NJ: SALEM FREGS. 1970. (BLY, ROBERT.). PW INTERVIEWS: ROBERT BLY. BY HOLT. PATRICIA. (INTERVIEWS), (CRITICISM) PUBLISHERS WEEKLY, 217 (MAY 9, 1980), 10-11. FUBLISHERS WEEKLY, 217 (MAY 9, 1980), 10-11. (BLY, ROBERT.), THE RHEIGRIC OF THE CONTEMPORARY LYRIC. BY HOLDEN, JONATHAN. (CRITICISH), (POETRY) BLODMINGTON, IN: INDIANA UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. BOELID, BOB. A LITERARY TOUR OF MICHIGAN. (LITERARY HISTORY) CHRONICLE: THE MAGAZINE OF THE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF MICHIGAN, 8 (SPRING 1980), 18-22. BOGEN, DON SEE ROETHKE, THEODORE. (BOURLAILY, VANCE.), MAGILL'S BIBLIDGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBLIGGRAPHY), (CRITICISN) ENGLEWOOD CLIFFS, NJI SALEM PRESS, 1979. BUWDEN, JAMES H. AT THE SPA. (PDETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 122. BOYLE, KAY. FIFTY STORIES. (SHORT FICTION) GARDEN CITY. NY: DOUBLEDAY. 1980. (Boyle, Kay.). Addenda to the biblidgraphies of boyle, conrad. De forest. Eliot, ford. HENINGWAY, HUXLEY, WHARTON, AND WOLF, BY MGNTEIRO, GEORGE. (BIBLIOGRAPHIES) PAPERS of the Bibliographical Society of America, 74 (April-June 1980), 153-55. (BOYLE, KAY.), PW INTERVIEWS KAY BOYLE, BY HOLT, PATRICIA. (INTERVIEWS), (BIOGRAPHY). (CRITICISM) PUBLISHERS WEEKLY, 218 (17 OCTOBER 1980), 8-9. LUKIILIAN FORLANERS WERKIN 210 11/ ULIVER 1900, 0 0, 0 Borle, I Corachessan, descent of Man: Stories (Fiction) Key Vork: Knopf, 1980, Bradbury, Ray., The Stories of Ray Bradbury. (Short Fiction) New York: Knopf, 1980, (Bradbury, Ray.), Ray Bradbury, By Johnson, Wayne L. (Criticish) New York: Frederick Ungar. 1980. (BRADBURY, RAY.). THE FICTION OF RAY BRADBURY: UNIVERSAL THEMES IN MIDWESTERN SETTINGS. BY LINKFIELD, THOMAS P. (CRITICISM).(SCIENCE FICTION) MIDWESTERN MISCELLANY VIII, 1980, 94-101. BRADSHAW, JAMES STANFORD SEE LEWIS, CHARLES M. BRANCH, EDGAR MARQUESS SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. BRAZIL, JOHN R SEE BIERCE, AMBROSE. (IOWA).(DES HOINES, IOWA). BRODSKY, LOUIS DANIEL. EASTER FLOOD. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 53. (BROWFIELD, LOUIS.). LOUIS BROWFIELD'S WITH OF THE DHIO FRONTIER. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D.
 (CRITICISH) DLD NORTHWEST. & (SPRING 1980). 63-74.
 (BROWFIELD, LOUIS.). MIDWESTERN WRITERS AND THE WITH OF THE SEARCH. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D.
 (CRITICISH) GEORGIA REVIEW. 34 (SPRING 1980). 131-43. (BROCKS, GMENDOLYN.), SONGS AFTER SUNSET (1935-1936): THE UNPUBLISHED POETRY OF GMENDOLYN Elizabeth Brocks, by Stetson, Erlene, (Poetry) C L a Journal, 24 (September 1980). 67-96 (BRODKS, GWENDDLYN.). GWENDDLYN BRODKS. BY SHAW, HARRY B. (BIDGRAPHY) BOSTON: TWAYNE, 1980. (BROOKS, GWENDOLYN.). AMBIVALENT CLOTHES INAGERY IN GWENDOLYN BROOKS'S "THE SUNDAYS OF Satin-Legs Smith". By Andrews. Larry R. (Criticism) C L a Journal, 24 (December 19861. 150-63. BRDOKS, RANDY SEE ROSELIEP, RAYMOND. Brodks, Randy. Contemporary Haiku: Focus Midvest. (Pdetry) old Northwest. 6 (Spring 1980). 75-81. BROOKS, RANDY. FROM INDIANA CORN STUBBLE: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POENS FROM INDIANA (BRYANT, JOHN HOWARD.). THE POETRY OF JOHN HOWARD BRYANT. BY HALLWAS, JOHN E. (CRITICISH) MIDAMERICA VII, (1980), 27-39. BRYER, JACKSON R SEE FIIZGERALD, F SCOTT. Buchanan, Carl., Nime-year-old in Wichita With Corn. (Pdetry) Kansas Quarterly, 12 (Spring 1980), 12. Buetter, Shirley. Home brew; Night Festival. (Poetry) kansas quarterly, 12 (Spring 1980). 34-35. Buller, Galen. The Ogre's Call. (Poetry) Kansas Quarterly, 12 (Spring 1980), 98. Buller, Galen. The Ogre's Call. (Poetry) Kansas Quarterly, 12 (Spring 1980), 98. Bunch, Stephen. Dog Days; Harsh Climate. (Poetry) Yanderalı review. Spring 1980, 84. 93. Buns, Ralph. Marion County Home for Boys; in the Land Locked Heart--Poeks from Indiana. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, J(4), 1980, 14. Burns, Ralph. Worksong. (Poetry) Ninnesota Review, NS, 15 (Fall 1980), 20. BUGNS, RALPH, WORKSONG, (POETRY) NINNESOTA REVIEW, NS, 15 (FALL 1980), 20. BURNS, STUART L. WHORES GEFORE DESCARTES. (POETRY) DES MOINES, IA: WASH LAUNDERAN PRESS, 1980. BURTON, SHELLI, WULVES. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 11. BUSHEY, CHRISTINE, THE INVOCATION. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 12. BUTCHER, GRACE. SURVIVAL. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), BUTCHER, GRACE. SURVIVAL. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), BUTCHER, GRACE. SURVIVAL. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), BUTCHER, GRACE. SURVIVAL. (POETRY) NOV. 5 (FALL 1980). (BUTCHER, FRANCELIA. FOLK HUMOR IN THE STORIES OF ELLIS PARKER BUTLER. BY FOLKS, JEFFREY J. (HUMOR).(SHORT FICTION) TSFB. 45 (1975), 79-84. (NIDWEST). (NIDWEST).

(MIDWEST). BUTRICK, L, H. DANGERDUS TO YOUR HEALTH. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (SUMMER 1980), 123. BYRD, SANDRA. OF THE OCEAN. (POETRY) GEORGIA REVIEW, 34 (FALL 1980), 635. CADDY. JOHN. WHY GRANDFATHERS ARE GENTLER THAN THEIR SONS; TRAPLINE; DLD BACHELOR OFFERINGS; PASSAGE RITE! THE COLOR DF MESABI BONES; BOG SONG 2: EARLY DOG; THE RESTING PLACE; AUGUST IN THE SAWTDOTH MOUNTAINS. (POETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW, 2(3), 1980, 310-25.

CADY, JACK. THE WELL. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: ARBOR HOUSE, 1980. (MIDWEST).

- CAFFYN: LOIS P. UNSEEN. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY. 12 (SUMMER 1980), 62.
- CALL, CLARLES, THE THIRD HORE. (SHORT FICTION) KANASA GUARTERLY, 12 (SUMMER 1080), 73-85, CAMPION, DANIEL. COMING DUT OF HIBERNATION. (POETRY) INVISIBLE CITY, NOS 26-27 (1980), 27-CAMPION, DANIEL. RESPECTING OR AGASSIZ. (POETRY) CHOUTEAU REVIEW, 4(1) 1980, 30-
- CAMPION, DANIEL. SHOPWINDOW. (POETRY) TELEPHONE. NO 16 (FALL 1980). 45-

- CAMPION, DANIEL, SHUDFINDUR, (POEINT) IELEPONE, NO IS (PAEL 1990), 43-(AMPION, DANIEL, SHUDFINDUR, RETIRER STIRE HODN'S EMPTY SEASONS, (POEINY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 18-19. CAMPION, DANIEL, THE ENTRY OF JAMES ENSOR INTO NEW DRLEANS; FEAR OF FLYING; GETTING EVEN. (PDETRY) SYNCLINE, NOS 6-7 (1980), 48-52. CANTONI, LOUIS J. AGITATO; DOUBLE 8IND; SUPERHIGHMAY; THIRTY BELOY. (PDETRY) GUSTO, 3 (PDETRY) SYNCLINE, NOS 6-7 (1980), 48-52.
- (DECEMBER 1980), 20.
- CANTONI, LOUIS J. BALANCE; LONG LONG AGD. (PDETRY) HODERN INAGES, NO 50 (JULY-SEPTEMBER 1980). 7. 21.
- CANTONI, LDUIS J. BIRTHDAY. (POETRY) MODERN IMAGES, NO 48 (JANUARY-MARCH 1980), 13.
- CANTONI: LOUIS J. BLUE RIGGE PARKWAY: CLOUDSCAPE. (POETRY) NATIONAL CONGRESS OF GRGANIZATIONS OF THE PHYSICALLY HANDICAPPED BULLETIN, 7 (FIRST AND SECONO GUARTERS 1980), 3. CANTONI: LOUIS J. CARILLON: HE IS. (PDETRY) GUSTG, 2 (FEBRUARY 1980), 72.

- CARIONI, LUUIS J. CARILLUNI HE IS. (PDEINY) WUSIG, C REDMUART 1980; 22. CANTONI, LUUIS J. COMELINESS: LAMENT. (PDEINY) DATE AL CAST. 7(4) 1980; 60. CANTONI, LUUIS J. DIRECTIONS. (PDEINY) PDET, 21 (APRIL 1980). 58. CANTONI, LUUIS J. EARTH HOLDS A SPECIAL BEAUTY THE SECOND KIRACLE. (PDEINY) NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF THE PHYSICALLY HANDICAPPED NEWSLETTER. 8 (SUMMER 1980). 10-11. CANTONI, LUUIS J. ETENNITY BEGINSI VACANCY. (PDEINY) VUICES INTERNATIONAL. 18 (SPRING 1980). 31-32.
- JI-36. CANTORI, LOUIS J. FOR YOU, POPE JOHN PAUL II. (POETRY) PANCONTINENTAL PREMIER POETS, EDITED BY B F FALKDWSKI. CAMPBELL. CA: WORLD POETRY SOCIETY. 1980. 22. CANTONI, LOUIS J. LAMENT; TROTH. (POETRY) MODERN IMAGES, NO 49 (APRIL JUNE 1980), 12. 18. CANTONI, LOUIS J. LINKAGES; MANTIS RGMANCE. (POETRY) GUSTO, 3 (OCTOBER 1980), 69.
- CANTONI, LOUIS J. CINAGES, MANIS RUAANCE, (PDEINI) GUSID, J GUCIDDER 1980), 85, Andricapped Newsletter, 8 (Fall 1980), 4. Cantoni, Louis J. On Schedule, (Pdetry) Poet, 21 (August 1980), 22, Cantoni, Louis J. Pinse; Your Smile, (Pdetry) Modern Images, No 51 (October December 1980),

- CANTONI. LOUIS J. SILENT HYMNS. (POETRY) NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF THE PHYSICALLY HANDICAPPED NEWSLETTER, 8 (SPRING 1980), 14. CANTONI, LOUIS J. STILL LITTLE; SURVIVE. (POETRY) ALURA QUARTERLY, 5 (WINTER 1980-81), 6.

- CANTONI, LOUIS J. VIELDE LINCE, SOUTHA AD WEST, 16 (SPING SUMMER 1980), 18. CANTONI, LOUIS J. WITHIN ME. (POETRY) DENINGULA POETS, 35 (FOURTH QUARTER 1980), 6. CANTONI, LOUIS J. YESTERDAY. (POETRY) CONVERGENCE, EDITED BY H L CARSON, MUSKEGON, MI: POETRY SQCIETY OF NICHICAN, 1980, 62.

154

- SULIETY UF RICHIGAN, 1980, 024 CARABINE, KEITH SEE ANDERSON, SHERWOOD. CARREET, DAYID, DDUBLE NEGATIVE, (NOVEL) NEW YORK: DIAL, 1980, (INDIANA),(MYSTERY-DETECTION). CARRILE, WARREN. JOHN FREDERICK ALFREY, (POETRY) OCODCH MOUNTAIN NEWS, MAY 1980, CARRILL, JONATHAN, THE LAND DF LAUGHS. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: VIKING, 1980, (MISSDURI),(GALEN,
- HISSOURI).(SCIENCE FICTION).
- AISSUGALISSCIENCE FIGHUDAIS. CARBORH, HERBERT L. GREEK WARFIORS. (POETRY) CLASSICAL BULLETIN, NOVENNER 1980. CARBOR, HERBERT L. GO. CONVERGENCE: THE FORTY-FIFTH ANNIVERSARY ANTHOLOGY OF THE POETRY SOCIETY OF MICHIGAN. (POETRY) NUSKEGON, MIPDETRY SOCIETY OF MICHIGAN, 1980. CARTER, JARED. BRIDGE DVER YELLOW CAT; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--PDENS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES. 3(14), 1980. 52.
- CENTERING S--INDIANA WAITESS SUS, 1900, 52. CARTER, JARED. IN THE NORTH PASTURE! IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITESS 3(4), 1980, 51. CARTER, JARED. LANDING THE BEES. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 92. CARTER, JARED. WATCHING BY THE STREAM: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY)
- CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 48-50. (CARTWRIGHT, PETER.). THE LEGEND OF PETER CARTWRIGHT. BY HALLWAS, JOHN E. (CRITICISM)
- ILLINDIS QUARTERLY, 42 (1980), 5-11. (CATHER, WILLA.), MAGILL'S BIBLIDGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISN. BY MAGILL, FRANK.
- (BIBLIOGRAPHY). (CRITICISM) ENGLEWOOD CLIFFS. NJ: SALEN PRESS, 1979.
- (CATHER, WILLA.). ONLY ONE POINT OF THE COMPASS: WILLA CATHER IN THE NORTHEAST. BY BROWN. MARION MARSH AND CRONE, RUTH. (CRITICISH) DANBURY, CT: ARCHER EDITIONS. 1980. (BIOGRAPHY).
- (CATHER. WILLA.). THE PROFESSOR'S HOUSE AND LE MANNEQUIN D'OSIER: A NOTE ON WILLA CATHER'S NARRATIVE TECHNIQUE. BY SALO, ALICE BELL. (CRITICISH) SYUDIES IN AMERIVAN FICTION, B (1980), 229-31.
- (CATHER, WILLA.). WILLA CATHER'S ARISTOCRATS, PART II. BY YONGUE, PATRICIA LEE. (CRITICISM)
- SOUTHERN HUMANTIES REVIEW, 14(2), (SPRING 1000), 111-20. (CATHER, WILLA). WILLA CATHER'S CUTS AND REVISIONS IN THE SONG OF THE LARK. BY HEVECK, ROBIN AND WOODNESS. JOHN. (CRITICISH), ISDBLIOGRAPHY MODERN FICTION STUDIES, 25 (WINTER 1979-80), 651+58.
- (CATHER, WILLA.). WILLA CATHER'S CORRECTIONS IN THE TEXT OF DEATH COMES FOR THE ARCHBISHOP. 1927 TO 1945. BY CRANE, JOAN ST C. (BIBLIOGRAPHY) PAPERS OF THE BIBLIOGRAPHY SOCIETY OF AMERICA, 74 (APRIL-JUNE 1980), 117-31,
- (CATHER, WILLA,). WILLA CATHER'S ARISTOCRATS, PART I. BY YONGUE, PATRICIA LEE. (CRITICISH) Southern Humanities Review. 14(1) (Winter 1980), 43-56.
- (CATHERWOOD, MARY MARTWELL.). MARY MARTWELL CATHERWOOD'S DISGUISED MANOBOOK OF FEMINISM BY TREECE, PEGGY D. (CRITICISM) MIDWESTERN MISCELLANY VII (1979), 7-14. CCCIL, L MOFFIT SE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. CHANDLER, PETER, BUCKS. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: AVON. 1980, (CHICAGO), (MYSTERY-DETECTION).

- CHENETIER, MARC SEE LINDSAY, VACHEL. CHERONIS-SELZ, THALIA. A VIEW FROM THE TUMULUS. (SHORT FICTION) ASCENT, 5 (SPRING 1980). 16-19.
- CHERONIS-SEL2, THALIA. THE GREEK GARDEN. (SHORT FICTION) STORY QUARTERLY, 10 (SUMMER 1980). 30-40.
- CHERRY, KELLY, SDNGS FOR A SOVIET COMPOSER. (POETRY) ST. LOUIS, ND: SINGING WIND PRESS, 1980. (CHESNUTT, CHARLES WADDELL.). CHARACTER AND STRUCTURE IN CHARLES W. CHESNUTT'S THE MARROW OF TRADITION (1901). BY DELMAR, P JAY. (CRITICISM) AMERICAN LITERARY REALISM. 1870-1910.
- 13 (AUTUNN 1980), 284-69. (CHESNUTT, CHARLES WADDELL.). THE LITERARY CAREER OF CHARLES W. CHESNUTT. BY ANDREWS. WILLIAM
- L. (CRITICISM) BATON ROUGE: LOUISIANA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. (CHESNUTT, CHARLES WADDELL.). CHARLES W CHESNUTT, BY RENDER, SYLVIA LYONS, (BIOGRAPHY) BOSTON, RAS TWAYNE, 1980.
- MA: TWAYNE, 1980. (CHESAUTH: CHARLES WADDELL). ELEMENTS OF TRAGEDY IN CHARLES W CHESNUTT'S THE CONJURE WOMAN. BY DELMAR. P JAY. (CRITICISMI C L A JOURNAL, 23 (JUME 1980). ASI-59. 3 CHESNUT: CHARLES WADDELL). MAGILL'S BIBLIGGRAPH V PLITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL. FRANK. (BIBLIGGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) ENGLEWOOD CLIFFS, NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1979. (CHOPIN, KATE.). KATE CHOPIN'S SDURCES FOR "MARS NOBRY'S REASON". BY WOLSTENHOLME, SUSAN. (CRITICISM) AMERICAN LITERATURE. B1 (JANUARY 1980), 540-543.

- Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980
- (CHOPIN, KATE.). KATE CHOPIN'S REPEATING CHARACTERS. BY LATTIN, PATRICIA HOPKINS. (CRITICISM) MISSISSIPPI QUARTERLY. 33 (WINTER 1979-80). 21-37. CITAND. DAVID. A SELFISH PDEM IN PRAISE OF ALL THE TRUCKS THAT MISSED ME. (POETRY) FREE LANCE.

- CITANG, DAVID, AFTER THE FIRST FROST. (POETRY) HIRAM POETRY REVIEW, NO 27 (WINTER 1980), 12. CITANG, DAVID, AFTER THE FIRST FROST, (POETRY) MIRAM POETRY REVIEW, NO 27 (WINTER 1980), 12, CITANG, DAVID, AMUSEMENT PARK, (POETRY) TAR RIVER POETRY, 20 (FALL 1980), 6. CITANG, DAVID, APOLLONIA, VIRGIN AND WARTYR, (POETRY) SOUTHERN HUMANITIES REVIEW, 14 (WINTER
- CITAND, DAVID, CHALLENGING SITUATION NO 6: THE HAND; SEAS AND FORESTS, LIGHT AND LOVE; THE CITANU, DAVID, CHALLENGING SILVATION DU D. THE DAND, GUNS AND FORSTS LINKS, FISTS AND HERMIT: CHALLENGING SILVATION NO 9: THE CORDSANT! HALD: FLAME, PALLS, FISTS AND NAMES! THREE NIGHTS! INCUEUS. (POETRY! VISCONSIN REVIEW, 13(4) 1980, 2-6. CITANO, DAVID. COMING HOME AGAIN: THREE PLOTS FOR TELEVISION. (POETRY! HAAGES, 6(2) 1980, 8. CITANO, DAVID. COMING HOMES. (POETRY! ASPEN ANTHOLOGY, 10 (WINTER 1980), 42.
- CITANO, DAVID. CUNSE. INCLINY] ASPEN ANIHOLOGY, 10 (WINTER 1980), 42. CITANO, DAVID. DAGG. BUHUNK, GRANDFATHER: SEVEN KEYS TO THE PERFECT LIFE. (PCETRY) KUDZU, ND 12 (WINTER 1980).
- CITANG, DAVID, DANCING. (PDETRY) ST ANOREWS REVIEW, 5 (SPRING SUMMER 1980), 107. Citang, David, Dancing, Window, Flesh and Bone; Isaac, (pdetry) pikestaff forum, 3 (winter 1980) . 3.
- CIIANG, DAVID, INTERFENENCE NUTES, (PUETRY) BOX 749, 2(2-3) 1980, 99. CIIANG, DAVID, POEM FOR A THIRTY-THIRD BIRTHDAY, (POETRY) HIRAM POETRY REVIEW, 28 (SPRING -SUMER 1980), 9. CITANO, DAVID, INTERFERENCE - NOTES. (POETRY) BOX 749, 2(2-3) 1980, 99.
- CITANG, DAVID, PUNISHMENTS. (POETRY) LITERARY REVIEW. 23 (SPRING 1980). 382. CITANG, DAVID, PUNISHMENTS, (POETRY) LITERARY REVIEW, 23 (SPRING 1980), 382. CITAND, DAVID, RETRIBUTION, DR. THE MONSTER THAT DEVOURED CLEVELAND; AN AMFUL DARKNESS, A ROUND RAW WOUND, (POETRY) VEST BRANCH. 7 (1580), 62-63, CITAND, DAVID, SAM BERNADING; DECORATION DAY AT THE MARIOM DHID CEMETARY, 1979; THE RACE, (PDETRY) COLUMBUS DISFATCH. 18 MAY 1980, E13. CITAND, DAVID, SO MUCH TIME, HUNTERS, CRABS AND BEARS, (POETRY) PENBROKE MAGAZINE, 12 (1980), 1000-107.

- CITANO, DAVID. SUSANNA. (POETRY) HOLLOW SPRING REVIEW OF POETRY, 3(2) 1980, 45-47. CITANO, DAVID. TALES OF A TRICKSTER: NO. 3; TALE NO 5: TRICKSTER BECOMES SNAKE, SNOKE. UMBILICAL CORD; TALES OF A TRICKSTER: NO 6, THE GIFT OF FIRE; TALES OF A TRICKSTER:
- NO 7. (POETRY) SUN, 62 (DECEMBER 1980), 24-25.

- NO 7. (POETRY) SUN, 62 (DECEMBER 1980), 24-25. CITANG, DAVID. THE ACCIDENT: A FOLK TALE. (POETRY) PDETRY NOW, 5(1) 1980, 5. CITANG, DAVID. THE EXCAVATION. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 20. CITAND. DAVID. THE HAUNINGS SHADOW. (PDETRY) WEST BRANCH, 6 (1980), 78-79. CITAND. DAVID. THE LYCANTHADOUST. (PDETRY) CONTACT 11. 3(13) 1980, 20. CITAND. DAVID. THE LYCANTHADOUST. (PDETRY) CONTACT 11. 3(13) 1980, 78-79. CITAND. DAVID. THE RETIRED PASTOR PREACHES AGAINST WITCHCRAFT. (PDETRY) LOUISVILLE REVIEW, 9 (FAIL 1980). THE STATUS

- (FIANO, DAVID. THE REFLACE FROM THE ADDAL AND ADDAL AD
- (CLEMENS, SANUEL L.), THE HISTORICAL ENDING OF ADVENTURES OF HUCKLEBERRY FINN: HOW NIGGER JIM VAS SET FREE. BY CECIL. L.MOFFIT. (CRITICISH) AMERICAN LITERARY REALISH, 1870-1910.
- 13 (AUTUMN 1980), 200-83. (Clemens, Samuel L.). A note on twain and Heningway. By Bier. Jesse. (Criticism) Midwest
- 13 (AUTUMN 1980), 280-83(CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). A NOTE ON TWAIN AND HENINGWAY. BY BIER. JESSE. (CRITICISM) MIDWEST OUARTERLY. 21 (WINTER 1980), 261-66.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). THE WORKS OF MARK TWAIN; VOLUME I, EARLY TALES AND SKETCHES. 1851-1864.
 BY BRANCH. EDGAR MARQUESS AND HIRST, ROBERT H. (SHORT FICTION) BERKELEY. CA: IGWA CENTER FOR TEXTUAL STUDIES BY THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA PRESS. 1970.
 (CLEMENS, 'SAMUEL L.). FROM TON SAVERT TO HUCKLEBERRY FINN: TOWARD GODLY PLAY. BY ORIARD. MICHAEL. (CRICOCISM) STUDIES IN AMERICAN FICTION. & (1980). 183-202.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). GEDGRAPHY AND STRUCTURE IN HUCKLEBERRY FINN. BY MILLER. MICHAEL G. (CRITICISM) STUDIES IN THE NOVEL. 12 (FALL 1980). 192-209.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). HOVEN. MADERICAN FICTION. & (1980). BY MILLER. MICHAEL G. (CRITICISM) STUDIES IN THE NOVEL. 12 (FALL 1980). 192-209.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). HOVEN. 1870-1910. 13 (SPRING 1980). BRUCE. (CRITICISM) AMERICAN LITERARY REALISM. 1870-1910. 13 (SPRING 1980). 108-21.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). MARK TWAIN FIGHTS SAM CLEMENS OUEL. BY KRAUTH. LELAND. (CRITICISM) MISSISSIPPI QUARTERLY. 33 (SPRING 1980). 134-53.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). WARK TWAIN FIGHT A LABRICK. BY HIRST, ROBERT H. (CRITICISM) BANGGOFTIANA. 75 (OCTOBER 1980). 9-10.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). WING MARK TWAINN SMASK: A DECADE OF CRITICISM AND SCHOLARSHIP. PART 2.01 GRIBBER, ALAN. (BIBLIOGRAPHY) EMERSON SOCIETY QUARTERLY. 26 (THIRD QUARTER.

- 2. BY GRIBBEN, ALAN. (BIBLIOGRAPHY) EMERSON SOCIETY QUARTERLY, 26 (THIRD QUARTER,
- 1900), 199-71. (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). MARK TWAIN'S LIBRARY: A RECONSTRUCTION (2 VOLUNES). BY GRIBBEN, ALAN. (BIBLIDGRAPHY) BOSTON: G K HALL, 1980. (CLEMENS, SANUEL L.). MARK TWAIN: A REFERENCE GUIDE (FOURTH ANNUAL SUPPLEMENT). BY TENNEY.
- THOMAS A. (BIBLIDGRAPHY) AMERICAN LITERARY REALISM, 1870-1910, 13 (AUTUWN 1980)
- (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). DAVID (PUDD'NHEAD) WILSON: THE MISSING FIGURE IN A DETECTIVE'S GROUP.

- (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). DAVID (PUDD'NHEAD) NILSON: THE MISSING FIGURE IN A DETECTIVE'S GROUP.
 BY SAYLOR, LOUISE. (CRITICISM) ARHCHAIR DETECTIVE, 13 (WINTER 1980), 8-11.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). WYDU'LL BE SDRRY WHEN I'H DEAD": CHILD-ADULT RELATIONS IN HUCK FINN. BY
 (PDAHL. KEITH M. (CRITICISM) ADBEN FICTION STUDIES. 25 (WINTER 1970-80). 613-24.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). MARK TWAIN'S JIM: IDENTITY AS AN INDEX TO CULTURAL ATTITUDES. BY WEAVER.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). MARK TWAIN'S JIM: IDENTITY AS AN INDEX TO CULTURAL ATTITUDES. BY WEAVER.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). MAGIL'S BIBLIDGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL. FRANK.
 (BIBLIDGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) AMDENTOD CLIFFS. NJ: SALEM PRESS. 1979.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). A FRAUDULENT THAIN LETTER. BY BURNS, SHANNON. (CRITICISM) AMERICAN
 LITERARY REALISH. 1870-1910. 13 (SPRING 1980). 90-92.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). HEPRICAL AND THE IDEAL IN MARK TWAIN. BY DUNCAN, JEFFREY L.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). HOFINICAN THEN AND THE HOEAL IN MARK TWAIN. JESSIE M. (CRITICISM)
 MARK TWAIN JOURNAL. 20 (WINTER 1979-80). 5-9.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). REPRINCEMENT MAIN'S MAKY: A DECADE OF CRITICISM AND SCHOLARSHIP! PART L.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). BUGKING MARK TWAIN'S MAKS' A DECADE OF CRITICISM AND SCHOLARSHIP! PART L.
 (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.). REPRINCAL MAND THE HISTORY GAME. BY WAGNER. JESSIE M. (CRITICISM) (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.]. REMOVING MARK IWAIN'S MASK: A DECADE OF CHILLSM AND SCHULARGHIP, PART 1. BY GRIBBEN, ALAN- (BIBLIOGRAPHY) EMERSON SOCIETY QUARTERLY. 26 (SECOND QUARTER 1000), 100-100-(CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.), THEODORE RODSEVELT AMONG THE HUMORISTS; W D HOWELLS, MARK TWAIN, AND WR (CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.), THEODORE RODSEVELT AMONG THE HUMORISTS; W D HOWELLS, MARK TWAIN, AND WR
 - DODLEY. BY GIBSON, WILLIAM N. (CRITICISH), (BIOGRAPHY) KNOXVILLE, IN: UNIVERSITY OF

- DOOLEY, BY GIBSON, WILLIAM N. (ENTITICISH), TOTOGRAPHI, REALINED THE DEFINED THE DEFINED AND MARK (CLEMENS, SAMUEL J.) THE FREE MAN OF COLOR IN THE GRANDISSIMES AND WORKS BY HARRIS AND MARK TAADA BY BERKOVE, LAURENCE I. (CRITICISH) SOUTHERN OUARTERLY, 18 (SUMMER 1980),
 - 51-59.

- (CLEYRE, VOLTAIRINE DE.). VOLTAIRINE DE CLEYRE'S FENINISME A STUDY OF HER THEORY AND CHARACTERIZATION. BY ATLAS, MARILYN JUDITH. (CRITICISH).(BIOGRAPHY) MIDAMERICA VII. (1980), 40-51.
- CLINE, CHARLES. DAFFODILS; THE CELERY FARMER'S WIFE. (POETRY) CONVERGENCE, EDITED BY H L
- CARSEN, DARIDS, MIL DOETRY SOCIETY OF MICHIGAN, 1980, 15, 49. Carsen, Big Rapids, Mil Poetry Society of Michigan, 1980, 15, 49. Cline, Charles, Magnolias, (Poetry) Newsletter of Centro Studi e Scambi Internazionali And Accademia Leonardo da Vinci June 1980.
- CLINE, CHARLES, MOMEN'S, (PDETRY) PDET, 21 (JUNE 1980), 62. CLINE, CHARLES, RETURNING SON. (PDETRY)) THE EASTERN SUN IS SO INVITING, EDITED BY A GHDSE.
- MADRAS, INDIA: TAGORE INSTITUTE OF CREATIBE WRITING INTERNATIONAL, 1980. 69. CLINE, CHARLES, SWEET PEAS, (POETRY) PREMIER POETS; THE SIXTH BIENNIAL ANTHOLOGY, EDITED BY B FALKOWSKI, E & FALKOWSKI AND N & LYON, MADRAS, INDIA: WORLD POETRY SUCJETY
 - INTERCONTINENTAL, 1980, 117.

- INIERCUNIINENTAL, 1980, 117. Cline, Charles, The Coin. (doetry) poet, 21 (dtober 1980), 42. Cline, Charles, Visitor. (poetry) poet, 21 (february 1980), 78. Colby, Joan. Borderland. (poetry) great River Review. 2(3), 1980, 326-27. Colby, Joan. Fever in August; Submission to Pain. (poetry) prairie Schooner, 54 (spring 1980). 75-76-
- CONNELL. EVAN S. SAINT AUGUSTINE'S PIGEON. (SHORT FICTION) SAN FRANCISCO. CA: NORTH POINT FRESS, 1980.
- (CONNELL, EVAN S, JR.). EVAN 5 CONNELL JR'S MAS BRIDGE AND MR BRIDGE: A CRITICAL DOCUMENTARY.
- BY WHITE, RAY LEWIS. (CRITICISH) NIDAMERICA VI. (1979). 141-59. Conroy, Jack. The Jack Conroy Reader. Edited by Jack Salzman and David Ray. (Short Fiction) NEW YORK: BURT FRANKLIN, 1980. (Conroy, Jack.). First Person America. By Banks, Ann (Editor). (Short Fiction) New York
- KNOPF. 1980.
- (CONROY, JACK.). LITERATURE FROM THE CRUCIBLE OF EXPERIENCE: JACK CONROY IN 0410, 1927-30. BY WIXSON, DOUGLAS, (CRITICISM) MIDWESTERN HISCELLANY VIII, (1980), 44-60.
- ULASUN: DUDGLAS. (CHITCLSH) HIDDESTERN MISCELLARY VIII, (1980), 44-00. (CONRUY JACK.). THE PRACTICE DF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKOWITZ, JEROME. (CRITICISM) AMES, IA: IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. CONTE, JOHANNS, ST BECK'S CONVENT FOR THE BROKEN-MEARTED. (SMORT FICTION) GREAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1080). 13-17.
- CONTOSKI, VICTOR (EDITOR) SEE MAKOSKI, DIANE. Contoski, Victor (Editor) see Rezmerski, John Calvin. Contoski, Victor (Editor) see Netwicz, Laura Louise. Contoski, Victor (Editor) see Rosenblum, Marin J.

- CONTOSKI, VICTOR (EDITOR) SEE DYBECK, STUART. CONTOSKI, VICTOR (EDITOR) SEE MINCZESKI, JOHN.

- CONTOSKI, VICTOR (EDITOR) SEE FINKEL, DONALD. Contoski, Victor. Blood of the Blood: An Anthology of Polish-American Poetry. (Poetry) St PAUL. MN: NEW RIVERS PRESS, FALLS CHURCH: AMERICAN COUNCIL OF POLISH CULTURAL CLUBS, 1980.
- 1980. CONTOSKI, VICTOR. ENTERING KANSAS. (POETRY) PDETRY NGW, 5(2) 1960. 19. CONTOSKI, VICTOR. RICHARD NIXONI THE EVENINGI THE TALL BUILDINGS OF MANHATAN. (POETRY) BORN AGAIN BEEFI A BESTIARY. COON REPIOS, MNI LIST OLYMPICS PRESS, 1980. 62-65. (CONTOSKI. VICTOR.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND. LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. (POETRY) LOWER. ROBERI. CHARLIE IN THE HOUSE OF RULE. (SHORT FICTION) LINGLAN, MAI PENMAEN PRESS. 1980. COOKER. ROBERI. CHARLIE IN THE HOUSE OF RULE. (SHORT FICTION) LINGLAN, MAI PENMAEN PRESS. 1980. COOKER. SHELAGH. SELECTION. (POETRY) KANSAS OUATTERLY. 12 (FALL 1980). 97. COUGAILN. WILLIAM J. DAY OF WARTH. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: DELACORTE PRESS, 1980. COUSER. G THOMAS SEE FULLER. HENRY BLAKE. COUSTILLS. PIFEOR SEE GING. GEDOEG.

- COUSTILLAS, PIERRE SEE FULLEME RENAT BLAKE. COUSTILLAS, PIERRE SEE GISSING GEORGE. CDX, JDEL. FALLING IN SPRING, (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 120. (CRAFION, ALLEN.), THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN PDETRY, BY LELAND, LORRIN. (POETRY) LAWRENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTIDING EDUCATION, 1978.
- (CRAFIDM, JESSICA.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN. (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978.
- CRANE, HART. WIND-BLOWN FLAMES: LETTERS OF HART CRANE TO WILBUR UNDERWOOD. (LETTERS) SOUTHERN REVIEW, 16 (SPRING 1980), 339-76.
- (CRANE, HART.). A POETICS FOR THE BRIDGE. BY RAMSEY, ROGER. (CRITICISH) TWENTIETH CENTURY
- LITERATURE, 26 (FALL 1980), 278-93. (CRAME: MART.). MART CRAME; A FINE MESSED-UP LIFE. BY PRITCHARD. WILLIAM H. (BIOGRAPHY) NEW YORK: DXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980, 235-62.
- (CRANE HARTE.). HARTE CRAME'S DIVIDED VISION: AN ANALYSIS OF "THE BRIDGE". BY NILSEN, HELGE NORMANN. (CRITICISM) OSLO. NORMAN' UNIVERSITETSFORLAGET, 1980. Crane, Joan ST C See Cather, Willa. Creed, Charles, Jubilee Cother, Willa.
- (CREELEY, ROBERT.). THE RHEYORIC OF THE CONTEMPORARY LYRIC. BY HOLDEN, JONATHAN. (CRITICISM). (PDETRY) BLODWINGTON, IN: INDIANA UNIVERSITY PRESS. 1980.
- CRONE, RUTH SEE CATHER, WILLA.X CURRY, MARTHA SEE ANDERSON, SHERWDOD.
- (CURNOOD, JAMES OLIVER.). MICHIGAN'S FORGOTTEN SON-JAMES OLIVER CURNOOD, BY MEPLER, JOHN. (BIOGRAPHY),(CRITICISM) WIDWESTERN MISCELLANY VII (1979), 25-33.
- CUTLER. BRUCE. THE DOCTRINE OF SELECTIVE DEPRAVITY. (PDETRY) LA CROSSE, WI: JUNIPER PRESS, 1980.
- CUTLER, BRUCE. THE MAKER'S NAME. (PDETRY) LA CROSSE, WI: JUNIPER PRESS, 1980. DACEY, FLORENCE. AUNT EDYTHE. (PDETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW, 2(3), 1980, 367.

- DAHLIN, ROBERT SEE MORRIS, WRIGHT. Dailey, Janet, Enemy in Camp. (Novel) toronto: Harlequin Book, 1980, (Michigan).
- DAILEY, JANET. LORD OF THE HIGH LONESDME. (NOVEL) TORONTO: HARLEQUIN BOOKS, 1980, (NORTH CAKOTA3.

- DAKOTA]. DALEYS JANET. THE MATING SEASON. (NGVEL) TORGNID: HARLEOUIN BODK5, 1960, (KANSAS). DALIGN. DOROTHY. MARY AGNES. (POETRY) ELEVEN. (WINTER 1980). NO. DALIGN. DOROTHY. MARY GAMES. (POETRY) ELEVEN. (WINTER 1980). 14-15. DALIGN. DOROTHY. THE OBLIAL. (POETRY) BLUE UNICORN. 4 (DCTOBER 1960), 46. DALIGN. DOROTHY. THE WHITE BLOOD. (POETRY) STANE COUNTRY. 8 (FALL-WINTER 1980). 27. DALIGN. DOROTHY. THE WHITE BLOOD. (POETRY) STANE COUNTRY. 8 (FALL-WINTER 1980). 27. DALIGN. DOROTHY. THE WHITE OFTS. 1900. 50-72. WISCONSIN FELLOWSHIP OF POETS, 1980, 56-57. DANA, ROBERT, IN A FUGITIVE SEASON: A SEQUENCE OF POEMS, (POETRY) CHICAGO, IL: SWALLOW PRESS,
- 1080.
- (DANA, ROBERT.). A POET'S GIVEN TASK. BY KAUFMANN, JAMES. (CRITICISM) DES MOINES SUNDAY REGISTER. JUNE 15. 1980, 4C. Danborn. David & See Veblen, Thorstain.
- DANBY, JAHES (EDITOR). PERIODICAL PUBLISHING IN WISCONSIN. (PUBLISHING) NADISON. WI: University of Wisconsin Library School. 1980.
- DANGEL. LED. PA. (POETRY) PLAINSONG, 2 (FALL 1980), 18.

Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980

DANIELS, JIH, KILLING BOXES. (POETRY) HINNESDTA REVIEW, NS, 15 (FALL 1980), 7. DAUNT, JON, A FARMER ON STRIKE; DEAD GUITAR SOLO. (POETRY) TIGHT ROPE, 10 (WINTER 1980), 14-15. DAUNT. JON. CHANGING WOMAN. (POETRY) JUST PULD, 3 (WINTER 1980), 37. DAUNI, JON. CONDER REETS BULLDOZER. (POETRY) SHENANDOAH. 31(2) 1960. 105-106. DAUNT, JON. CONDER REETS BULLDOZER. (POETRY) SHENANDOAH. 31(2) 1960. 105-106. DAUNT, JON. FROM A JOURNAL. (POETRY) DARK HORSE, 6 (SPRING 1980). 10. DAUNT, JUN, FRUM A JUUMNAL, (PJEINY) DANA HUNDE, B ISPHING LYBUJ, 10. DAUNT, JON, JOB'S CHILDREN; VISITING A FRIEND, (PDETRY) SDUTH DAKOTA REVIEW, 18 (AUTUMN 1980), 18-19. DAUNT, JON. LDS ALAMOS; GDING BLINO. (POETRY) NEW RENAISSANCE, 4 (APRIL 1980), 21-22. DAUNT, JON. LOT'S VIFE. (POETRY) DESCANT, 24 ISPRING-SUMMER 1980), 35. DAUNT, JON. HOMENT OF EXECUTION; A FACE FROM CHILDHOOD. (PDETRY) GARGOVLE, 11 (SPRING-SUMMER DAUNT, JON. HOMENT OF EXECUTION; A FACE FROM CHILDHOOD. (PDETRY) GARGOVLE, 11 (SPRING-SUMMER DAUNT, UDN. KOMENT OF EXECUTION, A FACT FROM SHAPPENEW, 2 (FALL-WINTER 1980), 38-1980), 9, 43-DAUNT, JON. NOVEMBER, (POETRY) BLUEGRASS LITERARY REVIEW, 2 (FALL-WINTER 1980), 38-DAUNT, JON. NHE CHILDHODD GAMES OF ISAGL. (POETRY) POETS ON, 4 (SUMMER 1980), 32-DAUNT, JON. THE COURTRODH. (POETRY) WRIT, 1 (SPRING 1980), 8-9-DAUNT, JON. THE COURTRODH. (POETRY) JUNP REVEREN, NO 5 (SEPTEMBER 1980), 43-DAUNT, JON. THE DATE. (POETRY) JUNP RIVER REVIEW, NO 5 (SEPTEMBER 1980), 43-DAUNT, JON. THE LAST STEP. (POETRY) SIGLINES, 5(1) 1980, 23-DAUNT, JON. THE LAST STEP. (POETRY) SIGLINES, 5(1) 1980, 23-DAUNT, JON. THE LAST FRAME OF A DREAM. (POETRY) GUTS AND GRACE, 2 (SUMMER 1980), 7-DAUNT, JON. TORNOO COUNTRY: THE WESTERN DUST BOWL, WHERE HIGHNAYS GO HAD BEFORE THEY REACH DAUNT, JON. WICHAEL SEE DORN'S INWANHATTAN. (PDETRY) CAPE RUCK, 15 (SUMMER 1980), 11-14-DAUNT, SUMMETHEUS IN MANHATTAN. (PDETRY) CAPE DAUNT, JON, TORNADO COUNTRY: THE WESTERN DUST BOVL, WHERE HIGHWARS GO HAD BUFORE THEY REACH THE DANHANDLE: PROMETHEUS IN MANHATTAN. (PDETRY) CAPE ROCK. IS (SUMMER 1980), 11-14. DAVIES. NANCY. DEATH OF A MOLE. (POETRY) BLUE BUILDINGS. 5 (1980). DAVIES. NANCY. FROST. (PDETRY) HONEY CREEX ANTADLOGY. CEDAR RAPIDS, IA: FAIRLANE HOUSE, 1980. DAVIES. NANCY. THE BAT THINKS. (PDETRY) BLUE UNICORN. 3 (JUNE 1980). 122. DAVIES. NANCY. THE BAT THINKS. (PDETRY) BLUE UNICORN. 3 (JUNE 1980). DAVIES. NANCY. THE BAT THINKS. (PDETRY) BLUE UNICORN. 3 (JUNE 1980). DAVIES. NANCY. THE BAT THINKS. (PDETRY) ANARSA OUARTERLY. 12 (WINTER 1980). 122. DAVIES. NANCY. THE BAT THINKS. (PDETRY) ANARSA OUARTERLY. 12 (WINTER 1980). 122. DE B MERRILL. GINETTE SEE HOWELLS. WILLIAM DEAN. DE MUTH. JAKES SEE DADE. GEORGE. DE MUTH. JAKES SEE LARDNER. PETER FINLEY. DE MUTH. JAKES SEE LARDNER. RING. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. ND TRAINS (PDETRY) BOISE. DI: ANSANTA PRESS. 1980. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. ND TRAINS (PDETRY) DOITS ON. 4 (WINTER 1980). DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. ND TRAINS (PDETRY) DOITS ON. 4 (WINTER 1980). DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. ND ONE EXPLAINS. (PDETRY) BOISE. DI: ANSANTA PRESS. 1980. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. ND ONE EXPLAINS. (PDETRY) GRAVEN HUSE REVIEW. FALL-WINTER 1980. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. ND ONE EXPLAINS. (PDETRY) GRAVEN HUSE REVIEW. FALL-WINTER 1980. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. ND ONE EXPLAINS. (PDETRY) GRAVEN, FORTRY I DAG. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. ND ONE EXPLAINS. (PDETRY) GRAVEN, FORTRY I DAG. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. THE MON IS OVING (PDETRY) GRAVEN, KINTER 1980. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. THE MON IS OVING (PDETRY) GRAVEN KINTER 1980. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. THE MON IS OVING (PDETRY) GRAVEN KINTER 1980. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. THIS HOW IS OVING (PDETRY) GRAVEN, FALL JAMORA, ACK JACK JACK ON SOLAL. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. THIS HERE HOW VERY NUCH IT WANTS. (PDETRY) WEST BRANCH. 6 (1980. DEAL. SUSAN STRAYER. THIS HERE HOW VERY NUCH IT WANTS. (PDETRY) WEST BRANCH. 6 (1980). DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, KINDLING, (PDETRY) COLDRADD-NORTH REVIEW, WINTER 1980, DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, IT IS HERE; HOW VERY MUCH IT WANTS. (PDETRY) BLACK JACK, 0, 1980, DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, IT IS HERE; HOW VERY MUCH IT WANTS. (PDETRY) BLACK JACK, 0, 1980, DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, HOW WE STIRRED, (PDETRY) CELLAR DDOR, JULY 1980, DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, WINDBREAK; I AM SUDDEN BUFFALD, (PDETRY) NEW MAGAZIME, SUMMER 1980, DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, VENDS. (POETRY) ATTENTION PLEASE, JUNE 1980, DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, VENDS. (POETRY) ATTENTION PLEASE, JUNE 1980, DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, TOD LARGE FOR BALANCE. (PDETRY) POET LORE, 5C (SUMMER 1980). DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, THEY MAVE TRIED TO TEACH ME; YOU CAN GIVE IT UP; TWO OLD TREES WEST OF GOTHENDURG, NEBRASKA. (PDETRY) CEDAR ROCK, FALL 1980, DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, SOMETIMES SO EASY; THE SHAPE OF HERSELF. (PDETRY) PRAIRIE SCHOONER, SUMMER 1980. SUMMER 1980. Deal, Susan Strayer, Solving The Branches. (PGETRY) en Passant, 11 (1980). Deal, Susan Strayer, She Names Merself. (PGETRY) Rhind 1980. Deal, Susan Strayer. The Shape of Merself; SD Easy. (PGETRY) PRAIRIE SCHDONER. 54 (SUMMER Deal, Susan Strayer. The Shape of Merself; SD Easy. (PGETRY) PRAIRIE SCHDONER. 54 (SUMMER 1980), 75-77. DEAL, SUSAN STRAYER, NOUN CLUSTERS AND OTHER MUSES, (POETRY) PIG IRON, B (1980). (DECKER, EDNA-). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (PDETRY) LAWMENCE, KS: INDERENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. DEGNAN, JAMES P SEE ALGREN. NELSON. DEGNAN, JAMES P SEE BLY, ROBERT. DEGNAN, JAMES P SEE VONNEGUT, KURT. DEGNAN, JAMES P SEE VONNEGUT, KURT. DEGNAN, JAMES P SEE ENDERT. (SHORT FICTION) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 95-DEGNAN, JAMES P SEE ENGLE, PAUL. Degrazia, Emilio. Lanternlight. (Short Fiction) Kansas Quarterly. 12 (Winter 1980), 95-106. DEL GRECD, ROBERT, UNCLE FAROLD LIKES TO DRAW HANDS. (PDETRY) KANSAS GUARYERLY, 12 (FALL 1080), 110. (DELL, FLOYO,). MIDWESTERN WRITERS AND THE MYTH OF THE SEARCH. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D. (CRITICISM) GEORGEA REVIEW. 34 (SPRING 1980), 131-43. DELMAR, P JAY SEE CHESNUTT, CHARLES WADDELL. (KINNESOTA). DELTON, JUDY. LEE MENRY'S BEST FRIEND. (JUVENILE FICTION) CHICAGO, IL: A. WHITMAN. 1980. DELTON. JUDY. MY MOTHER LOST HER JOB TODAY. (JUVENILE FICTION) CHICAGO, IL: A. WHITMAN. 1980. DENNIS, SCOTT A SEE HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN. DERBOER, DAVID C. AFTER THE RAIN IN OCTOBER: BREAKING INTO SONG; JOHN BERRYMAN. (PDETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY. 12 (WINTER 1980). 28-30. DERI, MARK B. SCRIMSHAW. (PDETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (SUMMER 1980). 18. DERIS, WERA.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. 12 (SUMMER 1980). 18. LAMMENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1978. LAMMENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1978. LAMMENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1978. LAMMENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1978. DEVELES, PETER, CONSENTING ADULTS, DR. THE BUCKLES FILL DE CONSENT BROWN, 1980, (ILLINGIS). DEWEESE, JEAN. HOUR OF THE CAT. (NOVEL) GARDEN CITY, NY: DOUBLEDAY, 1980, (INDIANA). (MYSTERY-DETECTION). (ENEVE, AL.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) LAWRENCE, (SEWEY, AL.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) LAWRENCE, SI INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINIOUNG EDUCATION, 1970. XS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINIOUNG EDUCATION, 1970. DICKEY, PAUL. POTTED PLANT. (POETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 93. DICKEY, PAUL-ROTTED PLANT. (POETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 93. DITSKY, JOHN SEE SMITH, DAVID JEDDIE. DITSKY, JOHN, A SHINING, A CROSSING. (POETRY) DESCENT, 30-31 (1980-81). DITSKY, JOHN, ACT NATURAL. (POETRY) SGUTH CAROLINA REVIEW, 13 (FALL 1980). DITSKY, JOHN, ACT NATURAL. (POETRY) START, 10 (DECEMBER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN, ALL THAT THE EVES CONTROL. (POETRY) START, 10 (DECEMBER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN, AT THE SUBMARINE RACES. (POETRY) GRAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN, AT THE SUBMARINE RACES. (POETRY) GRAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN, BARD ROCK CONCERTI B C ADMONITION. (POETRY) NEW JERSEY POETRY. 4 (SPRING 1980). DITSKY, JOHN, BARD ROCK CONCERTI B C ADMONITION. (POETRY) NEW JERSEY POETRY. 4 (SPRING 1980). DITSKY, JOHN, CALENDAR: DISHEVELNENT. (POETRY) RPM, 1 (1980). DITSKY, JOHN, CALENDAR: C. (POETRY) MALKAT REVIEW. 64 (APRIL 1980). DITSKY, JOHN, DADDY REMEMBERS: THE NAKED LADY IN THE PEARLS. (PCETRY) OLD RED KINDNG, 9 (SPRING 1980).

159

DITSKY, JOHN. DRVING: RAIN DANCE. (PDETRY) POET LORE, 75 (FALL 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. EVENTS; TOTTERING: KNIGHT'S GAMBIT. (PDETRY) CORIDORS, 2 (WINTER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. EVENTS; TOTTERING: KNIGHT'S GAMBIT. (PDETRY) CORIDORS, 2 (WINTER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. FRAGILE: FAULKNER, (PDETRY) AURARY, 29 (SPRIMG 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. FRAGILE: FAULKNER, (PDETRY) DUARY, 29 (SPRIMG 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. HAN OPERATOR: MEATS. (PDETRY) RUNE, 4 (SPRIMG 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. HAN OPERATOR: MEATS. (PDETRY) RUNE, 4 (SPRIMG 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. HAN OPERATOR: MEATS. (PDETRY) RUNE, 4 (SPRIMG 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. HAN DEFENSE OF PROFLICACY. (PDETRY) RASSAGE MORTH. 2 (FALL 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. HOW BEAUTIFUL BEGINNING TO DIE. (PDETRY) PASSAGE MORTH. 2 (FALL 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. HOW BEAUTIFUL BEGINNING TO DIE. (PDETRY) PASSAGE MORTH. 2 (FALL 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. HOW DEFENSE OF PROFLICACY. (PDETRY) CANCERNING PDETRY. 13 (SPRIMG 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. NOVEMBER 8, 1974. (PDETRY) MEXABOUT HUNTINGTON, 6 (JANUARY 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. NOVEMBER 8, 1974. (PDETRY) CHURG REVIEW. 3 (WINTER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. NOVEMBER 8, 1974. (PDETRY) CHURG REVIEW, 1 (4) 1980. DITSKY, JOHN. NOVEMBER 8, 1974. (PDETRY) CHURG REVIEW, 1 (4) 1980. DITSKY, JOHN. NOVEMBER 8, 1974. (PDETRY) CHURG REVIEW, 1 (4) 1980. DITSKY, JOHN. NOVEMBER 8, (PDETRY) GREEN'S MAGAZINE, 8 (WINTER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. HAT IS FOREVER ENGLAND: TRANSPORTATION. (PDETRY) TICKLEACE, 2 (1980). DITSKY, JOHN. THAT IS FOREVER ENGLAND: TRANSPORTATION. (PDETRY) TICKLEACE, 2 (1980). DITSKY, JOHN. THE CANDIANS SINGERS. (PDETRY) CANADA REVIEW. 23 (SUMMER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. THE PALINGER, (PDETRY) COUBTRY CANADA REVIEW. 3 (SUMMER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. THE PALONEOR GUANLY CRITICAL QUARTERLY, 2 (SPING 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. THE PALONEOR GUANLY CRITICAL QUARTERLY. 2 (SUMMER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. THE PALONEOR GUANLY CRITICAL QUARTERLY. 22 (SPING 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. THE PALODERO GUANLY CRITICAL QUARTERLY. 22 (SUMMER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. THE PALODERO FUGURY REVIEW ALZ (FALL-WINTER 1980). DITSKY, JOHN. DRYING: RAIN DANCE. (POETRY) POET LORE, 75 (FALL 1980). ELLEDGE, JIN. AMBUSH. (POETRY) WIND, NG 38 (1980). 69. Elledge, JIN. Birth of a Legend. (Poetry) dvertures, 2 (Winter 1980), 11. Elledge, JIM. Cafe society: easter: Love Beads. (PdEtry) gpu News, 9 (May 1980), 20. 57-56. (FALL-WINTER 1980). (FALL-WINTER 1980). DITSKY. JOHN. THRIFTY OBEDIENT KIND. (POETRY) BLUE UNICORN. 3 (FEBRUARY 1980). DITSKY. JOHN. YOUL. (POETRY) CANADIAN AUTHOR AND BOOKAMN. 55-56 (SUMMER-FALLS1980. DITSKY. JOHN. 1948; PRIMISE: INCIDENT. (POETRY) ONTARIO REVIEW. 12 (SPRING-SUMMER 1980). 1980). 33. DOOD, WAYNE. THE NAMES YOU GAVE IT. (POETRY) BATON ROUGE: LOUISIANA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS. DOWINIC, R.B. THE ATTENDING PHYSICIAN, (NOVEL) NEW YORK: HARPER AND RDW, 1980, (OHID). DOWALDSON, SCOTT SEE FITZGERALD, F SCOTT. DONG, STELLA SEE PIERCY, MARGE, (DONNELLY, IGNATIUS.). IGNATIUS DONNELLY. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D. (BIDGRAPHY) BOSTON, MA: TWAYNE, 1980. 1980). Z14. (DORN, EDWARD.). ARCHAEDLOGIST DF MORNING: CHARLES OLSON, EDWARD DORN AND HISTORICAL METHOD. BY DAVIDSON, MICHAEL. (CRITICISM) ELM. 47 (SPRING 1980). 158-79. DRAKE. ALBERT. A GODD MAN IS HARD TO UNDERSTAND. (SHORT FICTION) NEW MEXICO HUMANITIES REVIEW. 3 (SEPTEMBER 1980), 59-69. 3 (SEPTEMBER 1980), 59-09. DRAKE, ALBERT, GRAGE. (DOETRY) SANTA BARBARA: NUDBORN PRESS, 1980. DRAKE, ALBERT, HAWKING. (SHORT FICTION) BOGG. 45 (OCTOBER 1980), 16-17. DRAKE, ALBERT, HAWKING. (SHORT FICTION) MISSISSIPPI MUD. 21 (FEBRUARY 1980), 56-62. DRAKE, ALBERT, THE GENUIME ARTIFICIAL LEOPARDSKIN HEADLINER. (SHORT FICTION) COTTONWOOD REVIEW, 23 (OCTOBER 1980), 5-12. DRAKE, ALBERT, THE GENUIME GENUI TEXTIDES (ALMOST FICTION) MISSISSIPPI MUD. 23 (OCTOBER 1984). PRESS, 1980, 27. 13-17. NEWIEW, 23 (DETUBER 1900), 5-12.
DRAKE, ALBERT. WHEN GAS WAS REGAL; TEXTURES. (SHORT FICTION) MISSISSIPPI MUD, 22 (OCTOBER 1980), 24-41.
DRAKE, ALBERT. WHENER IS GARY; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 64-65.
DRAKE, BARBARA. DEAR DARWIN. (POETRY) ARGUED HER CATI THE FAMILY; IT WAS CN OUR VACATION. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980), 23-27.
(DRAKE, DANIEL, HD.). DANIEL DRAKE, MD: THE FRANKLIN DF THE WEST. 8Y ANDERSON, DAVID D. (CRITICISM), (BIOGRAPHY) MIDAMERICA VII. 1980, 9-26.
(DRAMEUL, P ROY.). THE KANAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY'LELAND, LORRIN. (PDETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1078.
(DREISEN, THEODORE.). MAGIL'S BIBLIOGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBLIOGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) ENGLEWOOD CLIFFS. NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1079.
(DREISEN, THEODORE.). LILY BART AND CARRIE MEEDER: CULTURAL SISTENS. BY PRICE, ALAN. (CRITICISM) AMERICAN DICKINSON UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1080.
(DREISER, THEODORE.). THE PARATISM. 107.1910. 13 (AUTUMN 1980). 238-45.
(DREISER, THEODORE.). THE PARATISM. NUIVERSITY PRESS, 1080.
(DREISER, THEODORE.). THE PARATICS AND INVERSITY PRESS, 1080.
(DREISER, THEODORE.). THE PARATICS AND UNIVERSITY PRESS. 1980.
(DREISER, THEODORE.). THE PRACTICE DF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY HALVANI, YOSHINOBU. (CRITICISM) DRAKE, ALBERT. WHEN GAS WAS REGAL; TEXTURES. (SHORT FICTION) WISSISSIPPI MUD, 22 (OCTOBER 18-19. (HICHIGAN), (HYSTERY+DETECTION). 253-54. CHANGUMY, NJ: FAIRLEIGH DICKINSUM UNITENSIIT PRESS, 1980. (OREISER, THEODORE.). THE PRACTICE DF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKOWITZ, JERGHE. (CRITICISH) AMES, IA: IGMA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. DRIES, ROBERT. DLD SONGS. (SHORT FICTION) GRAT RIVER REVIEW, 2(3), 1980. 387-97. DRISCOLL. JACK. THE LANGLAGE OF BONE. (POETRY) LANGLEY. WA: SPRING VALLEY PRESS, 1980. (DUMBAR, PAUL LAURENCE.). PAUL LAURENCE DUNBAR: A SINGEN DF SONGS. BY MARTIN. HERBERT W. (POETRY) COLUMBUS, OH: STATE LIBRARY DF GHIG. 1979. UNCAN, JUFFREY L'OLUMBUS, UNI SIALE LIDMART UT UNIUL 1979. Duncan, Juffrey L See Clements, Samuel L. Dunn, Bill See Kienzle, William X. (Dunne, Beter Finley), Spall Toyn Chicago: The Comic Perspective of Finley Peter Dunne, George Ade, and Ring Lardner. By De Muth, James, (Biography),(Criticism) Port (FALL 1980). GEORGE ADE, AND RING LARDNER. BY DE MUTH, JAMES. (BIOGRAPHY).(CRITICISH) PORT VASHINGTON, NY: KENNIKAT PRESS. 1980. (DUNNE. PETER FINLEY.). THEODDRE RODSEWELT AMONG THE HUMORISTS; W D HDWELLS. MARK TWAIN. AND HR DDDLEY. BY GIBSON, WILLIAM H. (CRITICISM).(BIOGRAPHY) KNDXVILLE. TN: UNIVERSITY OF TEAMESSEE PRESS. 1980. OUNNING, STEPHEN. CHOOSING MY FATHER. (POETRY) LAUREL REVIEW, 14 (WINTER 1980).14-15. OUNNING. STEPHEN. COCKING HY FATHER. (POETRY) LAUREL REVIEW, 14 (WINTER 1980).14-15. OUNNING. STEPHEN. COCKING HY FATHER. (POETRY) LAUREL REVIEW, 14 (WINTER 1980). (ARITON REVIEW. 6 (FALL 1980). 43. 1980]. 44-45-REVIEW, 6 (FALL 1980), 43. DUNNING, STEPHEN, MEMORIZATIONS; WING PETALS; THE BRASS CANOLESTICK: HOW PRICES SDARED. (POETRY) KSOR GUIDE (AUGUST 1980), 20-32. DUNNING, STEPHEN, PIPS. (POETRY) GREEN RIVER REVIEW, 9(1) 1980, 40. DUNNING, STEPHEN, THERE ARE MOMENTS A MAN; JUST AFTER MIDNIGHT. (POETRY) NEW LETTERS, 47 (FALL 1980), 59-60. UNNING, STEPHEN. THEN SHUT OUT HIS FACE, FORGET; YOU, BROTHER. (POETRY) PIKESTAFF FORUM, 3 (WINTER 1980), 7. DUNNING, STEPHEN, WALKING HOME DEAD. (POETRY) PLAINSONG, 2 (FALL 1980), 39. 1980), 74-76. DYBECK, STUART. CHILDHOOD AND OTHER NEIGHBORHOODS. SHORT FICTION) NEW YORK: VIKING, 1980, COVECTICAGO..
 COVECTICAGO..
 COVECK: STURRI, BLOOD OF THEIR BLOOD: AN THOLOGY OF POLISH-AMERICAN POETRY. BY CONTOSKI,
 COVECK: STURRI, BLOOD OF THEIR BLOOD: AN THOLOGY OF POLISH-AMERICAN POETRY. BY CONTOSKI,
 COVECK: STURRI, BLOOD OF THEIR BLOOD: AN THOLOGY OF POLISH-AMERICAN POETRY. BY CONTOSKI,
 EADES, JGAN. THE YELLOW ROADHOUSE. ISHORT FICTION, KANSAS OUARTERLY, 12 (SUMMER 1980), 89-91 ECKERT, ALLAN W. SONG OF THE WORLD. (NOVEL) BOSTON: LITILG. BROWN, 1980, (ILLINOIS),
 LAMRECE, KS: INDEPRICENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUINE EDUCATION, 1978.
 CAGGLESTON, EDWARD.). THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKOWITZ, JEROME. (CRITICISH)
 AMES, IA: IDWA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980.
 ELETHEA: ABBA. THE ANTIOCH SUITE-JAZZ. (POETRY) DETROIT: LOTUS PRESS, 1980.
 ELKIN, STANLEY LEXIN'S GREATEST HITS, (SHORT FICTION) NEW YORK: DUTION, 1980.
 (ELKIN, STANLEY, LIN'S GREATEST HITS, (HORT FICTION) NEW YORK: DUTION, 1980.
 (ELKIN, STANLEY.). THE FICTION OF STANLEY ELKIN. BY BARGEN, DORIS G. (CRITICISH), (FICTION)
 FRANKFURT, GERMANY: VERLAG PETER D LANG, 1980. FERLAZZD, PAUL SEE SANDBURG, CARL. FETHERLING, DOUG SEE HECHT. BEN. 14-25. (BIBLIDGRAPHY),(CRITICISH) ENGLEWOOD CLIFFS, NJ: SALEH PRESS, 1979. (FITZGERALD, F SCOTT.), FITZGERALD'S MIDWEST: "SOMETHING GEORGEOUS SOMEWHERE"--SOMEWHERE ELSE.

ELLEDGE, JIN. FIRE: LISTENING TO HANK WILLIAMS ON KEY WEST. (POETRY) CAT'S EYE, 2 (WINTER 1980), 45-46. 1980), 45-46. ELLEDGE, JIM. GRAPE ARBOR: A LETTER. (PDETRY) CONNECTICUT RIVER REVIEW, 2 (SPRING 1980). 18. ELLEDGE, JIM. HIBISCUS; HOW THE OTHER HALF. (PDETRY) DYEZ REVIEW. 8 (1980). 3-5. ELLEDGE, JIM. PASSENGERS. (PDETRY) PIKESTAFF FORUM. 3 (WINTER 1980). 3. ELLEDGE, JIM. PASSENGERS. (PDETRY) BERKELEY PDETRY REVIEW. 9 (SPRING 1980). 4. ELLEDGE, JIN. STORNS! A TRANSSEXUAL AND SOMEBODY ELSE. (POETRY) BUCKLE, 4 (FALL-WINTER 1980-81). Elledge, Jin, Sunday. (POETRY) RHIND, 2(3) 1980, 10. ELLEDGE, JIN. SUNDAY. (PDETRY) KNANO, 2(3) 1980, 10. Elledge, JIN. THE ANNIVERSARY DUTING. (PDETRY) SUNWESTER, 8 (FALL-VINTER 1980), 13-15. Elledge, JIN. THE GARDEN; THO DAYS. (PDETRY) ST ANDREWS REVIEW, 5 (SPRING-SUMMER 1980), 23-24. (ELLIDIT, HARLEY.), THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN PDETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITDR). (PDETRY) LAWRENCE, KSI INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. ELWERT, CHARLES. 2128 NAGLE; JULY 4, 1883. (POETRY) SPOON RIVER GUARTERLY, 5 (FALL 1980). DATABLE SUPERATIONS IN THE WHEATFIELDS. (POETRY) SAVAN BY COMPARIS (1980), 44. Erans, Elaine V. Cat. Leaping over Marigolds. (Poetry) Kansas Guarterly, 12 (Fall 1960), 110. Enans, Elaine V. Cruy in the Wheatfields. (Poetry) Soon River Guarterly, 5 (Spring 1980). EMANS. ELAINE V. FATHER RECALLED AS DINNER COMPANION. (POETRY) FOUR QUARTERS, 29 (SUMMER EMANS, ELAINE V. ON DISTURBING & CLUMP OF TANSY, RAKING. (POETRY) COTTONWOOD REVIEW, 22 (Spring 1980), 9. EMANS. ELAINE V. SHARING IN SUBURBIA; ON DISCOVERING THAT ONE OF MY THREE BRAINS IS REPTILIAN. (POETRY) COLORADO NORTH REVIEW, 19 (SPRING 1980), 52. EMANS, ELAINE V. VILLANELLE FOR PRAIRIE DOGS. (POETRY) HICHIGAN QUARTERLY REVIEW, 19 (SPRING EMERSON, EVERETT SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. ENGEL, BERNARD F SEE HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN. ENGEL, BERNARD F SEE WRIGHT, JAMES, ENGEL, BERNARD F SEE HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN, ENGEL. BERNARD F. GOING ON. (POETRY) IN OTHER THAN SCHOLARLY WAYS. EAST LANSING, MI: YEARS ENGEL, BERNARD F. LO, THE LOWLY INDIAN. (CRITICISM) SSML NEWSLETTER, 10(1), SPRING 1980, ENGEL, BERNARD F. PLACE AND THE POEN. (CRIVICISM) SSWL NEWSLETTER. 10(1). SPRING 1980. 31-34. LENGLE, PAUL.). HOW "NOWHERE, USA" (IOWA CITY) BECANE THE "PARNASSUS OF AMERICAN WRITING". BY DEGNAN, JAMES P. (BIOGRAPHY) DES MOINES SUNDAY REGISTER. SEPTEMBER 28, 1980, 3C. EPPARD, PHILIP B SEE FULLER, HENRY BLAKE. ESBENSEN, BARBARA JUSTER. THE LONG GOODBYE. (POETRY) MILWAUKEE CHRONICLE. 1 (WINTER 1980). ESBENSEN, BARBARA JUSTER. THE GONIFF. (SHORT FICTION) 25 MINNESOTA WRITERS. EDITED BY S. Yeaner, Minneapolis: Nodin Press. 1980, 25-39. ESTLEMAN. LOREN D. MOTOR CITY BLUE. (NOVEL) BOSTON: HOUGHTON MIFFLIN, 1980. (DETROIT), ETTER, DAVE, AN ALBUN OF LEAVES: HAYSEEDS. (POETRY) CRAMLSPACE, 1 (FALL 1980). ETTER, DAVE, BDON BOOM ON B STREET. (POETRY) POETRY NOW, 28 (1980). ETTER, DAVE. CORNFILOS. (POETRY) POETRY POETRY POETRY PRESS, 1980. ETTER, DAVE. DECISION AT DUSK; MONDAY MORNING. (PDETRY) LONG POND REVIEW, 6 (1980). ETTER, DAVE, FAT; THE LAST SHOW IN TIJUANA; JCE PENNINGTON AND JCE PENNINGTON, JUNIOR. (POETRY) IMAGES, 7(1) 1980. ETTER. DAVE. GRASS ROOTS; GETTING AT THE TRUTH. (POETRY) MIDWEST QUARTERLY. 21 (WINTER 1980). ETTER, DAYE, HOME STATE, (PDETRY) STORY QUARTERLY, 10 (1980). ETTER, DAYE, HOMECOMING GAME: STORIES IN THE KITCHEN: TRACTOR ON MAIN STREET; ACORNS. (POETRY) SPOON RIVER QUARTERLY. 5 (SPRING 1980). ETTER, DAVE. HOMESICK IN A RIVER TOWN. (POETRY) HIDWEST QUARTERLY, 21 (SPRING 1980), 347. ETTER, DAVE. LOGAN'S CREEK. (POETRY) POETRY NOW, 27 (1980). ETTER, DAVE. LOGAN'S CREEK. (PUEINT) POLTRY NUW. 2/(1980). ETTER, DAVE. MANUSCRIPT. (POETRY) MIDNEST POLTRY REVIEW. 4(1) 1980). ETTER, DAVE. HE. MYSELF. AND I. (POETRY) CHUITEAU REVIEW. 4(1) 1980. ETTER. DAVE. PRECHANT. (POETRY) POLTRY) ADRAXES, 21-22 (1980). ETTER. DAVE. THE LAST SUMMER OF EUSTACIA HAWTHORNE; HOME COOKING. (PDETRY) CHARITON REVIEW, 6 ETTER DAVE, WAR OF THE HYBRIDS; FLOWER THIEF. (POETRY) SPOON RIVER QUARTERLY 5 (SUMMER 1980). EVANS, DAVID ALLAN. MINNESOTA; A PART OF THE GAME. (POETRY) KANSAS DUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER EVANS, DAVID ALLAN. NO FISHING. (POETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW, 2(3) 1980, 297. LTARRELL, JAKES T.), JAKES T.), JAKES T. FARRELL AS CRITIC: A LESSON IN LITERATURE. BY MODRE, STEPHEN. (CRITICISH) SOUTH ATLANTIC QUARTERLY, 70 (SPRING 1980), 152-67. (FARRELL, JAKES T.). NAGILL'S BIBLIDGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISH. BY HAGILL, FRANK. (IBLIDGRAPHY).(CRITICISH) ENGLEWODC CLIFFS. NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1970. (018LIGGRAPHY).(CRITICISH) ENGLEWODD CLIFFS. NJ: SALEM PHESS, 1979. (FARRELL, JANES 1.). THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKOWITZ, JEROME. (CRITICISM) AMES, IA: IDWA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. FEIGENNOFF, CHARLES SEE HCWELLS. WILLIAM DEAN. FELLOWES, PETER. THE FISHERMAN; BURIAL DF A GROUNDHOG. (POETRY) BLACK WARRIOR REVIEW. 7 (FALL 1980, 74-74. (FERBER, EDNA,). EDNA FERBER AND THE "THEATRICALIZATION" OF AMERICAN MYTHOLOGY. BY UFFEN ELLEN SERLEN. (CRITICISH) HIDWESTERN HISCELLANY VIII, (1980), 82-93. Ferguson, Mary Anne See Anderson, Shernodd. (FICKE, ARTHUR DAVISON.). ARTHUR DAVISON FICKE*S "TEN GROTESQUES". BY ROUT, KAY KINSELLA. (PGETRY) HIDVESTERM HISCELLARY VIII. (1980), 20-27. (FIELD. EUGENE.). HEVVILLE E STORE, EUGENE FIELD, AND THE BEGINNINGS OF CHICAGO LITERARY JOURNALISM. BY ANDERSEN, DAVID D. (CRITICISM) SSKL NEWSLETTER, 10(3), FALL 1980, (FINKEL. DONALD.). BLOOD OF THEIR BLODD; AN ANTHOLOGY OF POLISH-AMERICAN POETRY. BY CONTOSKI. VICTOR (EDITOR). (POETRY) ST PAUL, MN: NEW RIVERS PRESS, 1980. (FITZGERALD, F SCOTY.). WAGILL'S BIBLIOGRAPHY OF LIYERARY CRITICISM, BY MAGILL, FRANK.

BY GROSS, BARRY. (CRITICISM) MIDANERICA VI, (1979), 111-26.

(FITZGERALD, F SCOTT.). RETURN TO INNOCENCE: THE VALUE OF NICK CARRAWAY'S HIDWESTERN PERSPECTIVE IN F SCOTT FITZGERALD'S THE GREAT GATSBY, BY LUNDE, ERIK S. (CRITICISM) SSML NEWSLETTER, 10(2), SUMMER 19801, 14-23.

(FIIZGERALD, F SCOTT.). THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKDWITZ. JERONE. (CRITICISH) AMES. IA: IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980.

- (CRITICISH) ARES, LAI IUMA STATE UNIVERSITY FREES, 1900. (FIIZGERALD, F SCOTT.). AMERICAN DREAMS AND AMERICAN CITIES IN THREE POST-WORLD WAR I NOVELS. BY BREMER. SIDNEY H. (CRITICISH) SOUTH ATLANIC QUARTERLY. 79 (SUMMER 1980). 274-85. (FIIZGERALD, F SCOTT.). FOUR DECADES OF FIIZGERALD STUDIES: THE BEST AND THE BRIGHTEST. BY BRYER. JACKSON R. (BIELIOGRAPHY) TWENTIETH CENTURY LIFERATURE. 26 (SUMMER 1980).
- (FITZGERALD, F SCOTT.). SUPPLEMENT TO F SCOTT FITZGERALD: A DESCRIPTIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY. BY
- BRUCCOLI, NATTHEY J. (BIBLIOGRAPHY) PITTSBURGH: UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH PRESS, 1980. (FITZGERALD, F SCOTY.). FITZGERALD STUDIES IN THE 1970'S. BY PEROSA, SERGIO. (BIBLIOGRAPHY)
- TWENTIETH CENTURY LITERATURE, 26 (SUMMER 1980), 222-46. (FITZGERALD, F SCOTI.). "BOATS AGAINST THE CURRENT": MORTALITY AND THE MYTH OF RENEWAL IN THE GREAT GATSBY. BY STEINBRINK, JEFFREY. (CRITICISH) TWENTIETH CENTURY LITERATURE, 20 (SUMMER 1980), 157-70.
- (FIIZGERALD, F SCOTT,), THE FOREIGN CRITICAL REPUTATION OF F SCOTT FIIZGERALD: AN ANALYSIS AND ANNOTATED BIBLIOGRAPHY, BY STANLEY, LINDA C. (CRITICISH),(BIBLIOGRAPHY) WESTPORT, CT: GREENWOOD PRESS. 1980.
- (FITZGERALD, F SCOTT.). SCOTT'S CASE. BY VIDAL, GORE. (REVIEW ARTICLE) NEW YORK REVIEW OF BOOKS, 27 (1 NAY 1980), 12-20. (FITZGERALD, F SCOTT.). F SCOTT FITZGERALD AND THE ART OF SUCIAL FICTION. BY WAY, BRIAN.

- (RITICISM) (FICTION) HEW YORK: ST MARTIN'S PRESS, 1980. (RITICISM) (FICTION) HEW YORK: ST MARTIN'S PRESS, 1980. (FITZGERALD, F SCDIT.). MIDVESTERN WRITERS AND THE WYTH OF THE SEARCH. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D. (RITICISM) GEORGIA REVIEW, 34 (SFRING 1980), 131-43. (FITZGERALD, F SCDIT.). F SCDIT FITZGERALD AND ROMANIC DESTINY. BY LEMAN, RICHARD. (RITICISM) THEMIETH CENTURY LITERATURE, 26 (SUMMER 1980), 137-55. (FITZGERALD, F SCDIT.). THE CRISIS OF FITZGERALD'S "CRACK-UPM. BY DONALDSON, SCOTT.
- (CRITICISH) TWENTIETH CENTURY LITERATURE, 26 (SUNRER 1980), 171-88. (FIIZGERALD, F SCOTT.), THE WYTH OF GATSHY. BY MICHELSON, BRUCE. (CRITICISM) MADERN FICTION STUDIES, 26 (WINTER 1980-81), 563-77. (FIIZGERALD, F SCOTT.), WHISTLING "DIXIE" IN ENCING: THE LAST TYCOON AND F SCOTT FIIZGERALD'S
- TWO SOUTHS. BY ROULSTON, ROBERT. (CRITICISM) SOUTH ATLANTIC QUARTERLY. 79 (AUTUMN 1980), 355-63.
- (FITZGERALD, F SCOTT.). TRACES OF TOND-BUNGAY IN THE GREAT GATSBY. BY RDULSTON, ROBERT. (CRITICISH) JOURNAL OF NARRATIVE TECHNIQUE, 10 (WINTER 1980).68-76. (FITZGERALD, F SCOTT.). FROM GRIFFITH'S GIRLS TO DADDY'S GIRLS THE MASKS OF INNOCENCE IN
- TENDER IS THE NIGHT. BY PRIGOZY, RUTH. (CRITICISH) TWENTIETH CENTURY LITERATURE. 26 (SUMMER 1980), 189-221. (FITZGERALD, F SCOTT.). FITZGERALD'S THE GREAT GATSBY. BY PODIS. LEDNARD A. (CRITICISM)
- EXPLICATOR, 38 (SUMMER 1980), 10-11. Fitzgerald, F. Scott. Correspondence of F. Scott Fitzgerald. (Letters) edited by matthew J
- BRUCCOLI WITH MARGARET N DUGGAN AND SUSAN WALKER. NEW YORK: RANDON HOUSE, 1980. Flanagan, John T. A Glance at the literature of illindis. (Criticism) Story Quarterly, 10
- (1980), 60-66. Flanagan, John T. Poetic Voices in the Early Middle West. (Criticism) centennial review.
- 24(3) SUMMER 1980. 269-83.

160

- 24(3) SUMMER 1980, 209-83. Fleming, ESTHER SEE Lewis, Sinclair,* Fleming, Robert e see Lewis, Sinclair, Fletcher, Mary Dell see Heningay, Ernest. Flora, Joseph M see Manfred, Frederick.

- FLORA, JJSEPH M SEE MANFRED, FREDERICK. FOELLER, BLZBIETA SEE GARDNERR, JOHN. FOELLER, BLZBIETA SEE GARDNERR, JOHN. FOSTER, LINDA NEMEC, BACK IN NUMIANA. (POETRY] INVISIBLE CITY, 26-27 (AUGUST 1980), 9. FOSTER, LINDA NEMEC, BACK IN NUMIANA. (POETRY] INVISIBLE CITY, 26-27 (AUGUST 1980), 9. FOSTER, LINDA NEMEC, THE WIFE OF THE FIREMAN; OLD LOVER! THE FIRES DEATH; THE DEVIL AT CHARTRES CATHEORAL; PDEM FOR FOUR CHILDREN DEAD IN A FIRE IN DETROIT. HIGHELE IN JAPAM; ON A PICTURE OF RILKE; DETROIT. (POETRY) HIOVEST PDETRY, REVIEW, I (JULY 1980). 48-55.
- FOSTER. LINDA NEMEC. HOW THE GAME OF DEATH IS ULTIMATELY PLAYED. (POETRY) CORRIDORS, 1 (FEBRUARY 1980), 41. FRANKLIN, H BRUCE SEE HEINLEIN, RDBERT A. (FREEMAN, DANIEL,), FROM YOUR PLACE AND BEYOND, BY WHEELER, SYLVIA. (POETRY),(CRITICISH)
- MIDWESTERN MISCELLANY VIII, 1980, 61-70.
- FRIEDMAN, ELLEN G SEE DATES, JOYCE CAROL. FRIEDMAN, LED. WRITTEN WINDOWS. (PDETRY) CHICAGD, 1L: SKOKIE CREATIVE WRITERS ASSOCIATION. 1980.
- FRINAN, ALICE R. CONNUNION OF THE WINTER BIRDS; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 58.
- FRIMAN, ALICE R. JUNE WALK; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 59.
- (FULLER, HENRY BLAKE.). HE CAUGHT IT FOR THIS: FOUR LETTERS BY HENRY BLAKE FULLER. BY Scambray, Kenneth. (Correspondence), (Letters) American Literary Realism, 1870-1910, 13 (AUTUNN 1980), 266-69. (FULLER, HENRY BLAKE.), BAL ADDENDA: CODKE, FREDERIC, FREEMAN AND FULLER, BY EPPARD, PHILIP 8.
- (BIBLIOGRAPHY) PAPERS OF THE BIBLIOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY OF AMERICA, 74 (APRIL-JUNE 1980), 152-53.
- (FULLER, HENRY BLAKE.). ART IN CHICAGO: FULLER'S WITH THE PROCESSION. BY COUSER. (G THOMAS.
- (FULLER, HENRY BLAKE), ART IN CHICAGO: FULLER'S WITH THE PROCESSION, BY COUSER, G T (CRITICIAM) AMERICAN LITERARY REALISM, 1870-1910, 13 (SPRING 1980), 31-40. GARDNER, JDHN, FREODY'S BOOK, (NDVEL) NEW YORK: KNOPF, 1980, (GARDNER, JDHN,), ECCLESIASTICAL WISDOM AND NICKEL MOUNTAIN, BY HARRIS, RICHARD C, (CRITICISM) THENTIETH CENTURY LITERATURE, 26 (WINTER 1980), 424-31. (GARDNER, JDHN,), JOHN GARDNER, A BIBLIOGRAPHICAL PROFILE, BY HOWELL, JDHN MICHAEL,

- (SIRDNER, JUNEL), JUNE GARDNER, A BIDLUGARMILAL PROFILE, BI MUELL, JUNELL, (SIRDNER, JUNEL), CARBONALE, IL: SOUTHERN ILLINDIS UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980, (GARDNER, JUNEL), THE MYTHICAL HERDES OF JUNE BARTH AND JOHN GARDNER, BY FOELLER, ELZBIETA. (CRITICISMI KWARTALNIK NEDFILDLOGICZNY, 27 (1980), 183-97. (GARLAND, HAMLIN.), FEEDING AND CONSUMING IN GARLAND'S MAIN-TRAVELLED ROADS. BY MISCOE, DAVID
- W. (CRITICISN) WESTERN AMERICAN LIYERATURE, 15 (MAY 1980), 3-15. (Garland, Hamlin.). Magill's Bibliography of Literary Criticisn. By Magill, Frank.
- (GIRLAND, HAMLIN), MAGILL'S BIBLIGERAPHY OF LIFEMARY CRITICISM, BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBLIGGRAPHY)(CRITICISM) ENGLEWODD CLIFFS, NJ: SALEH PRESS, 1979. (GARLAND, HAMLIN), THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKONITZ, JEROME. (CRITICISM) AMES, IA: IGWA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1940, (GARLAND, HAMLIN), BACK TO MITCHELL COUNTY. BY ANDREWS, CLARENCE A. (BIGGRAPHY),(CRITICISM)
- NIDWESTERN HISCELLANY VII (1970). 15-24. (GASS. WILLIAM H.). THE EARLY FILITION OF WILLIAM H. GASS: A CRITICAL DOCUMENTARY. BY WHITE. Ray Lewis. (Criticisy) Hidamerica VII. (1900). 164-77.
- GAYLE. ADDISON JR SEE WRIGHT, JAMES.

- Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980
- GERBER, DAN. NIGHTS OF LOVE; ADAGIOS; DELDY ENIGRANT. (POETRY) POETRY NOW, 5 (SPRING 1980).

161

- GERBER. DAN. SLIPPING INTO THE DAY. (PDETRY) WAYNE REVIEW, FALL 1980. 37. GERNES, SONIA, BACK HOME IN INDIANA; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) Centering 5--Indiana Writes, 3(4), 1980, 70-71.
- GIBSON, MORGAN SEE REXROTH, KENNETH. GIBSON, MORGAN, STAYING IN THE BROOK: WAITING FOR LAD YZU; SLOWLY BECOMING CHINESE. (POETRY) ARK, 14 (1980), 193-197. GIBSON, MORGAN, THE FIRST WOMAN OF JAPAN. (SHORT FICTION) KYOTO REVIEW, 12 (SPRING 1980),
- 26-33
- GIBSON . WILLIAM M SEE DUNNE . PETER FINLEY .
- GIBSON, WILLIAM & SEE CLEMENS, SANUEL L. GIBSON, WILLIAM M SEE HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN,
- GIBBERT, SCOTT, JOHN BARLEYCORN'S GRAVE: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 16.
- GIROUX, JOYE S. CRUX CHITLORUH; ONAMA BEACH--THIRTY YEARS LATER; HAIKUS. (PDETRY) Convergence, Muskegon, MI: Revival Press, 1980, 5, 19, 97, 116.
- GIRQUX, JAYE S. LOVE DIES. (POETRY) WOMEN'S ART FESTIVAL. MT PLEASANT, MI: CENTRAL MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY, 1980, 23.

- UNIVERSITY, 1980, 23. GIROUX, JOYE S. RAINBOW. (PDETRY) PENINSULA POETS, 35 (FIRST QUARTER 1980), 13. GIROUX, JOYE S. SUMMER. (PDETRY) PENINSULA POETS, 35 (THIRD QUARTER 1980), 4. GIROUX, JOYE S. WHISPERS LOST IN THUNDER. (PDETRY) SEDONA, A2: WEEDPATCH PRESS, 1980. (GISSING, GEORGE.). UNKNOWN GISSING STORIES FROM CHICAGO. BY COUSTILLAS, PIERRE AND SELIG. ROBERT L. (FICTION) TIMES LITERARY SUPPLEMENT. 4054 (12 DECEMBER 1980), 1417-1418, (CHICAGO). (CHICAGD).

- CLAILAND; VOWS. (PDETRY) CHICAGO REVIEW, 32 (SUMMER 1980), 100. Galser, Elton. Vows. (PDETRY) CHICAGO REVIEW, 32 (SUMMER 1980), 100. Goldan, Deborah. Bear Grass. NPOETRY KANSAS QUAATERLY. 47 (WINTER 1980), 224-237. Goddman, Eric K. High on The Energy Bridge. (Novel) New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston. 1980. (KANSAS).(ST LOUIS).(MISSOURI).
- GOURDINE, DELCIE SOUTHALL, FORMERLY KNOWN AS HONEY. (SHORT STORIES) REDBODK, 155 (JUNE 1980),
- 35, 159, 161. GRABER, EDWIN C. GDLDEN STREETS ACROSS THE LAKE. (POETRY) FREEMAN, SD: PRIVATELY PUBLISHED. 1980.
- GRAF, PATRICK. ELIZABETH BISHOP IS DEAD; RIDDLED. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER
- 1980), 30-31. GRANGER, BILL, PUBLIC NURDERS, (NOVEL) NEW YORK: JOVE BOOKS, 1980, (CHICAGO),(ILLINDIS), (WYSTERY-DETECTION).
- GRAY, PATRICK WORTH. HUNT. (POETRY) KUDZU. 12 (1980). 13.
- GRAY, PAINICK WURHH. HUNI, (PUEINI) KUDLU 12 (1903) 13. GRAY, PAIRICK WORHH. FIFTEN, (POEINY) CHRISTIAN CENTURY, 97 (4 JUNE 1980), 635, GRAY, PAIRICK WORHH. FEAR: POSITION CLASSIFIER; TODAY WE STUDIES THE FARMER, DAD; VOWELS. (POEINY) WORHWOOD REVIEW, 20(2) 1960, 2-3. GRAY, PAIRICK WORTH. EVEN HER VIRTUES ARE BAD. (POEINY) SOUTHERN REVIEW (AUSTRALIA), 12(1) 1980. 74.
- GRAY, PATRICK WORTH. DUSK IN LYNNVILLE, ALABAMA. (PDETRY) POETRY NOW, 5(3) 1980, 19. GRAY, PATRICK WORTH. CIRCLMNAVIGATION. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY. 12 (FALL 19800, 19.

- GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, TERCHARYIGATIUM, TOCINTI KANAS GUARTERCT: 12 (TALL 190 GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, BODY, (POETRY) WEBSTER REVIEW, 5(1) 1980, 64. GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, THERE'S ALWAYS TIME. (POETRY) ARCHER: 25(3) 1980, 15. GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, TELEPHONE CALL. (POETRY) MALAHAT REVIEW, 5(4, (1980), 132. GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, TABLES. (POETRY) CONCERNING POETRY, 13(2) 1980, 64.

- GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, IDBLESS (POEIRY) CHRISTIAN POEIRS, 1362, 1960, 047, GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, POPLARSS, (POETRY) CHRISTIAN CENTURY, 97 (1 OCTOBER 1980), 911. GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, NEAR ROE, ARKANSAS; HEARING LOSS, (POETRY) ARIEL, 11(2) 1980, 80, GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, LONS, LOU, LOUDS, (POETRY) BLUE UNICORN, 3(2), 1980, 30, GRAY, PATRICK WORTH, LINES FOR MY FATHER, (POETRY) PRIOR INTERNATIONAL, 18(2) 1980, 93.
- GRAY, PATRICK WORTH. LABOR DAY; HANDS. (POETRY) WIND, 10(36) 1980, 23.
- GREASLEŸ, PHILIP SEE ANDERSON, SHERWOOD. Greeley, Andrew M. Death in April. (Novel) new York: Kcgraw-Hill, 1980, {Chicago},(Illingis), (Kystery-detection).
- GREGG, BARBARA T. COMPILERS SEE GREGG. JOHN T.
- GREGG. JOHN T. AND GREGG. BARBARA T. COMPILERS. BEST LOVED POEMS OF THE AMERICAN WEST. (POETRY) GARDEN CITY, NY: DOUBLEDAY, 1980. GRIBBEN, ALAN SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. GRIBBEN, ALAN SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. GRIBBEN, ALAN SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.

- GROSH. RONALO M SEE LOCKE, DAVID ROSS. GROSS, BARRY SEE FITZGERALD. F SCOTT.
- GROVER, DORYS CROW, ENCYCLE, (POETRY) ENGLISH IN TEXAS, 12 (FALL 1980), 23. Gruchow, Paul, the intimate immensity. (Short Fiction) great river review, 2(3) 1980, 300-309. (GUEST. JUDITH.). ORDINARY PEOPLE: EXTRORDINARY NOVEL. BY STARK. JOHN. (CRITICISM) NIDVESTERN
- MISCELLANY VIII. (1980). 71-81. GULFGRO, CHUCK, IN AN ALIEN (RAFT. (PDETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (SUMMER 1980), 139. Gunderson, Andy. City Pauses. (Pdetry] Easthampton. Ma: Adestra Press, 1980. Gunderson, Andy. Summer Modn. (Pdetry) MocCasin, 43 (Spring-Summer 1980), 5.
- GUNDERSON, ANDY. THE QUIET OF WINTER. (POETRY) MOCCASIN, 43 (AUTUMN-WINTER 1980), 6.
- GUNDERSON, KEITH, CONVERSATION--WITH KIETH GUNDERSON AND LINDA SHAPIRD, (CRITICISM) WILKWEED
- GUNDERSON, KEITH, CONVERSATION-WITH KIETH GUNDERSON AND LINDA SHAPIRU. (KRIILLISM) MILKWEED GRADNICLE, 113 FALL 1980, 24-26. Gutierrez, Victor (Pseudonym), See. Scheel, Mark. Hackenbruch, Carol R. Echdes; Tomatdes. (Pdetry) Great Lakes Review, 6 (Summer 1980), 32-33. Hadley, Dordthy Lee And Irwin, Annabelle B. We are Mesquakie, We are one, by Hadley Irwin. PSEUDONYR. (NOVEL) WESTBURY. NY: FEMINIST PRESS, 1980. (IGWA).(TAMA, IDWA).
- (NESQUAKIE SETTIENENT).
- HAFFENDEN, JOHN SEE BERRYKAN, JOHN. HAFFENDEN, E. R SEE HENINGWAY. ERNEST.
- HANN, STEVE, A JULY STORE: JOHNSON, NCHANA COUNTY, KANSAS; TEARING OUT THE PLASTER. (POETRY) KANSAS OLARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 106-107. HAITHMAN, DIAME SEE WILSON, ROBERT C. HAUTANI, YOSHINOBU SEE DREISER, THEODORE.

- HALL, JAMES NORMAN. OH MILLERSVILLE. BY FERN GRAVEL. PSEUDONYM. (FICTION) IOWA CITY, IA: Midwest Heritage Publishing Company, 1980. HIDWEST HERITAGE PUBLISHING COMPANY, 1980. Hall, Lynn, The Leaving, (Novel) New York: Scribner, 1980, (Iowa). Hallwas, John e see Marquis, don. Hallwas, John e see Ervant, John Howard. Hallwas, John e see Accounte, John L. Hallwas, John e see Carthright, Peter. (Halper, Albert, J. Albert Halper. by Hart, John Edward. (Biography) Boston: Twayne, 1980.

HAMILION, VIRGINIA. THE GATHERING. (JUVENILE FICTION) NEW YORK: GREENWILLOW, 1980. HANSON, CHARLES. DANDELION YEAR. (POETRY) MILKWEED CHRONICLE, 2 (JUNE 1980).

HANSON, CHARLES, NADEHOISELLE, (POETRY) FORMS, 4(2) 1980.

HANSON, CHARLES, SUN AND MOON, (PDETRY) PRISH, 1 (WINTER 1980). HANSON, CHARLES, SUN AND MOON, (PDETRY) PRISH, 1 (WINTER 1980). HANSON, CHARLES, THE TASTE OF SALT, (PDETRY) WIND-LITERARY JOURNAL, 39 (1980). (HARING, CYNTHIA.), CYNTHIA HARING: IOWA'S POET, MUSICIAN, AND PHILANTHROPIST. BY AUTHOR.

ANONYMOUS. (BIOGRAPHY), (CRITICISM) IOWA WOMAN, MARCH-APRIL, 1980, 13-16. (HARNER, CLARE.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND. LORRIN (BOITOR). (PDETRY) LAWRENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. HARRINGTON, JOYCE. NO ONE KNOWS MY NAME. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: ST HARTINFS PRESS. 1980.

(NICHIGAN), (MYSTERY-DETECTION).

HARRIS, A LESLIE SEE MORRISON, TONI.

HARRIS, MARK SEE BELLOW, SAUL. HARRIS, RICHARD C SEE GARDNER, JDHN.

- HART, JOHN EDWARD SEE HALPER, ALGERT, HASSELSTRON, LINDA M. RANCHER: 1864-1928. (PDETRY) HIDWEST QUARTERLY, 21 (WINTER 1980). 241-43. HASSLER, DONALD N. THE POET AND THE REPUBLIC AFTER MAY 4. (POETRY) KENT STATE TEN YEARS AFTER.
- KENT, DH: KENT POPULAR PRESS, 1980, 43. HATHAWAY, JEANINE, IN RANDOM FIELDS OF IMPULSE AND REPOSE. (PDETRY) GEORGIA REVIEW, 40

(SPRING 1980). 40.

HATTON. THOMAS J. & DUIET NIGHT. (DRAMA) LINA. DH: CSS PUBLISHING COMPANY. 1980. HATTON. THOMAS J. THE PETTICOAT SHERIFF. (DRANA) ELGIN. IL: PERFORMANCE PUBLISHING COMPANY. 1980.

HAWKINS, THOMAS. THE FISHERMAN. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (SUMMER 1980), 124. HAY. JOHN SEE HOWELLS. WILLIAM DEAN.

HAYASHI. TETSUMARD SEE HEMINGWAY, ERNEST.

HAYDEN, ROBERT. DOUBLE FEATURE; THE DDGWOOD TREES. (PDETRY) HICHIGAN QUARTERLY REVIEW, 19 (WINTER 1980), 92-93. HAZARD, JAMES, FIRE IN WHITING, INDIANA; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA.

MAARD, JAMES, FIRE IN WRITING, INDIANA: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 31(4), 1990, 27. MAZARD, JAMES, FROM DUR TUB, TO MY WIFE: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 31(4), 1990, 28-20. MAZARD, JOHN, BY THE CHAPEL, NEAR THE POND. (POETRY) CORFIDENS, 2 (SUMMER 1980), 23. (HEAD, CLOVD), EXPERIMENTATION IN THE CHICAGO LITTLE THEATRE: CLOVE HEAD'S GROTESQUES. BY ATLAS, MARILYM JUDITH. (DRAMA).CHICAGOD HIDMESTERN MISCELLANY VIII. 1980, 7-10.

(HECHT, BEN.), THE FIVE LIVES OF BEN HECHT, BY FETHERLING, DOUG. (BIOGRAPHY) NEW YORK: NEW YORK ZOETROPE, 1980.

YORK ZUCHADES, 1983. HEDIN, MARY, FLY AWAY HOME. (SHORT FICTION) IOWA CITY, IA: UNIVERSITY OF IOWA PRESS, 1980. (HEINLEIN, ROBERT A.). ROBERT A HEINLEIN: AMERICA AS SCIENCE FICTION. BY FRANKLIN, H BRUCE. (BIOGRAPHY) NEW YORK: OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. HELLEG. JANET RUTH. ATTEMPTED EVICTION. (PDETRY) CHICAGO LITERARY REVIEW, 26 SEPTEMBER 1980.

HELLER, JANET RUTH, THE LOVER AS HISTORIAN. (POETRY) POETRY OUT OF WISCONSIN, 5 (1980), 97. HELLER, JANET RUTH. FOR RACHEL AT PURIM TIME. (POETRY) JEWISH CURRENTS, 34 (APRIL 1980), 8. Heller, Janet Ruth. on USING My Nother's College Textbook. (Poetry) Anima, 7 (Fall 1980), 18.

(HEMI GWAY, ERNEST.). THE IRONY AND SIGNIFICANCE OF TWO EARLY FAULKNER AND HEHINGWAY PDENS APPEARING IN THE DOUBLE DEALER. BY MORTON, BRUCE. (PDEIRY),(CRITICISM) ZEITSCHRIFT

FUER ANGLISTIK UND AMERIKANISTIK. 28 (1900). 284-38. (Hemingway, Ernest.), "Only ley the story end as soon as possible": Time-And-History in Ernest Memingway: in our the. 39 Magemann. E. R. (Criticish) Hodern Fiction STUDIES, 26 (SUMMER 1980), 255-62.

GIUDIES 20 (SUMMER 1900) 235-02. (HEMINGWAY, ERNEST.). ANDERSCH'S PRIVATE REACTION TO THE TORRENTS OF SPRING. BY WHITE, RAY LEWIS. (CRITICISM) WODERN FICTION STUDIES, 26 (WINTER 1980-81), 635-37. (HEMINGWAY, ERNEST.). A NOTE ON TWAIN AND HEMINGWAY, BY BIER, JESSE. (CRITICISM),(BIOGRAPHY)

MIDEMINGMAY* ENRIST.). A NOTE UN TWAIN AND HEMINGMAY. BY BIER. JESSE. (CRITICISM).(BIDGRAPHY) NIDMEST DUARTERLY. 21 (WINTER 1980). 261-65. (HEMINGMAY* ERREST.). ADDENDA TO THE DIBLIDGRAPHIES OF BOYLE. CONRAD. DE FOREST. ELLOT. FORD. HEMINGMAY. HULLY. WHATTON. AND WOOLF. BY MONTEIRO. GEORGE. (BIDLIDGRAPHY) PAPERS OF THE BIBLIDGRAPHICAL SOCIETY OF AMERICA. 74 (APRIL-JUNE 1980). 153-55. (HEMINGMAY. ERREST.). EXISTENTALISM IN THE NOVELS OF HEMINGWAY AND CAMUS. BY ALLADI. UNA K. (CRITICISM) LITERARY HALF-YEARLY. 21 (JULY 1980). 43-51.

(HEMINGWAY, ERNEST.). HEMINGWAY'S THE OLD MAN AND THE SEA. BY PRICE. S DAVID. (CRITICISM)

(HEMINGMAY, ERNEST.). HEMINGMAY'S THE OLD MAN AND THE SEA. BY PRICE. S DAVID. (CRITICISM) EXPLICATOR. 38 (SPRING 1980). 5. (HEMINGMAY. ERNEST.). A CLEAN WELL-LIGHTED PLACE. BY PLIMPTON, GEDRGE. (CRITICISM) NEW YORK Review OF BOOKS. 27 (16 DECEMBER 1980). 50-50. (HEMINGMAY. ERNEST.). HEMINGMAY'S "HILLS LIKE WHITE ELEPHANTS". BY FLETCHER. MARY DELL. (CRITICISM) EXPLICATOR. 38 (SUMMER 1980). 10-18. (HEMINGMAY. ERNEST.). HEMINGMAY AT COLUMBIA POINT: THE KENNEDY LIBRARY HOLDINGS. BY AUGUST, JO. (CRITICISM) MILSON LIBRARY BULLETIN. 65 IGECEMBER 1980), 267-71. (HEMINGMAY, ERNEST.). THE PROSE STYLE OF SELECTED WORKS BY ERNEST MEMINGMAY, SHERWODD ANDERSON AND FEDTUDE STEL. BY LOWAR. DOWNS. BY ERNEST MEMINGMAY, SHERWODD ANDERSON AND FEDTUDE STEL. BY LOWAR. DOWNS. BY ERNEST MEMINGMAY, SHERWODD ANDERSON AND FEDTUDE STEL. BY LOWAR. DOWNS. BY ERNEST MEMINGMAY, SHERWODD

ANDERSON AND GERTRUDE STEIN. BY ARDAT. AHMAD K. (CRITICISM) STYLE, 14 (WINTER 1980),

OPPORTUNITIES. BY HAVASHI. TETSUMARD. (BIBLIDGRAPHY), (CRITICISM) METUCHEN, NJ: Scarecrow Press. 1980.

STAREHOW PRESS, 1980. (HEMINGWAY, ERREST.). THE SHAPE OF EQUIVOCATION IN ERREST HEMINGWAY'S FOR WHOM THE BELL TOLLS. BY THORNE. CREATH S. (CRITICISH) AMERICAN LITERATURE, 51 (JANUARY 1980), 520-35. (HEMINGWAY, ERREST.). HEMINGWAY AND THE FILM. BY PHILIPS. GENE D. (FILM STUDIES).(CRITICISH) MENNEW YORK: FREDERICK UNGAR, 1980.

NEW TURK: FREDERICK UNDARN, 1980. HENDRICKSON: WALTER B. THE REN'S LITERARY CLUBS OF JACKSONVILLE. (BIDGRAPHY),(BIBLIOGRAPHY) WESTERN ILLINDIS REGIONAL STUDIES, 3 (SPRING 1980), 66-83. HEPLER, JOHN SEE CURNDOD, JAMES DLIVER.

HERIER, JUNN BEE CONBUDD, JAMES DLIVER. HERIEN, TERRY, AUGUSTI BACK ENTRANCE (PDETRY) OUTERBRIDGE, NUMBERS 4-5 (SPRING 1980), 25-26, HERNESN, TERRY, OCTOBER (INE SUBURBS MOVING OUT. THE HARVEST COMING INJ. (PDETRY) PIG IRON, B (DECEMBER 1980), 88.

HEYECK. ROBIN SEE CATHER. WILLA.

Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980

163

HILBERRY, CONRAD, HOUSEMARKS. (POETRY) MT HOREB, WI: PERISHABLE PRESS, 1980. HILDERRY, CONRAD, HUJGERARRS, LYDERKIJ HI HUMREJ IL PERISHABLE PHESS, 1960, HILBERRY, CONRAD, MAN IN THE ATTIC, (POETRY) CLEVELAND, OH: BITS PRESS, 1960, HILD, HARDLD, THE SUBILE BEAR, (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 139. HILL, PATRICIA LIGGINS SEE KNIGHT, ETHERIDGE. HILL, PATRICIA LIGGINS SEE KNIGHT, ETHERIDGE.
 HILLEBRAND, ROBERT. BEING ALONE. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 133.
 HINO, STEPHEN. THE DAY MOPPY FELL DFF THE TRAINT HORSECATCHER: AFTER OKLAHOMA. (POETRY) MIDWEST QUARTERLY, 21 (SUMMER 1980), 443-45.
 HINO, STEVEN. FAMILIAR GREUND. (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: COTTONWOOD PREVIEW PRESS, 1980.
 HINE, DARYL. SELECTED POEMS. (PDETRY) NEW YORK: ATHENEUM. 1980, TORONTO: OXFORD UNIVERSITY PORCE 1980. MINE, DARTE, SELECTED POERS, SPOENT, REFIGURE FORMERED FOR THE SELECTED POERS, 1980. HIRST, GOBERT H SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. HIRST, ROBERT H SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.Z HOFFMAN, CARL, THISTER; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5-INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 62. B-FINAN, RUTH CASSEL. VISITING YOUR NEW HOUSE; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) CENTERING 5-INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 63. (FUELINY) CENTERIANG D-INDIANA WAITES, Stati 1900, 03. Holden, Jonathan See Stafford. Holden, Jonathan See Greeley. Robert. Holden, Jonathan See Gly, Robert. Holden, Jonathan Sodi Washing MY Son. (Pdetry) Kansas Quarterly, 12 (Winter 1980), 7-8. HOLLO, ANSELM, FINITE CONTINUED. (POETRY) NEW YORK: HARPER, 1980. Hollo, Anselm, Finite Continued. (Poetry) New York: Harper, 1980. Hollo, Parricia See Boyle, Kay. HOLT, PATRICIA SEE HUYE, KAY. HOLT, PATRICIA SEE BLY, ROBERT. (HODPES, HELEN RHODA.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) LAWRENES, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1978. (HOWE, EDGAR WAISON.). THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKOWITZ, JEROME. (CRITICISM) ANES, IA: 10MA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS. 1980. HOWE, FANNY. THE WHITE SLAVE. (HOVEL) NEW YORK: AVON, 1980, (MISSOURI).(KANSAS). HOWELL, JOHN MICHAEL SEE GARDNER, JOHN. (HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.). SEXUALITY IN THE LEATHERWOOD GOD. BY FEIGENHOFF, CHARLES. (HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.), SEAUALIT IN THE LEARNEAWDU GUD GUD THE THERE OF BURNENS (RTITICISM) STUDIES IN THE NOVEL, 12 (FALL 1980), 183-101. (HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.), THE WORLD OF CHANCE: HOWELLS' HAWTHORNIAN SELF-PARODY. BY DENNIS. SCOTT A. (RTITICISM) AMERICAN LITERATURE, 52 (MAY 1980), 279-93. (HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.), HORE ON HOWELLS IN BELMONT: A LETTER TO THE TRANSCRIPT AND "A PERFECT SUCCESS*. BY DE B MERRILL. GINETTE. (CRITICISN) HARVARD LIBRARY BULLETIN, 28 (ARRIL 1980), 170-74. PERFELT SUCCESST. UT DE D HERRICL, GLAEFIES CONTILIER, FARNER LIDEARD SUCLETIN 20
(ARTIL 1980), 170-74.
(HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.). W D HOWELLS AT KITTERY POINT. BY NOROLOH, DAVID J. (BIOGRAPHY) HARVARD LIBRARY BULLETIN. 28 (OCTOBER 1980), 431-37.
(HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.). JOHN HAY-HOWELLS LETTERS: THE CORRESPONDENCE OF JOHN HAY AND WILLIAN DEAN HOWELLS, 1861-1905. EDITED BY GEORGE HOWTEIRO AND B MURPHY. BY HAY. JOHN. (CORRESPONDENCE).(LETTERS) BOSTON. MA: TWAYNE, 1980.
(HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.). THEODORE RODSEVELT AMONG THE HUMORISTS; W D HOWELLS. NARK TWAIN. AND M DODLEY. BY GIBSGNE PRESS. 1980.
(HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.). THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKOWITZ. JEROME. (CRITICISH) AMES. IA: IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS. 1980.
(HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.). THE GENTEEL POETRY OF WILLIAM DEAN HOWELLS. BY ENGEL. BERNARD F. (CRITICISH) MIDAMES. IA: 100A STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS. 1980.
(HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.). REDTOP AND THE BELNONT YEARS OF W D HOWELLS. AND HIS FAMILY. BY DE B MERRICL, SULLIAM DEAN.). REDTOP AND THE BELNONT YEARS OF W D HOWELLS AND HIS FAMILY. BY DE B MERRILL GIANDER. MERRILL, GINETTE. (BIOGRAPHY), (CRITICISH) HARVARD LIBRARY BULLETIN, 28 (JANUARY 1980). 33-57. (HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.). WILLIAM DEAN HOWELLS AND THE VERSE GRAMA. BY ENGEL, BERNARD F. (CRITICISM) ESANS IN LITERATURE AND ART: STRUCTURES OF REALISM IN THE FICTION OF HOWELLS AND JAMES. BY G'DONNELL. PATRICK. (CRITICISM) ETUDES ANGLAISES. 33 (APRIL-JUNE 1980), 142-55. (HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN.), WILLIAM DEAN HOWELLS AND THE AMERICAN LANGUAGE. BY NETTELS, ELSA. (CRITICISH) NEW ENGLAND QUARTERLY, 53 (SEPTEMBER 1980), 308-28. Howing, Eda. Lifting the Edge. (Poetry) francestown, NH: Golden Quill Press, 1980. HOWINK, EDA. THE WE AND THE OTHER. (POETRY) FRANCESTOWN, NH: GOLDEN QUILL PRESS, 1980. Howink, Eda. They lived their lives. (Poetry) Francestown, NH: Golden Quill Press, 1980. Hueter, Diane. Kansas: Just Before Sleep. (Poetry) Lawrence, KS: Cottonwood Review Press. UNIVERSITY OFKANSAS PRESS, 1978. (HUGHES, LANGSTON.). LANGSTON HUGHES OF KANSAS, BY SCOTT, MARK. (BIOGRAPHY) KANSAS HISTORY. 3 HURI, JANES SEE HATCHEN, ADRAMANS Huri, Janes See Hasters, Bogar Lee. (INGE, William.), Hagill's Bibliography of Literary Criticism. By Hagill, Frank. (Bibliography) Engleydog Cliffs, NJ: Salem Press, 1979. Ingram. Alvcg. Gainfully Employed. (Sugrt Fiction) 25 Minnesota Writers, Edited by S Yesner. INGRAM. ALYCE, GAINFULLY EMPLOYED, (SHORT FICTION) 26 MINNESOTA WRITERS, EDITED BY S YESM MINNEAPOLIS, MN: NODIN PRESS, 1980. (Rey, KENNETH.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1978. IRVIN. MINNEELLE B SEE HADLEY, DOROTHY LEE JACOBSON, DALE. POEMS FOR GOYA'S DISPARATES. (POETRY) LOS ANGELES, CA: JAZZ PRESS, 1980. JANOWITZ, PHYLLIS. MS MARQUETTE SPEAKS IN HER HEAD, TO TED, IN MUNCTE, INDIANAS IN THE LAND Locked Heart-Poems from Indiana. (Pdetry) centering 5--indiana writes 3(4), 1980, JANDWITZ, PHYLLIS, NORA: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--PDEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING JANDWITZ, PHYLLIS. NGRA; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POENS FROM INDIANA. (DUEINT) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1960.67. Johnson, Claudia. The Death of HR GTIS YGUNG; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (DOERNY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1960.46. Johnson, Michael L. The Unicorn Captured. (POETRY) Lawrence. KS: CottonwGOD Review Press, University of Kansas, 1980. Johnson, Nichael L. Grydlas; December Sumset; Franz Marc's Blue Horses. (POETRY) tree 11. Collection of Poetry and Fiction, Edited by D Bertram. Fort Worth, TX: SLEEPY TREE, 1980, 85-58. JDHNSON, MICHAEL L. A COMPLAINT TO DIANE. (PDETRY) BLACKBERRY. 11 (SPRING 1980). 3. JOHNSON, MICHAEL L. ON LEONARDD'S PORTRAIT OF CECILIA GALLERANI. (PDETRY) PACIFIC PDETRY AND FICTION REVIEW. 8 (SPRING 1980). 44. JOHNSON. MICHAEL L. MANCY, VOU DANCE. (PDETRY) TEXAS REVIEW. 1 (SPRING 1980). 61. JOHNSON. MICHAEL L. MILKY WAY. (PDETRY) SOU'WESTER. 8 (SPRING 1980). 20. JOHNSON. MICHAEL L. MENGRY OF A BRIEF AFFAIR. (NOETRY) LAREL REVIEW. 14 (SUMMER 1980). 37. JOHNSON. MICHAEL L. MENGRY OF A BRIEF AFFAIR. (NOETRY) LAREL REVIEW. 14 (SUMMER 1980). 37. JOHNSON. MICHAEL L. MANCY. YOL ANCE. SALVADOR DALI. (PDETRY) GLD MICKORY REVIEW. 12 TREE, 1980, 65-58.

(SPRING-SUMMER 1980), 12.

JOHNSON, MICHAEL L. JANUARY. (POETRY) CUMBERLANDS, 17 (WINTER-SPRING 1980], 35. Johnson, Michael L. The Indiana in Lawrence, Kansas. (Poetry) Rawn Review, 3(1-2) 1980, 78.

JOHNSON, MICHAEL L. I ONLY ALOUD: WORDSWORTH REVISED. (PDETRY) BLUE UNICORN, 3 (FEBRUARY 19801. 13.

JOHNSON, MICHAEL L. TO KATHLEEN'S PEKINGESE. (POETRY) HIGH-COD, 5 (AUGUST 1980). Johnson, MICHAEL L. TO A SLANDERER; FOR SANDY. (POETRY) TOUCHSTONE. 4 (SPRING 1980). 28, 30. Johnson, Michael L. Television. (Poetry) guickenings, 33 (Summer 1980), 12.

JOHNSON, MICHAEL L. HELEYISION. (PDEINY) QUILENINGS, 33 (SUMARI 1900), 12. JOHNSON, MICHAEL L. SUMI-EI ON KLINY'S GER KNESSI ADAGIDI AGING DEMI-VIERGE; HOUSE AFTER FIRE. (PDETRY) MIDWESI CHAFPARAL, (SPRING-SUMMER 1980), 3, 5, 9, 0, 12. JOHNSON, MICHAEL L. SANDY IN MARCH. (PDETRY) PULLP, 6(1) 1980, 11. 14. JOHNSON, MICHAEL L. RESOLUTION AND DEPENDENCE. (PDETRY) MODUS OPERANDI, 11 (JANUARY-FEBRUARY

JOHNSON, MICHAEL L. A RELATIVISTIC EPIGRAM: RAGE FOR DROER. (POEYRY) HOOSIER CHALLENGER, 12 (SPRING 1980), 34- 37. (JOHNSON, RONALD.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR), (POETRY)

LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. (JOHNSON, RUTH K.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN PDETRY, BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY)

LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978 JOHNSON, WAYNE L SEE BRADBURY, RAY.

JUNSON, MAINE L SEE BRADDUNT, KAI. JUNSON, JOHN, NORTH OF ATHENS. (POETRY] PEORIA, 1L: SPOON RIVER PRESS, 1080. JUNG, RUBY S. W. DRAGON'S FOSTERLING. (SHORY FICTION) DRAGDNTALES. LAKE GENEVA, WI: DRAGON

KEECH, SCOTT. CIPHERED. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: HARPER AND ROW, 1980. (MIDWEST). (MYSTERY AND DETECTION).

DETECTION]. KELLNER, BRUCE SEE VAN VECHTEN, CARL. (KELP, HARRY.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY, BY LELAND, LORRIN, (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1978. KENZIE, MARGARET. NEVER ENDING: SPRING; REMEMBERING ANNA: STILL: THE CROSSROADS; PICASSO.

(DOTRY) THE DOT: GOITED BY DI NEMETHE MEETING ANNA: STILL; THE CROSSROADS; PICASSO. (DOTRY) THE DOT: GOITED BY DI NEMETH. MISHAWAKA, IN: FINE ARTS SOCIETY, 1980, 76, 104, 182, 213, 232, 330. (RERLIKOWSKE, ELIZABETH, JAMES. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 34-35. (RERNER, DAVID SEE HEMINGWAY, ERNEST.

KEYES, DANIEL, THE FIFTH SALLY, (NOVEL) BOSTON: HOUGHTON NIFFLIN, 1980. KIENZLE, WILLIAM X. DEATH WEARS A RED HAT. (NOVEL) KANSAS CITY: ANDREWS AND MCMEEL, 1980. (DETRDIT), (MICHIGAN), (MYSTERY AND DETECTION). (KIENZLE, WILLIAM X.). PW INTERVIEWS WILLIAM X XIENZLE, BY DUNN, BILL. (INTERVIEWS) PUBLISHERS WEEKLY, 217 (18 APRIL 1980), 6-7.

KIESEL. HARGARET MATLACK SEE SUCKOW, RUTH.

KILDEREN ROBERT SEE KNOEFLEW. JOHN. KILLOREN. ROBERT SEE KNOEFLEW. JOHN. (KILLOREN. ROBERT SEE KNOEFLEW.JOHN.) (KILLOREN. ROBERT ST. INDEFENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1976. KING, CYNTHIA. BEGGARS AND CHOGSERS. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: VIKING, 1980. (HISHELA. W.P. SHOFLEGS JOE JACKSON COMES TO IOWA. (SHORT FICTION) DITAWA. CANADA: OBERGN PRESS. 1980. (HIDVEST).

PACSS 1900 (HIDRES)]. KN2IE WARY RESURECTION: FROM GRACE THE MIND & OROP OF MANNA DEW; PARTING INSCRIPTION. (PDETRY) SOUTHERN REVIEW, 16 (SUMMER 1980), 604-607. KIRILEY-DYER, S. THE WOMAN'S LAMENT. (PDETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980), 36.

KLAIN, ROSEMARY. IN THE LAND OF WILK AND HONEY. (SHORT FICTION) GREAT RIVER REVIEW, 2(3),

KLASNE, WILLIAM, STREET COPS. (NOVEL) ENGLEWDOD CLIFFS, NJ: PRENTICE-HALL, 1980, (CHICAGO),

(ILLINGIS). (MYSTERY-DETECTION). KLEIN, JERRY, PLAYED IN PEORIA. (ESSAYS) PEORIA, IL: KICKAPOD PRESS, 1980.

KLEIN, NIA SEE ANDERSON, SHERWOOD.

KLEIS, DAVID JOHN, MAN BERKETATH THE STARS. (PDETRY] DETRDIT: HARLO PRESS, 1980. KLEIS, DAVID JOHN, THE SEASON'S OF JESUS' LIFE (THE LAST DAYS OF JUDAH'S LION). (POETRY) DESTROIT, MI: HARLO PRESS. 1980.

- KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE ALGREN, NELSON, KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE YONNEGUT, KURT, KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE HOWE, EDGAR WATSON, i KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE HOWELLS, WILLIAM DEAN, KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE CLEMENS, SAWUEL L, KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE CLEMENS, SAWUEL L,
- KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE DREISER, THEODORE. KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE GARLAND, HAMLIN.

- KLINKOWIIZ, JEROME SEE GARLANO, HAMLIN. KLINKOWIIZ, JEROME SEE FARRELL, JAMES T. KLINKOWIIZ, JEROME SEE FARRELL, JAMES T. KLINKOWIIZ, JEROME SEE CONROV, JACK.
- KLINKOWITZ, JEROME SEE NOTLEY, WILLARD.

KLINKGUITZ, JERGME SEE HOTLEY, WILLARD. KLINKGUITZ, JERGME SEE BELLOW, SAUL. (KINIGHT, ETHERIDGE.), "THE VIOLENT SPACE": THE FUNCTION OF THE NEW BLACK AESTHETIC IN ETHERIDGE KNIGHT'S PRISON POETRY. BY HILL. PATRICIA LIGGINS. (CRITICISM) BLACK AMERICAN LITERIURE FORUMA: 14 (FALL 1980). 115-21. (KNOEPPLE, JOHN.), JGHN KNOEPPLE: NIDWESTERN MASTER, BY KILLDREN, ROBERT. (BIOGRAPHY), (CRITICISM) FOCUS NIDWEST. 14 (SEPTEMBER 1980), 8-11. KODLER, J F SEE HEMINGWAY, ERNEST.

KUBLER: J F SEE HEMINGWAY: ERMEST. KOCH, WILLIAM E. FURLKLORE FROM KANSAS; CUSTOMS, BELIEFS, AND SUPERSTITIONS. (FOLKLORE) LAWRENCE, KS: REGENTS PRESS OF KANSAS, 1060. (KANSAS). KODSER, TED. FATHER. (POETRY) PRAIRIE SCHODMER, 84 (WINTER 1980-81), 22-23. KODSER, TED. WIS JONES. (POETRY) HIDWEST OUARTERLY, 21 (SPRING 1980), 351. KODSER, TED. SURE SIGNS: NEW AND SELECTED POEMS. (POETRY) PITTSBURGH, PA: UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH PRESS, 1980.

PITTSBURGH PRESS, 1980. KORNBLUM, ALLAN. ANKWARD SONG. (PDETRY) WEST BRANCH, IA: TOOTHPASTE PRESS, 1980. KORT. WESLEY A SEE HEMINGVAY. ERNEST. KOSTELANETZ. RICHARD SEE BERRYMAN, JOHN. KOVACINY. GREGORY ALAN. HARD FALL. (POETRY) LYRICAL 10WA, 35 (1980), 38. KRAUTH. LELAND SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. KUMAR, P SHIY SEE BELLOW, SAUL.

KUMAR, P SHIY SEE BELLUM, SAUL. Kummings, donald. The year round in Indiana, in a fine frenzy rolling; in the land locked Heart--Pdems from Indiana. (Pdetry) centering 5--indiana writes. 3(4), 1980. 68-69.

KUZMA, GREG. YOU. (POETRY) NIDWEST QUARTERLY, 21 (SPRING 1980), 352-53. LABRIE, ROSS SEE NEMERDY, HOWARD, Ladenson, Joyce R see Anderson, Sherwood, LADENSON, JOYCE & SEE PIERCY, MARGE. LAUENSUN, JUTCE K SEE PIERCT, MARGE. LANGLAND, JOSEPH. ANY BODY'S SONG. (POETRY) GARDEN CITY, NY: DOUBLEDAY, 1980. LANUE, CAROL FEISER. WITH DUE RESPECTS. (POETRY) LIVE WRITERS LOCAL ON TAP, 1 (WINTER 1980). 62. (LARCON, LUCY.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN. (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CANTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CANTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. (LARDNER, RING.), SMALL TOWN CHICAGO: THE COMIC PERSPECTIVE OF FINLEY PETER DUNNE, GEORGE ADE. AND RING LARDNER. BY DE MUTH, JAMES. (BIOGRAPHY). (CRITICISM) PORT WASHINGTON, NY: KENNIKET PRESS, 1980. LASALLE, PETER, THE GRAVES OF FAMOUS WRITERS: AND OTHER STORIES. (SHORT FICTION) COLUMBIA, MD: MISSOURI UNIVERSITY PRESS. 1980. LATTIN, PATRICIA HOPKINS SEE CHOPIN. KATE. LAWRENCE, FRANK N SEE HEMINGWAY. ERNEST. KENNIKET POESS. 1980. LAVENDER, WILLIAM, CHILDREN OF THE RIVER. (NOVEL) NEW YORKI JOVE, 1980, (INDIANA), (OHID RIVER). LAZARUS, A. L. INDIANA GDTHIC; IN THE LAND LOCKED REART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) LAZARUS, A. L. INDIANA GOTHIC; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 314), 1980, 46. LAZARUS, A. L. INDIANA TRYELER'S AGENT; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 314), 1980, 47. LE GATES, CHARLOTTE SEE TARKINGTON, 500TH. LEA, SYDNEY, SEARCHING THE DROWNED NAN. (PDETRY) URBANA, IL: UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS PRESS, 1980, (ILLINDIS). LEE, DORDTHY H SEE WRIGHT, RICHARD. LEE, GEORGE, HAGEE HARSHI POEM. (POETRY) GREAT LAXES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980), 37-38. LEGGETT, STEPHEN. THE ALL-FOREST. (POETRY) SHEPHERD, MI: WAVES, 1980. LEMAN, RICHARD SEE FITIGERALD. F SCOTT. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE HARNER, CLARE. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE JOHNSON, RONALO. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE SUDERMAN, ELMER. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE SOCIARAMY LENDY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE MOSES. W R. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE DEWEY, AL. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE REIFER, LORA D. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE REIFER, LORA D. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE REITER, LORA D. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE KILLOREN, ROBERT. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE CONTOSKI, VICTOR. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE IRBY, KENNETH. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE HLLDIT, HARLEY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE HODDES, HELEN RHOA. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE SCNEDER, RICHARD E. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE SCNEDER, RICHARD E. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE HCCARROLL, DILLY. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE MCCARROLL, DILLY. Leland, Lorrin (Editor) see Murrow, Marco. Leland, Lorrin (Editor) see Ryun, Kathryn White. Leland, Lorrin (Editor) see Ward, May Williams. Leland, Lorrin (Editor) see Nunro, Rosamond Burgess. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE JOHNSON, RUTH M. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE DECKER, EDNA, LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE DECKER, EDNA, LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE WHEELER, KENNETH. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE WHEELER, SYLVIA. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE DEUTSLER, VERA. LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR) SEE SYKES, VELMA. Leland, Lorrin See Crafton, Jessica. LELAND, LORRIN SEE CRAFTON. ALLEN. LELAND, LORRIN SEE DRANHELL, P ROY. LELAND, LORRIN SEE EDSDN. CHARLES LEROY. LELAND, LORRIN SEE KEMP. HARRY. LELAND. LORRIN SEE LARCOM. LUCY. LELAND, LORRIN SEE LANG, SOLDHON L. LELAND, LORRIN SEE MAY, CELESTE, LELAND, LORRIN SEE MAY, CELESTE, LELAND, LORRIN SEE MOODY, JOEL, LELAND, LORRIN SEE METCALF, J M. LELAND, LORRIN SEE METGALF, J M. LELAND, LORRIN SEE MASDN, WALT-LELAND, LORRIN SEE MCMILLEN, MARY ANDERSON-LELAND, LORRIN SEE NORTON, MENRY GRACE. LELAND, LORRIN SEE PEACOCK THOMAS BROWER. LELAND, LORRIN SEE STEPHENS, KATE. LELAND, LORRIN SEE WHITTIER, JOHN GREENLEAF, Leland, Lorrin See Ware, Eugene Fitch. LELAND, LUMRIN SEE WARE, BUGENE FITCH-LELAND, LORRIN SEE WARE, BUGENE FITCH-LELAND, LORRIN SEE WATHLES, WILLIARD. LENSE, EDWARD, WARENINGUD, (POETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF AMERICAN POETR, BEVERLY HILLS, CA: MONITOR BODK COMPANY, 1980. LENSE, EDWARD, WOLF DREAM, (POETRY) CORNFIELD REVIEW, 5 (MAY 1980). 5. LENSE, ELMORE. CITY PRIMEWAL: HIGH NOON IN DETROIT, (NOVEL) NEW YORK: ARBOR HOUSE, 1980, (DETROIT).(MICHIGAN).(MYSTERY-DETECTION). LEVINE, PHILIP. THE DOCTOR OF STARLIGHT: THE OWE I AM. (POETRY) MICHIGAN QUARTERLY REVIEW, 19 (SUMMER 1980). 299-302. (LEVINE, PHILIP.) INTERVIEW WITH PHILIP LEVINE. BY REMNICK, DAVID. (CRITICISM).(INTERVIEWS) MICHIGAN QUARTERLY REVIEW, 19 (SUMMER 1980), 283-98. LEWIN, MICHAEL 2. OUTSIDE IN. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: KNOPF. 1980. (INDIANOPDIIS).(INDIANA). (MYSTERY-DETECTION). (LEVIS, CHARLES M.). M QUAD -- NICHIGAN'S MOST FAMOUS HUNORIST. BY BRADSHAW, JAMES STANFORD. (HUNDR).(CRITICISM).(BIGGRAPHY) CHRONICLE; THE MAGAZINE OF THE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF (LEWIS, CHARLES M.). N QUAD -- NICHIGAN'S MOST FAMOUS HUNDRIST. BY BRADSHAW, JAMES STANFORC (HUMOR).(CRITICISM).(BIOGRAPHY) CHRONICLE: THE MAGAZINE OF THE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF MICHIGAN, 16 (FALL 1960). 14-17. (M QUAD). (LEWIS, SINCLAIR.). ELMER GANTRY. THE NOVEL AND THE FILM. BY ATLAS, MARILYN J. (CRITICISM) WRITING ABOUT FILM ANC FICTION, EDITED BY H BERGMAN, EAST LANSING, MI: FILM RESEARCH CENTER PUBLICATIONS, 1080, 240-46. (LEWIS, SINCLAIR.). MAGILL'S BIBLIDGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL. FRANK. (LEWIS, SINCLAIR.). MAGILL'S BIBLIDGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL, FRANK. (LEWIS, SINCLAIR.). MAGILL'S BIGLIDGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBLIDGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) ENGLEWOD CLIFFS.NI: SALEN PRESS. 1079. (LEWIS. SINCLAIR.). SINCLAIR LEWIS: A REFERENCE GUIDE. BY FLEMING ROBERT E AND FLEMING. ESTHER. (BIDGRAPGY).(BIBLIDGRAPHY) BOSTON. KA: C K HALL. 1980. LICHTER. ALAN. ELECY FOR A PATRIARCH. (DETRY) PRESUMPSCOT REVIEW. (SPRING 1980]. 34. LICHTER. ALAN. BRCAS ISLAND. 6 A.M. (POETRY) FRAGMENTS. 21(1) 1980. LICHTER. ALAN. MELCOS. (POETRY) SHEEPSKEAD REVIEW. 6 (FFENDARY 1980). 3. LICHTER. ALAN. MENES. (DOETRY) SHEEPSKEAD REVIEW. 6 (FFENDARY 1980]. 3. LICHTER. ALAN. MENES. (DOETRY) SHEEPSKEAD REVIEW. 6 (FFENDARY 1980]. 3. LICHTER. POO.

Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980

568-00.

LIEBERMAN, LAURENCE. GOD'S NEASUREMENTS. (POETRY) NEW YORK: MACHILLAN, 1980. Lieberman, Laurence, Psychodrama: Tokyo Nime Film; the protectors; oak and stone; the roof LIEBERMAN, LAURENCE, PSYCHODRAMA: TORYO HIME FILM: THE PROJECTORS OAK AND STURE: THE NUUF TABLEAU OF KASHIKOJIMA: LAMENT FOR THE DOUBED MINNOWS. (PDETRY) AMERICAN POETRY REVIEW. 9 (NOVEMBER-DECEMBER 1980), 44-40. (LINCOLN, ABRAHAM). ALL THE LIYING AND THE DEAD: LINCOLN'S IMAGERY. BY HURT, JAMES. (CRITICISM) AMERICAN LITERATURE, S2 (NOVEMBER 1980), 351-80. LINDAU, JOAN, MRS COOPER'S BOADDINGHOUSE. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: MCGRAW-HILL. 1980, (HISSOURI). (LINDAY, VACHEL.), MAGILL'S BIBLIOGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM, BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBL IDGRAPHY) (CRITICISH) ENGLENDOD CLIFFS, NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1079. (LINDSAY, VACHEL.). SIGN AND SYMBOL IN VACHEL LINDSAY'S POETIC AND GRAPHIC WORK, BY CHENETIER, MARC. (CRITICISM) POETIC KNOWLEDGE: CIRCURFREENCE AND CENTER, BOITED BY R HAGENBUECHLE AND J T SWANN.GICRITICISM)&BONN: BOUVIER VERLAG HERBERT GRUNDMANN, 1980, 122-27. LINKFIELD. THOMAS P SEE BRADBURY. RAY. LINGTED HOWAS F SEE BANDOUT, XAL. (LOCKE, DAVID ROSS.), AMERICAN LITERRY REALISM AND THE NOVELS OF DAVID ROSS LOCKE, BY GROSH. WONALD M. (DISSERTATION) COLUMBUS, OH: OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY, 1980. LOHAFER, SUSAN, AWKWARD ARMS, UNHAPPY LEGS. (SHORT FICTION) SOUTHERN REVIEW, 16 (SPRING 1980). 469-77. (LONG, SOLOMON L.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY, BY LELAND, LORRIN. (POETRY) LAWRENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION DE CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. LORENZ, TOM. GUYS LIKE US. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: VIKING PRESS, 1980, (CHICAGD),(ILLINDIS). LOSE, ARLYLE MANSFIELD, ACAY LINE YOUNG, YOLTRY) CHANNELS, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 6 LOSSE, ARLYLE MANSFIELD, ACAY IN DOOM, (POLTRY) CHANNELS, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 6 LOSSE, ARLYLE MANSFIELD, MEMORIAL AT VINCENNES, (POLTRY) POLTRY OUT OF WISCONSIN, B, MADISON, WI: WISCONSIN FELLOWSKIP OF POLTS, 1980, 140-41, LOSSE, ARLYLE MANSFIELD, MEDIATION AT THE WINDOW, (POLTRY) OPEN WINDOW, (JANUARY-FEBRUARY 1980), 10. LOVE, ECMUND G. SET-UP. INGVEL) GARDEN CIYY, NY: DOUBLEDAY, 1980, (HICHIGAN), LOVE, EDMUND G. SET-UP. INDVELJ GANDEN CIIT. NIT DUDBLEJATT 1900, THERIGARY, (MYSTER-DETECTION). LOV. DENISE. CHILDBIRTH IS NOT LIKE DANCING. (POETRY) WOMANSPIRIT. 5 (SPRING 1980), 30. LOV. DENISE. FLOWER GARDEN OULT. (POETRY) WINDFLOVER HOME ALMANAC OF POETRY. LINCOLN, NEBRASKA: WINDFLOVER PRESS, 1980 113. LOV. DENISE. JUNE 20, (POETRY) KANASA GUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 110. LOV. DENISE. JUTILE CREEK CATCH. (POETRY) CAPE ROCK, 15 (SUMMER 1980), 7. LOWE, KENNETH S SEE HEMINGVAY, ERNEST. (LUEDERS, EDWARD.). EDWARD LUEDERS' CLAM LAKE PAPERS. BY STARK, JOHN. (CRITICISM) MIDAMERICA VII, (1980), 156-63. LUKEN, PAUL. ELEGY FOR A HYDRANTH. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 39. LUNER, FAUL. ELEGY FOR A MYDRANTH. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, & (SUMMER 1990), 39. LUNDE, ERIK S SEE FIIZGERALO, F SCOTT. (LUSH, ADALINE, J. PEN WOMEN TO HONGR ADALINE LUSH. (BIOGRAPHY) DES MOINES SUNDAY REGISTER. APRIL 27. 1980, 3E. (AMES, IOWA). LYNCH, DENNIS SEE STRYCK, LUCIEN. MADGETT. NAOMI LONG, OFFSPRING; WRITING A PDEM: BLACK WOMAN. (PDETRY) THE THIRD WOMAN: HINDRITY WOMEN WRITERS OF THE UNITED STATES, EDITED BY D FISHER. BOSTON, MA: HANDRITH WOREN WATTENS OF THE ONI HOUGHTON MIFFLIN, 1980, 255-56. Hagill, Frank See Algren, Nelson, Magill, Frank See Anderson, Sherwodd. Magill, Frank See Derryman, John. MAGILL, FRANK SEE BLY, ROBERT. Nagill, Frank see Bourjaily, Vance. MAGILL FRANK SEE DUDUNLLY VANCE, MAGILL, FRANK SEE CHESNUTT, CHARLES WADDELL, MAGILL, FRANK SEE CLEMENS, SAWEL L. MAGILL, FRANK SEE DREISER, THEODORE. MAGILL, FRANK SEE FARRELL, JAMES T. MAGILL, FRANK SEE FITZGERALD, F SCOTT. MAGILL, FRANK SEE GARLAND, HAMLIN. MAGILL, FRANK SEE INGE, VILLIAM, Magill, FRANK SEE LEWIS, SINCLAIR. MAGILL. FRANK SEE LINDSAY. VACHEL. MAGILL, FRANK SEE MASTERS, EDGAR LEE. Magill, Frank See Motely, Williard. MAGILL, FRANK SEE NEMEROY, HOWARD, MAGILL, FRANK SEE ROETHKE, THEODORE. MAGILL, FRANK SEE SANDBURG, CARL. Magill, FRANK SEE VONNEGUT, KURT. MAGDRIAN JAMES. SPIRITUAL ROBED. (POETRY) IOWA CITY, IA: YOOTHPASTE PRESS, 1980. MAITLAND, TODD. SOMEONE NEW. (POETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW. 2(3), 1980. 382-83. (MANFRED, FREDERICK.). SIOUXLAND PANORAMA; FREDERICK MANFRED'S GREEN EARTH. BY FLORA, JDSEPH M. (CRITICISM) MIDWESTERN MISCELLANY VII. (1970), 56-63. NARANG, RUSSELL. NOON CHANGES. (POETAY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 109. (Markun, Led.). Leo Narkun; Mrs grundy's bad boy. By Ryan, William F. (Criticism) Midamerica V11. (1980), 108-32. (Marquis, don.). Two widwestern stories by don Marquis. by Hallwas, John E. (criticish) MIDAMERICA VI. (1979). 100-10. MARSHALL, JAMES, AN UNHEARD VOICE: THE AUTOBIDGRAPHY OF A DISPOSSESSED HOMESTEADER AND A NINETEENTH-CENTURY CULTURAL THEME OF DISPOSSESSION. (CRITICISM) OLD NORTHWEST, 6 (WINTER 1980-81). 303-329, (MORSE, GMAR),(WISCONSIN). Martin, Herbert W See Dunbar, Paul Lavrence. MARTIN, JOHN BARTLOW. THE TELEVISING OF HELLER. (NOVEL) GARDEN CITY, NY: DOUBLEDAY, 1980, CILLINGTS1. MARTONE, MICHAEL, RACING THE SUN FROM OHIO; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. MARTONE, MICHAEL, RACING THE SUN FROM OHIO: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA, (POETRY) CENTERIG 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980. 34. MARTONE, NICHKEL, NGWG FOR NNW; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) CENTERING 5--PONLIMA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 32-33. (MASON, WALT.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY, BY LELAND, LORRIN. (PDETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUINS EDUCATION, 1978. (MASTERS, EDGAR LEE.). NAGILL'S BIBLIDGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBLIGGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) ENGLEWOOD CLIFFS, NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1970. (MASTERS, EDGAR LEE.). MASTER'S "GRIFFY THE COOPER," TWO VERSIONS". BY NARVESON, ROBERT. (PDETRY).(CRITICISM) MISCELLANY VIII. (1980), 30-43. (PDETRY).(CRITICISH) HIDVESTERN HISCELLANY VIII. (196 16.309.8 07 NANLIONY ADDER: (MASTERS, EDGAR LEE.). SPOON RIVER'S "EPILOGUE". BY RUSSELL, HERB. (CRITICISH) HIDWESTERN HISCELLANY VII. (1970). 34-40. (MASTERS: EDGAR LEE.). IMAGE OF WOMANHOOD IN THE SPOON RIVER PORTRAITS. BY SCHROTH, EVELYN. (CRITICISM) MIDAMERICA VI, (1979), 62-71. (MASTERS: EDGAR LEE.). SPOON RIVER ANTHOLOGY: AN INTRODUCTION. BY NARVESON, ROBERT. (CRITICISM) MIDAMERICA VII, (1980), 52-72.

INASTERS, EDGAR LEE.). THE SDURCES OF THE SPOON: EDGAR LEE MASTERS AND THE SPOON RIVER ANTHOLOGY, BY HURT, JAMES. (CRITICISH) CENTENNIAL REVIEW. 24 (FALL 1980), 403-31.

Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980

(MASTERS, EDGAR LEE.). EDGAR LEE MASTER'S: A SELECTED GUIDE TO SECONDARY MATERIALS, 1914-1950. By Russell, Herb. (Bibliography) bulletin of Bibliography. 37 (April-June 1980).

WASTERS, ZEKE, THE LUCK OF THE DRAW, (NOVEL) NEW YORK: POCKET BOOKS, 1980, (KANSAS). MASTERS, ZERE, THE LUCK OF THE DRAW, (NUVEL) NEW TOKK: POLKE: DOURS: 1990, INANSAS). Mathews, Jack, an Interview With the Sphink. (Drama) Hichigan Quarterly Review, 19 1980), 383-92. Maurea, Bonnie and Sol'n, Paul. Conjuring the Hidwest: A Grim Farmer's Tale; in the Land

LOCKED HEART--POENS FROM INDIANA, (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980,

MAURER. BONNIE. A K-MAST IN INDIANA: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEHS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY)

ACTURE, JUNIE, A D-MAY, IN INVIANA, IN INC LAND LUCKED HEAKI--PUEMS FROM (CENTERRS7 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 44-45, MAXFIELD, JOHN, SOLITUDE. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 62, NAXYELL, HARGD, WHEN THE LADY NEFOR, SHE WHOM THE KING KNOWS, WAKES. (POETRY) CHICAGO REVIEW,

JI (WINTER LYOU), IU-70. MAXWELL WILLIAM. SO LONG, SEE YOU TOMORROW. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: KNDPF, 1980, (ILLINOIS), (Wystery-detection).

(MAY, CELESTE.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY, BY LELAND, LDRRIN. (PGETRY) LAWRENCE, KS:

 (HAY, CELESTE.]. THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY, BY LELAND, LDRRIN. (PGETRY) LAWRENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUINC EQUCATION, 1978.
 MAYO, EDWARD L. COLSSIED DOEMS, EDITED BY DAVID RAY. (POETRY) KANSAS CITY. HO: NEW LETTERS NAGAZINE. UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI - KANSAS CITY, 1980.
 MCAPEE, THOMAS. WHATEVER ISN'T GLORY. (SHORT FICTION) ST LOUIS. MO: SINGING WIND PRESS. 1980.
 MCCADEN, JOSEPH F SEE BELLOW. SAUL.
 (MCCARROL, OLLY.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND. LDRRIN (EDITOR). (PDETRY) LAWRENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1978.
 MCCOLL, MICHAEL. QUIETLY BURNING; DOG SHAKES ME. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY. 12 (SUMMER 1980). 49-50. MCCONBS, JUDITH. IN THE YEAR OF YOUR DEATH: THE INHERITOR; FRAGMENT; THE HEADSTONE AND THE

BEARER. (DOETRY) NINGTON OF IGUN DEARNIN INE INDEALING, FRAMEN, INE HEADSTON AND THE BEARER. (DOETRY) NINGTON 24 (FALL-WINIER 1980), 21-25. MCCOMBS, JUDITH. UNITLED STONE POEM. (POETRY) RED CEDAR REVIEW, 13(2) 1980, 20-21. MCCOMBS, JUDITH. VIEWER TO ARTIST, ELDER TO CHILD; ASK SILENCE THESE. (POETRY) CORRIDORS, 2

IDUMMEN INBUJ, DO-DO. (NCCONNEL, JOHN L.). JOHN L MCCONNEL AND "THE RANGER'S CHASE". BY HALLWAS, JOHN E. (CRITICISM).(BIDGRAPHY) JOURNAL OF THE ILLINDIS STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY. 73 (1980).

(CRITICISM): USUGARATY GUONAL D: GUORAL D: GUONALD: (SPRING 1980); 36-177-88. HCDONALD: GARRY. CHICKEN RED. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (SPRING 1980); 36-HCDONALD: JIN, WALUN GLUN; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEHS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING S--INDIANA WRITES. 3(4); 1980; 54-MCFADDEN, DAYLD. A TRIP AROUND LAKE ERIE. (FICTION) TORGNTO: COACH HOUSE PRESS, 1980. (A ADDONE DAYLD. A TRIP AROUND LAKE HERE. (FICTION) TORGNTO: COACH HOUSE PRESS, 1980. (A SADDONE TALE DE LIFE VERSUS ART; 20 VOLUME IN THE GREAT LAKES PENTALOGY), (POETRY FROM ILLINGIS).

FROM ILLINUIS). MCGRATH, THOMAS. SPANISH FANDANGO: PROPOSAL; PROPHECY. (POETRY) MINNESOTA REVIEW, NS, 15 (FALL 1980), 5-7. MCINERRY, RALPH. SECOND VESPERS. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: VANGUARD, 1980, (ILLINOIS),

HCLAUCHLIN, DANIEL F. THE HOUSE OF LETTERS. (POETRY) DANVILLE, IL: LITERARY HERALD PRESS.

(HCHILLER, MARY ANDERSON.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN. (POETRY)

(HCWILLEN, HARY ANDERSON.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN PDETRY. BY LELANO, LORRIN. (PDETRY)
 LAWRENCE, KS: IMDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION DF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978.
 HCHAMARA. EUGENE. CALANUS. (PDETRY) WEST HILLS REVIEW, 2 (FALL 1980). 82.
 HCHAMARA. EUGENE. EARLY MORNING. (PDETRY) TORONO LIFE, NOVEMBER 1980.
 HCHAMARA. EUGENE. IN THIS COLD SPRING. (PDETRY) TORONO LIFE. (MAY 1980). 34.
 HCHAMARA. EUGENE. THE CHARM SCHOOL; PDETRY; THE SENTENCE. (PDETRY) FIDDLEHEAD. 126 (SUMMER 1980).

1980), 63. MCNIECE MILI VE. THE RING. (SHORT FICTION) GEORGIA REVIEW, 34 (FALL 1980), 512-17.

MENIEVE, MILLIYE. INE KIMU, ISHOKI FICIUM, MEUNUM KETIEN, J. FALL 1907, DIETT. Menie, C see Bennett, John M Meissner, Williyk Hohetown Widow; Returning to Find It; My Father's Closet. (Poetry) Midwest QUARTERLY, 21 (SUMMER 198). 446-48.

(METCALF, J N.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN. (PDETRY) LAWRENCE, KS:

INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. MICHELSON, BRUCE SEE FITZGERALD, F SCOTT. NICHELSON, BRUCE SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. MINDELOUG, DRULE SEE CLEMENS, DANUEL L. MINOPOULOS, EFFIE. AFRICA; HOW THE MOON DANCES. (POETRY) JOURNAL VIGNETTE, 1(1) 1980, 8,

MIHOPOULDS, EFFIE. ANGELS. (POETRY) OUVERTURES, 2 (WINTER 1980), 23-24.

MIHOPOULOS, EFFIE. ANGELS. (POETRY) DUVERTURES, 2 (WINTER 1080), 23-24. MIHOPOULOS, EFFIE. CLOBATURA. (POETRY) PUBLISHED POET NEWSETTER. 1 HOCTOBER 1980), 10. MIHOPOULOS, EFFIE. CLASS. (POETRY) PUBLISHED POET NEWSETTER. 1 HOCTOBER 1980), 82-85. MIHOPOULOS, EFFIE. HOSPITALSI MODELS. (POETRY) SING HEAVENLY MUSE. 3 (SUMMER 1980), 82-85. MIHOPOULOS, EFFIE. PERUVIAN FÉSTIMAL. (POETRY) PIG IRON. 1 (MAY 1980), 0. MIHOPOULOS, EFFIE. SPECIMENS. (SHORT FICTION) KRYPTOGAME, 1 (OCTOBER 1980), 148-49. MILOROMICOS, EFFIE. SPECIMENS. MAUGEL L. MILLER. MICHAEL G SEE CLEMENS. SAMUEL L. MILLER. MICHAEL G SEE CLEMENS. SAMUEL L. MILLER. JOHN R. A LOGK AT REGIONALISM. (CRITICISM) DAKOTA ARTS GUARTERLY. 9 (SPRING 1980). (-7, 25-28. MILTON, JOHN R. THE NOVEL OF THE AMERICAN WEST. (CRITICISM) LINCOLN. NE: UNIVERSITY OF NEDRASKA PRESS. 1980.

NEBRASKA PRESS, 1980. (NILTON, JOHN.). FROM YDUR PLACE AND BEYOND. BY WHEELER, SYLVIA. (POETRY),NCRITICISM) MIDWESTERN MISCELLAWY VIII, (1980). 61-70. MINCZESKI, JOHN. GOD NIGHT ANYWAY: THE GROWTH OF AUTUNN--FOR PETER MLADINIC. (POETRY) GREAT RIVER-SEVIEW. 2(3). 1980. 308. (NINCTESKI, JOHN.). 51000.05. YUED DISCHART MISCHART ANYWAY: THE GROWTH OF AUTUNN--FOR PETER MLADINIC. (POETRY) GREAT RIVER-SEVIEW. 2(3). 1980. 308.

RIVER-95YIEW, 2(3), 1980, 308, (NINCZESKI, JOHN.). BLOOD OF THEIR BLOOD; AN ANTHOLOGY OF POLISH-AMERICAN POETRY. BY CONTOSKI, VICTOR (EDITOR). (POETRY) ST PAUL, MN: NEW RIVERS PRESS, 1980. MISCOE, DAVID W SEE GARLARD. HAMLIN. MITGANG. HERBERT SEE BELLOW, SAUL. MONTEIRO, GEDRGE SEE HENINGWAY, ERNEST. MONTEIRO, GEDRGE SEE HAVE. KAV.

MONTEIRD, GEURGE SEE BOYLE, KAY. (Moddy, Joel.), The Kansas Experience in Poetry, by Leland, Lorrin, (Poetry) Lawrence, KS: Independent Study, Division of Continuing Education, 1978, Modney, Michael, Squid Soup: and other Stories, (Short Fiction) Chicago: Story Press, 1980,

MOORE, JAKES, ALL COB RAISED ARMS; HERE, TOD, THERE IS A PARADISE. (POETRY) AMERICAN POETRY

MOURE, JAMES. ALL COD RAISED ARMS; MERE, TUD, THERE IS A PARADISE. (PDEIRT) AMERICAN POLIMT Review, 9 (May-Jume 1980), 11. Modre, Phyllis, This Ain't Orgon, Honey; in the Land Locked Heart--Poems From Indiana. (Poetry) Centering 5--Indiana WRITES. 3(4), 1980. 60-61. Modre, Stephen See Farrell, James T. Morin, Edward, Filling Station. (Pdetry) Michigan Quarterly Review, 19-20 (Fall 1980-Winter Morin, Edward, Filling Station. (Pdetry) Michigan Quarterly Review, 19-20 (Fall 1980-Winter 10811. 749.

MORKEN, LUCINDA DAKJIND. THE HIRED MAN. (POETRY) POETRY OUT OF WISCONSIN. 5 (1980). Morris. Wright. Playss song, for female voices. (Novel) New York: Harper and Row, 1980. (NEBRASKA) (ELKHORN, NEBRASKA). Norris, Wright, Where the West begins. (Autobiography) prairie Schooner, 54 (Summer 1980).

(MORRIS, WRIGHT.). PW INTERVIEWS WRIGHT MORRIS. BY DAHLIN. ROBERT. (CRITICISM), (INTERVIEWS) DUBLISHERS WEEKLY, 217 (22 FEBRYARY 1980), 6-7. (MORRISON, TONI.), AFRICAN AND AFRO-AMERICAN ROOTS IN CONTEMPORARY AFRO-AMERICAN LITERATURE:

- THE DIFFICULT SEARCH FOR PANILY ORIGINS. BY SCHULTZ ELIZABETH. (CATALEAN LAN STUDIES In Arefican Fiction, 8 (1960), 127-45. (Norrison, Ion, 1), Folk.dre, and computity in song of Solomon, by Blake, Susan L. (criticish)
- MELUS, 7 (FALL 1980), 77-82.
- PELOS, / (FALL 1980), // 82. (HORRISON, TONI.), WTN AS STRUCTURE IN TONI NORRISON'S SONG OF SOLOMON. BY HARRIS, A LESLIE. (CRITICISM) MELUS, 7 (FALL 1980), 69-76. (HORRISON, TONI.), THE DARKER SIDE OF TONI MCRISON'S SONG OF SOLOMON. BY ATLAS, MARILYN JUDITH. (CRITICISM) SSML NEWSLETTER. 10(2), SUMMER 1980, 1-13. NORT, JOHN. GOMEZ. '280RT FICTIONI PARIFIE SCHODNER, 54 (SPRING 1980), 1-11. MORTON. BRUCE SEE HEMI GWAY. ERNEST. MORTON. BRUCE SEE HEMI GWAY. ERNEST.

- MORION BRUCE, NIGH TLAINS HARVEST; SUMMERS. (POETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (1980), 107-108. (NDSES, W R.). The kansas experience in Poetry. By Leland, Lorrin (Editor). (Poetry) Lawrence, ks: Ndefendent Study. Division of Continuing Education, 1978.
- MOSSBERG, BARBARA. LANDLOCKED: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART-POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY)
- CENTERING 5- 954 IANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 25. (MOTELY, MILLIARD.). MAGILL'S BIBLIGGRAPHY DF LITERARY CRITICISH. BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBLIGGRAPHY). (CRITICISH) ENGLEWEDD CLIFFS. NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1979. (MOTLEY, WILLARD.). THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKOWITZ, JERGME. (CRITICISH)
- AMES, IA: IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. Mueller, Lisel. A nude by Edvard Hopper. (Poetry) in Her own image: Women working in the arts,
- EDITED BY E HEDGES AND I WENDT, OLD WESTBURY, NY: FEMINIST PRESS, 1980. HVELLER, LISEL. JANUARY AFTERNOON WITH BILLIE HOLIDAY. (POETRY) BRIGHT HOMENTS: JAZZPOEMS AND POETRY ABOUT JAZZ. EDITED BY J STEPHENS AND W MOESSNER. MADISON. WI: ABRAXIS PRESS.
- 1980. HUELLER, LISEL, NIGHTSONG, (POETRY) ANTHOLDGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF AMERICAN PDETRY. LOS ANGELES: MONITOR PRESS, 1980.
- HUELLER, LISEL. TAXCO. (POETRY) POETRY NOW. 5(3), 1980. HUELLER, LISEL. THE NEED TO HOLD STILL. (POETRY) BATON ROUGE, LA: LDUISIANA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980.
- MUELLER, LISEL. THE BLIND LEADING THE BLIND. (POETRY) POET'S CHOICE: ONE HUNDRED AMERICAN
- POEIS' FAVORITE POEMS EDITED BY G.E. MURPHY, GREEN HARGOR, MAI 1980. (MUNRG, ROSAMOND BURGESS.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POEIRY, BY LELAND, LORDIN (EDITOR). (ROERY) LAYENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUINE BUCATION, 1978. HURRAY, G.E. REPAIRS, (POEIRY) COLUMBIA: MO: UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI PRESS, 1980.
- LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. NYERS, MEIL, ALL THAT, SO SIMPLE, (PDETRY) WEST LAFAVETTE, IN: PURPUE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. NAGLE, MERCITA C, I SOOK TOWARD THE MOUNTAIN FOR STRENGTH AND LOVE. (PDETRY) HICKSVILLE, NY: EXPOSITION PRESS, 1980.
- NARVESON, ROBERT SEE MASTERS, EDGAR LEE. NARVESON, ROBERT SEE MASTERS, EDGAR LEE.
- NASH, LES. RATTLER; SN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 39.
- NELSON, PAUL, UNIWNSAL DONOR. (POETRY) GEORGIA REVIEW, 34 (FALL 1980), 589. Nelson, Rodney. A fine green Hubble. (Short Fiction) blue cloud quarterly, 26(4), 1980, 10 pp. NEMANIC, GERALD C. CHICAGO IN FICTION. (BIBLIOGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) STORY QUARTERLY. 10 (1960), 83-88, (CHICAGO),(ILLINOIS).
- NEMEROY, HOWARD, SENTENCES. (POETRY) CHICAGO, IL: UNIVERSITY DF CHICAGO, 1980. (Nemeroy, Howard,), Howard Nemeroy. By Labrie, Ross. (Biography) Boston, MA: Twayne, 1980.
- (NEMEROV, HOWARO.). MAGILL'S BIBLIOGRAPHY DE LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL. FRANK. (BIBLIOGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) ENGLENOOD CLIFFS. NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1979.
- NETTELS, ELSA SEE HOWELLS. WILLIAM DEAN. NEVILLE, TAM LIN. GO TELL AUNT RHODY; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 314). 1980, 32.
- CENTER AND 5--INDIANA WALLES, 510), 1900, 32. Neville, Tam Lin. The Deers, in The Land Locked Heart--Pdems From Indiana, (Poetry) Centering 5--Indiana Waites, 3(4), 1960, 30. Nilsen. Heige Normann See Crane, Harte. Nolte, Melissa, Between The Flash and The Roar: Aquarius Moon. (Short Fiction) Shingla: A
- COLLECTION OF STORIES, LAWRENCE, KS: LANTANA PRESS, 1980, 19-30, 58-69. Nordloh, David J see Howells, William Dean.
- NUNDION, DAVID J SEE MURELLS, WILLIAM DEAN. (NORTON, HENRY GRACE.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY, BY LELAND, LORRIN. (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. Novak, Robert, Waiting, in the Land Locked Heart-poens from Indiana. (Poetry) Centering
- 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 55-Novers, Dauglas A. Nidwest regionalist/painting and the origins of popular widwestern culture.
- NOVERR DOUGLAS A. HIDNESI REGIONALIS(PAINTING AND THE ONIGINS OF PUPULAR HIDNESTERN COLIDRE. (CRITICISH) HIDAMERICA VII. (1980), 173-92. O*CONNEL, MARVIN R. MCELROV. (NQVEL) NEW YORK: NORTON, 1980, (MIDWEST). G*CONNOR, MICHAEL PATRICK. THE SOPRAND. (POETRY) SHEMANDDAH, 31(3), 1980, 48-49. G*CONNOR, MICHAEL PATRICK. AN ECOLOGUE FROM THE EAST; STRIKING THE AIR. (POETRY) MOUTH OF THE

- DRAGEN, 2 (OTOBER 1980), 9-10. Dragen, 2 (otober 1980), 9-10. D'Donnell, Patrick see Howells, William Dean. D'Malley, Sister Hannela, Corn Harveyt; False Prophet. (Poetry) Kansas Quarterly, 12 (Spring
- 19801 . 77-78. O'NEILL, BRIAN, MRS VICARY: MARCH 28, 1978; FROM MY WINDOW AT 10:00; IN THE LAND LOCKED
- HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 36-38. Dates, Joyce Carol. The Birthday Celebration. (Short Fiction) Virginia Quarterly Review, 56
- (WINTER 1980), 51-62. DATES. JOYCE CAROL. BALLERINA. (SHORT FICTION) GEORGIA REVIEW. 34 (WINTER 1980). 735-50-
- DATES, JOYCE CAROL, THREE PLAYS. (DRAMA) PRINCETON, NJ: ONTARIO REVIEW PRESS, 1980. Dates, Joyce Cardl. A middle-class education. (pdetry) new york: Algondicani press, 1980. Dates, Joyce Cardl. Preluge: Dritait: Woman Mith a Girlys Face. (Pdetry) Southern Review, 16
- (SPRING 1980), 401-403, DATES, JOYCE CAROL. F---- (POETRY) MICHIGAN GUARTERLY REVIEW, 19-20 (FALL 1980-WINTER 1981).
- 617-16. DATES, JDYCE CAROL, NUTILATED WOMAN, (SHORT FICTION) MICHIGAN QUARTERLY REVIEW, 19 (SPRING
- 19801+ 230-50. DATES, JOYCE CARDL. THE SPIDER, LOVE. (SHORT FICTION) TRIGUARTERLY, 47 (WINTER 1980), 90-105.
- DATES, JOYCE CARDL, THE HAUNTED HOUSE. (SHORT FICTION) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980). 31-43.

Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980 169OATES, JOYCE CARDL, BELLEFLEUR. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: DUTTON, 1980. (DATES, JOYCE CARDL.). JOYCE CAROL DATES. BY FRIEDMAN. ELLEN G. (BIDGRAPHY) NEW YORK: TREVERILG UNGAR) 1950. GDDI, JACLYN M. GURRENTS (FOR D C); IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--PDEKS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) Centering 5--Indiana Writes, 3(4), 1980, 55. OEHLSCHLAEGEN, FRITZ SEE SUCKOW, RUTH. DLIPHANT, ROBERT, & PIAND FOR MRS CIMIND. (NOVEL) ENGLEWOOD CLIFFS, NJ: PRENTICE-HALL, 1980. (NINNESDIA).EXINNEAPULLS). DLSON, ANDREM. DREAMING OF MELONS. (PDETRY) PRAIRIE SCHOONER, 54 (SPRING 1980). 17. DLSON, OALE S. THE MAN WHO LOVED FROGS. (PDETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW. 2(3), 1980, 296. (NINNESOTA), (NINNEAPOLIS). OPDAHL. KEITH M SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. ORIARD. MICHAEL SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L. UNIANDU MILTAREL BEE CLEMENTS, SANDLE C. PACERNIK, GARY, FOR CARLI D WILLIAMS. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 42-43. PADY, DONALD'S SEE BEASECKER, ROBERT PADY, DONALD'S SEE BEASECKER, ROBERT PADY, UUNALD 3 SEE BEASELRER, HOBERI PAGE, 5 GENEYA, THAT NARROW FELLOW AT THE FLEA MARKET; SUSPENDED REFLECTIONS. (POETRY) Convergence, Muskgon, MIP Poetry Society of Michigan, 1980, 52, 77. PASEK. MYA KERN. BAHAMIAN BEACH SUNRISE; PUZZLE; PROPHECY WHAT, (POETRY) ARTS OF ST LOUIS. B PASEK. NYA KERN. BAHAHIAN BEACH SUNRISE: CARRIBEAN COAST: THE SEA FROM A POET'S EVE. (POETRY) PASER, MYA KENN, BAMAMIAN BEACH SUNNISE; CARRIBEAN LUADI; IME SEA FRUM A PUEI'S EYE, (POETRY) OF SEA AND SHORE, 1 (SPRING 1980), 66. PASEK, MYA KERN, FREE AS A BIRD, (POETRY) NEW EARTH REVIEW, 5 (MAY 1980), 16. PASEK, MYA KERN, GULL FLIGHT--SONIBEL. (POETRY) ARTS OF ST LOUIS, 9 (AUGUST 1980), 25. PASEK, MYA KERN, JAPANESE INSTANT THOUGHT POEM. (POETRY) ARTS OF ST LOUIS, 9 (DECEMBER 1980), CARA 28. PASEK, MYA KERN, MAN ON A TREE. (POETRY) NEW EARTH REVIEW, 6 (NOVENBER 1980), 16. PASEK, MYA KERN, MODILIGHT ETCHINGS. (POETRY) NEW EARTH REVIEW, 5 (AUGUST 1980), 11. PASEK, MYA KERN, NIGHT ON THE GULF: I NEED THE SEA. (PDETRY) OF SEA AND SHORE, 1 (FALL 1980), PASEK. MYA KERN. THE TAVERN. (POETRY) ARTS OF ST LOUIS, 9 (DECEMBER 1980), 28. PERSON FAULTAN HAIN CURRENTS IN AMERICAN THOUGHT. (SHORT FICTION) CHARITON REVIEW, 6 (FALL 1980), 65-68. PEDEN, WILLIAM. THE POLAR BEAR IN THE DZARKS. (SHORT FICTION) MADISON REVIEW, 3 (FALL 1980), PEROSA, SERGIO SEE FITZGERALD, F SCDTT. PEROSA, SERGIO SEE FITZGERALD, F SCDTT. PETERSON. LIZ, DADDY. (SHORT FICTION) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (WINTER 1980), 141-48. PETROSKI. CATHERINE, LIFF AS THE WIFE OF KHAN AND KHAN. (SHORT FICTION) PRAIRIE SCHOOMER, 54 PEIKUSKI: CAIHERING, CIFE AD THE WIFE OF KHAR OND KHARD (SHORT - LETTIN, PREMIE SENDERING) (SPRING 1980), 48-53. PFINGSTON, ROCEN, FROM THE HEARTLAND; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) PFINGSTON, ROGER. FROM THE HEARTLAND: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES. 3(4), 1980, 19 PFINGSTON. ROGER. MARRIAGES IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES. 3(4), 1980, 23. PFINGSTON. ROGER. POEM FOR TOM SANDAGE. 1925-1950; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES. 3(4), 1980, 20-22. PFLUM. RICHARD, A LATE WINTER LANDSCAPE WITHOUT SNOW: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES. 3(4), 1980, 20-23. PHLUM. RICHARD, A LATE WINTER LANDSCAPE WITHOUT SNOW: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES. 3(4), 1980, 31. PHLIDS, GENE O SEE HEMINGWAY. ERNEST. PHLILIPS, MICHAEL JOSEPH. SELECTED LOVE POEMS. (POETRY) INDIANAPOLIS. IN: WILLIAM HACKETT. 1980. PHILLIPS, MICHAEL JOSEPH (EDITOR). FOUR MAJOR VISUAL POETS. (POETRY) INDIANAPOLIS, IN: FREE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. PHILLIPS, MICHAEL JOSEPH. SOUND SONNET OF SAMANTHA AND MICHAEL. (PDETRY) TEXT-SOUND TEXTS. EDITED 89 R KOSTELANETZ, NEW YORK: MORROW, 1980. 432. PICI. JDSEPH. BODKENDS. ISHORT FICTION GREAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980), 44-52. PICI. JDSEPH. BODKENDS. ISHORT FICTION GREAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980), 44-52. PIERCY. MARGE. THE MOON IS ALWAYS FEMALE. (PDETRY) NEW YORK: KNOPF, 1980. (PIERCY. MARGE.). MARGE PIERCY'S REVOLUTIONARY FEMINISM. BY LADENSON, JGYCE R. (CRITICISM) SSKL NEWSLETTER. 10(2), SUMMER 1980, 24-31. SSKL NEWSLETTER. 10(2), SUMMER 1980, 24-31. (BIDGRAPMY) PUBLISHERS WEEKLY 217 (18 JANUARY 1980), 18-19. OTWERF. SAMFDON SAUL. PINSKER, SANFORD SEE BELLOW, SAUL. PLIMPTON, GEORGE SEE HEMINGWAY, ERNEST. PODIS, LEONARD A SEE FITZGERALD, F SCOTT. PODIS, LEONARD A SEE FITZGERALD, F SCOTT. PONIEWAZ, JEFF, LOVE CANAL CONTAMINATED. (POETRY) BLAKE TIMES, 1 (SEPTEMBER 1980), 29. PONIEWAZ, JEFF, THE YEAR I TOOK THE BASKET TO BE BLESSED; GOOD FRIDAY 1978. (POETRY) TOUCHSTONE, 34 (SPRING 1980), 6-7. 37. (PORTER, KENNETH.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. POWER, VICTOR, IN THE TOWN OF BALLYWUCK---. (SHORT FICTION) TRIGUARTERLY. 47 (WINTER 1980). PRESS. SIMONE JUDA. HDW DOES YOUR GARDEN GROW. (DRAMA) ANN ARBOR. MI: CROWFOOT PRESS. 1980. Price. Alan see Dreiser, Theodore. PRICE. S DAVID SEE HEMINGWAY. ERNEST. PRIGUZY. RUTH SEE FITZGERALD. F SCUTT. PRITCHARD, WILLIAM H SEE CRAME, HART. Ouanil, Diane Dufva. The Ambivalence of Rural Life in Prairie Literature. (Criticism) kansas OUANTIC, DIANE DUFVA. THE AMBIVALENCE OF RURAL LIFE IN PRAIRIE LITERATORE, TORTHOUDY WARK QUARTERY 12 (SPRING 1980), 109-19. RABE, BERNICE. WHO'S AFRAID. (JUVENILE FICTION) NEW YORK: DUTTON, 1980. RAHANAN PAT. LAST TRIP TOGETHER, YOETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (SUNMER 1980), 86. RAMSEY, PRISCILLA R SEE WRIGHT, RICHARD. RAMSEY, ROGER SEE CRANS. HART. RANDISI, ROGERT JSEE KANINGY, STUART. REDSHAW, THOMAS DILLON. IN PORTLADISE. (PDETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW, 2(3), 1980, 398. REED. JOHN R.A GALLERY OF SPIDERS. (PDETRY) PRINCETON, NJ: ONTARID REVIEW PRESS, 1980. REED. JOHN R.A GA TECH CENTER. (PDETRY) MICHIGAN QUARTERLY REVIEW, 19-20 (FALL 1980-WINTER 1981), 703-(REITER, LORA D.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY, BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (PDETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. RENNICK, DAVID SEE LEVINE, PHILIP. RENNICK, DAVID SEE LEVING, PHILLP. RENDER, SYLVIA LYONS SEE CHESNUTT, CHARLES WADDELL. (REXROTH, KENNETH-), REXROTH-5 DHARMA. BY GIBSON, MORGAN. (CRITICISM) ARK, 14 (1980), 27-37. (REXROTH, KENNETH-), REXROTH-5 DHARMA. BY GIBSON, MORGAN. (CRITICISM) ARK, 14 (1980), 27-37. (REXROTH, KENNETH-), BLOOD OF THEIR BLOODI AN ANTHOLOGY OF POLISH-AMERICAN POETRY. BY (REXROTH-), CONTOR (EDITOR), (POETRY) ST PAUL, MN: NEW RIVERS PRESS, 1980, RHODES, RICHARD. THE LAST SAFARI. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: DOUBLEOAV, 1980.

RICAPITD. CAROLYN. ON THE COLDEST NIGHT OF THE YEAR: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART-POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PGETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 30. Ring, daniel F. The Nichigan imprints inventory of the Historical Records Survey. (Bigli Jography) detroit in perspective, 4 (Winter 1980), 111-17.

ROBBINS, SHELLIE KIER, YIELDING, (POETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF AMERICAN POETRY, BEVERLY HILLS, CA: MONITOR BOOK COMPANY, 1980. ROBBINS, SHELLIE KIER. THE FIRST DANCE; FEARS. (POETRY) SPOON RIVER QUARTERLY, 5 (SPRING

19801 47-48. ROBBINS, SHELLIE KIER, WHICH SIDE UP; A COLLECTION OF POETRY. (POETRY) NORTHFIELD, IL: C B H

PUBLISHING, 1980. Robinet, Harriette G. Ride The Red Cycle. (Juvenile Fiction) Boston: Hdughton-Mifflin, 1980. Robinet, Harriette G. Ride The Champaign Letters and Other Poems. (Poetry) urbana. IL: Red Herring PRESS 1979.

ROBINSON. FRANK K. EDGAR LEE MASTERS. (PDETRY) SPOON RIVER QUARTERLY, 5 (SPRING 1980), 58. ROEDEL, HARLAN, DR REPORTS BREAKTHROUGH IN FAMILY PLANNING; URDLOGY, (SHORT FICTION) Cottonwodd Review, 23 (Fall 1980), 18-19.

(ROETHKE, THEODORE.), THEODORE ROETHKE: THE POETICS OF EXPRESSION, BY PARINI, JAY. (CRITICISM) BALL STATE UNIVERITY FORUM, 21 (WINTER 1980), 5-11.

(RGETHKE, THEODORE), FROK OPEN HOUSE TO THE GREENHOUSE: THEODORE RETAKE'S POETIC BREAKTHROUGH. BY BOGEN, DON. (CRITICISM) E L H. 47 (SUMMER 1980), 390-418. (RGETHKE, HHEODORE.). RGETHKE'S THE SYAM". BY SANDERS. (CHALES. (CRITICISM) EXPLICATOR. 38 (SPRING 1980). 27-28.

(ROETHKE, THEODORE.), NAGILL'S BIBLIOGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISH, BY MAGILL, FRANK-(ROETHKE, THEODURE), MAGILL'S BIBLIUGHAPHY UF LIEMANT CHIICISM, OT MAULE, FRANK-(BIBLIOGRAPHY), (CRITICISM) ENGLEWOD CLIFE'S, NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1979. (ROETHKE, THEODORE), ROETHKE'S "THE SENSUALISTS", BY SANDERS, CHARLES. (CRITICISM) EXPLICATOR, 3B (SUMMER 1980), 9-10. ROGERS, THOMAS, AT THE SHORES. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: SIMON AND SCHUSTER, 1980, (INDIANA),

(CHICAGO), (ILLINDIS). ROOT. JUDITH. BLACKBERRIES LIVE HERE. (POETRY) WINDFLOWER HOME ALMANAC OF POETRY, LINCOLN,

NE: WINDFLOWER PRESS, 1980, 81. ROOT, JUDITH, THE GERBIL WHO GOT AWAY, (POETRY) HOLLINS CRITIC, 17 (JUNE 1980), 13.

ROSELIEP. RAYMOND. A ROSELIEP RETROSPECTIVE: POEMS AND OTHER WORDS BY AND ABOUT RAYMOND

RUSELLEF, MARINAD, A RUSELLEF KEINUSPELITY: FUGAS AND UHEN KURNES BT AND ABOUT KATAND Rosellep, (poetry) Ithaca, ny: Alembic Press, 1980. Rosellep, Raynond. Listen to Light: Haiku. (poetry) Ithaca, ny: Alembic Press, 1980. (Rosellep, Raynond). Contemporary Haiku: Focus Midwest, By Brooks, Randy. (criticism). (poetry) The Old Northwest, 6 (spring 1980), 75-81. Rosenbluw. Helen Fate. Mikeray: Sturm. (novel) New York: Putnam, 1980. (chio).(St Kathareen,

OHIO).

ROSENALUM, MARTIN J. DIVISIONS: ONE. (PDETRY) FORT KENT, ME: GREAT RIVER PRESS, 1980. ROSENBLUM, MARTIN J. CAN'T GET BACK; THIS WINTER; AT SUNRISE (THE SKIN). (POETRY) BLOOD OF THEIR BLODD, ST PAUL, NN: NEW RIVERS PRESS, 1980, 95-99.

THEIR BLODD, ST PAUL, NN: NEW RIVERS PRESS, 1980, 06-90. (ROSENBLUM, MARTIN J.). BLOOD OF THEIR BLODD: AN ANTHOLOGY OF POLISH-AMERICAN PDETRY. BY CONTOSKI, VICTOR (EDITOR). (POETRY) ST PAUL, MN: NEW RIVERS PRESS, 1000. (ROSENFELD, PAUL, J.). "FROM RAST-SIDE TO SQUTH-SIDE WITH LOVE:" THE FRIENDSHIP OF SHERWOOD ANDERSOM AND PAUL ROSENFELD. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D. (CRITICISH).(BIOGRAPHY) NIDWESTERN MISCELLANY VII, (1970). 41-55. ROSENWALD. JOHN. ORTHODOXOLOGY. (POETRY) WISCONSIN REVIEW. 14 (SUMMER 1980). 19. ROULSION. ROBERT SEE FIIZGERALD. F SCOTT. ROULSION. ROBERT SEE FIIZGERALD. F SCOTT.

ROUT, KAY KINSELLA SEE FICKE, ARTHUR DAVISON. Ruffin, Paul, Lighting the Furnace Pilot, (Poetry) Peoria, 11: Spoon River Press, 1980.

RUSSELL, HERB SEE MASTERS, EDGAR LEE, RUSSELL, HERB SEE MASTERS, EDGAR LEE,

RYAN, FRANK L. THE HUMANITIES AT MICHIGAN STATE IN THE FORTIES II: A KIND OF REASONABLENESS. (CRITICISM) SSML NEWSLETTER, 10(3), FALL 1980, 1-13.

RYAN, WILLIAM F SEE MARKUN, LEO. (RYUN, KATHRYN WHITE.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN PDETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY)

LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. SAISER, MARJORIE, ARCANUM; SATURDAY & OCTOBER, (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (SUMMER 1980).

20. 28. Salisbury, Ralph. Pointing at the Rainbow; Pdems from a Cherokee Heritage. (Poetry) blue

SALISBURY, RALPH- POINTING AT THE RAINBOW; PDEMS FROM A CHEROKEE HERITAGE. (POETRY) BLUE (LOUD OUARTERHY, 26 (1960). SALO, ALICE BELL SEE CATHER. WILLA. (SANDBURG, CARL.). HAGIL'S BJBLIGGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL, FRANK. (BIBLIGGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) ENGLEWODD CLIFFS. NJ: SALEH PRESS. 1970. (SANDBURG, CARL.). THE POPULAR WRITER, PROFESSORS, AND THE MAKING OF A REPUTATION: THE CASE OF CARL SANDBURG. BY FERLAZZO, PAUL. (CRITICISM) MIDAMERICA VI, (1979). 72-78. SANDERS, CHARLES SEE ROETHKE, THEODORE. SANDERS, CHARLES SEE ROETHKE, THEODORE.

SANDERS, JOSEPH L SEE ZELAZNY, ROGER.

SANDERS, MARK, BLADEN, NEBRASKA; NEAR THE TRACKS. (POETRY) KANSAS DUARTERLY, 12 (5PRING 1980). 90, 97. SANDERS, SCOTT, FROM WILDERNESS PLOTS. (SHORT FICTION) GEORGIA REVIEW. 34 (SUMMER 1980).

315-19. ISAXTON, ALEXANDER PLAISTED.). SAXTON'S LATE-PROLETARIAN TRIPTYCH: TO CHICAGO AND WEST. BY

STERN, FREDERICK C. (CRITICISM) NIDAMERICA VII, (1980), 133-55. SAYLOR, LOUISE SEE CLEMENS, SAMUEL L.

SATEUR, LUDISE SEC GLERRS, SANDEL L. Scharton, Kenneth See Fuller, Henry Blake. Scharton, N. A. At The Medicine Wheel. (poetry) Kansas Quarterly, 12 (Winter 1980), 150-51. Scheel, Hark. The Last Bastion, (poetry) Samiddat, 23 (Spring 1980), 23. Scheele, Roy. Gardenia in Winter; Tacing the Snow. (poetry) Great Lakes Review, 6 (Summer

1980), 54-55. 1980), 54-55. SCHLESINGER, JOHN. TRAVELING BY BUS FROM CHICAGG; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PGETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 24. SCHODNOVER, AMY JO. APPLES; FORST DAYS. (POETRY) DREAM SHOP, 45 (WINTER 1980-81), 2, 13. SCHODNOVER, AMY JO. BLOODNESS OF THINGS. (POETRY) OREAM SHOP, 44 (SPRING 1980), 2, 8. SCHODNOVER, AMY JO. NGVEMBER PORTRAIT; HOT STUFF. (POETRY) DREAM SHOP, 44 (SPRING 1980), 2, 8.

SCHOONAVER, ANY JG. NUDE, BATHING. (POETRY) DREAM SHOP. 44 (SUMMER 1985), 2. Schoonaver, Any Jg. Ng Concession. (Poetry) in Kentucky. 2 (November December 1980), 8. Schoonaver, Any Jg., Footsteps of Yesterayi in Kentucky. 2 (November December 1980), 8.

SPRING 1980, 54-56.

SCHOONOVER. ANY JO. FARM PROGRESS REPORT. (POETRY) GALAXY OF VERSE, 7 (FALL-WINTER 1980-81). 39. SCHOONGVER, ANY JO. BEFORE OTHER ALTARS. (POETRY) PURPOSE, MAY 1980 (PART 2). 3.

SCHODNOVER, ANY JO. STARSPILL, (POETRY) GALAXY OF VERSE, 6 (SPRING-SUNNER 1980), 61. SCHODNOVER, ANY JO. TWO APRILS, (POETRY) LIGURIAN, 68 (APRIL 1980), 48.

SCHOONOVER. ANY JD. SLOW LEARNING. (POETRY) LYRIC, 40 (SPRING 1980), 30.

Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980

SCHODNOVER, AMY JD. OBBLIGATO. (PDETRY) IN KENTUCKY, 2 (MARCH-APRIL 1980), 26. Schodnover, Amy JD. The Sensudus Season. (Pdetry) pasque Petals, January 1980, 250. SCHODONOVER, ANY JD. THE SENSUGUS SEASUR. (POEIRY) PASUGE PEIRS, SANGART 1980, 250. SCHODONOVER, ANY JO. RONDEAU: FLOATING NELODY. (POEIRY) BREAN SHOP. 44 (AUTUMN 1980), 2. SCHODONOVER, ANY JO. RONDEAU: AN UN-LOVE SONG. (POEIRY) SPOON RIVER QUARTERLY. WINTER 1980, 32. SCHODONOVER, ANY JO. RITE OF INITIATION. (POEIRY) LYRIC. 60 (WINTER 1980), 10. SCHODONOVER, ANY JO. PREMEDITATION: CARNIVORE. (POEIRY) SPOON RIVER QUERTERLY. FALL 1980, 59. SCHOUNDVER, ANY JD. GRBITING. (POETRY) BLUEGRASS LITERARY REVIEW. 1 (SPRING 1980), 28. SCHOIT, CAROL. NEBRASKA. (POETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (SPRING 1980), 74. SCHOIT, CANUL NEDRASKA, IDDEINTI KANSAS GUARILELT IZ ISARIM JOSSI (4 SCHOIT, VEVLYN SEE MASTERS, BOGAR LEE. SCHUFF, KAREN E. LET HE BE LAZY. (POETRY) PEGASUS, (FALL-WINTER 1980), 20. SCHUFF, KAREN E. NO SCIENCE FICTION. (POETRY) PENINSULA POETS. 35 (MARCH 1980), 20. SCHUFF, KAREN E. DDE TO JANUS. (PDETRY) PENINSULA POLIS. 35 (MARCH 1980), 20-SCHUFF, KAREN E. POLITICAL PHISONERS. (POETRY) BARDIC ECHOES, 21 (DECHMER 1980), 102. SCHUFF, KAREN E. SUBURBIA SINGS ITS SUMMER SONGINOT AT ALL LIXE A GREEK GOD. (PDETRY) GONVERGENCE: THE FORTY-FIFTH ANNIVERSARY ANTHOLGGY OF THE POETRY SOCIETY OF MICHIGAN. EDITED BY H. L CARSON, MUSKEGON, MI: PDETRY SOCIETY OF MICHIGAN. 1980, 32-82. SCHUFF, KAREN E. SUMMER POOL. (PDETRY) PENINSULA POETS, 35 (JUNE 1980), 15. SCHUFF, KAREN E. SUMMER POOL. (PDETRY) PENINSULA POETS, 35 (JUNE 1980), 15. SCHUFF, KAREN E. SUMMER POOL. (POETRT) PENINSULA POETS, 35 (UNAL 1980); IS SCHUFF, KAREN HAIKU. (POETRY) ARCHER, 25 (WINTER 1980); 20, SCHULTZ, ELIZABETH SEE MORRISON, TONI. (SCHOEPE, RICHARD E.), THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KSI INDERENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. SCOTT, HUBERT, FOR JUDY HOLLIDAY, WITH LOVE; EARLY LOVE. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 56-59, WARTON SCOTT . MARK SEE HUGHES . LANGSTON . SCULLY, JAMES. MAY DAY. (POETRY) BLOOMINGTON, IN: MINNESGTA REVIEW PRESS, 1980. SELIG, ROBERT L SEE GISSING, GEORGE.% Sennett, John. A derby Remembrance. (Poetry) derby Strip News, 2 (June 1980). J. SENNETT, JOHN, SKYWAY HEAT; SITTING ON A BANK OF THE CHICAGO RIVER; ABSOLVED AT TAOS; Nebraska; Mansaide; Winter Comes; Night Law; The Otter Swins Within the Stars; SUBURBAN BLUES LEAD NE WEST: SOUND KEEPS CHANGIN', (POETRY) MAGIC CHANGES, D-M (AUGUST 1980), 33, 42, 66-67, 69, 73-74, 83, 110, 120. SEVERIN, C SHERMAN SEE BELL, REBECCA Severin, C Sherman See Bell, Rebecca SEVENIN, C SHEMAAN DEE BELL, REDECARD SOUTHERN REVIEW, 16 (SPRING 1980), 404-405. Shapiro, Alan. The Names, (Pdetry) Southern Review, 16 (Spring 1980), 404-405. Sharp, William, Spring Back; I am Eliza, (Short Fiction) Shingla; A Collection of Stories, LAWENCE, KSI LANTANA PRESS, 1986, 31-43, 71-80. SHAW, HARRY & SEE BROOKS, GWENDOLYN. Sheaw, Harry & See Brooks, Gwendolyn. Shelanit, Eve. Fable Without Endo. (Short Fiction) Great Lakes Review, 6 (Summer 1980), 60-66. Shelanit, Eve. The Love Child. (Short Fiction) Santa Darbara: Black Sparrpw Press, 1979. Shields, Carol. Happenstance. (Novel New York: Negraw-Hill, 1980. (Chicag).(Illinois). SHRAMEK, DENNIS, SLY OHID. (SHORT FICTION) BOWLING GREEN, OH: SALTHOUSE MINING COMPANY, 1980. ISALTHOUSE 8-91. SUGGEL, ROBERT. ALPHA CENTAURI. (JUVENILE FICTION) WESTCHESTER. IL: CORNERSTONE BOOKS, 1980. Siegel, Robert. In A Pig's Eye. (Poetry) orlando: University presses of Florida. 1980. SILBERMAN, EVE SEE ARNDY, HARRIETTE. SILESKY, BARRY. THE COMING OF THE WEAVER; STARTING OVER. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 2(3), 1980, 380-81. SINAK, CLIFFORD D. GROTTO OF THE DANCING DEER. (SHORT FICTION) ANALOG, 100 (APRIL 1980), SINGH. SUKHBIR SEE BELLOW. SAUL. SINGH, SUKHBIR SEE BELLOW, SAUL. Sheizer, Nichael, Annals Hunting, (poetry) Kansas Guarterly, 12 (Spring 1980), 43. Sheizer, Nichael, End of Winter. (poetry) Coitonnood Review, 22 (1980), 69. Smilh, Charles Merrill, Revernd Randolph and The Holy Terror. (Novel) New York: Putnam, 1980, (CHICAGO), (MYSTERY-DETECTION). (SHITH, DAVID JEDDIE,), LISTENING TO THE BLUE: THE POETRY OF DAVE SMITH, BY DITSKY, JOHN. (POETRY).(CRITICISH) ONTARIO REVIEW, 13 (FALL-WINTER 1980-81), 73-80. SMITH, DINITIA, THE HARD RAIN. (NOVEL) NEW YORK; DIAL PRESS, 1980, (DETROIT).(NICHIGAN). SMITH. MICHAEL. LEGACY OF THE LAKE. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: AVON. 1980, (MISSOURI). SMITH, MICHAEL, LEGACT OF THE LAKE, INDUELS NEW TORK: ANDR. FOOD, MAISSONT, (MYSTERY-DETECTION). SMITH, RAY, WEATHERING, (POETRY) MENONONEE, WI: UZZAND PRESS, 1980. SWITS, RONALD, RANK VEGETATION; THE WOODS WITHIN; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--PDEMS FROM INDIANA, (PDETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 314), 1980, 56-57. SHUDA, AGNES WOLDHAN, POEMS TO DISCOVER WHAT THE LEG PAINS ARE -- FOR MERIDEL. (POETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW. 2(3), 1980, 353-55. Smyth, Kevin. Rant. (Poetry) great lakes review. 6 (Summer 1980). 67-68. SOLYN, PAUL SEE MAURER, BONNIE SORRELLS, HELEN. THE LOST CHILD. (POETRY) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (SPRING 1980), 55-58. SOUTHWICK, MARCIA. THE VANISHING STREET. (PDETRY) GEORGIA REVIEW, 34 (FALL 1980), 614-15. SPENCER, ROSS H. THE STRANGER CITY (APER. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: AVON, 1980, (CHICAGO), (NYSTERY-DETECTION). SPENCER. ROSS H. THE ABU WAHAB CAPER. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: AVON, 1980. (CHICAGO). INVSTERY-DETECTION1. ST CLAIR, PHILIP, IN THE THIRTY-NINE STEPS: POEHS 1963-1978, (POETRY) BRADY LAKE, ON: SHELLEY'S PRESS. 1980. ST CLAIR, PHILIP. KISHKALWA, A SHAWNOE CHIEF; NDANAHONGA, AN IOWAY WARRIOR. (POETRY) UROBORDS 1 5-6, (1980). 71-72 ST CLAIR, PHILIP. NEAMATHLA, A SEMINOLE CHIEF; MUANAHUNGA, AN IUWAY WARRIUM. (POEIRY) (MUBORDS'I ST CLAIR, PHILIP. NEAMATHLA, A SEMINOLE CHIEF; (POETRY) SHELLEY'S, 10 (MARCH 1980). 413/ ST CLAIR, PHILIP. RED JACKET ADDRESSES HIS KINSMEN. AUGUSY 1779. (POETRY) NEW KENT QUARTENLY (PAL 1980). 37
 ST CLAR, PHILIP. RED JACKET HEARS LOGAN, AUGUST 1754; RED JACKET ADDRESSES HIS YOUMATTENLY DAUGHTER. JUNE 1027. (POETRY) MITTEN, 4 (1980). 33. 35.
 ST JOHN, RICHARD. THE LOST ART. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980). 33. STACEY, KAREN. ADULT EDUCATION. (SUMTER 14 (1980). LADIES' HOME JOURNAL. 97 (AUGUST:1566)) CHP20 (STAFFORD.). THE HETORIC OF THE CONTEMPORARY LYRIC. BY HOLDEN. JONATHAN. (CRITICIEND) STAFFORD.). THE METORIC OF THE CONTEMPORARY LYRIC. BY HOLDEN. JONATHAM. (CRITICIEND) STAFFORD.). THE METORIC OF THE CONTEMPORARY LYRIC. BY HOLDEN. JONATHAM. (CRITICIEND) STAFFORD.). THE METORIC OF THE CONTEMPORARY LYRIC. BY HOLDEN. JONATHAM. (CRITICIEND) AFUELATE OLUMAINGTON, IN: INDIANA UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. STAFFORD, VILLIAM, A WAR-NONUMENT SPEECH FOR JULY 4. (POETRY) HIDWEST GUARTERING OU (CORTO 1980). 341-1980), 361-STAFFORD, WILLIAM, NORTH OF THE OHID: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS' FROM ILDIANAO (FDOUTA) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 30. (STAFFORD, WILLIAM), THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND. LORRING (FDOUTATO) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1970 STALL, ROBERT, THE ORPHAN, INOVEL) NEW YORK: POCKET BOOKS, 1980, (HIDVESIO) STALL, ROBERT, THE ORPHAN, INOVEL, NEW YORK: POCKET BOOKS, 1980, (HIDVESIO) STANLEY, LINDA C SEE FITZGERALD, F SCOTT. STANK, JOHN SEE GUEST. HUDTH

STARK, JOHN SEE GUEST, JUDITH.

STARK, JOHN SEE LUEDERS, EDWARD,

STEINBRINK, JEFFREY SEE FITZGERALD, F SCOTT. STELZIG, EUGENE. THE WHEATLAND DINER; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--PDEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 43.

(STEPHENS, KATE-). THE KANASAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN, (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. STERN, BEET, HOMESTAD: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART-POEMES FAM INDIANA. (PDETRY) CENTERING

- STERN, BERT, HUMESTEADS IN THE LAND LUCKED HEART-THUENS FROM INDIANA, THUEINTY CERTERING S-TIDDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 43. Stern, Frederick C see Saxidn, Alexander Plaisted. Sterisch, Briene Brocks, Gwendolyn. (Stone, Helville E.). Helville E Stone, Eugene Field. And the Beginnings of Chicago Literary JOURNALISM. BY ANDERSON, DAVID D. (CRITICISK) SSHL NEWSLETTER, 10(3), FALL 1980 14-25.
- STONE, NANCY Y. DUNE SHADDW. (NOVEL) BOSTON: HOUGHTON MIFFLIN, 1980, (MICHIGAN), STRAAYERS, ARNY CHRISTINE, HURTIN AND HEALIN AND TALYIN IT ALL OVER. (SHORT FICTION) CHICAGO,

11: METIS PRESS, 1980. STRATTON, BERT. GIGGING. (NOVEL) CLEVELAND, OH: ACORN, 1980, (CLEVELAND), (DHID).

(STRYCK, LUCIEN.). THE POETRY OF LUCIEN STRYK. BY LYNCH. DENNIS. (CRITICISM) AMERICAN POETRY REVIEW. 9(5). (SEPTEMBER-OCTOBER 1980). 44-46.

- STRYK, LUCIEN (COLTOR), PRATATE VOLCES, (POETRY) CHICAGO, IL: ILLINDIS ARTS COUNCIL Foundation, 1980, (illindis). Stryk, Lucien, Conversations with Zennists. (criticisn) American Poetry Review, (March-April),
- 44-47.
- (SUCKOW, RUTH.). IOWANS IN THE ARTS; RUTH SUCKOW IN THE TWENTIES. BY KIESEL, MARGARET MATLACK. (BIOGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) ANNALS OF IOWA, 45 (SPRING 1980), 259-87. (SUCKOW, RUTH.). THE ART OF RUTH SUCKOW'S "A START IN LIFE". BY OEHLSCHLAEGER. FRITZ. (CRITICISM) WESTERN AMERICAN LITERATURE. 15 (FALL 1980). 177-86.
- CUTITCISMY WESTERN AMERICAN LITERAJUNE, 15 TRALL 1980), 17786. SUDERMAN, ELNER F. DLACES TOO SMALL FOR MAPS. (DOETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (SPRING 1980), 44. SUDERMAN, ELNER F. THE OLD WINDHILL'S SONG. (POETRY) GREAT LAKER REVIEW, 6 (SUMHER 1980), 69. (SUDERMAN, ELNER, F.) THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) LAWRENCE. KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978.
- SULLIVAN, CHEATER. IN THE COMPANY OF BEES. (SHORT FICTION) NEW MEXICO HUMANITIES REVIEW. 2 (SPRING 1980), 61-65.
- SULLIVAN, CHESTER, GOAT BARBECUE, (SHORT FICTION) VANDERBILT REVIEW, 1 (SPRING 1980), 62-71, Sullivan, Chester, To Tell & Story. (Short Fiction) Shinola: A collection of stories,
- LAWRENCE, KS: LANTANA PRESS, 1980, 81-108. SUMMERS, HOLLIS. SPERM COUNT; I LIVE IN MILLERSBURG, KENTUCKY. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SURMER 1980), 70-71.
- SUSINA, JAN, JAMES JOYCE AT THE INDIANAPOLIS 500: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM
- INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5-INDIANA WRITES, 314). 1980, 16. SWAN, GLADYS. A WORNING'S TRADE. (SHORT FICTION) NEW FICTION FROM INDIANA, UNDIANAPOLIS, IN: WRITERS' CENTER PRESS, 1980.
- SWAN, GLADYS. LAND OF PROMISE. (SHORT FICTION) NEW AMERICA, 4 (WINTER 1980), 62-66. SWAN. GLADYS. ON THE EVE OF THE NEXT REVOLUTION. (SHORT FICTION) GREENSBORD REVIEW. 29 (WINTER 1980-81), 2-12.
- (WINTER 1980-81), 2-12. SWAN, KARIN, GUNNING: THE NEIGHBOR. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 6 (SUMMER 1980), 72-74, SWANSON, BEDA. AGAIN AND AGAIN. (POETRY) JEAN'S JDURNAL, 17 (FEBRUARY 1980), 33, SWANSON, BEDA. I BELIEVE IN SPIRITS; TRUE. (POETRY) HOOSIER CHALLENGER, 12 (SPRING 1980), 35,
- SWANSON, BEDA. JANUARY OF SEVENTY-NINE; OH, WINTER. (POETRY) HOOSIER CHALLENGER, 11

- SWANSON, BEDA. SOMONT OF SEVENITAINE, UN. WINIEK. (PDETRY) HOUSIER CHALLENGER, 11 (FALL-WINTER 1507-80), 3, 50. SWANSON, BEDA. SOWING SEEDS. (POETRY) JEAN'S JOURNAL, 17 (NAY 1980), 55. SWANSON, BEDA. SOWING SEEDS. (POETRY) JEAN'S JOURNAL, 17 (AUGUST 1980), 60. (SYKES, VELMA.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY)
- LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. TAGGART, HELENE, DIWINUENCO: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 17.
- TAMMARD, THDN. POSTCARDS: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--PDEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 11.
- (TARKINGTON, BOOTH.). THE FAMILY IN BOOTH TARKINGTON'S GROWTH TRILOGY, BY LE GATES, CHARLOTTE. (CRITICISH) MIDANERICA VI, (1979), 88-99.
- LURITLISM; MIDAMENICA VI, (1979), 88-90. TAYLOR, DONNA (EDITOR). THE GREAT LAKES REGION IN CHILDREN'S BOOKS. (BIBLIOGRAPHY),(JUVENILE LITERATURE) BRIGHTON. MI: GREEN OAK PRESS, 1980. TAYLOR, DORIS. AFTERWARDS. (POETRY) MINNESOTA REVIEW, NS, 15 (FALL 1980), 29. TAYLOR, MARCELLA. MR VORLD AT THE JUNKANOD PARADO. (POETRY) CARLETON MISCELLANY, 18 (WINTER TAYLOR, MARCELLA.

1979-803+ 84+ TAYLOR. MARCELLA. THE SECOND JOURNEY. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW, 212). 1980, 253.

- TENREY, THOMAS A SEE CLEMENS, SANUEL L. TENREY, HEGAN. ADVANCES. (DRAMA) GMAHAA NE: OMAHA NAGIC THEATRE, 1980. TERRY, MEGAN. THE TREES BLEW DOWN. (DRAMA) GMAHA. NE: OMAHA MAGIC THEATRE, 1980. THOMAS, F RICHARD LEDITORJ. THE LAND LOCKED MEART: POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) BLOCHINGTON,
- IN: INDIANA WITES, 1980. THOMAS, F RICHARD, ALIVE WITH YOU THIS DAY, (POETRY) BLOOMINGTON, IN: RAINTREE PRESS, 1980. Thomas, F Richard, Arde With You This day, (Poetry) Bloomington, IN: RAINTREE PRESS, 1980. Thomas, F Richard, Fright, Status, 1900.
- THOMAS, FRICHARD, MYSELF, MY HOME, THE HOON: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 35.
- (THOMAS, F RICHARD.). CLEAR WATER FROM A PORCELAIN SPIGOT; A REVIEW ESSAY OF ALIVE WITH YOU This day by F Richard Thomas. By Atlas, Marilyn Judith. (Review Essay) S5NL
- NEWSLETTER, 10(1), SPRING 1980, 44-40. Thomas, JIM. Antagonist; poem as waterline. (poetry) Kansas Quarterly, 12 (winter 1980), 149. THOMPSON, JAMES. SEE. ELETHEA, ABBA. THOMPSON, ROBERT S. BRIEFING, (SHORT FICTION) KENYON REVIEW, 2 (SUMMER 1980), 41-49.
- THOMPSON, SUSAN SCOTT. PARING DOWN: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--PDEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) Centering 5--Indiana Writes, 3(4), 1980, 60.
- THORNE, CREATH S SEE HEMINGWAY, ERNEST. THORNTON: ENMA S. AND ADAMS: PAULINE. GRASS GRASSROOTS -- AMERICAN METAPHOR AMERICAN CLICHE. (CRITICISM) MIDAMERICA VI. (1979), 7-26. TOMLIN, E W F SEE ANDERSON, SHERWOOD.

TORGERSEN. ERIC. WIPING MY BLOOD ON YOU: IN MARCH. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW. 6 (SUMMER 1980), 75-76. TREECE, PEGGY B SEE CATHERWOOD, MARY HARTWELL.

- TREMMEL, ROBERT. THE CHILDLESS. (POETRY) GREAT RIVER REVIEW, 2(3), 1980, 356-57. TRUDELL. DENNIS. GREEN TOPATDES; SING AND DANCE. (POETRY) GEORGIA REVIEW, 34 (SUMMER 1980). 200-01. TRUDELL, DENNIS. WATCH THEN DIE. (POETRY) GEORGIA REVIEW, 35 (FALL 1981), 596.
- TRUESDALE, C W. AVOCADOS. (POETRY) MINNESOTA REVIEW, NS, 16 (FALL 1980). 30-31. UFFEN, ELLEN SERIEN SEE FERBER, EDNA.

- Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980
- (ULEWICZ, LAURA LOUISE.). BLOOD OF THEIR BLOOD; AN ANTHOLOGY OF POLISH-AMERICAN POETRY. BY CONTOSKI, VICTOR (EDITOR). (POETRY) ST PAUL. HN: NEW RIVERS PRESS, 1980. UPDIKE, JOHN, IOWA. (POETRY) PORTLAND, OR: NORTHWEST BOOKPOST, 1980.

173

- VALENTA, HELEN, CHAPATAN COUNTY. (POETRY) GREAT LAKES REVIEW. & (SUMMER 1980), 77. Valenta, Helen, Comparing Journeys; Dusk: Michigan, (Poetry) great River Review, 2(3), 1980,
- 384-85. VALIN, JONATHAN. FINAL NICE. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: DODD, MEAD, 1980. (CINCINNATI).(OHIO),
 - (MYSTERY-DETECTION).
 - (RTSIEHY-DE FECTION). VALIN, JONATHAN. THE LINE PIT. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: DODD. HEAD, 1980, CINCINNATI3.(OHIO). (NYSTERY-DETECTION). (VAN VECHTEN, CARL.). A BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE WORK OF CARL VAN VECHTEN. BY KELLNER, BRUCE.
- 178-79. VAN WINCKEL, NANCE. NEW LOVE; LOST IN RIVERVIEW TRAILER COURT. (PDETRY) POETRY NORTHWEST. 21
- (SPRING 1980), 28-31. (Spring 1980), 28-31. Van Winckel, Nance, When You're gone, (pdetry) kansas guarterly, 12 (Winter 1980), 77. Vanderkelen, Robert, The Nurder; Evening; Bellingham. (pdetry) practices of the Wind, 1(1).
- 1980.
- (VEBLEN, THORSTAIN.). "FOR THE PERIOD OF THE WAR": THORSTEIN VEBLEN. WARTINE EXIGENCY, AND SOCIAL CHANGE. BY DANBORN, DAVID B. (CRITICISM) HID-AMERICA, 62 (APRIL-JULY 1980,
- VICTOR, CINDY. SUTTEL. (SHORT FICTION) KANSAS QUARTERLY, 12 (SUNMER 1980), 125-31.
- VIDAL. GORE SEE FITZGERALD. F SCOTT. (VOELKER, JUSTICE.). PENMAN FOR THE PEOPLE: JUSTICE VOELKER (ROBERT TRAVER). BY HEPLER. JOHN
- C. (CRITICISM) MIDAMERICA VI, (1979), 127-40. Volk, CRAIG. VDICE OF THE CLOUD; ZAILLIE RULO. (PGETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (SPRING 1980),
- 107-108.
- 107-108-VOLK, STEPHEN. EXORDIUM. (POETRY) CEDAR FALLS, IA: HARVEST PRESS, 1980. (VONNEGUT, KURT.). HOW "NOMMERE, USA" (IOVA CITY) BECAME THE "PARNASSUS OF AMERICAN WRITING". BY DEGNAN. JAMES P. (BIDGRAPHY) DES MOINES SUNDAY REGISTER, SEPTEMBER 28, 1980. (VONNEGUT, KURT.). HAGILL'S BIBLIOGRAPHY OF LITERARY CRITICISM. BY MAGILL. FRAK. (BIBLIOGRAPHY).(CRITICISM) EMGLEVODD CLIFFS, NJ: SALEM PRESS, 1070. (VONNEGUT, KURT.). THE PRACTICE OF FICTION IN AMERICA. BY KLINKGWITZ, JEROME. (CRITICISM) AMES, IA: IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980. (VONNEGUT, KURT.). THE AMERICAN 1960'S; IMAGINATIVE ACTS IN A DECADE OF CHANGE. BY KLINKGWITZ, JEROME. (CRITICISM) AMERICAN 1960'S; IMAGINATIVE ACTS IN A DECADE OF CHANGE. BY KLINKGWITZ, MADE, OAVID. PASSING THROUGH SMALL INDIANA TOWNS ON A GREYHOUND IN SILENCE JUST AFTER A GIANT SNOW STORM, LATE JANUARY 1970; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA.

- WADE, DASSING THROUGH SMALL INDIANA TOWNS ON A GREYNGUND IN SILENCE JUSI AFTER A GI SNOW STORM, LATE JANUARY 1979; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART-PDEMS FROM INDIANA. (DOETRY) CENTERING 5-INDIANA WRITES. 3(4), 1980. 26.
 WAGNER, JESSIE M SEE CLEMENS. SAMUEL L.
 WAGNER, DAYID, THE HANGING GARDEN. (NDVEL) BOSTON: LITTLE, BROWN, 1980, (MIDMEST). WAKOSKI, DIANE. THE DE DARRHESS INCLUDING LOCKING FOR THE KING. OF SPAIN AND PACHEBELBEL'S CANON, (POETRY) SANTA BARBARA, CA: BLACK SPARROW PRESS, 1980.
 WAKOSKI, DIANE. THE MANAGE NORD. (PDETRY) NEW YORK: RED OILER PRESS, 1980.
 WAKOSKI, DIANE. THE MAN WHO SHORL HANDS. (POETRY) GARDEN CITY, NY! DOUBLEDAY, 1973.

- WAKOSKI, DIANE. TOWARD A NEW POETRY. (POETRY). (CRITICISM) ANN ARBOR: UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN PRESS, 1980,
- WAKOSKI, DIANE, TROPHIES, (POETRY) SANTA BARBARA, CA: BLACK SPARROW PRESS, 1979. (Wakoski, Diane.), blood of their blood; an anthology of Polish-American Poetry, by Contoski.

1980. (WISCONSIN).(SILVER LAKE, WISCONSIN).

- (WAKOSKI, DIAME,, BLUDU UF HEIK BLUGU, AN ANTHOLDO' UF POLISH ALERTAN FLUTH, BU GLUGUKAK VICTOR (EDITOR), (PDETRY) ST PALL, NN: NEW RIVERS PRESS, 1980. WALDINGER, ALBERT SEE BERDICHEVSKY, HIKHA YOSEF. WALDINGER, ALBERT SEE ANDERSON, SHERWOOD. MALLACE, ROMALD, FAILING, (PDETRY) YANKEE, (SEPTEMBER 1980), 221. WALLACE, ROMALD, FAILER AND SON; STARRY NIGHT; THE REAL THING, (PDETRY) HIDWEST QUARTERLY, 21 WALLACE, ROMALD, FAILER AND SON; STARRY NIGHT; THE REAL THING, (PDETRY) HIDWEST QUARTERLY, 21 (WINTER 1980), 250-52.
- WALLACE, RONALD. GRAPES: ECLIPSE. (PDETRY) HOLLOW SPRING REVIEW OF POETRY, 3(2), 1980, 110-11. WALLACE, RONALD, INSTALLING THE BEES; GRIEF; FATHER AND SON: ORANGES, (POETRY) POEMS CUY OF MISCONSIN, 5 (1980).
- WALLACE, RONALD, MAKING CHANGE; KILLING THE CHICKENS. (POETRY) MADISON REVIEW, 2 (SPRING
- TALLACE, RUMALU, MANING, MILLING INE UNITED (POETRY) POET AND CRITIC, 12(1), 1980, 11. 19801, 60-67. WALLACE, RONALD, MY FATHER'S SON: APPLES, (POETRY) KANSAS GUARTERLY, 12 (SUMMER 1980), 115-16. WALLACE, RONALD, ON THE RIVER, (PDETRY) SQUITH DAKOTA REVIEW, 18 (SUMMER 1980), 4. WALLACE, RONALD, OVER THE GARDEN WALL, (PDETRY) GTHER ISLANDS, 1 (1980), 9-10. WALLACE, RONALD, OVER THE GARDEN WALL, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, OVER THE GARDEN WALL, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, OVER STREADEN WALLS, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, OVER STREADEN WALLS, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, OVER STREADEN WALLS, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, OVER STREADEN WALLS, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, OVER STREADEN WALLS, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, PRAYER FOR FISH, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, PRAYER FOR FISH, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, PRAYER FOR FISH, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, PRAYER FOR FISH, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, PRAYER FOR FISH, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, PRAYER FOR FISH, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, PRAYER FOR FISH, (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF MALLACE, RONALD, PRAYER FOR FISH, POR FISH, POETRY FISH,

- WALLACE, RUNALD, PRAYER FUR FISH, LPUEINTI ANIMOLOGY OF MAGAZINE VERSE AND TEARBOUK OF AMERICAN POETRY'S BEVERLY HILLS, C.K. HONITON BOOK COMPANY, 1980, 427. WALLACE, RONALD, SEPTEMBER RAIN; 1001 NIGHTS, (PDETRY) POETRY NORTHWEST, (SUMMER 1980), 36-37. WALLACE, RONALD, SESTINA FOR THE HOUSE, (PDETRY) CHOVER REVIEW, 14 (SPRING-SUMMER 1980), 14. WALLACE, RONALD, THE SELLY DANCER IN THE NURSING HOME; ARRANGING THE PIG. (PDETRY) MADISON
- WALLACE, ROMALD, THE BELLY DANCER IN THE NURSING MOME: ARRANGING THE PIG. (POETRY) MADISON REVIEW. 2 (WINTER 1979-80), 10-11. WALLACE, ROMALD. THE ASSISTANT PROFESSOR'S NIGHTMARE. (POETRY) SOUTHWEST REVIEW. 65 (WINTER MALLACE, ROMALD. THOUT: CUCUMBERS: OCTOBER. (POETRY) A WINOFLOWER ALMANAC, LINCOLN, NE: WINDFLOWER PRESS, 1980, 43. 91. 116. WALLACE, ROMALD. YOU CAN'T WRITE A PDEM ABOUT NCDONALD'S: TRANSVESTITE. (POETRY) CINCINNATI WALLACE, ROMALD. UN 7 (FIL: 1980). 72-72.

- POLITY REVIEW, NO 7 (FALL 1980), 74-76. WALTON, TODD. FORGOTTEN IMPULSES. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: SINON AND SCHUSTER, 1980, (ILLINDIS).
- (CHICAGO).
- (WARD, MAY WILLIAMS.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) (WARD, MAY WILLIAMS.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY. BY LELAND, LDRRIN (EDITOR). (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION. 1978.
 (KARE, EUCHNE FITCH.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN PDETRY. BY LELAND, LORRIN. (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978.
 WARNER, SHARDN OADD. ANDTHER ACCEPTOR. (SHORT FICTION) TEXAS WOMAN. 1 (JANUARY 1980). 50-55.
 WARSAN, IRENE, WARLLY WE ROLL ALDNG. (POETRY) FRANCESTOWN, NH: GOLDEN OUILL PRESS, 1979.
 WATERHAN, CARY. THE SALANANDER MIGRATION. (PDETRY) PITTSBURGH, PA: UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

- **DRESS**. 1980.
- (WATERMAN, CARY.). FROM YOUR PLACE AND BEYOND. BY WHEELER. SYLVIA. (POETRY), (CRITICISM)
- (WATERNAN, CARY): FROM YOUN PLALE AND BEIDIG. 1, WHELEAN JIELAND, HORRIN, (POETRY) LAWRENCE, NIDVESTERN HISCELLANY VIII, (1986), 61-70. (WATTLES, WILLIARC,), THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN PDETRY, BY LELAND, LORRIN. (POETRY) LAWRENCE, XS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. WAY, BRIAN SEE FITZGERALD, F SCOTY. Way, Gordon, Circling Byzantium. (Novel) baton rouge: Louisiana state university press.

WEAVER, THOMAS SEE CLEMENS, SANUEL L. Weisman, John, Evidence, (Novel) New York: Viking Press, 1980, (Detroit),(Michigan),

(WYSTERY-DETECTION). WELCH, DON. THE ARMLESS. (PDETRY) ANTHOLOGY OF AMERICAN VERSE AND YEARBOOK OF POETRY. LOS WELCH, DON. THE ANMLESS. (POETRY) ANTHOLUGY OF AMERICAN VENSE AND TEARBUCK OF POEINT, I Angeless, Ca: Monitor Bodks, 1990. Welch, Don. The Rarer Game. (Poetry) Klardt, 24 (Fall-Winter 1980), 6-9. Welch, Don. The Rarer Game. (Poetry) Kearney, me: Kearney State College Press, 1980. Welless, Patricia. Angel in the Snow. (Novel) New York: Pocket Books. 1980. (Michigan), (Birminghan, Michigan), Miystery and Defection). Welt, Elly. Joanna Reddinghood. (Novel) New York: Random House, 1980. (Michigan).

WESTERFIELD, HARGIS, CAT PICTURED WALKING IN SUNLIGHT. (PDETRY) CATS MAGAZINE, 37 (MARCH

- 1980). WESTERFIELD, HARGIS, CITY OF PORTLAND AT JULESBURG, (POETRY) ROUNDUP, (MARCH 1980). WESTERFIELD, HARGIS. GREYHDUNDING DN HIGHWAY 80; DEEPER THAN LOVE; MIXED TRAIN PASSENGER IN NEBRASKA. (POETRY) SANDHILLS AND OTHER GEOGRAPHIES; AN ANTHOLOGY OF NEBRASKA POETRY,
- ORD. NE: SANDHILL PRESS, 1980. WESTERFIELD, HARGIS, SUNLIGHT FOR GUYS IN THE DARK; WIDTOWN; KEARNEY STATION, (POETRY) PLATTE Valley Review, 8 (April 1980). Westerfield, Hargis, Statned Glass and Shaddws, (Pdetry) Plainsong, 1 (Winter 1980).
- WESTERFIELD, HARGIS, LAST RITES, (POETRY) WELLSPRINGS, 2 (NOVENBER-DECEMBER 1980)

WHEELER, SYLVIA SEE MILTON, JOHN, Wheeler, Sylvia see Waterhan, Cary. Wheeler, Sylvia see Freekan, Daniel,

- WHEELER, SYLVIA, FATHER POEN, (POEIRY) DACDTAH TERRITORY, 17 (1980), 86. Wheeler, Sylvia, Hotel and Cafe Poem, (Poetry) Dacotah Territory, 16 (1980).

WHEELER, SYLVIA. THE OLD EXIT SCENE: LAB REPORT AMONG STRANGERS. (POETRY) COLORADO NORTH Review, 20 (Fall 1980), 23, 51.

WHEELER, SYLVIA, VERMONT, (PDETRY) LONG POND REVIEW, 6 (1980), 17. (Wheeler, Sylvia.), the kansas experience in poetry, by Leland, Lorrin (Editor). (Pdetry)

LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY, DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. WHITE, JAMES L. VINEGAR. (POETRY) PRAIRIE SCHOONER, 54 (SPRING 1980), 16.

WHITE, RAY LEWIS SEE GASS, WILLIAM H. WHITE, RAY LEWIS SEE CONNELL, EVAN S, JR. WHITE, RAY LEWIS SEE ANDERSON, SHERWOOD. WHITE, RAY LEWIS SEE HEMINGWAY, ERNEST.

WHITLE, NAY LEWIS SEE MENINGWAY, ENNESS. (WHITTIEN, JOHN GREENLEAF.). THE KANSAS EXPERIENCE IN POETRY, BY LELAND, LORRIN. (POETRY) LAWRENCE, KS: INDEPENDENT STUDY. DIVISION OF CONTINUING EDUCATION, 1978. WILBERS, STEPHEN M. THE IDWA WRITERS' WORKSHOP. (BIOGRAPHY) IDWA CITY, IA: UNIVERSITY OF IDWA PRESS, 1980.

PPESS, 1980. WILCER, ANDS NIVEN SEE WILDER, THORNTON. (WILDER, THORNTON.), THORNTON WILDER AND HIS PUBLIC. BY WILDER, ANDS NIVEN. (CRITICISH), (BIOGRAPHY) PHILADELPHIAI FORTRESS PRESS, 1980. WILKERSON, WIKE, CHAUCER BECOMES A HODSIER; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING S--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 10. WILKERSON, MIKE, EXII SOUTH; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING

S-TIDIANA WITES, 31(4), 1980, 8. S-TIDIANA WITES, 31(4), 1980, 8. WILKERSON, MIKE. IN SEARCH OF "THE" INDIANA POEM; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (ESSAY),(CRITICISM) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WITES, 3(4), 1980, 70-71. WILKERSON, MIKE. THANKSGIVING; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY)

CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 3(4), 1980, 11. WILLIAMS, KENNY J. PRAIRIE VOICES; A LITERARY HISTORY OF CHICAGO FROM THE FRONTIER TO 1893.

(CRITICISN) NASHVILLE, TN: TOWNSEND PRESS, 1980. Williams, Hurial B see Clemens, Samuel L.

(WILSON, ROBERT C.). HOW A WILC-MANNERED LOCAL LAWYER HIT THE BIG TIME WITH "CROCKED TREE", By Maithman, Diane, (Biography) detroit (detroit free Press, 24 August 1980, 18-22.

WILSON, ROBERT CHARLES, CROOKED TREE. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: PUTNAM, 1980, (HICHIGAN). WILSON, ROBLEY JR. THE LABOR CANP. (POETRY) GEORGIA REVIEW, 40 (SPRING 1980), 38-39.

WIXSON, DOUGLAS SEE CONROY, JACK. Wolfe, Edgar. Sparrows in College IVY. (Poetry) Kansas Guaryerly, 12 (Winter 1980), 93.

WOLFE, GENE, AFTER THE RUNAWAY. (PDETRY) STAR LINE, 3 (MAY-JUNE 1980), 13. Wolfe, Gene, the Island of Ooctor Death and other Stories and Other Stories. (Short Fiction) NEW YORK: POCKET BOCKS, 1990. WOLFE, GENE. THE SHADOW OF THE TORTURER. (NOVEL) NEW YORK: SINON AND SCHUSTER, 1980.

WOLSTENDER, SUSAN SEE (HDF)N, KATE. WOLSTENDER, SUSAN SEE (HDF)N, KATE. WDOSTENDER, SPRING SEE CATHER, WILLA.X WRAY, RON. SPRING STAR NECTAR; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 314), 1980, 18.

CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 314), 1980, 18. WRAY, RON. TERRE HAUTE; IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEMS FROM INDIANA. (PDETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES, 314), 1980, 40-41. (WRIGHT, JAMES, JANES WRIGHT: THE GIFTED FEELING. BY KAZIN, ALFRED. (CRITICISH) NEW YORK TIMES 800K REVIEW, 85 (20 JULY 1980), 13, 25. (WRIGHT, JAMES,), RICHARD WRIGHT: GROEAL OF A NATIVE SON. BY GAYLE, ADDISON JR. (BIOGRAPHY) GARDEN CITY, NYI DOUBLEDAY, 1980.

GARDEN CITY, NY: DOUBLEDAY, 1980. (WRIGHT, JAMES.): THE UNIVERSALITY OF JAMES WRIGHT. BY ENGEL, BERNARD F. (CRITICISH) SSML NEWSLETTER: 10(3). FALL 1980. 20-20. (WRIGHT. RICHARD.). BLIND EVES. BLIND QUESTS IN RICHARD WRIGHT'S NATIVE SON. BY RAMSEY. PRISCILLA R. (CRITICISH) C L A JOURNAL. 24 (SEPTEMBER 1980). 40-60. (WRIGHT. RICHARD.). DENIAL OF TIME 'AND THE FALLURE OF MORAL CHDICE: CAMUS'S THE STRANGER. FAULKNER'S OLD MAN. WRIGHT'S THE MAN WHO LIVED UNDERGROUND. BY LEE, DOROTHY H. (CRITICISH) C L A JOURNAL. 23 (MARCH 1980). 304-71. WYLIE. ALVIN BENNETT, WALKING: IN THE LAND LOCKED HEART--POEKS FROM INDIANA. (POETRY) CENTERING 5--INDIANA WRITES. 3(6), 1980. 53. YESMER. SEYMDUR (EDITOR). 26 MINNESOTA WRITERS. (FICTION) MINNEAPOLIS, MN: NODIN PRESS, 1980.

YOKE. CARL B SEE ZELAZNY, ROGER. Yongue, Patricia Lee See Cather, Willa.

YONGUE, PATRICIA LEE SEE CATHER, WILLA. Young Bear, Ray. Winter of the Salamander; the Keeper of Importance. (Poetry) new York: HARPER AND ROW, 1980.

ZADRDZNY, MARK. EVERY FORCE HAS A FORM SAY THE SHAKERS. (SHORT FICTION) CHICAGO REVIEW, 32

(AUJUMN 1980), 75-70. (Zelazny, Roger.), personality metahorphosis in Röger Zelazny's "The doors of His Face, the Lamp of His Houth", by Yoke, Carl B. (Criticism) extrapolation, 21 (Summer 1980), 106-21.

(ZELAZNY, ROGER.), ROGER ZELAZNY: A PRIMARY AND SECONDARY BIBLIDGRAPHY. BY SANDERS, JOSEPH L. (BIBLIDGRAPHY) BOSTON, MA: G K HALL, 1980.

Annual Bibliography of Midwestern Literature: 1980

ZIEWACZ, LAWRENCE. THE OLD NORTHWEST AND GILDED AGE POLITICS: AN ANALYSIS. (CRITICISM) NIDWESTERN MISCELLANY VIII, (1980), 102-12. ZIMMERMAN, JOANNE. CONTINUING EDUCATION. (SHORT FICTION) FOUR QUARTERS, 29 (WINTER 1980). 19-32.

ZIMHERNAN, JOANNE, CREATING. (SHORT FICTION) APALACHEE QUARTERLY, 14 (SUMMER 1980), 25-20. 2008, Amy Jo. See. Schoondver, Amy Jo.

GRAND VALLEY STATE COLLEGES IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY